Digital Time Resolution Limitations of the Domino Ring Sampler as Readout Electronics for Positron Emission Tomography (PET)

Dissertation

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

vorgelegt von Dipl.-Phys. Daniel August Stricker-Shaver

aus Tyler-Texas, USA

Tübingen

2022

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen.

Tag der mündlichen Qualifikation: Dekan: 1. Berichterstatter:

2. Berichterstatter:

14.10.2022 Prof. Dr. Thilo Stehle Prof. Dr. Bernd Pichler Prof. Dr. Josef Jochum

Abstract

Primarily, this doctoral thesis discusses the use of a Switched-Capacitor Array (SCA) as an alternative readout electronics for electric signals. Readout electronics is required for example in Positron-Emission Tomography (PET) or high-energy physics. To achieve best results from an SCA, some calibrations are mandatory, which are extensively evaluated in this work. In this respect, the Domino Ring Sampler of the Fourth generation (DRS4) is investigated in detail. The DRS4 is an SCA and was developed 2007 in Switzerland at the Paul Scherrer Institute (PSI). An SCA is basically a ring buffer that stores analog signals very fast in a row. These can be read out at any time in order to digitize the stored signals. Consequently an Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC) sampling in the Megahertz range can be converted into a digitizing system sampling in the Gigahertz range by utilizing an SCA in front of the ADC. Moreover, an SCA distinguishes itself by its favorable cost per channel, the low power consumption and thus the low heat development.

In the course of this work developing a new *Time Calibration* (TC) for SCAs was of of great interest. The new TC-method led to considerable improvement in the time resolution of the DRS4. The time resolution describes the accuracy to determine the temporal distance between two electric signals. Prior to my research, the best TC was offered by the company CAEN from Italy. As a result of this work, the time resolution of the DRS4 improved at least by the factor of 8. Additionally, a time resolution of less than 1 picosecond was reached, which impressively shows the measurement precision of an SCA. The achievement of this excellent time resolution is the result of a special analysis procedure, the cross correlation.

Caused by the improved measurement precision of the DRS4, comparative measurements with other readout electronics solutions became accessible. In addition, new and old technologies are discussed for the analysis of PET signals. At the same time, the main focus was to improve time resolution and simplifying the analysis procedure for PET.

Zusammenfassung

Diese Doktorarbeit erörtert in erster Linie die Verwendung eines Switched-Capacitor Array (SCA) als alternative Ausleseelekronik elektrischer Signale, wie sie beispielsweise für Positronen-Emissions-Tomographie (PET) oder in der Hochenergiephysik benötigt wird. Um einen SCA optimal zu nutzen, sind einige Kalibrierungen nötig, welche in dieser Arbeit im Detail beleuchtet werden. Dabei wird insbesondere auf den Domino Ring Sampler der vierten Generation (DRS4) eingegangen. Der DRS4 ist ein SCA und wurde 2007 in der Schweiz am Paul Scherrer Institut (PSI) entwickelt. Ein SCA ist im Wesentlichen ein Ringspeicher, in dem analoge Signale sehr schnell hintereinander gespeichert werden können, um sie zu einem beliebigen Zeitpunkt auszulesen beziehungsweise zu digitalisieren. Folglich kann man durch Verwendung eines SCA, der vor einen Analog-Digital-Wandler(ADC) im Megahertzbereich geschaltet wird, einen schnell abtastenden ADC im Gigahertzbereich machen. Ein SCA zeichnet sich außerdem durch seinen günstigen Preis pro Kanal, den geringen Energieverbrauch und die daraus resultierende geringe Wärmeentwicklung aus.

Großes Interesse lag im Rahmen dieser Arbeit auf der Entwicklung einer neuen Zeitkalibrierung (TC) für SCA-Chips investiert. Die neue TC führte zu einer erheblichen Verbesserung der Zeitauflösung des DRS4. Die Zeitauflösung steht für die Genauigkeit, mit der der zeitliche Abstand zwischen zwei elektrischen Signalen gemessen wird. Verglichen zu der zuvor besten TC, welche von der Firma CAEN aus Italien angeboten wurde, wurde die Zeitauflösung mindestens um den Faktor 8 verbessert. Eine Zeitauflösung von unter einer Pikosekunde wurde erreicht, was eindrucksvoll die Messgenauigkeit von SCAs verdeutlicht. Um diese sehr gute Zeitauflösung zu erreichen, wurde ein spezielles Analyseverfahren benutzt und weiterentwickelt, die Kreuzkorrelation.

Dank der verbesserten Messgenauigkeit des DRS4 wurden Vergleichsmessungen mit anderen Ausleseelekroniklösungen ermöglicht. Zusätzlich werden neue und alte Techniken für die Analyse von PET-Signalen diskutiert. Im Schwerpunkt stehen dabei eine verbesserte Zeitauflösung und die Einfachheit des Analyseverfahrens für PET.

Contents

A	Abstract (English & German) i			
Ta	able o	of Con	tents	iii
Li	ist of	Figur	es	ix
Li	ist of	Table	S	xiv
Li	ist of	Acron	ıyms	xv
1	Bac	kgrou	nd and Introduction	1
	1.1	Struct	sure of This Work	1
	1.2	Positr	on-Emission Tomography (PET)	2
	1.3	Beta I	Decay	6
	1.4	Positr	on-Electron Annihilation	8
	1.5	Energ	y Resolution $\left(\frac{\Delta E}{E}\right)$	9
	1.6	Time	Resolution	10
		1.6.1	Time Resolution for PET-Detectors	11
		1.6.2	Time Resolution for Readout Electronics	13
	1.7	Scintil	llators for Gamma Detection	14
		1.7.1	Organic Scintillators	17
		1.7.2	Inorganic Scintillators	18
	1.8	Photo	detector	20
		1.8.1	Photomultiplier Tube (PMT)	23
		1.8.2	Avalanche Photodiode (APD)	26
		1.8.3	Silicon Photomultiplier (SiPM)	29

	1.0	Analo	r Signal Dragossing (Paadout Flastronics)	91
	1.9	Anaiog	Lee l'est E lee D'est initiate (LED)	01 01
		1.9.1	Leading-Edge Discriminator (LED)	31
		1.9.2	Constant-Fraction Discriminator (CFD)	32
		1.9.3	Time-to-Digital-Converter (TDC)	33
		1.9.4	Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC)	34
		1.9.5	Time-to-Amplitude Converter (TAC)	35
		1.9.6	Switched-Capacitor Array (SCA)	36
	1.10	PET-I	Detector and Block-Detector	38
	1.11	Motiva	ation of this Work	41
2	Mat	erial a	nd Methods	45
	2.1	Digital	l Signal Processing Techniques	45
		2.1.1	Digital Leading-Edge Discriminator and Fitting	46
		2.1.2	Digital Constant-Fraction Discriminator	47
		2.1.3	Zero Adding with Low-Pass Filter	47
		2.1.4	Cross-Correlation	48
		2.1.5	Reducing a Gaussian Distribution to 3 Values	52
	2.2	Time (Calibration (TC) Methods for SCAs	53
		2.2.1	Basic Nomenclatures in Respect of SCAs and ADCs	53
		2.2.2	Frequencies Time Calibration (FTC)	55
		2.2.3	Local Time Calibration (LTC)	59
		2.2.4	Global Time Calibration (GTC)	61
		2.2.5	Signal Requirements to Perform the NEW-TCs	65
		2.2.6	Alternative Time Calibrations	66
		2.2.7	Comparison of the Most Relevant TCs and NEW-TCs	68
		2.2.8	Simulated NEW-TC Errors and Settings	72
		2.2.9	Cheap Calibration for Old DRS4 Evaluation Boards	75
		2.2.10	Calibrating Multiple Channels of an SCA	75
	2.3	Voltag	e Calibration (VC) Methods for SCAs	76
		2.3.1	VC1: Individual Cell Offset Calibration	77
		2.3.2	VC2: Time-Dependent Readout Offset Calibration	77

		2.3.3	VC3: Symmetrical Spike Calibration	78
		2.3.4	VC4: Time Pedestal Calibration with Randomly Arriving	
			Trigger	78
		2.3.5	VC5: Individual Cell Gain Calibration	79
		2.3.6	V3-VC (VC1, VC2, VC3 and VC5) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	80
		2.3.7	CAEN-VC (VC1, VC2 and VC3)	81
		2.3.8	NEW-VC (Combining VC1 and VC2)	82
	2.4	Used 2	Boards as Readout Electronics	84
		2.4.1	DRS4 Evaluation Board	84
		2.4.2	CAEN Readout Electronics	85
		2.4.3	Oscilloscope: Wave Runner 6050A and 640Zi	86
		2.4.4	NIM Electronics	86
	2.5	Test S	Setups for Time Resolution Measurements	88
		2.5.1	P-Test: Time Resolution for a Single Readout Channel $\ . \ . \ .$	89
		2.5.2	SP-Test: Time Resolution for Split Signal	91
		2.5.3	CRT-Test vs. Single Time Resolution (PET-Detector)	94
		2.5.4	CRT-Test with APDs (PET-Detector)	95
		2.5.5	CRT-Test with SiPMs (PET-Detector)	96
		2.5.6	CRT-Test with PMTs (PET-Detector)	98
3	Res	sults		101
	3.1	V3 wł	nen Utilizing its Dedicated Calibrations	101
		3.1.1	P-Test	103
		3.1.2	SP-Test	106
		3.1.3	CRT-Test with PMTs Coupled to LSO	107
		3.1.4	CRT-Test with SiPMs Coupled to LSO	111
		3.1.5	CRT-Test with APDs Coupled to LSO	113
		3.1.6	CRT-Test with the PET-INSERT	114
	3.2	X742	when Utilizing its Dedicated Calibrations	120
		3.2.1	P-Test	126
		3.2.2	SP-Test	127

		3.2.3	CRT-Test with PMTs Coupled to LSO:Ca	. 128
	3.3	V3 wł	nen Utilizing new Calibrations	. 131
		3.3.1	P-Test for Comparison of all TC-Methods at 5GSPS \ldots .	. 132
		3.3.2	P-Test at 1GSPS and 2GSPS	. 142
		3.3.3	SP-Test	. 145
	3.4	X742	when Utilizing new Calibrations	. 149
		3.4.1	CRT-Test with PMTs Coupled to LSO:Ca	. 151
		3.4.2	CRT-Tests for Calibrating the Reference PMT	. 154
		3.4.3	CRT-Tests with MPPCs Coupled to PbWO	. 158
	3.5	Other	Readout Electronics	. 162
		3.5.1	V5 from PSI	. 162
		3.5.2	Oscilloscope 6050A (S5) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$. 164
		3.5.3	Oscilloscope 640Zi (S20)	. 167
		3.5.4	NIM Electronics	. 169
4	Disc	ussior	1	171
	4.1	DRS4	-Based Boards Hardware Comparison	. 176
	4.2	DRS4	Comparison of all VC-Methods	. 180
	4.3	DRS4	Comparison of all TC-Methods	. 182
	4.4	DRS4	Performance for Different Parameters	. 188
	4.5	DRS4	vs. Other Readout Electronics	. 190
	4.6	Time	Resolution Prediction for the P-Test	. 191
	4.7	Best I	DRS4 Time Resolution for the SP-Test	. 195
	4.8	CRT-7	Test with the APD-Based PET-INSERT	. 197
	4.9	All CI	RT-Tests with a $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-Crystal	. 199
	4.10	CRT-7	Test Problem with PMTs and the DRS4	. 200
	4.11	CRT-7	Test of Reference PMT and MPPCs	. 202
5	Con	clusio	n	205
\mathbf{A}	Scie	ntific	Publication and Patent	207
ъ	hliog	ranhv		234

Acknowledgement

 $\mathbf{235}$

List of Figures

1.1	PET-Ring Example and Rat Brain Image	4
1.2	Na-22 Spectrum	10
1.3	Drawing to Measure the Time Resolution: CRT/SP-Test $\ .\ .\ .$.	12
1.4	Distribution of a Time Measurement with the DRS4	15
1.5	Schematic View of a PMT	23
1.6	Schematic View of an APD	28
1.7	Example Signal for a Constant-Fraction Discriminator	33
1.8	Test Setup for a PET Measurement Using a TAC	35
1.9	ADC Time Stretch, When Using the SCA Technology	36
1.10	Simplified Schematic of the DRS4-Chip	37
1.11	Schematic View of a Single PET-Detector	39
1.12	Schematic View of a Detector-Block	40
1.13	Flood Histogram Acquired with the DRS4	41
2.1	Walk Error Example Pulse for a Digital LED	47
2.2	Zero Adding Example	48
2.3	Example for the Cross-Correlation	49
2.4	PCC Example for a V3 (2 GSPS)	50
2.5	Definition of Local Time Difference and Global Time Difference	55
2.6	Example Signal for the First Successfully Working TC-Method	57
2.7	Example Signal for the Local Time Calibration	60
2.8	Illustration for the Local Time Calibration	61
2.9	Illustration for the Double-Sided Correction (GTC) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	62
2.10	Simulated Linear Interpolation Error for the DRS4 (5.12 GSPS)	73

2.11	Simulation of Available $\Delta t_{a,b}$ from Sine Waves for DRS4 (5.12 GSPS)	74
2.12	Time Calibration Applied to Multiple SCA-Channels	76
2.13	DRS4 Evaluation Board Oscilloscope Software	80
2.14	The NEV-VC for an SCA Example	82
2.15	Pictures of the DRS4 Evaluation Board Version 3 (V3) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	84
2.16	Trigger Logic for Coincident PET-Events	87
2.17	Two Different Configurations for the SP-Test	91
2.18	Realization of SP-Test with V3	92
2.19	Digitalization of the SP-Test Pulse with S5	93
2.20	Picture of CRT-Test with APDs	96
2.21	Picture of CRT-Test with PMTs and SiPMs	98
3.1	Voltage States of Cell # 1016 for the V3 (5.12 GSPS) $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$ 1	02
3.2	P-Test for an Uncalibrated DRS4 (NO-TC)	04
3.3	P-Test with the V3 (V3-TC)	05
3.4	SP-Test (Digital LED and PCC) with the V3 (V3-TC) $\ \ldots \ \ldots \ \ldots \ 1$	07
3.5	PMT Measurement with the V3 (V3-TC) (2 GSPS) $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ .$	08
3.6	CRT-Test with the V3 (V3-TC) for 2PMTs	09
3.7	PCC of PMTs with the V3 (V3-TC) (5.12 GSPS) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1$	10
3.8	PMT Measurement with the V3 (V3-TC) (2 GSPS) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1$	12
3.9	PCC of two SiPMs with the V3 (V3-TC) (2 GSPS) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1$	12
3.10	APD Measurement with the V3 (V3-TC) (2 GSPS) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 1$	13
3.11	Coincident Spectra of the CRT-Test with APDs	14
3.12	Waveforms of Block #15 from the PET-INSERT	15
3.13	Energy Spectra for the PET-INSERT	15
3.14	CRT-Test Examples for PET-INSERT with Digital LED 1	16
3.15	CRT-Test Examples for PET-INSERT with Digital CFD 1	17
3.16	Sine Wave Digitized with X742	21
3.17	Typical Baseline Noise of the X742 (5 GSPS)	22
3.18	Baseline Noise of all V1742 Channels	23
3.19	Spike Events for the V1742 (1 GSPS)	25

3.20	P-Test for a CAEN-Calibrated DRS4
3.21	SP-Test (Digital LED and PCC) for CAEN-Calibrated DRS4 127
3.22	Waveform and $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of PMTs Coupled to LSO:Ca (CAEN-TC for X742)129
3.23	CRT-Test for a CAEN-Calibrated DRS4 with two PMTs $(5{\rm GSPS})$ 130
3.24	P-Test with V3 Testing its Internal 66 MHz Clock, the LTC+3GTC
	and the Channel Dependency (5.12 GSPS) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 133$
3.25	P-Test for Tested GTCs of V3 (5.12 GSPS)
3.26	P-Test for LTCs, FTCs and LTC+3GTCs with V3 $(5.12{\rm GSPS})$ $~.$. 136
3.27	Timing Histograms for NEW-TCs of V3 (5.12 GSPS)
3.28	INL and DNL of V3 Sampling Intervals $(5.12 \text{ GSPS}) \dots \dots \dots \dots 139$
3.29	P-Test for Two-State-Effect and Temperature Influence of V3 $(5.12 \text{ GSPS})140$
3.30	P-Test with V3 Testing the Channel Dependency $(1\& 2{\rm GSPS})$ 142
3.31	P-Test, INL and DNL for an Ideal-Calibrated DRS4 (2 GSPS) \ldots . 143
3.32	P-Test, INL and DNL for an Ideal-Calibrated DRS4 $(1{\rm GSPS})$ $~\ldots~.~144$
3.33	Single SP-Test Event Between V3 and V5 $(5.12{\rm GSPS})$ \ldots
3.34	SP-Test for Ideal-Calibrated DRS4-Boards (5.12 GSPS) 146
3.35	6 Histograms of the SP-Test for Ideal-Calibrated DRS4-Boards $(5.12{\rm GSPS})147$
3.36	Baseline Noise of the X742 with NEW-VC
3.37	INL and DNL for an Ideal-Calibrated X742 $(5{\rm GSPS})$
3.38	CRT-Test with PMTs (LSO:Ca, Walk Error & NEW-TC for X742) $$. 152 $$
3.39	CRT-Test with PMTs (LSO:Ca, Walk Corr. & NEW-TC for X742) $$. 153 $$
3.40	$1^{\rm st}$ Measurement for Calibrating the Reference PMT
3.41	$2^{\rm nd}$ Measurement for Calibrating the Reference PMT $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ $
3.42	$3^{\rm rd}$ Measurement for SiPM1 and SiPM2 Calibrating the Reference PMT157
3.43	CRT-Test with PbWO ₄ -Crystals Utilizing a MPPC $(100\mu{\rm m})$ 159
3.44	CRT-Test with PbWO ₄ -Crystals Utilizing a MPPC $(50\mu{\rm m})$ 160
3.45	CRT-Test with PbWO ₄ -Crystals Utilizing a MPPC $(25\mu m)$ 161
3.46	INL and DNL for an Ideal-Calibrated V5(5.12 GSPS) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 164$
3.47	SP-Test Time Resolution Matrix for V5 and X742
3.48	CRT-Test and SP-Test with S20

List of Tables

1.1	List of Common Scintillators for PET Applications
1.2	List of Common Photodetectors for PET Applications
2.1	List of all Investigated TC-Methods
2.2	The NEV-VC for an SCA Example
2.3	List of all Performed CRT-tests
2.4	W3251 Settings to Produce SP-Test Pulse
3.1	Results for APDs with Variating Bias Voltages
3.2	CRT-Test Results for PET-INSERT (LED)
3.3	CRT-Test Results for PET-INSERT (CFD)
3.4	Spikes Behavior for DRS4-Based V1742
3.5	V3 Test Temperatures
3.6	True V3 Sampling Speed Including the Two-State-Effect
3.7	Computing Time and Performance for Different NEW-TCs
3.8	DRS4 Sampling Intervals for 3 Preset Sampling Speeds (V3) 141
3.9	DRS4 Sampling Intervals for 3 Preset Sampling Speeds (X742) 151
3.10	CRT-Test Specifications of the PbWO ₄ Experiment $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 158$
3.11	CRT-Test Summary of the $PbWO_4$ Experiment $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
3.12	List of all SP-Tests with a Delay of 50 ns
3.13	P-Test (1 st Periods of 100 MHz) for the S5 and the DRS4 \ldots 166
3.14	CRT-Test and SP-Test for the S20
3.15	SP-Test for NIM Electronics
4.1	Timing Results Between Different SCA-Chips and TC-Methods 172

4.2	DRS4 Fluctuation Prediction Which Results from the P-Test 188
4.3	DRS4 Fluctuation & Time Jitter $(2^{nd} \& 3^{rd} Error) \dots \dots \dots \dots 193$
4.4	P-Test Time Resolution Prediction Versus its Measurement 194
4.5	CRT-Tests with the Same Scintillator-Crystal $(3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3 \text{ LSO})$ 199
4.6	CRT-Tests with the Same PET-Detector (PMT & $5\times5\times5\mathrm{mm^3}$
	LSO:Ca)

List of Acronyms

$\frac{1}{\mu}$	Attenuation Length
Γ	Spatial Resolution
$\Delta t_{a,b}$	Global Time Difference
Δt_b	Local Time Difference
$\frac{\Delta E}{E}$	Energy Resolution
δ_{lin}	Linear Interpolation Error
ΔV_b	Voltage Difference
μ	Mean Value
σ	Standard Deviation
σ_{ce}	Cross Section of the Compton Effect
σ_{pe}	Cross Section of the Photoelectric Effect
A_0	Initial Activity
ADC	Analog-to-Digital Converter
APD	Avalanche Photodiode
ASIC	Application-Specific Integrated Circuit
BGO	Bismuth Germanate
BW	Analog Bandwidth
CAEN	Costruzioni Apparecchiature Elettroniche Nucleari S.p.A.
CAEN-TC	TC-method provided by CAEN
CAEN-VC	VC-method provided by CAEN
CC	Cross-Correlation
CdTe	Cadmium Telluride
Ce	Cerium
CE	Collection Efficiency
CFD	Constant-Fraction Discriminator
CMOS	Complementary Metal Oxid Semiconductor
CRT	Coincident Resolving Time
CRT-test	CRT (FWHM) and $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of a PET-Detector Test
c_{stop}	Stop Cell of the SCA
CT	Computed Tomography
CZT	Cadmium Zinc Telluride

Delay-Locked Loop
Differential Nonlinearity
Depth of Interaction
Domino Ring Sampler of the Fourth generation
Domino Sampling Chip
Digital SiPM
Electron
Positron
Final Set of Δt_b
Electronvolt
Energy Window
Falling Edge Set of Δt_b
Fluorodeoxyglucose
Field of View
Field-Programmable Gate Array
Femtoseconds
Sampling Speed of the SCA
Frequency which is used for the Time Calibration Signal
Frequencies Time Calibration
Full Width at Half Maximum
Full Width at Tenth Maximum
Geiger Mode Avalanche Photodiode
Gadolinium Aluminum Gallium Garnet
Gigahertz
Gigasamples per Second
Global Time Calibration
Interpolated Cross-Correlation
Initial Set of Δt_b
Integral Nonlinearity
Kelvin
Kiloelectronvolt
Lanthanum Bromide
Leading-Edge Discriminator
Light Detection and Ranging
Line of Response
Lutetium Oxyorthosilicate
Local Time Calibration
C Reference method for NEW-TCs consisting of a LTC + 3GTCs
Micro-pixel Avalanche Photodiode
Megaelectronvolt

MHz	Megahertz
MF	Magnetic Field
mm	Millimeter
MPPC	Multi-Pixel Photon Counter
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
ms	Millisecond
mW	Milliwatt
MWPC	Multi-Wire Proportional Chamber
n	Index of Refraction
$n_{\rm all}$	Number of all expected $\Delta t_{a,b}$
NEW-TC	New TC-method developed in this thesis
NEW-VC	New VC-method developed in this thesis
$n_{ m FTC}$	Number of FTC frequencies
$N_{\rm wave}$	Number of waveforms for one distinct TC frequency
$N_{\rm decay}$	Number of expected decays
NIM-CFD	SIN Constant Fraction Discriminator 102
NIM-LED	LeCroy Leading-Edge Discriminator 623B
NIM-TAC	Tenneelec Time-to-Amplitude Converter TC 861A
ns	Nanosecond
n_{SCA}	Number of SCA cells
NO-TC	Assumption of Equidistant Sampling Points
NO-VC	Absence of VC-methods
P-test	Period Test
P417	Phillips NIM Pocket Pulser model 417
PC	Personal Computer
PCB	Printed Circuit Board
PCC	Precise Cross-Correlation
$PbWO_4$	Lead Tungsten
PDE	Photon Detection Efficiency
PDPC	Philips Digital Photon Counting
PE	Photoelectric Absorption Probability
PET-INSEF	RT Second Generation Dedicated MR-Compatible Small Animal
	PET-Insert
PET	Positron-Emission Tomography
PIN	Positive Intrinsic Negative
PLL	Phase-Locked Loop
PMT	Photomultiplier Tube
\mathbf{ps}	Picosecond
PSI	Paul Scherrer Institute, Switzerland
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene

QE	Quantum Efficiency
$res\Delta t_b$	Resulting Set of Δt_b
$ris\Delta t_b$	Rising Edge Set of Δt_b
RMS	Root-Mean-Square
RPC	Resistive Plate Chamber
S20	Teledyne LeCroy WaveRunner 640Zi Oscilloscope
S5	LeCroy WaveRunner 6050A Oscilloscope
SCA	Switched-Capacitor Array
SiPM	Silicon Photo Multiplier
SNR	Signal-to-Noise Ratio
SP	Sampling Point
SP-test	Split Pulse Test
SPTR	Single Photoelectron Time Resolution
SSPD	Solid State Photon Detector
SSPM	Solid State Photo Multiplier
$t_{\rm FTC}$	Equidistant Period Difference
$t_{\rm max}$	Maximum Calibration Range
$T_{1/2}$	Half-life
TAC	Time-to-Amplitude Converter
TC	Time Calibration
TDC	Time-to-Digital Converter
TH	Threshold
TOF	Time of Flight
TTL	Transistor-Transistor Logic
TTS	Transit Time Spread
T_{SCA}	Elapsed Time for one SCA Rotation
u_{cor}	Correction Unit
V_{cal}	Applied DC-Voltage for VCs of SCAs
v_{cor}	Correction Value
USB	Universal Serial Bus
V_{FTC}	Tolerance Voltage for the FTC
V3	DRS4 Evaluation Board version 3
V3-TC	TC-method provided by the V3
V3-VC	VC-method provided by the V3
V5	DRS4 Evaluation Board version 5
V5-TC	TC-method provided by the V5
V5-VC	VC-method provided by the V5
VC	Voltage Calibration
V_{max}	Symmetric Voltage limit for the TC signal
W2571	Tabor Waveform Generator Model WW2571A

W3251	Tektronix Arbitrary/Function Generator AFG3251
X742	742-Series Board Based on DRS4-chip from CAEN
\mathbf{Z}_{eff}	Effective Atomic Number

Chapter 1

Background and Introduction

1.1 Structure of This Work

This work contains five chapters and the appendix. Chapter 1 is inspired by my master thesis [1], the PhD thesis from Pichler [2] and the book of Knoll [3]. Section 1.2 starts the background overview with a general explanation of *Positron-Emission Tomography* (PET) and its applications. The following 9 sections provide deeper insides about PET starting with the physics of the *Positron* (e⁺) which is the associated antimatter particle of the *Electron* (e⁻). The concept of a PET-detector, consisting of a scintillator, a photodetector and a readout electronics will be described in detail. Basic terms for PET, like *Time of Flight* (TOF), *Depth of Interaction* (DOI) and *Energy Resolution* ($\frac{\Delta E}{E}$) will be introduced. Also time resolution (section 1.6), which is a core theme, will be explained extensively.

If the basics of PET are already present it is recommended to continue reading from the motivation (section 1.11). It introduces the importance of this work with respect to time resolution using fast readout electronics for PET.

In chapter 2 all investigated readout electronics will be introduced. Besides the standard readout electronics, an alternative technology - the *Switched-Capacitor Array* (SCA) - will be provided, which was investigated and improved in the process of this thesis. The chapter ends with a description of all performed experiments utilizing readout electronics.

Chapter 3 provides a comparison between all tested readout electronics. In this

respect the SCA-based boards have been tested under two conditions, the old *Time Calibration* (TC) including the old *Voltage Calibration* (VC) compared to the *New TC-method developed in this thesis* (NEW-TC). Ultimately, an evaluation of all investigated PET-detectors utilizing different readout electronics is presented.

Chapter 4 discusses the results of the previous chapter 3, underlining the possible improvement for SCA-based boards when taking advantage of the NEW-TC. Chapter 4 closes with a discussion concerning all tested readout electronics with regards to PET-detectors.

Chapter 5 provides a résumé of this work, by summarizing the key aspects. An outlook is also given for possible improvements with respect to time resolution for PET and the SCA technology.

Appendix A, covers an international patent and a scientific publication relating to a simplified fraction of the five chapters.

1.2 Positron-Emission Tomography (PET)

PET is a three-dimensional imaging modality that provides information about molecular processes of living organisms. There are several applications in the clinical routine that benefit from PET. One example is oncology where PET became a reliable appliance to detect cancer. PET can measure picomolar concentrations of radiolabeled molecular probes in vivo [4]. Thus, PET requires about one order of magnitude less concentration of traceable molecules, the so called tracers, compared to alternative imaging modalities such as *Magnetic Resonance Imaging* (MRI).

The general principle of PET-tracers was known already in the year 1923 [5]. A PET-tracer is usually a biologically active molecule labeled with a positron emitting isotope (β^+ decay, more details in section 1.3). Based on the molecule, they are used to investigate tracer-specific metabolism, receptor expression or functional processes of living objects[6]. Since the labeled concentrations are so small, they do not influence the investigated biological systems, but "trace" physiology or pathophysiology in vivo. There is a variety of different PET-tracer available. In most cases the PET-tracer is injected into the living object intravenously. In clinical diagnostics, especially in the realm of oncology, the most common tracer is the glucose-analogon Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) which is normally labeled with the isotope ¹⁸F [7].

Results using positron emitting particles to detect brain cancer were first published in the year 1951 [8]. However, it took another 24 years before the first PETscanner was developed [9]. A detailed history of how the PET technology developed is published by Wagner [10].

A PET-scanner consists of at least two opposing PET-detectors that are sensitive for 511 Kiloelectronvolt (keV) photons. To yield 3D images, the PET-detectors need to be rotated around the object or more practically several PET-detectors are arranged in a ring expounding transaxially and axially, to enable fast acquisition times at high count rate statistics. PET-detectors consist of selected γ -ray scintillators in combination with fast low noise photodetectors. One of the main challenges for PET-detectors is to guarantee excellent stopping power, optimal time resolution and good energy resolution. Usually, several photodetectors with scintillators are combined together to form blocks, which reduce electronic readout-channels. The detector-blocks are arranged in a ring structure and detect radioactive decay of the PET-tracer over time. Every time two 511 keV photons from one positron-electron annihilation are measured within a pre-defined time window (also called "coincidence window") at two opposing PET-detectors, they are recorded as one coincident event and are subsequently used for image reconstruction. These coincident events correspond to a certain Line of Response (LOR) and are illustrated in fig. 1.1(a). Every time a coincident event is recognized, its corresponding LOR gets one additional count. The amount of possible LORs in a PET system depends on the number of crystals, which basically are the number of detection points. The PETscanner which was tested in this work, consists of 10800 crystals. In theory it would result in 10800² LORs for a fully 3D reconstruction. In practice it is reduced by the choice of the reconstruction method and the pre-defined geometrical settings (e.g. *Field of View* (FOV)...[2]). The number of total counts that are detected in a PET-scan depends on the amount of radioactivity in the FOV, the dimensions of the PET-scanner, the solid angle coverage and the scan time. However, by using the information of the LOR-hits, a reconstructed image can be calculated like in







(b) PET images of a rat brain

Figure 1.1: (a) shows a schematic of a PET-detector ring at reduced complexity with only 24 PET-detector elements arranged in a ring. It shows further two coincident events which originate from two independent positron-electron annihilation. The red lines represent the LORs connecting the PET-detector pairs. It also symbolizes the trajectory of the opposing gamma rays. (b) shows an exemplary reconstructed PET-image of a rat head (transversal on the left, sagittal on the right and coronal view at the bottom). The rat is injected with the glucose analog ¹⁸F-FDG. The image clearly depicts regions of the brain which have a high glucose metabolism.

fig. 1.1(b), where FDG was injected into a rat and a one hour dynamic scan was performed. PET images like in fig. 1.1(b) ordinates from the field of preclinical imaging, where PET became an essential research tool over the last decades. Since the *Spatial Resolution* (Γ) is typically only 1-3 millimeters it became mandatory to combine PET-images with *Computed Tomography* (CT) or MRI to yield anatomical landmarks along with the molecular information as described by Wehrl et al [11].

The image in fig. 1.1(b) was measured with the Second Generation Dedicated MR-Compatible Small Animal PET-Insert (PET-INSERT), which is an in-house development. The PET-INSERT typically detects about 3-4% of all decays, a comparatively high detection sensitivity compared to other dedicated PET-scanners [12]. Additionally, to make use of a detected decay, it has to origin from a coincident event within a possible LOR. The PET-INSERT achieves a Γ of around 1.4 mm Full Width at Half Maximum (FWHM) in the center field of view. Γ is limited by the crystal

size, the e^+ -energy and the PET-ring diameter[2].

Principally a PET system is able to detect many coincident gamma events per second that originate initially from β^+ decays. The image in fig. 1.1(b) for example was reconstructed from around 10 million coincident events which are measured in the last 15 min of a one hour scan. An *Initial Activity* (A_0) of about 3.7×10^7 Bq was used in the scan. With $T_{1/2}$ of ¹⁸F which is around 110 minutes and (1.5) one can calculate that *Number of expected decays* (N_{decay}) is around 24 billion. Thus, the collected events that are used for this brain-image result in less than 0.1% of the available decays. A mentionable portion of the ¹⁸F is also located in the ratbody and produces noise from outside of the FOV scattered γ -rays, detected by the PET-INSERT.

A lot of research happened over the last decades improving PET imaging but there is still room for more:

Scattered events can result in wrong LOR when the direction of γ -rays are changed through Compton scattering[3]. In this case the involved particles undergo a momentum change, which changes the initial direction of the γ -ray. This momentum change of a γ -ray causes a change of the γ -energy. Depending on the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of the PET-detector one can measure the effect of Compton scattered events.

If the exact location of the crystal-hit is to be known, novel PET-detector concepts are needed and are already published. A very promising candidate, providing the mentioned DOI information, is described by Kolb et al [13].

The time window of PET scanners is mainly caused by, the performance parameter, the time resolution. Thus, the time resolution is of central interest in PET technology development as it determines the quality of the reconstructed image. If PET-detectors yield a good time resolution, ideally in the pico-second range, the time window can be kept short and subsequently the detection of random coincident events from two independent electron-positron annihilations can be minimized, which reduces the background noise of the PET-image. Additionally, less radioactivity and scan time is needed which in turn saves costs and reduces the radiation exposure of the patient. At the same time higher doses of activity can be injected if the time resolution is improved. This is especially relevant for tracers consisting of short living radio isotopes where the scan time is only a few minutes like in ¹⁵O-studies [14].

1.3 Beta Decay

There are 3 main types of radioactive decays, which are the emission of alpha (α) particles, beta (β) particles and gamma (γ) rays. In PET only the β^+ decay is of interest, where the weak interaction converts the parent nucleus (P) into the daughter nucleus (D) while emitting an e⁺ and an electron neutrino ν_e :

$${}^{A}_{Z} \mathbf{P} \rightarrow {}^{A}_{Z-1} \mathbf{D} + \mathbf{e}^{+} + \nu_{\mathbf{e}}$$

$$\tag{1.1}$$

Z stands for the atomic number and defines the element name by providing the amount of protons in the nucleus. A is the mass number and basically the average number of nucleons that form the nucleus^I. At the fundamental level the β^+ decay is explained by the standard model [15] where an up quark (u) is converted into a down quark (d).

$$\mathbf{u} \to \mathbf{d} + \mathbf{e}^+ + \nu_{\mathbf{e}} \tag{1.2}$$

¹⁸F is the most common PET isotope and follows in more than 96% the β^+ decay, one can predict with (1.1) the outcome, as:

$${}^{18}_{9}\text{F} \to {}^{18}_{8}\text{O} + e^+ + \nu_e$$
 (1.3)

A decay will only take place if the nucleus can change to an advantageous energy state. In such a case the nucleus will lose mass. The energy of the mass-loss is contained in the kinetic energy of the particle that exits the nucleus, while it is

^INucleons consist of protons and neutrons forming the atomic nucleus and are held together by the nuclear force (strong force).

decaying. Applying Einstein's formula [16]^{II} combined with the mass difference of ${}^{18}_{9}$ F and ${}^{18}_{8}$ O, which is $\Delta m = 0.00178 \pm 0.000016$ u [17], one will result in an energyloss of the parent nucleus of $\Delta E = 1.658 \pm 0.015$ Megaelectronvolt (MeV). Two energetically equal parts have to be subtracted from ΔE . One part is used for mass production of the e⁺ and the other subtraction is caused by the losing of the ninth surrounding e⁻. The remaining energy ($\Delta E - 2 \times 0.511$ MeV) is mainly split between $\nu_{\rm e}$ and e⁺ [18] as kinetic energy ($\Delta E_{\rm kin} = 0.636 \pm 0.015 \,{\rm MeV}$). According to Fowler [19], the maximum kinetic energy of the e^+ from the ¹⁸F-decay is 635 keV, which is inside the standard deviation of the above calculated $\Delta E_{\rm kin}$. The $E_{\rm kin}$ of the e⁺ is one of the factors limiting the Γ of an PET-image, because the e⁺ has to lose almost all of its kinetic energy before it can annihilate (see section 1.4). A $E_{\rm kin}$ of 635 keV corresponds to a maximal e^+ -range of 2.3 *Millimeter* (mm) in water. Thus, the maximum error caused by ¹⁸F is 2.3 mm for a single PET-measurement. However, since $E_{\rm kin}$ is split between $\nu_{\rm e}$ and e⁺ which in turn scatters in 3 dimensions, the average e⁺-range is less. It is described by the point spread distribution and shows for the 18 F-decay in water a positron range of $0.1 \,\mathrm{mm}$ (FWHM) and $1 \,\mathrm{mm}$ for the Full Width at Tenth Maximum (FWTM) [18] & [20].

A radioactive decay is a Poisson distributed process. Thus, one cannot know the exact time point when the radionuclide is decaying. However, one can predict the expected amount of decays at a given time as:

$$A(t) = A_0 e^{-\lambda t},\tag{1.4}$$

where the A_0 is measured in decays per second (Bq). λ is defined as $\lambda = \frac{ln(2)}{T_{1/2}}$. The *Half-life* $(T_{1/2})$ is the time it takes for a radioactive substance to decay to half of its initial radioactivity. Consequently, the antiderivative of (1.4) results in the N_{decay}

elementary charge: $e \approx 1.602 \times 10^{-19} \text{ C}$ unified atomic mass unit: $u \approx 1.661 \times 10^{-27} \text{ kg}$ speed of light: $c \approx 2.998 \times 10^8 \frac{\text{m}}{\text{s}}$

^{II} $\Delta E = \Delta m \cdot c^2 \div e$, one will result in remaining energy ΔE with the unit *Electronvolt* (eV), using:

between time point a and b:

$$N_{\text{decay}}(a,b) = \int_{a}^{b} A(t) \, \mathrm{d}t = -\frac{A_0}{\lambda} \left(e^{-\lambda b} - e^{-\lambda a} \right). \tag{1.5}$$

1.4 Positron-Electron Annihilation

The interaction of matter with its antimatter is called annihilation. It will result in total destruction of the involved masses which in turn are converted into energy. Since energy is a conserved quantity the sum of all involved energies will form new particles as long as the conservation laws are not violated.

In PET, the e⁻ and the e⁺ produce a low-energy annihilation which favors photon production. Photons are particles and simultaneously their behavior can be described with Maxwell's equations [21]. That is why historically different names are given during the endeavor of discovering the interaction between matter and the spectrum of electromagnetic waves/particles. The high-energy photons that are detected in PET-scanners are called γ -rays. A γ -ray typically has an energy above 100 keV. There are two mechanisms producing these photons, the direct annihilation and the decay of positronium. The direct annihilation always forms two γ -rays. The positronium is an exotic atom, in which the positron is bound to the electron. So it is very similar to the hydrogen atom where a proton is bound to an electron. When the positronium is decaying, it will either decay in an odd or in an even number of photons, depending on the spin configurations of the two originally involved particles. Because of conservation of momentum there have to be at least 2 photons. However, for PET the dominant ([22], [23], [24]) two- γ decay is of importance

$$e^+ + e^- \to \gamma + \gamma^*$$
 , (1.6)

where γ^* and γ decay in an opposite direction angle of 180°. The angle can vary generally not more than 0.5° dependent on the rest-momentum of the involved particles. In the PET-case each of the two γ -rays decays with an energy E_{γ} , which is half of the total annihilation energy (E_{total}). E_{total} can be calculated with Einstein's formula [16] and the masses of the involved particles (m_{e^-}, m_{e^+}) as:

$$E_{total} = (m_{e^-} + m_{e^+}) \cdot c^2 \quad \Rightarrow \quad E_{\gamma} = \frac{E_{total}}{2} = 511 \,\text{keV} \quad .$$
 (1.7)

 γ -rays are absorbed by matter. The linear attenuation coefficient μ of the passed material and the path length x of the appendant γ -rays influence the amount of the attenuated γ -rays:

$$I(x) = I_0 e^{-\mu x} \quad , \tag{1.8}$$

where I_0 is the initial intensity. μ also depends on the γ -ray energy which is negligible for PET since 511 keV γ -rays are exclusively used. With (1.8) the absorption in the human body can be predicted. The μ for water lies around $0.1\frac{1}{\text{cm}}$ [25]. Since humans consist in large part of water, one can calculate that 511 keV γ -rays lose around 63 % of its intensity after penetrating 10 cm. In other words, a single 511 keV photon has a 63 % chance to get absorbed by human tissue, after 10 cm. Besides the absorption disadvantages in the human body, the same effect enables PET-detectors to detect γ -rays.

1.5 Energy Resolution $\left(\frac{\Delta E}{E}\right)$

A known gamma quantum that is stopped in a state of the art PET-detector, returns a predicable electric signal. The fluctuations of this expected signal results in the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of the PET-detector. $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is typically provided as the FWHM divided by its energy of interest. Thus, $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ describes the reliability of measuring a given energy. Its value is a dimensionless fraction commonly expressed as percentage. Thus, the smaller the value, the better the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ [3].

Fig. 1.2(a) shows a single electric signal of a Na-22 event from a PET-detector. The energy of the Na-22 event is represented by the area under the curve. One can see the result of 100,000 such measured Na-22 energies in the spectrum of fig. 1.2(b). The $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is $\frac{16580}{1735} = 10.5\%$ for the 511 keV annihilation peak, which is a satisfactory result for common PET-detectors. The 511 keV peak is also called photo-peak. The predictable minimum in fig. 1.2(b) lies at two-thirds the photo-peak. It is caused



Figure 1.2: Na-22 spectrum from a typical PET-detector. The utilized PET-detector is described in subsection 2.5.6 (keyword: first experiment).

by Compton scattered γ -rays with energies of E = 511 keV and an angle of 180° . All Compton scattered energies are predictable with

$$E' = \frac{511 \,\mathrm{eV}}{2 - \cos\theta} \quad , \tag{1.9}$$

where E' is the energy of the 511 keV γ -ray after Compton scattering and θ is the scattering angle. Therefore, the distribution on the left is called Compton continuum. Further, the typical 1.27 MeV peak for Na-22 is also visible in arbitrary units ($\approx 3.8 \times 10^4$). If the energy distribution is gated with a second PET-detector allowing only coincident events from the same annihilation, the 1.27 MeV peak is dramatically reduced and the Compton continuum will form another minimum at one-third the photo-peak resulting from a scatter angle of 90°.

1.6 Time Resolution

Time measurements are normal distributed (also called Gaussian distribution). By repeating an experiment several times one can calculate the *Mean Value* (μ) of the distribution as

$$\mu = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i, \tag{1.10}$$

where n is the number of repetitions of the experiment and t_i stands for each measured time.

The excellence of time measurements is described by the width of this distribution

and is usually measured as *Standard Deviation* (σ). Thus, σ provides a number for the fluctuation or measurement reproducibility. For convenience reasons σ is often used as an equivalent for time resolution (also equivalent to: timing, timing resolution or timing results). Improving the time resolution is accomplished when lowering the physical value of σ .

 σ can be calculated as

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (t_i - \mu)^2}.$$
(1.11)

By using the algebraic formula for the variance, one can modify (1.11) as

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n-1} \left[\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i^2\right) - \frac{1}{n} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} t_i\right)^2 \right]}.$$
(1.12)

When using (1.12), μ is not needed to calculate σ [26]. This has advantages when computing σ in real time e.g. with a computer program.

The statistical error of the calculated mean value is predicable by the standard error of μ (σ_{μ}) using σ as

$$\sigma_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \cdot \sigma. \tag{1.13}$$

Thus, by increasing the measurements (n) one will finally obtain the true μ . Consequently, the smaller σ is, the less n are needed.

1.6.1 Time Resolution for PET-Detectors

The time resolution of a PET-detector consists of several errors which are interrelated as

$$\sigma_{time} = \sqrt{\sigma_a^2 + \sigma_b^2 + \sigma_c^2 + \cdots}, \qquad (1.14)$$

in which the overall time error (σ_{time}) is described by the quantities $\sigma_a, \sigma_b, \sigma_c$, etc^{III}. In particular, a PET-detector is subdivided in 3 errors:

The 1st error source is the scintillator which stops the 511 keV γ -ray and converts

^{III}The errors are always considered to be Gaussian distributed.

it to visible light. It will result in excellent time resolution if it produces a high number of photons in a very short time frame (details in section 1.7).

The 2^{nd} error source is the photodetector and limited by the photon detection probability combined with the fluctuation in time converted to an electrical signal. In other words every detected photon produces a predictable time jitter in a photodetector. Consequently, the time resolution will improve when increasing the number of simultaneous photons (details in section 1.8).

The 3rd error source is the time resolution of readout electronics, which is a major topic of this work. It usually contributes little to the overall time error. However, it improves with faster speed, lower electronic noise and intelligent signal processing (details in section 1.9).

To express the time resolution for a PET-detector one uses commonly the term FWHM. The correlation between the previously introduced σ and FWHM can be calculated with the probability density of the normal distribution

$$P(t_i) = \frac{1}{\sigma\sqrt{2\pi}} \cdot exp\left(-\frac{(t_i - \mu)^2}{2\sigma^2}\right),\tag{1.15}$$

to be FWHM = $2\sqrt{2ln(2)}\sigma \approx 2.36\sigma$. The probability for PET-events to fall in this FWHM-area is around 80% when calculating its integral with (1.15). The term *Coincident Resolving Time* (CRT) is used as equivalent for PET time resolution[3]. CRT is always given as total time resolution of two PET-detectors measured in coincidence. Fig. 1.3(a) shows a common test setup to investigate the CRT of a PET-detector.



Figure 1.3: (a) shows the test setup to measure the total error of a PET-detector. (b) shows a drawing of the SP-test which measures the readout electronics error.

The combined CRT of scintillator, photodetector and readout electronics directly
influences the uncertainty of the determination of the location of annihilation (σ_x) within an LOR as [27]:

$$\sigma_x = \frac{\sigma_t \cdot c}{2},\tag{1.16}$$

where c is the speed of light and σ_t stands for time resolution (e.g. CRT) of the PETdetector. PET-scanners with a CRT below 1 Nanosecond (ns) (FWHM) are usually called TOF-PET. Advanced TOF-PET systems that are used in the clinical routine have a CRT of around 500 ps (FWHM) [28]. The best reported PET-detector shows a CRT of around 100 Picosecond (ps) (FWHM) [29, 30]. Thus, when using (1.16) one can predict for such PET-detectors the annihilation position probability with 80% (because of FWHM) to be inside a 1.5 cm long area within the LOR.

1.6.2 Time Resolution for Readout Electronics

For PET-detectors with a CRT below 100 ps (FWHM) the time resolution of readout electronics will have a major impact. Therefore, it is important to minimize the errors of the input signals in order to find the true time resolution of the readout electronics. The *Split Pulse Test* (SP-test) is an ideal approach for these measurements. The SP-test consists of a pulse, for example coming from a function generator, that is split in two channels. An adjustable delay in the other channel can be used to verify the measured time differences. In fig. 1.3(b) one will find an illustration of the SP-test. The SP-test will reflect the error of the used readout electronics assuming the noise from the function generator to be negligible. This is already the case if the electronic noise of the readout electronics. By using (1.14) one can calculate that the overall noise increase would be less than 0.5% for this scenario.

The delay between two split pulses is commonly evaluated by measuring the time difference between the regions with the fastest change over time. For positive signals (or pulses) this is usually the case for the rising edge of the pulse as it is shown in fig. 1.3(b). Faster pulses result in shorter rise times^{IV} (t_r) and thus improve the time resolution (σ_t). It is also dependent on the electronic noise (σ_u) and the value of the

^{IV}In this thesis t_r is measured from the 10% to the 90%-point of A_p . It should be mentioned that the level-crossings to calculate t_r can vary (e.g. t_r from 20% to the 80%-point of A_p).

maximum deflection, which is called amplitude (A_p) . According to Stricker-Shaver et al [31] these three parameters will provide the expected time resolution by:

$$\sigma_t = \frac{\sigma_u}{A_p} \cdot t_r. \tag{1.17}$$

When working with digitized signals, the simplest approach is setting t_r to the inverse sampling frequency (f_s) of the digitizer (e.g. 5 GSPS results in $t_r=200 \text{ ps}$). A_p would then be the average voltage change in the rising edge within t_r^V . The most common analyzing method is describes by (1.17), which is the 2-points linear interpolation method. σ_t improves with the number (N) of equally relevant *Sampling Point* (SP)s used for the analyzing method by \sqrt{N} , for example when using more rising edge points of the pulse to calculate the arrival time.

The values for the time resolution in this thesis are given as " σ " or "FWHM" and refer to resolution on time difference. All these values are extracted from a Gaussian fit applied to their distributions. Often used for a calculated σ , utilizing (1.11), is the terminology *Root-Mean-Square* (RMS). RMS is only identical to σ of a Gaussian fit, if the distribution itself is perfectly Gaussian. Thus, RMS will always be greater than a fitted σ (illustrated in fig. 1.4), unless the distribution of the measurement is not similar to a square function. In this thesis " σ " will refer to the fitted σ of a Gaussian fit and "RMS" to the calculated σ .

In fig. 1.4 one can see that the SP-test results in $\approx 0.8 \text{ ps}(\sigma)$ which is equivalent to $\approx 1.9 \text{ ps}$ (FWHM). The calculated mean value (μ) is shifted slightly to the left and the calculated standard deviation (RMS) has increased. Both values are influenced by the outliers on the left. Using only the quickly-calculated RMS value has multiple disadvantages such as not knowing if the measured distribution is really Gaussian.

1.7 Scintillators for Gamma Detection

Scintillator crystals are used in PET-detectors to capture γ -rays. The bigger the crystal and the higher the density, the higher the probability to interact with the

^VThe Analog Bandwidth (BW) of the readout electronics in combination with signal pulse shape defines $t_r[32]$.



Figure 1.4: Time differences histogram for 2000 arrival times between two signals measured with the SCA-based readout electronics, the *Domino Ring Sampler of the Fourth generation* (DRS4)-chip. The calculated mean is -347.53 ps (μ) with a calculated σ of 0.86 ps (RMS). One event is removed completely because it is more than 6 × RMS separated from μ .

 γ -ray. When a γ is interacting, it is converted to many photons of lower energy. These photons are called scintillation-photons and range from visible to ultraviolet wavelengths.

The photoelectric absorption and the Compton scattering are the two mechanisms for capturing γ -rays [3]. The photoelectric effect transfers all energy of the γ to one photoelectron. The e⁻ in turn will decay from its excited energy state by emitting low energy scintillation-photons. In contrast, Compton scattering converts only a fraction of the γ to the e⁻. The remaining energy stays with the scattered photon, as described in (1.9). This scattered photon can still produce additional scintillation centers utilizing both, the Compton or the photoelectric effect. Thus, Compton scattering inside a scintillator result with a high probability in many scintillation centers which makes the position determination challenging.

Therefore the photoelectric effect, which only produces a single scintillation center, is the favored interaction process. It is defined by the *Cross Section of the Photoelectric Effect* (σ_{pe}), which is a function of the density (ρ) and the *Effective*

	BGO	NaI	GSO	LSO	YAP	LuYAP	$LABr_3$	GAGG	$PbWO_4$
peak emission wavelength [nm]	480	410	440	420	350	365	360	520	420
index of refraction (n)	2.15	1.85	1.85	1.82	1.95	1.94	1.9	≈1.9	1.82
light yield $[10^3 \text{ ph/MeV}]$	9	41	8	30	17	12	60	57	0.2
decay time [ns]	300/60	230	60/600	40	30	18	16	88/258	15
photon flux $[ph/ns at 511 \text{ keV}]$	21	90	60	380	290	340	1,900	600	7
$\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ at 662 keV [%]	10	6	8	10	4.5	15	3	5.2	-
density (ρ)	7.13	3.67	6.71	7.35	5.5	8.34	5.3	6.63	8.3
\mathbf{Z}_{eff}	73	50	58	65	33	65	46	54	76
$\frac{1}{\mu}$ at 511 keV [mm]	11.2	25.9	15.0	12.3	21.3	11.0	22.3	?	0.90
PE [%]	44	18	26	34	4.4	32	14	?	?
hygroscopic	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	Yes	No	No
magnetic	No	No	Yes	No	No	No	No	No	No

Table 1.1: List of common PET scintillators with their main properties [33–35].

Atomic Number $(Z_{eff})^{VI}$ of the scintillator. In contrast, the Cross Section of the Compton Effect (σ_{ce}) is linearly related to the e⁻ density ($\sigma_{ce} \propto \rho$). That means, a scintillator should ideally have a large ρ resulting in a high absorption probability and also have a high Z_{eff} for an increased probability of events undergoing the photoelectric absorption. Scintillators are therefore commonly characterized by the Attenuation Length $(\frac{1}{\mu})^{\text{VII}}$ and photo-fraction or Photoelectric Absorption Probabil $ity (PE)^{VIII}$.

The light yield of a scintillator defines the number of emitted scintillation-photons versus the incident energy (ph/MeV). When dividing 1 MeV by the typically scintillationlight energy of 3 eV (420 nm photon), a theoretical maximum light yield of 330 thou-

 $^{{}^{\}text{VI}}\sigma_{pe} \propto \rho \cdot Z^m_{eff}$, with the power (\overline{m}) varying dependent on the photon energy between 3 and 4 ${}^{\text{VII}}\frac{1}{\mu}$ is the distance into the material where around 37% $(\frac{1}{e})$ of the initial number of particles are left. See (1.8) for more details. V^{III}PE is the probability that a photon undergoes the photoelectric effect instead of the Compton

effect and is defined as $PE = \frac{\rho_{pe}}{\rho_{pe} + \rho_{ce}}$

sand photons/MeV is achievable. To date the scintillator of choice for PET converts around one-tenth of the initial γ -energy to scintillation-photons. Measuring these photons is Poisson distributed and thus both, CRT and $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is inversely proportional to the square-root of the number of measured photons.

Summarized, an ideal PET-scintillator should be non-self-absorptive, have a high light yield and a strong stopping power. Additionally, with respect to a precise DOI information, the photoelectric effect should be the dominate process. It is preferable that the light output is proportional to the initial γ -energy. Otherwise the light output for a full 511 keV energy photoelectric absorption would be different compared to a full energy absorption by multiple Compton interactions. This would result in a degradation of the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$. The excited scintillator should ideally decay within nanoseconds. A fast decay time is a key aspect of a high count rate and will positively influence the amount of random events. The fast decay time combined with the high light yield enables a huge initial photon number from the scintillator. Such a crystal guarantees an excellent time resolution.

Scintillator crystals can be organic or inorganic. Organic material is generally fast, but has a low light yield. Inorganic crystals have a greater light yield, but are relatively slow. The major properties of common scintillators are given in table 1.1. For more examples and details please read the recommended literature [3, 30, 33–42]. Additionally, three inorganic crystals that are common for commercial PET-scanners and two organic scintillators will be discussed in the following 2 sub-sections.

1.7.1 Organic Scintillators

The most common organic scintillators are solid plastic scintillators. The mechanism in organic crystals is due to the transition in the energy levels of a single molecule. The energy of an incident photon can be absorbed by exciting the electron to a higher state which in turn will quickly fall back to the ground state causing fluorescence.

The scintillators of interest show an energy spacing of 3-4 eV between the ground state S_0 and the first excited state S_1 . The higher states are usually somewhat smaller. Each of the states is subdivided into a series of levels with much finer spacing. Because the thermal energy is too low to excite states to one of its finer energy levels, an organic scintillator is at room temperature in the $S_{0,0}$ state. Furthermore, any state level with vibrating energy (such as $S_{0,1}$, $S_{1,1}$ or $S_{1,2}$) is not in thermal equilibrium with its neighbors and will lose this vibrating energy resulting in the lowest level of its state (e.g $S_{0,0}$, $S_{1,0}$). However, the energy of a fluorescence photon can cause the corresponding electron state to fall to a vibrating level of the lower state (e.g. from $S_{1,0}$ to $S_{0,3}$). Because most fluorescence photons will have less energy than the minimum required for excitation (except $S_{1,0}$ to $S_{0,0}$), there is very little overlap between both spectra. This phenomena is called the Stokes shift and causes consequently the self-absorption to be very small [3]. An example of a promising future organic scintillator is *Gadolinium Aluminum Gallium Garnet* (GAGG), where Z_{eff} increases by loading it with elements having high atomic numbers. It has a very high light yield of 60,000 photons/MeV, a good $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of around 8%, a high density of around 6.6 g/cm³ and no self-radiation. GAGG is expected not only to be a promising scintillator for PET, but also for other gamma camera applications because of its attractive properties [33, 37–39].

1.7.2 Inorganic Scintillators

The mechanism in inorganic crystals is due to the electronic band (layer) structure, separating valence layer and conduction layer by the forbidden energy gap of 3-12 eV. Radiation in the mentioned energy range or higher can excite e^- from the valence layer to the conducting layer. Inorganic scintillators contain impurities caused by doping the crystal. The impurities, so-called activators, create special sites in the lattice with a modified layer structure. These sites provide additional energy states within the forbidden energy gap through which the e^- can tunnel or de-excite back to the valence layer. The available energy of this transition is reduced compared to the forbidden energy gap. The de-excitation sites cause the main luminescence of the scintillator. Additionally, the energy of the de-excitation transition is not enough to lift an e^- from the valence to the conduction layer (no overlap of emission and absorption spectra). Because of these activators, the scintillators are mostly transparent to their scintillation light. Thus, only little self-absorption by the crystal is expected.

To date Lutetium Oxyorthosilicate (LSO) which is doped with Cerium (Ce) is the most suitable scintillator for PET. Its main properties are available in table 1.1. It combines a high light yield of 30,000 photons per MeV, a high detection efficiency with an $\frac{1}{\mu}$ of 12.3 mm, a high PE of 34 %, a short decay time of 40 ns and a short signal rise time of 0.5 ns [41]. However, the non-linearly behavior in the energy of the light output is a drawback [36]. Another problem of LSO is that lutetium contains by 2.6 % of the radioactive isotope $^{176}_{71}$ Lu , which has a $T_{1/2}$ of 40 billion years and undergoes the β^- decay. When $^{176}_{71}$ Lu decays, it additionally produces three characteristic γ -energies that often sum to 509 keV, which is indistinguishable compared to PET-events. Both, the kinetic energy of the escaping e^- and the corresponding γ -rays can mimic a PET-event in a scintillator crystal. The background count rate is around 280 counts per second in 1 cm³ LSO. Since PET-scanners filter out coincidence events, the majority of these events are rejected. For clinical PET the presence of $\frac{176}{71}$ Lu has very little impact, but certainly, it can effect dedicated small animal PET studies with low count rates [36]. Scintillation properties of LSO can be improved by doping the crystal additionally with Ca^{2+} . An output of around 40,000 photons/MeV is achieved, while the scintillation decay time improves to around 30 ns. However, the pure mechanical properties of LSO:Ca cause a significant fraction of defective crystals in the production process[40].

Lanthanum Bromide (LaBr₃) doped with Ce is the material that first achieved a time resolution below 100 ps (FWHM) [29]. It has a high light yield with 60,000 photons/MeV, a short decay time (\approx 16 ns) and a short rise time (<1 ns) [41]. Because of the light yield [42], $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is better compared to LSO, resulting in an improved Compton-scatter rejection within tissue. On the other hand, the detection efficiency is half and PE is low compared to other PET-crystals. Thus, more scintillation material is required to obtain sufficient stopping power. Larger crystal dimensions mean more costs and low PE results in an increased Γ . Additionally, the larger crystal size increase the parallax effect. Also, LaBr₃ requires dedicated sealing due to its high hygroscopicity.

The scintillator *Bismuth Germanate* (BGO) is one of the few materials not requiring a doping material. The luminescence comes from the Bi^3 + ion. A large shift between the optical absorption and the emission spectrum causes little selfabsorption. It has a high PE, a massive density Z_{eff} and therefore the highest $1/\mu$ value that is used in commercial PET scanners. This leads to the highest detection efficiency for PET, with an 1.6 times higher σ_{pe} than that of LSO [36]. On the other hand its temperature-depending light yield [3] and its decay time of 300 ns are drawbacks compared to other scintillators. The poor decay time and light yield make it a weak crystal for good time resolution, which lowers the count-rate and increases the number of random coincidences due to the need of a wide time window. Because of the low production costs and the high detection efficiency, BGO has been the most widely-used scintillator in previous PET-scanners. To date, LSO replaced BGO and has become the dominate scintillator for PET-scanners.

1.8 Photodetector

The content in the following lines, describing a variety of photodetectors with respect to PET, is mainly influenced with decreasing impact by Vinke [30], Knoll [3], Renker et al [43–46], Lecomte et al [35, 47] and Gerthsen [15] respectively.

A photodetector is needed to convert light into an analog signal. Generally speaking, radio-antennas which are sensitive to low energy photons, are also photodetectors. However, when using the phrase photodetector, visible-light photons or greater photon energies are typically detected. A *Photomultiplier Tube* (PMT) or a *Solid State Photon Detector* (SSPD) are the common choices to detect these photons. For PET applications a scintillator (section 1.7) must be placed before these photodetectors. All photodetectors function identically. The energy of incident photons is transfered to photoelectrons.

PMTs employ the photoelectric effect. Thus, an e^- can be hit out of its energy level from a photon. This photoelectron gets directly amplified multiple times resulting in a measurable current. The initial photon energy must be higher than the binding energy of the e^- , in order to remove the e^- from its energy state completely. Thus, the binding energy of the e^- defines the energy spectrum of the detectable light. Typical PMTs used for PET can detect energies up to 630 nm [44]. More details about PMTs are available in section 1.8.1.

In general, SSPDs consist of silicon which functions as insulators at 0 Kelvin (K). If the thermal energy of the e^- increases, the valence e^- can participate in conduction[3]. A photon can also transfer the e^- from the valence to the conduction layer. The layer gap between the valence and the conduction layer is $E = 1.12 \,\mathrm{eV}$ at room temperature for silicon. The layer gap defines the lowest possible photon energy that silicon can still detect. One can calculate with^{IX}

$$\lambda = \frac{E \cdot h}{c} \quad , \tag{1.18}$$

that this wavelength is around $\lambda = 1100 \,\mathrm{nm}$. Silicon can be doped with elements from the 5 th group of the periodic system (e.g. As or P) resulting in an additional free e^- and is then called p-type silicon. By using an element from the 3 rd group of the periodic system (e.g. B or Ga), a defect (positive hole) is created. This doping material is called n-type silicon. Surrounding silicon with n and p regions, results in a basic SSPD-case, the *Positive Intrinsic Negative* (PIN) diode. When applying a reverse voltage, a PIN diode can detect photons. If a photon gets absorbed in the middle (intrinsic) region, it provides the energy to lift an e^- to the conduction layer. At the same time a hole is created in the valence layer. The free charge carriers (e⁻ and holes), travel to the n or p region which causes a measurable voltage change. A PIN diode has a gain of 1. Some SSPD have an internal gain (gain > 1), which means that they multiply the photoelectron. High gain leads to improved Signal-to-Noise *Ratio* (SNR) and, if high enough, causes a direct measurable electrical current from a single photoelectron. In this case no additional amplifier is necessarily needed.

The typical active area of an SSPD used for PET applications lies around 3x3 mm² with a thickness of only a few μ m. Because of the thin active layer, the produced charge carriers travel a small distance. Therefore, a good time resolution can be expected. The thickness and the low atomic number makes it almost invisible for 511 keV γ -rays which is reproducible with (1.8). SSPDs also function inside magnetic fields which made simultaneous PET-MRI scans possible. Since SSPDs can be

 $[\]begin{array}{l} {}^{\mathrm{IX}}c\approx 2.998\times 10^8\, {}^{\mathrm{m}} \hspace{0.1cm} (\mathrm{speed \ of \ light}) \\ h\approx 4.136\times 10^{-15}\, \mathrm{eV} \cdot \mathrm{s} \hspace{0.1cm} (\mathrm{Planck \ constant}) \end{array}$

fabricated in *Complementary Metal Oxid Semiconductor* (CMOS) processes, they are available for relatively low cost. With dedicated SSPDs, the probability to detect visible photons can reach 80 % [43]. Two SSPD-based photodetectors are used in PET-systems which are the *Avalanche Photodiode* (APD) and the *Silicon Photo Multiplier* (SiPM).

Summarized, the PMT, APD and the SiPM are the standard in PET imaging. Some scanners have also used other photodetectors, where a Γ in the sub-millimeter region is targeted. This is particularly an advantage for preclinical small animal imaging. These alternative photodetectors require no scintillator and therefore γ rays are detected directly. *Cadmium Telluride* (CdTe) [48] and *Cadmium Zinc Telluride* (CZT) [35] are two of the candidates that realize this approach with remarkable $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ less than 2% for γ -energies of 511 keV. However, these photodetector types are expensive, they have purity problems and they need dramatic cooling to reduce noise. Also, the time resolution is much worse compared to standard photodetectors and the stopping power is reduced by a factor of 3 compared to standard PET-scintillators. On the other hand, the Γ is interesting for brain imaging or small animal imaging. Brain studies, comparing CdTe and conventional PET scanners, show better tumor identification [49, 50] for CdTe-based scanners because of its higher Γ and better $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$.

Another alternative PET-detector concept using gaseous ionization detectors is the Resistive Plate Chamber (RPC) [51] and the Multi-Wire Proportional Chamber (MWPC) [52–54]. The idea is that a γ -ray ionizes gas chambers and trigger small avalanches of electrons resulting in a measurable electric signal. Since the ionization energy for gas is about 10 times higher than for semiconductors, the energy information is not satisfactory for the 511 keV events. However, the low construction costs of RPC-detectors, the excellent time resolution of 300 ps (FWHM), a high system sensitivity, sub-millimeter Γ and the DOI information [55] are the main advantages of this technology. MWPC-detectors also result in sub-millimeter resolution, but suffer with respect to time resolution, detection efficiency and count rate performance [35].

The three common photodetectors used for PET are explained in more detail in

the next 3 sub-sections. Their characteristics are summarized in table 1.2.

1.8.1 Photomultiplier Tube (PMT)

PMTs became available in the mid-1930s [56]. Utilizing a PMT as a photodetector is relatively simple, since only a supply voltage has to be applied to receive an analog signal. Fig. 1.5 shows a schematic view of a PMT. One can see that a high-energy photon produces scintillation-photons. A scintillation-photon enters the PMT through a light transmitting window. This photon arrives at the photocathode



Figure 1.5: Schematic view of a PMT coupled to a scintillator, figure copied from [35].

where it can free an e^- . In this case the e^- accelerates because of an applied voltage potential difference towards the first dynode. It will arrive at a higher energy at this dynode, where low-energy electrons will be freed. These electrons in turn will accelerate towards the following dynode, because of its increased potential difference. This multiplication of electrons is repeated several times until it results in a cascade of electrons which finally arrive at the anode where the current is measured. This current or analog signal can now be processed further (e.g. to compute the arrival time information).

The PMT is sealed in a glass tube. Inside the glass tube is a vacuum which enables electrons to move without interaction with other particles. The transmitting window is also part of a vacuum seal. Borosilicate is commonly used as transmitting material with a thickness less than 1 mm. Due to absorption inside the glass, the sensitivity of a PMT towards high-energy photons is limited. The shortest wavelength that borosilicate glass still transmits is around 300 nm. However, standard scintillators for PET produce photons with a wavelength around 420 nm (table 1.1). Therefore, most photocathodes for PET that are placed at the inner side of the transmitting window consist of bi-alkali metals which have their maximum sensitivity at 420 nm.

The scintillation-photons (e.g. 420 nm) must travel through different materials before they arrive at the cathode. The *Index of Refraction* (n) of a material which is wavelength dependent has an impact on the amount of arriving photons. The first material is the scintillator which produces the photons. It has an $n \approx 1.9$ for 420 nm. The borosilicate glass of the PMT is one of the last materials before the photons undergo the photoelectric effect. The n of the glass lies around 1.5 for 420 nm. Thus, in this particular case, if the light that is coming from the scintillator exceeds the critical angle of 52°, total internal reflection will take place on the glass surface of the corresponding PMT. This effect is described by Snell's law [15]:

$$\frac{n_2}{n_1} = \frac{\sin \theta_1}{\sin \theta_2},\tag{1.19}$$

where n_1 is the index of refraction of the material where the light is momentarily traveling and the n_2 is the index of refraction of the material towards the light is moving. The incident (1) and refracted (2) light that make an angle to the normal of the materials interface are given as θ_1 and θ_2 , respectively. Apparently, a critical angle only exists for $n_2 < n_1$. It should be mentioned that before the critical angle is reached ($\theta_2 = 90^\circ$) a fraction of the passing light is reflected. This also remains valid for the ideal case of direct light ($\theta_2 = 0^\circ$). For the mentioned scintillator-borosilicateexample (from n = 1.9 to n = 1.5) around 1.4% of the direct entering light will be reflected before entering the PMT glass, where another reflection happens (from n = 1.5 to n = 1.0).

The amount of reflected light increases with increasing the incident angle until the light is completely reflected. One has to distinguish between two polarizations dependent on the given incident angle to calculate the intensity of the reflected light. This is described by the Fresnel equations [15] as

$$R_{\rm s} = \left(\frac{n_1 \cdot \cos \theta - n_2 \cdot \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{n_1}{n_2} \cdot \sin \theta\right)^2}}{n_1 \cdot \cos \theta + n_2 \cdot \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{n_1}{n_2} \cdot \sin \theta\right)^2}}\right)^2$$

and
$$R_{\rm p} = \left(\frac{n_2 \cdot \cos \theta - n_1 \cdot \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{n_1}{n_2} \cdot \sin \theta\right)^2}}{n_2 \cdot \cos \theta + n_1 \cdot \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{n_1}{n_2} \cdot \sin \theta\right)^2}}\right)^2,$$
(1.20)

where $R_{\rm s}$ and $R_{\rm p}$ stand for the reflectance with a polarization direction of the light that is perpendicular (s) respectively linear (p) to the plane of incident. θ stands for the angle between the incident light and the normal of the interface. Except for angles close to the critical angle the resulting reflectance $\left(\frac{R_{\rm s}+R_{\rm p}}{2}\right)$ is negligible. When looking at the given scintillator-borosilicate-example again, an incident angle of $\frac{3}{4}$ of the critical angle would cause only around 5% of the incident light to be reflected. In contrast to the 1.4% loss of the PMT, 21% of the direct light is reflected when entering the SSPD ($n \approx 5.1$ for 420 nm) from the scintillator side. Thus, the evacuated glass tube of PMTs looks advantageous compared to the high n of SSPDs which consist of silicon. This is why the entrance window of an SSPD must be coated with a thin anti-reflection layer [57].

Another important parameter of the PMT is its *Quantum Efficiency* (QE). It is defined as the probability that an e^- is freed from the photocathode by a given photon. The QE is a function of the wavelength and depends on the cathode and the transmitting window. PMTs show QE values of around 20-40% which is approximately two times lower than what can be achieved with SSPD. In order to make a fair comparison between PMTs and the later introduced SSPDs, the *Photon Detection Efficiency* (PDE) will be introduced:

$$PDE_{PMT} = QE(\lambda) \cdot CE,$$
 (1.21)

with *Collection Efficiency* (CE) and a wavelength(λ) dependent QE. CE is the ratio of captured photoelectrons at the first dynode compared to the emitted photoelectrons and is typically around 90%.

The dynodes (5-10 dynodes for an average PMT) function as a low noise amplifier and result in a typical gain around 10⁶. The noise is caused by the stochastic character of the freed electrons emission [44]. The gain is defined by the potential differences and their corresponding number of dynodes. The anode finally collects the multiplied electrons resulting in a detectable output pulse. Additionally to the anode signal from the PMT, a dynode signal is sometimes available, too. This signal is connected to one of the last dynodes and its amplitude is somewhat lower compared to that of the anode. Since every dynode stage increases the noise, the dynode signal will provide a better time resolution result than the anode signal.

The response time of a PMT is defined by the time required for the photoelectrons to reach the anode after being emitted from the cathode. Its fluctuation, determines the time resolution and is also known as the *Transit Time Spread* (TTS). Increasing the supply voltage improves the electron traveling speed and therefore shortens the TTS. Thus, the TTS depends on the supply voltage of the PMT and improves inversely proportional to the square root of the voltage.

The disadvantage of a PMT compared to a SSPD is its relatively low PDE of 20-40 %, its large size and its sensitivity to magnetic fields. Since PMTs are bulky, they are often applied if large packing space is available and large active areas need to be covert. The sensitivity to magnetic fields make PMTs useless for simultaneous PET-MRI scanners. On the other hand, low dark current and high gain are the major advantages for PMTs. The high gain in combination with the fast rise time means that no additional amplification is needed. Therefore a PMT is easier to use compared to an SSPD and an ideal candidate for preliminary tests.

1.8.2 Avalanche Photodiode (APD)

The first SSPD used for PET application was an APD [47, 58]. APDs have an internal gain of 10^2 - 10^3 and usually run in reach-through mode. APDs consist of a thin p++ layer, a wide depleted drift region followed by the p and n+ regions (avalanche

	PMT	APD	SiPM	
Operation voltage [V]	1000-2000	100-1500	30-80	
Gain	10^{5} - 10^{7}	10^{2}	$10^{5} - 10^{6}$	
Active area	$1\text{-}2000\mathrm{cm}^2$	$1\text{-}100\mathrm{mm}^2$	$1\text{-}10\mathrm{mm}^2$	
Dynamic range	10^{6}	10^{4}	10^{3}	
Rise time [ns]	<1	2-3	≈ 1	
Time jitter (FWHM) [ns]	0.3	>1	0.1	
Dark current / counts	$< 0.1\mathrm{nA/cm^2}$	$1-10\mathrm{nA/mm^2}$	$0.1\text{-}1\mathrm{MHz}/\mathrm{mm}^2$	
PDE (λ =420 nm)	${<}40\%$	${<}80\%$	${<}50\%$	
Temperature coefficient	$1\%/^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	$2\%/^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	$4\%/^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	
Magnetic susceptibility	$>5\mathrm{mT}$	up to $9.4\mathrm{T}$	up to $15\mathrm{T}$	

Table 1.2: Comparison of photodetectors with their main properties for PET. The table is adopted from [35].

region). The drift region is also called intrinsic or π region with a thickness ranging around 100 μ m [59]). Thus, it is similar to a PIN diode, except for the additional placed avalanche region whose impact is dependent on the reverse bias voltage. This voltage can vary from 100 V to 1000 V. Thus, at a low bias voltage the APD will function as a PIN diode.

In fig. 1.6 one will find the illustrated APD functionality. The avalanche region has a high doping concentration. This causes a high electric field in this region when the reverse bias voltage is applied. Photons that enter the π region, will produce electron-hole pairs. The electric field attracts the e⁻ towards the avalanche region. The electric field causes an e⁻ to receive energies greater than the ionization energy of silicon resulting in secondary e⁻ and so on. This procedure is called the avalanche effect and operates as the internal gain process in an APD. The best SNR will be achieved from a typical gain of around 100 which is 10 thousand times lower compared to the gain of a typical PMT. Consequently, the electronic noise of the APD is relatively high compared to the signal amplitude. Additionally, an APD also has a high statistical variation on this gain. The gain strongly depends on temperature and varies exponentially with the applied bias voltage. The gain



Figure 1.6: Schematic view of an APD, which is reversely biased and driven in reach-through mode. The figure is taken from [30].

in general changes with temperature around 1-2%/°C [3, 35]. A constant gain is mandatory for a stable operation and therefore both temperature and bias voltage have to be controlled. Increasing the gain (e.g. 1000 V) is possible but with the drawback of much higher noise and a higher gain variation. Because of the low gain of an APD, low-noise amplifiers are needed. Usually low-noise charge sensitive preamplifiers are used for PET-detectors, which show an integrating behavior. Thus, the time resolution of APDs is worse compared to PMTs, due to the slow amplifiers and the relatively low gain. Although they have a low gain, the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is around 12% for 511 keV with a standard PET-scintillator coupled to an APD, and therefore $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is comparable with PMTs for PET application. Nevertheless, APDs have a much higher QE of typically 60-80%^X and are insensitive to magnetic fields compared to PMTs.

By applying a higher bias voltage to the APD, the electrical field is strong enough so that both, e^- and holes will trigger an avalanche in the depleted region. The APD is now operating in breakdown or Geiger-mode. However, the continuously avalanching APD will result in high current and finally get damaged. Adding a quenching mechanism stops the avalanche with a voltage drop and prevents the APD from destruction. The avalanche breakdown achieves a gain of around 10^6 . This

^XNote that the QE and PDE for APDs are identical.

APD can only detect one photon and afterwards it has a short recovery time until it functions again. Thus, such an APD creates only binary signals and therefore the information about the amount of photons that hit the APD is not available anymore. The signal output is not necessary linear with the amount of detected photons. Assembling these APDs in a huge array of micro cells in parallel led to a new photodetector type which is explained in section 1.8.3.

1.8.3 Silicon Photomultiplier (SiPM)

An array of micro APD cells $(10 \times 10 - 100 \times 100 \,\mu\text{m}^2)$ reversely biased above breakdown is called SiPM. It is typically distributed in an active area of $1 - 3 \,\text{mm}^2$. It is also called *Micro-pixel Avalanche Photodiode* (MAPD), *Geiger Mode Avalanche Photodiode* (G-APD), *Multi-Pixel Photon Counter* (MPPC) or *Solid State Photo Multiplier* (SSPM). The applied electric field reaches gains up to 10^6 . In contrast to an APD, not only the e⁻ but also in the holes contribute in the avalanche process of the SiPM. The fast travel speeds of the involved electrons and holes and the short travel distances result in an excellent *Single Photoelectron Time Resolution* (SPTR) for SiPMs. As mentioned in section 1.8.2 a quenching resistor is required inside the SiPM to stop the permanent avalanche process. Thus, independent of the amount of incident photons, every avalanche process results in a similar analog signal followed by "dead time" or "recovery time". The cell capacitance (C) and the quenching resistor (R) define the dead time (τ) with $\tau \propto \text{RC}$.

The photon number information is lost when looking at a single cell but can be reconstructed when considering all micro cells of a SiPM. The SiPM output is therefore the sum of the triggered cells. Obviously, a SiPM has a maximal value which is the total number of micro cells. On the other hand, single photon detection becomes available because of the high gain and the short signal output width.

Between the micro cells, space is necessary to place the electronics. It also improves optical separation and has a positive impact on the electronic crosstalk. Although the QE of this devices is high, the mentioned geometric loss lowers the sensitive area, which is expressed with the PDE for SiPM as[30]:

$$PDE_{SiPM} = QE(\lambda) \cdot \varepsilon \cdot P_{geiger}, \qquad (1.22)$$

where ε is the geometric fill factor (sensitive area), and P_{geiger} is the probability that an involved photon triggers a breakdown.

Increasing the micro cell size increases ε . Thus, a large micro cell size, like a 100 μ m on a 1 mm² SiPM device means a high PDE, but a low dynamic range since there are only 100 micro cells available. Because of the limited number of micro cells in combination with its dead time, the SiPM shows a non-linearly behavior and has to be calibrated with known photon fluxes. Thus, size and number of micro cells should be adjusted for every PET-detector. In that case, $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of an SiPM will become superior to that of a PMT because there is very little gain variation among the cells, the PDE is higher and the noise is negligible at room temperature [46].

Assuming an infinite recovery time for the micro cells, the number of fired cells (N_{fired}) during a scintillation process can be calculated from the total number of micro cells (N_{total}) , the wavelength dependent PDE and its dedicated number of emitted photons (N_{λ}) as follows[30]:

$$N_{\text{fired}} = N_{\text{total}} \cdot \left(1 - exp^{\frac{-\text{PDE}(\lambda) \cdot N_{\lambda}}{N_{\text{total}}}} \right).$$
(1.23)

One problem of SiPMs is the after-pulsing probability caused by trapped carriers. It results in false pulses with fixed delays after the initial event appeared. Additionally, optical crosstalk of neighboring cells is observed in SiPMs. Optical crosstalk, dark count rate and after-pulsing will increase with increasing gain. The gain of SiPM depends on the bias voltage and temperature. However, relative to the supply voltage, SiPMs are more sensitive to temperature than APDs. The gain of a single cell is determined by the reverse bias voltage (V_{bias}) above the overvoltage or breakdown voltage (V_{break}) and the cell capacitance (C) with the elementary charge (e) as[30]:

$$gain = (V_{bias} - V_{break}) \cdot C/e \quad . \tag{1.24}$$

 V_{break} varies with temperature on the order of 40 mV/°C [44, 45]. Therefore V_{bias} and the temperature need to be controlled for reliable results. Since P_{geiger} increases with gain, the PDE will increase with gain. However, V_{break} cannot be set to infinite values (usually 1-5 V greater than V_{bias}), since the SiPM functionality will be interfered by spontaneous breakdowns initialized by increased dark count rate and high after-pulsing probability. Although SiPMs have high gains, additional amplifiers are mandatory to trigger on the first scintillation-photons in PET-applications.

The logical next generation of an SiPM is already in development and called the *Digital SiPM* (dSiPM). One of the first approaches of dSiPM is the *Philips Digital Photon Counting* (PDPC) [60]. Every micro cell of this device can be read out digitally with a computer and provides the time information when it is triggered. This means, that the complete readout electronics is integrated onto the sensor and the analog part has almost been eliminated. Electronics noise plays a minor role, since the output of the dSiPM does not depend on the gain of an individual micro cell. To date, the environmental temperature has to be low for satisfactory results [60]. The dSiPM has a lot of potential and will be of interest when available for relatively low cost and the main issues are resolved.

1.9 Analog Signal Processing (Readout Electronics)

To process an analog signal is basically measuring and analyzing voltage changes over time, like e.g. the electric charge coming from a photodetector. In order to analyze these signals, several signal-acquisition-devices (readout electronics) are available and will be introduced in the following six sub-sections. Whereby, the focus lies on the reliability of computing the correct arrival time of the incoming analog signals. A detailed description of all boards that are used in this work, and utilize the following signal-acquisition-concepts, can be found in section 2.4.

1.9.1 Leading-Edge Discriminator (LED)

A Leading-Edge Discriminator (LED) is basically a comparator (differential amplifier) with an adjustable Threshold (TH) [61]. Thus, an LED does not respond to input pulses below a certain TH level. If the input pulse height exceeds a given TH, a signal output is produced. At the input, the LED has to deal with pulses that vary in shape and amplitude. Additionally they arrive randomly in time. The standardized output signal is connected in time to the leading-edge crossing of the TH. The height of the output signal is constant and only depends on the used logic standard (like NIM or TTL). The width of the output pulse is variable and can be adjusted according to the measurements. The output signal comes with a constant delay which must be calibrated to get the true time information. Additionally, the output signal comes with an error, which is known as the walk effect and basically caused by the input signal varying its shape. This error can be reduced to a minimum by using a *Constant-Fraction Discriminator* (CFD) which is explained in the following section 1.9.2.

1.9.2 Constant-Fraction Discriminator (CFD)

Electronic signal pulses of photodetectors often vary in their amplitude, but are constant in reaching this plateau. Thus, it makes sense to compute the time always at the same fraction of the leading edge of the pulse. This is accomplished by a CFD. The CFD splits the signal into three parts. One part is fed through a comparator with an adjustable TH. The TH should be tuned according to baseline noise rejection or favored pulse heights. So, the first part of a CFD is just a simple LED. The two other parts go to an inverting and a non-inverting input of a second comparator one part of which is delayed and the other part is attenuated by a given fraction. Both comparator outputs are then fed through an AND-gate that now produces a walk-corrected output signal. The delay and the fraction depend on the signal. An example is given in fig. 1.7. In order to get the time point where 20% of the amplitude (A) is reached of the signals leading edge, one would chose a fraction (f) of 20%. Additionally one would have to calculate the delay (t_A) in dependence to the rise time (t_r) of the signal, as:

$$\mathbf{t}_{\mathbf{A}} = t_r \times (1 - \mathbf{f}) \tag{1.25}$$



Figure 1.7: One can see an example signal pulse (a), which is delayed by t_A . The original pulse is attenuated by f (b). Both signals form a zero-crossing pulse (c) produced by a comparator. The zero-crossing, which is symbolized by a dashed line, is inside the given gate (d) that is provided by a second comparator with an adjustable TH (f × A). An AND-gate (e) finally produces the standardized CFD output signal. The figure is adopted from [62].

If the rise time of the signal would be 10 ns, one would delay the signal by $t_A = 8$ ns. Thus, t_A is the time between the point of interest and the amplitude of the signal. The delay t_A is typically done by externally adding one delay-cable before the second comparator input [62, 63] and has to be optimized according to the experiment. Every CFD-module usually provides a monitor output, where the zero-crossing point can be checked and adjusted with a screwdriver which basically changes the electric resistance of the walk compensation network. To optimize the walk compensation network one has to trigger on the CFD-output and display the monitor output on an oscilloscope screen. If the monitor pulse is stable in time, the optimal setting for cable delay and fraction (screwdriver) is accomplished [64].

1.9.3 Time-to-Digital-Converter (TDC)

A *Time-to-Digital Converter* (TDC) consists of a comparator with an adjustable TH. It is driven by a fast periodic clock in the *Gigahertz* (GHz) range and is comparable to a very fast working LED. But with the disadvantage that the output signal time depends on the clock. This limits the resolution to the clock period. Additionally the walk effect is a problem as mentioned in section LED. That's why typically the signal is fed through a CFD before it goes to the TDC. In practice (e.g. for PET) a "multistop" TDC is used that has several channels in parallel. They are all triggered by a global start trigger. Each of the channels are connected to independent stop triggers (e.g. CFDs), which allows time resolution measurements for many events in parallel [3]. TDCs can have a time resolution in the ps-region for coincidence measurements up to a *Millisecond* (ms) [65].

1.9.4 Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC)

The digital output of an Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC) is proportional to an analog voltage, supplied to the ADC-input. A perfectly behaving ADC is linear. In reality the error of the nonlinearity is described by the *Differential Nonlinearity* (DNL) and can be calibrated out to a certain extend. Every ADC comes with a resolution or bit-depth. E.g. an 8-bit ADC will produce $2^8 = 256$ discrete states. This is a resolution of $\frac{1}{256}$ or less than 0.4%. The final decision of which ADC is needed for an experiment is limited by the SNR. If the SNR is 0.5%, an 8-bit ADC would be the right choice. Additionally, an ADC runs with a certain speed measured in samples per second. A sampling speed of 1 Gigasamples per Second (GSPS) would provide in the upper case an additional number between 1 and 256 for every sampling interval (1 ns). The fastest ADC-type is the flash ADC. It basically consists of 2^n comparators, where n is the bit-depth. The input voltage is split in this case to 256 inputs. An additional logic is connected to the comparator outputs and produces the numbers. The many electronic components causes the fast ADCs to consume a lot of power. More details about ADCs can be found in specialized literature like the book from Knoll [3].

1.9.5 Time-to-Amplitude Converter (TAC)

A *Time-to-Amplitude Converter* (TAC) is a device that produces an output signal, whose amplitude is proportional to a measured time. The time is measured between two input signals that are usually labeled START and STOP. Both inputs are standardized (e.g. NIM logic). First a START signal has to arrive. It triggers



Figure 1.8: It shows a test setup for a PET-measurement. One can see that many modules are required to measure time resolution with a TAC. Two measurements with varying cable delay, represented by the two distributions, are required to obtain the time resolution. The dashed zigzag line stands for the other cable delay.

a capacitor which begins changing linearly until it gets stopped by a STOP signal arrival. One has to guarantee that the STOP always arrives at a given delay compared to the START. The voltage of the capacitor can now be measured with a voltmeter. However, since multiple measurements are performed, the TAC-output is typically fed through an ADC with a high resolution. So far only one normal distribution of voltages is measured. In order to receive proper time information, an additional measurement has to be performed with an increased cable delay for the STOP. The enlargement of the cable delay must be known and will be proportional to the mean voltage increase of the TAC output. One meter of a common coaxial cable would approximately shift the Gaussian-distribution by 5 ns in time, which corresponds to a measured mean voltage shift. However, there are several error factors that add together [3]. The TAC automatically consists of the errors that come with the START and STOP signals. Usually an LED or a CFD produces such a signal. Additionally the TAC has errors, like the non-linearity of the capacitor and the noise. Finally the ADC adds an error mainly caused by its bit-resolution. A test setup for a PET-measurement using a TAC is illustrated in fig. 1.8.

1.9.6 Switched-Capacitor Array (SCA)

An SCA is an *Application-Specific Integrated Circuit* (ASIC) which provides analog signal recording at high sampling speeds. To a certain extend an SCA is comparable to a very fast ADC. An SCA requires less power than a high speed ADC and, more importantly, is available at lower cost. One of the first fields of application is the particle detector readout which started in the 1980's as shown by Kleinfelder et al [66].

The idea behind these chips is to continuously sample at a high rate (e.g. 1 GSPS) and to store the data for a short period of time in the SCA, which will be overwritten again and again. After a trigger, the sampling in the SCA stops and the analog information (e.g. a PET-detector) can be read out with a slow ADC, e.g. 33 *Megahertz* (MHz). This data speed is now acceptable for evaluating in real time before storing the important information onto a hard drive or simply displaying the signal on the monitor screen, similar to an oscilloscope. Hence, one can enhance the sampling speed of a slow ADC with an SCA. An illustration is given in fig. 1.9 where each SP is artificially digitized 30 times faster compared to its digitization speed.



Figure 1.9: The SCA stores 18 information of an analog pulse with a speed of 1 GHz. Although the ADC is running at a frequency of 33 MHz, 18 SPs of the pulse are digitized in 1 ns steps.

The technical realization of an SCA is basically an array of capacitors running in a sample-and-hold mode. A fast sequence of write pulses allows the recording of analog waveforms in these capacitors. They can later be read out and digitized at a lower speed. First sampling speeds in the GHz region are demonstrated by Haller et al[67] utilizing inverter chains. Therefore, most modern SCAs use a kind of inverter chain as delay lines to generate the write pulses which in turn open analog switches. Fig. 1.10 shows a simplified schematic of an SCA. To be accu-



Figure 1.10: Simplified schematic of the DRS4-chip. One can see that is consists of 9 channels with 1024 cells each. All cells are controlled simultaneously by the same inverter chain. The figure is from Stricker-Shaver et al [31]

rate, it shows the DRS4, which is the fourth version of SCAs developed at *Paul* Scherrer Institute, Switzerland (PSI) [68]. The transition time of an inverter depends on parameters like temperature and supply voltage. To address this problem, most SCAs use an external constant reference clock together with a *Phase-Locked* Loop (PLL) or a Delay-Locked Loop (DLL) to stabilize the sampling frequency. Furthermore, mismatches between transistors in the CMOS process cause each inverter to have different transition times. The effect comes from the geometrical size of the transistor and the doping properties. It is stable in time and therefore it can be calibrated by measuring the true transition time of each inverter. This measurement and its correction is one of the main topics of this work. The theory of several new calibration techniques for SCAs can be found in chapter 2. SCAs commonly use CMOS technology. The maximum sampling speed has increased over the years. Current SCA-chip versions from different groups allow sampling speeds in the range of 0.1 - 25 GSPS [69–71]. They have SNRs equivalent to 8 - 13 bits with sampling depths of 256 - 64000 cells per channel. Their typical power consumption is around 10 Milliwatt (mW) per channel. Thus, these chips are excellent alternatives for commercial flash ADCs, where the power consumption can become several Watts per channel for sampling speeds in the GHz region [3]. On the other hand, all SCAs share the drawback that the time required to read out the capacitor cells causes dead time. It depends on the number of channels and storage cells. The dead time is typically in the range of 0.3-100 μ s, which limits the application to cases where the trigger rate is low. A trigger rate of 100-1000/s is a relatively easy task for an SCA readout solution. However, even for this trigger rate events will be lost. The optimal application for SCAs therefore lies in fields with low trigger rates, excellent time resolution, pile-up rejection and the requirement of many synchronized readout channels. This includes for example particle physics [72], Cherenkov telescopes in gamma-ray astronomy [73], TOF applications [74] and neutrino physics [75]. Also, in medical imaging, specifically in PET, where TOF is of interest [28], SCAs are candidates for upcoming applications. Schaart et al [29] measured for PET signals a CRT of $100 \,\mathrm{ps}$ (FWHM), where the fast scintillator LaBr_3 was utilized. In other words, the time resolution of a single PET-detector is around 30 ps (σ). This indicates that the readout electronics of this PET-detector must have been very precise.

An SCA-based readout electronics of micro channel plates measured a single channel resolution of around 15 ps (σ). This result is comparable with the best commercial combination of a CFD with a TAC, but at a lower cost per channel[76]. Another SCA-based readout electronics utilizing the DRS4-chip gave convincing results with time measurements of straw tubes [77], although the accuracy was limited by the imperfect TC-method, but this was the only available TC-method at that time. Therefore, one focus in this thesis is finding the best TC-method for the SCA technology by utilizing the DRS4-chip.

1.10 PET-Detector and Block-Detector

The energies of PET-events are too high to be directly detected by common photodetectors. Therefore a scintillator is used to stop the γ -ray, resulting in a predicable amount of photons for a given energy. These isotropically emitted scintillationphotons travel inside the ideally transparent crystal and get partially absorbed or get reflected at the crystal walls until they arrive at the photodetector. There are several factors influencing the amount of photons that will be detected at the photodetector side. For example, one can wrap a crystal with white *Polytetrafluoroethylene* (PTFE) tape^{XI} causing light reflectance > 99% at the relevant five crystal surfaces [78].

Also the optical bonding between the photodetector surface and the scintillator is of importance. The *n* of the bonding material $(n_{bonding})$ should ideally be $\sqrt{n_{detector} \cdot n_{scintillator}}$. If both indices of refraction are identical (but $n \neq 1$), one still needs a dedicated bonding material to prevent light loss caused by the connecting air gap. In common PET-scanners generally around 20% of the scintillation-photons of absorbed 511 keV events are finally detected and converted to an electric signal [79].



Figure 1.11: Schematic view of a scintillator coupled to a photodetector.

In fig. 1.11, a PET-event is illustrated for a single crystal coupled to a photodetector (also called: one-to-one coupling). The minimum requirement to acquire a PET-image are two facing one-to-one coupled, rotatable PET-detectors, as proven by the first published PET-image of a human brain [80]. However, it makes sense to surround the object of interest with many facing PET-detector pairs, as illustrated

^{XI}PTFE tape is commonly also called teflon tape or seal tape.

in fig. 1.1(a), to increase the detection sensitivity of the scanner. As a result, one will have a high number of photodetectors, scintillators and readout channels. To reduce cost for readout channels, a so-called Anger-logic is used basically in every PET-scanner [81, 82]. The idea of Anger-logic is to lower the number of readout



Figure 1.12: Schematic view of a detector-block consisting of 4 photodetectors coupled to a 8×8 scintillator matrix. The figure is taken from [2].

channels by weighting the light spread in a pixelated scintillator-block with a minimum amount of output channels. Thus, the detector-block in fig. 1.12 reduces the number of readout channels from 64 sequential scintillation crystals to 4 photodetectors. If a PET-event hits a single crystal in the scintillator-block, each of the four photodetectors will measure a fraction of the produced scintillation-photons. This way the interacting crystal of a detector-block can be reproduced.

Additionally, a light guide (few mm) can be placed between the photodetectors and the scintillator-block to guarantee that the photons can spread to the correct area. The use of a light guide is an elegant solution to recover every crystal location in the flood histogram (also called: position profile or crystal-map) of densely packed crystal arrays. In fig. 1.13 one can see such a flood histogram digitized with 4 channels of the DRS4-chip. The 3×3 photodetector channels had to be multiplexed to 4 channels in order to apply the Anger-logic.

Note: A one-to-one coupling will always provide the best CRT, because the maximum amount of photons are detectable, with best results around 120 ps (FWHM) [83] when coupled to LSO. In contrast advanced TOF-PET systems utilizing detectorblocks have a CRT of around 500 ps (FWHM)[28].



(a) Detector-block



Figure 1.13: It shows a detector-block consisting of a 3 × 3 photodetector array, a light guide and an 12 × 12 crystal block (a) and the resulting Na-22 flood histogram (b) sampled with the DRS4 running at 5 GSPS. The upper picture in (a) is adopted from [79].

1.11 Motivation of this Work

Detectors in large high energy physics experiments or medical imaging applications which detect radioactive particles are usually used to measure parameters like Γ , the exact energy of the particle or its accurate moment of interaction. The uncertainty of measuring the correct moment is usually expressed by the term "time resolution". A detailed derivation for time resolution can be found in section 1.6. In short, it stands for the error in time of a single measurement and is commonly described by the quantity " σ " or "FWHM" (FWHM $\approx 2.4\sigma$).

Specifically in coincidence detectors such as Compton cameras [3], calorimeters in high energy physics experiments [84] or in medical imaging systems like in PET, the exact determination of the photon arrival moment at the detection is required. For PET the arrival times of two simultaneous photons that result from annihilation is permanently measured ideally with a time resolution of several ps. This enables coincidence timing providing the exact spatial determination of the interaction location or annihilation location. The time resolution in PET systems depends on the electronic noise and the speed of the readout electronics as well as the measurement errors of the individual parts of the PET-detector. Because of the quadratic contribution of the individual errors as described in (1.14), one should ideally always reduce the error that has the biggest impact on the overall error. In order to calculate one individual error, one has to measure all the other errors. Equivalent to this approach is to reduce an error so much, that is has no measurable effect on the overall error.

Measuring and improving the time resolution in nuclear imaging applications is a major topic of this work. On this note the focus of this work is to optimize a readout electronics to measure in the ps-region. Besides using real coincidence PET signals to evaluate a readout electronics, which is also done in this work, it is more convenient to measure the time resolution between two signals coming from a function generator. This approach minimizes the previously described errors of the input signals providing only the time resolution of the utilized readout electronics. The state of the art readout electronics for PET systems is a combination of TDCs for the timing information and slow ADCs for the energy information. With this approach our preclinical PET-INSERT that is also investigated in this work results in a CRT of around 4 ns (FWHM). Due to its short LOR, a preclinical-PET would require a CRT below 100 ps (FWHM) to be called TOF-system. This cannot be achieved with the TDC used in the PET-INSERT which on its own has an error bigger than 333 ps (σ) . Thus, the readout electronics error for small animal applications should ideally be below 10 ps (FWHM). Due to (1.14) such a readout electronics has no measurable effect on the overall CRT to the TOF-preclinical-PET ($\sqrt{100^2 + 10^2} < 101$). A promising candidate from the SCA technology is investigated which is the DRS4 ^{XII}. It provides sampling information like coming from a fast ADC. Several fast ADC measurements in this work prove that a time resolution below 10 ps can be achieved.

Using an SCA as readout electronics has several advantages compared to a fast ADC such as low power consumption, low cost per channel, better bit-resolution and faster sampling speed. On the other hand, the time it takes to read out an SCA causes dead time. The dead time is the biggest drawback for the usability

 $^{^{\}rm XII}{\rm A}$ more detailed description of SCAs can be found in section 1.9.6.

in PET applications, where millions of events per second are analyzed in real-time and ideally no event should get lost. Additionally, the utilized SCA, the DRS4, performed worse compared to a slower and inferior ADC. All the problems that came up with earlier experiments when measuring with the DRS4 are understood and will be explained in detail ^{XIII}.

One goal of this work is to identify the best time resolution that is theoretically achievable with a DRS4-chip. Thus, this work is not only limited to PET applications. Improved σ for time measurements and fast sampling speed will become important in other fields such as TOF mass spectrometry[85], *Light Detection and Ranging* (LIDAR)[86], high energy physics experiments[87], etc.

Ultimately the author will address the issue of the technological direction of PET towards TOF. Therefore, one major question that is answered in this work is whether the SCA technology is of interest for PET.

^{XIII}A full spectrum of the initial DRS4 problems can be found in the first two sections of chapter 3.

Chapter 2

Material and Methods

At the beginning of this chapter which is grouped in 5 sections, several digital signal processing techniques are pointed out in terms of their usability for PET. Specific digitizing devices, the SCA-based boards, are familiarized in detail to various new calibration methods. The DRS4-chip is exclusively investigated as an SCA representative. The terminology SCA is kept to emphasize that the developed methods can be applied to all SCAs including the DRS4. Therefore, an abbreviation containing the terminology "SCA" in an experiment always refers to the DRS4-chip! Further, other utilized hardware of this work is introduced and abbreviations are given to these devices. At the end of this chapter the basics for all performance tests with respect to time resolution measurements are provided.

2.1 Digital Signal Processing Techniques

Traditionally, for PET modality when using photodetectors, the interface between the photodetector and the front end electronics has been an analog signal chain. This is also the case for the investigated PET-INSERT. The photodetector signal is split to separate time and energy measurements. The energy signal goes through some form of pre-amplification and then to an ADC in order to process the energy information. Meanwhile, the time signal goes through a CFD and then to a TDC.

If the circuit is to be made completely digital at the detector front-end electronics, only a few ways are presently available to accomplish this efficiently. Work in the research community has shown that the *Field-Programmable Gate Array* (FPGA) reached a point in its development, where it can be used as a replacement for the time elements (CFD and TDC).

One way of realizing a digital solution for PET signal processing is to begin with a low-noise amplifier, running the signal into an ADC and then into the FPGA. Brute force methods have been demonstrated utilizing high end flash ADCs beyond 1 GSPS and FPGA-based TDCs towards 5 ps resolution, but they require a lot of power and are expensive to implement[88–91]. Thus, SCAs are also candidates for future applications acting as ADC replacements, if the dead time problem is in an acceptable range.

Against this background the following digital analyzing techniques are dissected and further developed. It should be mentioned that a core theme is straightforwardness in the following processing techniques, making them applicable to FPGAs. These techniques are rewind in the following five sub-sections.

2.1.1 Digital Leading-Edge Discriminator and Fitting

The digital LED can be derived directly from the analog LED as described in section 1.9.1, where a given TH will result in a time point when this TH is reached. Since the dataset consists out of many SPs, the most common approach is the interpolation between the two SPs of the leading edge surrounding the TH level (2-points LED). In order to obtain the time information always at the correct TH level, the waveform is first corrected to the baseline offset. This is accomplished by averaging some SPs of the baseline and then subtracting this average from all SPs. In fig. 2.1 such a 2-points LED is illustrated, where the red dot symbolizes the moment of the TH crossing. The time resolution of a digital LED is predictable as described in section 1.6.2 and will improve by using more SPs. Three fitting methods - the linear, the parabola and the spline fit - are applied alternatively to the 2-points interpolation to operate a digital LED. More details about fitting, spline-approximation, digital filters and digital data processing in general can be found in a book from Schrüfer[92] and Knoll [3].



Figure 2.1: Drawing of a 2-points linear interpolation which is the simplest way of running the digital LED. One can see an analog pulse symbolized by a black line and an example of a possible equidistant digitization (5 GSPS, blue circles). A and B stand for two possible SPs below and above the TH. x is the linear interpolated (wrong) time point. Whereas, z symbols the correct time point. The walk error between x and z changes with the signal shape.

2.1.2 Digital Constant-Fraction Discriminator

There are several ways of realizing a digital CFD. Probably the most common one can be directly copied from an analog CFD (section 1.9.2). Since the input signal is digitized one can easily split, invert or attenuate the SPs as an analog CFD. Considering that the purpose of a CFD is to prevent the walk effect (fig. 2.1), one can also normalize the waveform and afterwards perform the digital LED. Thus, any digital LED where the walk effect is calibrated out, can be understood as a digital CFD.

2.1.3 Zero Adding with Low-Pass Filter

This method is similar to the spline-approximation. Thus, it can be used to generate additional SPs in a waveform. The basic idea is to add equidistant SPs between known SPs, which are initialized with 0 mV (zero adding). After convoluting the changed waveform with the *sinc*-function:

$$sinc(t) = \frac{sin(at)}{at},$$
(2.1)

a new waveform will result where the added 0 mV points will have an interpolated value. By changing the filter parameters a one can tune the new shape of the wave-

form. Additionally the noise level will be reduced, which can lead to an improved result with regards to time resolution and energy resolution. An example is given in fig. 2.2 where a *Sampling Speed of the SCA* (f_{SCA}) of 2 GSPS is artificially increased by a factor of 10, resulting in 50 ps sampling steps.



Figure 2.2: Interpolation via convolution of a modified photo-sensor-signal (zero adding) and the sinc-function. The red line is the signal waveform, the blue one its interpolation. The upper plot is the zoom in on the rising edge. The top of every triangle stands for a truly sampled point. 9 additional SPs lie between two triangles. Each of the two sets of points is connected by a line for clearness.

2.1.4 Cross-Correlation

Cross-Correlation (CC) basically provides the similarity between two functions as [92]:

$$\operatorname{CC}(\tau) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f^*(t) \cdot g(t+\tau) \, dt \,, \qquad (2.2)$$

where $CC(\tau)$ results in all positions of f relative to g and f^* stands for the complex conjugate of f. For a discrete waveforms as coming from an ADC, CC can be defined as[92]:

$$CC[n] = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} f[m] \cdot g[m+n] . \qquad (2.3)$$

CC[n] provides a value for waveform g shifted over waveform f from the left to the right. CC[n] will result in the biggest value if both waveforms are overlapping best. For (2.3), equidistant SPs are mandatory, like it is the case for typical ADC outputs. The digitized SPs from the DRS4 are not equidistant. Instead the DRS4 curve is sampled with 1024 different sampling intervals and thus, it is not possible to
directly cross-correlate two DRS4 signals with each other, Therefore, two approaches are developed in this work to perform a cross-correlation with DRS4 data.

One approach will be referred to as *Interpolated Cross-Correlation* (ICC), where the SPs are made equidistant by computing the missing points (e.g. 500 ps steps) through linear interpolations of the adjacent digitized known points. An example could look as follows:

Afterwards the resulting equidistant waveforms can be cross-correlated directly. This approach functions only for split pulses. In fig. 2.3 an cross-correlation example of two equidistant waveforms is illustrated. The ICC suffers from the *Linear Interpo*-



Figure 2.3: One can see a split pulse. The blue channels is approximately 4 ns delayed towards the red channel. The peak of the purple cross-correlation curve provides the exact delay of 3.738 ns.

lation Error (δ_{lin}) which is explained in section 2.2.8. The ICC is applied only once in this work. The results can be found in in section 3.3.3 and additionally in fig. 1.4.

A more exact approach was developed at the beginning of the thesis, where there was little experience with the cross-correlation method in combination with the DRS4. Consequently, this approach will be referred to as *Precise Cross-Correlation*

(PCC). PCC is rather extravagant and differs considerably from ICC. Since the PCC is more precise one would expect improved results for all ICC-evaluations if repeated with the PCC. An additional feature of the PCC is that it can be applied to calculate the time between signals that have different shapes. To achieve this, templates are needed for the PCC which have the same shape as the expected signals. To get a first understanding of the PCC one should notice that the sampling intervals from the DRS4 are provided in 1 ps accuracy. Therefore, a template with 1 ps steps is produced. Its maximum is placed at a known position as illustrated in fig. 2.4(b), where the maximum of the template is located at 350 ns. Afterwards the timing



Figure 2.4: The plot in (a) shows two channels of the DRS4 running at 2 GSPS. In (b) one can see the computed template of one channel located at 350 ns (right) and one modified signal where the unknown SPs are set to zero (left). (c) shows the same signal as (b) but with less information. In (d) one can see that the computed template is virtually shifted towards the signal.

is provided through the comparison between template and measured signal pulse.

This method works accurately and will be explained in the following lines in more detail.

When running the DRS4 at 2 GSPS, the sampling steps are in the 500 ps region and all unknown 1 ps-steps of the signals are set to zero ^I before applying the crosscorrelation. Since the time difference (delay) between two signals is to be calculated, two templates must be computed, one for each channel. The two templates are only produced once, thus for a new delay, the old templates can be utilized again. To produce the templates two approaches are tested, the spline fitting and zero adding in combination with a lowpass filter. In both cases several thousand produced templates are averaged with the Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm. The results of both methods are identical and therefore the faster method, zero adding with lowpass filter, is utilized.

The example fig. 2.4(a) shows a split pulse measurement with a rise time of 4 ns. For better understanding in fig. 2.4(b) only one channel is displayed showing two similar looking waveforms. The waveform in the middle part is the calculated template for the PCC. On the left of this plot, one will find a single measurement of the split signal with zero adding. Since the signal on the left is not in its original shape (zero adding), it will further be referred to as the modified signal. This is also the case for fig. 2.4(c & d). Cross-correlating the two functions in fig. 2.4(b) will result in the time difference between template and modified signal.

To reduce computing time of the CC only the area of the modified signal that provides the best position information should be used. This is usually the rising edge of the modified signal. An example is illustrated when comparing fig. 2.4(b vs. c). In fig. 2.4(c) one can see that 40 ns of the original signal is further processed. To reduce computing time even more, the PCC consists of two steps per channel. First the time difference between template and modified signal is roughly calculated using a digital LED. Afterwards, the modified signal is virtually shifted around 10 ns next to the template (fig. 2.4(d)), which is around 20 SPs for 2 GSPS but 10,000 SPs in the template. In total, the modified signal consists of 40,000 1 ps-steps, but only 80 SPs have a value which is not zero (fig. 2.4(d), waveform on the left). On the

^IThis technique is called zero padding or zero adding.

other hand, the template consists of 180,000 computed SPs. Since the modified signal is virtually shifted next to the template, one would expect the biggest value of the cross-correlation function in the region of the 10,000th iteration. The resulting cross-correlation function, which provides the time difference at its peak position, can be further improved, below the 1 ps steps, by a parabola fit of the peak.

Finally, both time differences between each modified signal and its corresponding templates need to be calculated through cross-correlation. Since the templates of the two compared channels are sitting at the same position in time, the real time difference between the two sampled signals is simply the difference between the two via cross-correlation calculated time differences. The time resolution for the provided example in fig. 2.3(a) when utilizing a digital LED results in 150 ps (FWHM) or $64 \text{ ps} (\sigma)$. When applying the PCC instead, the time resolution improves to 30 ps (FWHM) or $13 \text{ ps} (\sigma)$ which underlines its potential. The just introduced PCC is applied twice in this work. The results can be found in section 3.1 and section 3.2.

2.1.5 Reducing a Gaussian Distribution to 3 Values

Usually a Gaussian fit is performed if a measurement is very noisy or shows outliers. In general, this fit will result in a more accurate μ and σ . Under good conditions (like the distribution in fig. 1.4), it is much easier to calculate the μ using (1.10) and σ using (1.11). When calculating several thousand σ values at the same time, it is advantageous to use (1.12). As a result, a single distribution consisting of million of events (x_i) does not have to be saved anymore. Instead only 3 values will be overwritten every time a new x_i is measured for this distribution. These 3 values are the actual number of events i, the sum of all measured values x_i and the sum of all x_i^2 .

However, outliers are not recognizable by this method and may result in wrong μ and σ . To reject outliers for this method, the following control algorithm is developed in this thesis:

 σ is calculated after i = 4. If σ is too large, the 3 values are reset. If σ is acceptable, the 3 values are continuously modified by adding more events x_i . Thereby, all x_i with an error greater than $\mu \pm 3\sigma$ will be rejected. This algorithm reduced the

memory usage and computing time of the *Personal Computer* (PC) dramatically. But, it has to be adjusted according to the individual distributions.

2.2 Time Calibration (TC) Methods for SCAs

The sampling intervals of an SCA-chip are not equidistant, but constant over time. This means the SCA has to perform a TC before an accurate time measurement can be made. It is recommended to perform the TC after a VC is utilized, which is described in section 2.3. Temperature variations also change the result of the TC and should not be ignored (see section 3.3.1).

Several TC-methods for SCA-chips are available in the literature[71, 74, 93, 94]. For the DRS4 which is an SCA-chip, two TC-methods provided by PSI and *Costruzioni Apparecchiature Elettroniche Nucleari S.p.A.* (CAEN) are tested in this work. Both TC-methods showed insufficient results. Therefore, a NEW-TC was developed during this thesis which solved the mentioned issues. Additionally, the University of Tübingen filed an international patent application[95] containing the NEW-TC. Both TC-methods from PSI and CAEN including the NEW-TC with all adjustable options will be explained in detail in the following 10 sub-sections. Three NEW-TCs are presented in this work. Their variations and combinations are discussed in section 4.3. Looking at the basic nomenclatures in sub-section 2.2.1 is recommended before approaching the following TC-methods.

2.2.1 Basic Nomenclatures in Respect of SCAs and ADCs

The two terminologies "cell" and "SP" have the same meaning with respect to SCAs. Both terminologies can be used to address specific capacitors of one SCA-channel. Thus, the number of capacitors is equivalent to the Number of SCA cells (n_{SCA}) . A capacitor stores electric charge which reflects the analog signal information at a given time point. The electric charge of SPs is digitized with an ADC resulting, after proper calibration, in sampled voltages of the input signal. The Voltage Difference (ΔV_b) between two neighboring SPs is defined as

$$V_b - V_{b-1} = \Delta V_{b-1,b} \stackrel{!}{=} \Delta V_b \quad . \tag{2.5}$$

When using the same nomenclature for time as in (2.5), one will result in (2.6). Thus, the *Local Time Difference* (Δt_b) is defined^{II} as

$$t_b - t_{b-1} = \Delta t_{b-1,b} \stackrel{!}{=} \Delta t_b$$
 . (2.6)

" Δt_b " is sometimes also called the "sampling interval" between the cells *b* and (b-1). It should be mentioned that the terminology sampling interval is common for an ADC where the SPs are equidistant in time and therefore it can be a misleading expression for an SCA.

By applying (2.6), the Global Time Difference $(\Delta t_{a,b})$ can be calculated with

$$\Delta t_{a,b} = \sum_{i=a+1}^{b} \Delta t_i \quad . \tag{2.7}$$

A Δt_b can therefore always be seen as a special case of the $\Delta t_{a,b}$. Another special case is $\Delta t_{a,a}$. It stands for the time difference of cell #a to itself which naturally is 0 ps. An alternative interpretation is that $\Delta t_{a,a}$ stands for the *Elapsed Time for one* SCA Rotation (T_{SCA}) as

$$\Delta t_{a,a} = \sum_{i=1}^{n_{SCA}} \Delta t_i = T_{SCA} = \frac{n_{SCA}}{f_{SCA}} \quad . \tag{2.8}$$

The Δt_b , the $\Delta t_{a,b}$ and the T_{SCA} are definitions which are mandatory for the reconstruction of the later introduced NEW-TCs.

In fig. 2.5 one can see that $n_{SCA} = 6$. With (2.8) one can calculate that T_{SCA} is 1.2 ns. Further, this SCA example consists of six Δt_b , from which two Δt_b are shown: $\Delta t_{5,6} \stackrel{!}{=} \Delta t_6 = 0.3$ ns and $\Delta t_{2,3} \stackrel{!}{=} \Delta t_3 = 0.1$ ns. Additionally, one $\Delta t_{a,b}$ is illustrated: $\Delta t_{1,5}$ with a time difference of 0.9 ns between capacitor # 1 and capacitor # 5. $\Delta t_{1,5}$

^{II}PSI uses a different nomenclature compared to (2.6). Their definition is $\Delta t_{b,b+1} \stackrel{PSI}{=} \Delta t_b$. The DRS4-manual does not provide this information. Only their provided C-code offers enlightenment.



Figure 2.5: SCA consisting of 6 cells. Visible are also two local time differences $(\Delta t_6 = 0.3 \text{ ns } \& \Delta t_3 = 0.1 \text{ ns})$ and a global time difference $(\Delta t_{1,5} = 0.9 \text{ ns})$.

can be calculated with (2.7) as $\Delta t_{1,5} = \Delta t_2 + \Delta t_3 + \Delta t_4 + \Delta t_5$ and is the sum of four Δt_b .

It should be noticed that an SCA is automatically calibrated in time if all Δt_b are known. This would result in the DRS4-case in a set of 1024 individual Δt_b . All NEW-TCs that are introduced in this work, are performed with a provided *Frequency* which is used for the Time Calibration Signal (f_{TC}) . These periodic signals consist of rising and falling regions. Therefore a region dependent TC-method must be performed resulting in two sets of Δt_b . The Final Set of Δt_b $(end\Delta t_b)$ can be calculated with the Rising Edge Set of Δt_b $(ris\Delta t_b)$ and the Falling Edge Set of Δt_b $(fal\Delta t_b)$ as

$$end\Delta t_b = (fal\Delta t_b + ris\Delta t_b) \cdot \frac{1}{2}$$
 . (2.9)

The resulting (2.9) cancels any residual voltage offsets and provides the final TC outcome (also called: TC table).

2.2.2 Frequencies Time Calibration (FTC)

Since the DRS4 was never calibrated correctly, all expectations of the chip behavior had to be questioned resulting in the *Frequencies Time Calibration* (FTC). As postulated the FTC solved all the DRS4-problems that originated from any previous TC-methods. However, the FTC is complicated and requires expensive equipment.

Superficially, the FTC consists of two parts. The first part provides multiple

 $\Delta t_{a,b}$ by analyzing digitized oscillating signals. Afterwards, the second part utilizes all these measured $\Delta t_{a,b}$ and results in the calibration table^{III}.

The FTC requires multiple known f_{TC} and provides the opportunity to measure the true f_{SCA} . Thus, the expected f_{SCA} is not required to perform the FTC. The basic idea behind the FTC is that it works without any interpolation methods. For instance when digitizing a sine wave with a f_{TC} of 225. $\overline{225}$ MHz, it is not very likely (but possible) that two far apart SPs digitize exactly the same voltage. In that case the time distance between the two SPs would be exactly a multiple of the period (one period = 4440 ps). In fig. 2.6 one can see such a case, where the global time difference between cell #25 and cell #94 is approximately $3 \times 4440 \text{ ps} = 13.32 \text{ ns}$. This is because the measured voltages of cell #25 (V_{25}) and cell #94 (V_{94}) are almost identical.

The Tolerance Voltage for the FTC (V_{FTC}) defines the allowed voltage difference between coincident SP-pairs. Thus, if a second measured voltage is inside the V_{FTC} , both SPs are considered to be a multiple of the period. For example a V_{FTC} of 4 mV fulfills the condition in fig. 2.6. One can see that the two SPs $V_{25} = -81 \text{ mV}$ and $V_{94} = -81.9 \text{ mV}$ result in $V_{FTC} > |V_{25} - V_{94}|$. Since a single f_{TC} only detects a small amount of matching $\Delta t_{a,b}$, the FTC utilizes multiple f_{TC} .

After the basic idea of the first part of the FTC is understood, the true $\Delta t_{a,b}$ can be calculated with the following: The FTC counts all $\Delta t_{a,b}$ of SP-pairs inside the V_{FTC} for all given periods (all f_{TC}). Afterwards, (2.10) utilizes all collected $\Delta t_{a,b}$ information as

true
$$\Delta t_{a,b} = \frac{N_g \cdot \frac{m_g}{f_{TC_g}} + N_h \cdot \frac{m_h}{f_{TC_h}} + \cdots}{N_g + N_h + \cdots}$$
, (2.10)

where $N_g \& N_h$ are the numbers of matching $\Delta t_{a,b}$ and $\frac{1}{f_{TC_h}} \& \frac{1}{f_{TC_g}}$ their corresponding periods. m_g and m_h are usually equal and stand for the multiples of the measured periods^{IV}.

Staying with the previous $225.\overline{225}$ MHz example, a possible measurement for $\Delta t_{25,94}$, after analyzing all f_{TC} , could be the following: 90 times 3×4440 ps and

^{III}Nomenclatures like "calibration table" or " $\Delta t_{a,b}$ " are explained in section, 2.2.1.

^{IV}If more than two f_{TC} are detected for a single $\Delta t_{a,b}$, (2.10) has to be modified which is symbolized by the dots.

the neighboring f_{TC} detects 10 times 3×4450 ps between cell# 25 & cell# 94. By using (2.10), $\Delta t_{25,94}$ can be calculated as $\Delta t_{25,94} = \frac{90 \cdot 3 \cdot 4440 \text{ ps} + 10 \cdot 3 \cdot 4450 \text{ ps}}{100} = 13323 \text{ ps}.$

Further, the Number of FTC frequencies $(n_{\rm FTC})$ together with the Equidistant Period Difference $(t_{\rm FTC})$ define the Maximum Calibration Range $(t_{\rm max})$. The $t_{\rm max}$ can be calculated as

$$t_{\max} = (n_{\text{FTC}} - 1) \cdot t_{\text{FTC}} , \qquad (2.11)$$

where $n_{\rm FTC}$ is the number of distinct f_{TC} that are used for the FTC and the $t_{\rm FTC}$ is the period time difference between two neighboring f_{TC} . Further, all digitized FTCs must follow the constraints in (2.26). An additional condition is that $t_{\rm max}$ must be greater than the longest Δt_b of a given f_{SCA} . Finally, the Number of waveforms for one distinct TC frequency ($N_{\rm wave}$) must be identical for all applied FTC iterations (all f_{TC})! Detailed examples illustrating the $t_{\rm max}$ and the $N_{\rm wave}$ conditions are given in section 2.2.7.



Figure 2.6: It shows the first 101 cells of the 1024 point-array of the DRS4. The chip is stopped at cell #20. Digitized are the sampling points of a sine wave with a FTC of $225.\overline{225}$ MHz. The DRS4 is running at an f_{SCA} of about 5 GSPS.

When analyzing the entire $n_{\rm FTC} \times N_{\rm wave}$ digitized waveforms with V_{FTC} and (2.10), one will compute a huge number (N) of distinct true $\Delta t_{a,b}$. The resulting set of equations consist of global time difference values (T_N) which are similar to the upper mentioned equation $\Delta t_{25,94} = 13323$ ps. Further, the resulting set of equations in (2.12) is the starting condition for the second part of the FTC.

$$\Delta t_{c,b} = T_1$$

$$\Delta t_{d,c} = T_2$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\Delta t_{e,a} = T_N$$
(2.12)

The variables in (2.12) represent the cell#. In total there are as many variables as n_{SCA} . The variables a, b, c, d and e stand for values between 0 and 1023 in the DRS4 case. An alternative way of writing (2.12) using (2.7) is shown in (2.13), where all the neighboring time differences are summed up.

$$\Delta t_{c+1} + \Delta t_{c+2} + \dots + \Delta t_{b-1} + \Delta t_b = T_1$$

$$\Delta t_{d+1} + \Delta t_{d+2} + \dots + \Delta t_{c-1} + \Delta t_c = T_2$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\Delta t_{e+1} + \Delta t_{e+2} + \dots + \Delta t_{a-1} + \Delta t_a = T_N$$
(2.13)

For better understanding, the variables will be initialized with real numbers like that from a possible DRS4-FTC scenario: a = 591, b = 91, c = 0, d = 940 and e = 478.

$$\Delta t_{0,1} + \Delta t_{1,2} + \dots + \Delta t_{89,90} + \Delta t_{90,91} = 18.032 \text{ ns}$$

$$\Delta t_{940,941} + \Delta t_{941,942} + \dots + \Delta t_{1022,1023} + \Delta t_{1023,0} = 16.321 \text{ ns}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\Delta t_{478,479} + \Delta t_{479,480} + \dots + \Delta t_{589,590} + \Delta t_{590,591} = 22.187 \text{ ns}$$
(2.14)

The before mentioned N is roughly predictable by the following formula

$$\frac{n_{SCA}^2 \cdot f_{TC_{slow}}}{f_{SCA}} < N < \frac{n_{SCA}^2 \cdot f_{TC_{fast}}}{f_{SCA}},\tag{2.15}$$

where $f_{TC_{slow}}$ is the slowest and $f_{TC_{fast}}$ is the fastest of the n_{FTC} frequencies. For example a DRS4 running at $f_{SCA} = 5$ GSPS and $f_{TC_{fast}} = 250$ MHz a system of approximately 50,000 equations would be expected for each edge region. Thus, after solving two systems of linear equations one will result in $ris\Delta t_b$ and $fal\Delta t_b$ for a given f_{SCA} . Afterwards, the final TC outcome can be calculated by (2.9).

By solving this system of linear equations, the second part of the FTC is completed. By combining both parts the first successful approach with regards to calibrating the DRS4-chip was established. Although it is a tedious task to write the C-code which analytically solves this system of linear equations, it will not be expanded in the following lines. However, the solution can be extracted from the C-code of this work. Alternate options utilizing a numerical approach are also possible and explained in section 2.2.4. These possibilities are also easier to implement and require less resources with respect to memory usage and computation time.

The FTC will theoretically work for any SCA running at any f_{SCA} . However, the FTC is expensive and challenging to implement. Therefore, another TC-technique is favored that uses less FTC frequencies and ideally avoids the need of solving a system of linear equations. This goal has also been accomplished in this work and the theory will be explained in more detail in the following two sub-sections.

2.2.3 Local Time Calibration (LTC)

The *Local Time Calibration* (LTC) was developed independently by the author as an alternative TC-method for SCA-chips. At least two publications[74, 96] have already introduced the basic idea, but with different realizations.

Originally, the LTC was developed as a standalone solution to replace the previous introduced FTC from section 2.2.2. Finally, it became the first part of a two-part FTC-replacement. The LTC also requires less additional hardware compared to the FTC and is relatively easy to implement. If necessary the LTC can be utilized as standalone-algorithm, but the TC outcome is insufficient if the algorithm is not applied correctly. Additionally, if the true f_{SCA} of the SCA is not known, the LTC will result in a systematic time error. Both mentioned mistakes are reproduced in this work and can be found in fig. 3.26(a&b). The LTC focuses on the identification of the $end\Delta t_b$ as it is defined in section 2.2.1. In particular the LTC-approach considers a Δt_b to be equivalent to its corresponding ΔV_b when applying a linear increasing or decreasing signal. The only requirement is that the applied signal has a relatively constant slope. One could think of a sawtooth shape signal for example as shown in fig. 2.7. Consequently, the



Figure 2.7: It shows an SCA with 77 cells. One can see that the SPs are not equidistant. Since the sawtooth signal has a linear behavior $\Delta V_{71,72}$ has to be equivalent to $\Delta t_{71,72}$.

sum of all ΔV_b is equivalent to the sum of all Δt_b . The intercept theorem results in (2.16) and is illustrated in fig. 2.8.

$$\frac{\Delta t_i}{\Delta V_i} = \frac{\sum \Delta t_i}{\sum \Delta V_i} \tag{2.16}$$

 $\sum \Delta t_i$ can be calculated with the f_{SCA} and the total number of sampling cells (n_{SCA}) as:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n_{SCA}} \Delta t_i = \frac{n_{SCA}}{f_{SCA}}.$$
(2.17)

The combination of (2.16) and (2.17) provides the solutions for the LTC as

$$\Delta t_i = \frac{\Delta V_i \cdot n_{SCA}}{\sum \Delta V_i \cdot f_{SCA}}.$$
(2.18)

If only the LTC is used as a standalone method, (2.18) has to be applied n_{SCA} times for each edge, individually $(fal\Delta t_b \text{ and } ris\Delta t_b)$. Thus, for the DRS4 case, one would calculate all $1024 \Delta t_b$ twice. Afterwards, the correct local time differences can be calculated by making use of (2.9).

The exact f_{SCA} is normally not required because it will be determined with the second part of the FTC-replacement which is described in section 2.2.4. Since the LTC does not have to be perfectly correct one can simply use the rising and falling



Figure 2.8: Correlation between ΔV_i and Δt_i illustrated on a sampled rising edge with equidistant (a) and true sampling intervals (b). Figure taken from [31].

edges of a sine wave like the one in fig. 2.6. The δ_{lin} which appears because of this not-optimal sine wave signal is simulated and can be found in fig. 2.11. The results are discussed in section 4.3.

2.2.4 Global Time Calibration (GTC)

The *Global Time Calibration* (GTC) was implemented because the LTC from the previous section 2.2.3 provides correct results only to a certain extent. More details are discussed in section 4.3.

Further, the GTC is an improved version of the already introduced FTC (see section 2.2.2). Instead of applying multiple frequencies it functions with a single periodic signal. The LTC combined with the GTC is the perfect FTC-replacement, because both can utilize the same f_{TC} . The f_{TC} restrictions are available from (2.26).

Like the FTC, the GTC consists of two parts. Its first part provides the same output as the first part of the FTC. From here on starts the second part. Thus, either the second part from the FTC can be utilized or other solutions can be taken into consideration which will be introduced later.

The LTC output $(end\Delta t_b)$ is needed to deliver an *Initial Set of* Δt_b $(ini\Delta t_b)$. One can also utilize the GTC as standalone version when utilizing (2.27). The first part

of the GTC can be utilized with one of these two initial conditions.

The first part of the GTC distinguishes between two similar methods. One method is called the single-sided correction and the formula can be found in (2.19).

$$\frac{m}{f_{TC}} \stackrel{!}{=} \Delta t_{x,y} - t_{cor} \quad \text{with} \quad t_{cor} = \frac{V_y - V_x}{\Delta V_y} \cdot \Delta t_y. \tag{2.19}$$

 $V_x \& V_y$ are the voltages measured in cell #x & cell #y with $V_x < V_y$. *m* stands for the multiple of the measured period. When applying (2.16), ΔV_y is $(V_y - V_{y-1})$. Thus (2.19) provides the correction in time (t_{cor}) between the expected period time $(\frac{m}{t_{TC}})$ and the measured time $(\Delta t_{x,y})$.

For better understanding of the single-sided correction the previously shown example in fig. 2.6 is used. One can see that $\Delta t_{25,95}$ must be greater than 13.32 ns, because $V_{25} = -81$ mV lies in between V_{94} & V_{95} . Thus, (2.19) will provide the t_{cor} by making a linear interpolation between cell# 94 and cell# 95 with Δt_{95} . Δt_{95} can be estimated with (2.27). When using x = 25, y = 95 and $\Delta t_{95} \approx 200$ ps, one can calculate t_{cor} with (2.19). Thus, $t_{cor} = \frac{-12.8+81}{-12.8+81.9} \cdot 200$ ps ≈ 197 ps. Finally, (2.19) results in $\Delta t_{25,95} = 3 \cdot 4440$ ps + 197 ps =13.517 ns with f_{TC} 225.225 MHz.

An alternative to the single-sided correction in (2.19) is the double-sided correction in (2.20), which calculates the period of a chosen reference voltage (V_{ref}) . The double-sided correction uses two linear interpolations as



Figure 2.9: Digitized are the SPs of a 100 MHz sine wave. Shown are the first 77 SPs of 1024 SPs. The DRS4 is running at an f_{SCA} of 2.5 GSPS. One can see that the $\Delta t_{A,B}$ must be 10 ns.

$$\frac{m}{f_{TC}} \stackrel{!}{=} \Delta t_{x,y} - t_{cor} \quad \text{with} \quad t_{cor} = \frac{V_y - V_{ref}}{\Delta V_y} \cdot \Delta t_y - \frac{V_x - V_{ref}}{\Delta V_x} \cdot \Delta t_x.$$
(2.20)

 V_x and V_y are defined to be the greater than V_{ref} . A V_{ref} of 0 V with a defined period of 10 ns is illustrated in fig. 2.9. Thus, for the given example in fig. 2.9 the variables x = 26 and y = 46 would be used in (2.20).

When analyzing all combinations of $\Delta t_{a,b}$ which originate from the digitized waveforms either by applying (2.19) or by utilizing (2.20) one will result in multiple t_{cor} . The total amount t_{cor} is equal to the Number of all expected $\Delta t_{a,b}$ (n_{all}) and can be computed as

$$n_{\text{all}} = T_{SCA} \cdot f_{TC} \left(T_{SCA} \cdot f_{TC} - 1 \right) \cdot \frac{N_{\text{wave}}}{2} \quad \text{with} \quad T_{SCA} \cdot f_{TC} \in \mathbb{Z}^+ \quad (2.21)$$

All t_{cor} can be iteratively applied to the $ini\Delta t_b$ which forms the second part of the GTC. There are two possibilities to utilize the t_{cor} information. Either by multiplying the $ini\Delta t_b$ with a *Correction Unit* (u_{cor}) as

$$res\Delta t_{x+1} = ini\Delta t_{x+1} \cdot u_{cor}(\star\star)$$

$$res\Delta t_{x+2} = ini\Delta t_{x+2} \cdot u_{cor}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \text{with} \quad u_{cor} = \frac{m}{f_{TC} \cdot (\Delta t_{x,y} - t_{cor})}$$

$$res\Delta t_{y-1} = ini\Delta t_{y-1} \cdot u_{cor}$$

$$res\Delta t_y = ini\Delta t_y \quad \cdot u_{cor}(\star) \qquad (2.22)$$

or adding a Correction Value (v_{cor}) to the $ini\Delta t_b$ as

$$res\Delta t_{x+1} = ini\Delta t_{x+1} + v_{cor}(\star\star)$$

$$res\Delta t_{x+2} = ini\Delta t_{x+2} + v_{cor}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \text{with} \quad v_{cor} = \frac{\frac{m}{f_{TC}} - (\Delta t_{x,y} - t_{cor})}{y - x}$$

$$res\Delta t_{y-1} = ini\Delta t_{y-1} + v_{cor}$$

$$res\Delta t_{y} = ini\Delta t_{y} + v_{cor}(\star) \qquad (2.23)$$

where $ini\Delta t_{x+1}\cdots ini\Delta t_y$ stand for the initial dataset of local time differences that are going to be corrected and consequently $res\Delta t_{x+1}\cdots res\Delta t_y$ stand for the resulting local time differences. The usage of the last equation labeled with a star (*) is optional for (2.20) and (2.19). It basically defines if the last Δt_b of a measured $\Delta t_{a,b}$ will be changed, too. The usage of the first equation labeled with two stars (* *) is only optional for (2.20). That means, (* *) is mandatory when using (2.19). If the equations labeled with (*) or (* *) are chosen not to be used, $\Delta t_{x,y}$ has to be modified in (2.22) and (2.23). Additionally, y - x has to be decreased in (2.23). This is because the investigated $\Delta t_{a,b}$ will decrease automatically for every missing equation ^V.

Summarized, the second part of the GTC always starts with $ini\Delta t_b$ (e.g. provided by LTC). In the following iterations the *Resulting Set of* Δt_b ($res\Delta t_b$) provided by (2.22) or (2.23) will be reused as $ini\Delta t_b$ in order to repeat the procedure until the GTC outcome is sufficient.

Obviously there are a lot of combinations possible when utilizing the GTC. All have their advantages and disadvantages and have been analyzed in this work. In section 4.3 one will find a discussion concerning the evaluated GTC-combinations.

The most promising GTC-combination utilizes an optimization of (2.19) and is used for all applied GTCs in this thesis. Instead of using $\Delta t_{x,y}$ in (2.19), calculated are its mean values $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ while keeping $\Delta \bar{t}_y$ as an unknown fraction and applying them afterwards to (2.23) without the equation labeled with (*). Two advantages result from using $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$. First, $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ offers the possibility of rejecting so-called outliers (wrong $\Delta t_{x,y}$ that do not fit in the distribution of $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$). The other advantage is that the array of $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ can be applied as often as required until a satisfying result is achieved. Independent of the N_{wave} , f_{SCA} and f_{TC} one can predict the allocated memory (mem) as

$$mem = n_{SCA} \times n_{SCA} \times mem_{unit}, \qquad (2.24)$$

where mem_{unit} is the required memory in bits for a single storage cell. With (2.15) and f_{TC} , one can calculate the expected amount of storage cells where mea-

^VNote: Also the second part of the FTC can be replaced by (2.22) or (2.23). In this case, no star-equation can be left out.

sured $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ are expected. With an f_{TC} of 100 MHz and running the DRS4-chip at $f_{SCA}=5$ GSPS, one can expect 20,000 measured $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ inside the internal memory for each of the two edge regions. A possible way to allocate this high amount of memory for the storage cells is to restrict the discrete measurements (e.g. 1000). With this approach one would waste measurements and therefore a better method is developed in this thesis to collect endless measurements. The method maintains the possibility of rejecting outliers and allocates a minimum amount of memory for a single storage cell. More details about this method are given in section 2.1.5.

2.2.5 Signal Requirements to Perform the NEW-TCs

The three NEW-TCs that are described in the previous three sub-sections require analog input signals. These signals have to be digitized by the channel of the SCA that will be calibrated. Care has to be taken that the *Stop Cell of the SCA* (c_{stop}) information^{VI} is saved with every TC-measurement. Thus, when calibrating one channel of the DRS4-chip, 1024 SPs and a dedicated c_{stop} would be saved for one waveform. All 9 channels of the DRS4 have the same c_{stop} . Therefore, all channels can be calibrated at once. However, for ideal TC-results, where every picosecond counts, it is recommended to calibrate an SCA channel-by-channel to avoid crosstalk between the channels. The function generators, which are used to produce TCsignals in this work are the *Tabor Waveform Generator Model WW2571A* (W2571) and the *Tektronix Arbitrary/Function Generator AFG3251* (W3251).

For the LTC, a linearly behaving signal, e.g. a sawtooth signal, is best. If the BW is considered identical for all SPs, the frequency is irrelevant in this case. Still, a faster f_{TC} has advantages. The TC-duration will decrease as a result, because more usable SPs are available from a single waveform and additionally a better SNR is expected. If the LTC is used in combination with the GTC, a sine wave is recommended as input signal. The shape of a sine wave around the zero crossings is almost linearly behaving as required for the LTC. Nevertheless it will result in a δ_{lin} which is dependent on the f_{TC} . The δ_{lin} also depends on the Δt_b and can be predicted as a time walk between the fastest zero crossing and the slowest zero

^{VI}An example of two individual c_{stop} scenarios is provided in section 2.3.8.

crossing as

$$\delta_{lin} = \Delta t_b \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\sin(2\pi \cdot f_{TC} \cdot \Delta t_b)}{2 \cdot \sin(2\pi \cdot f_{TC} \cdot \Delta t_b/2)} \right).$$
(2.25)

A simulation of the sine wave error is shown in fig. 2.11(e & f) utilizing (2.25) for three f_{TC} . Alternatives to signal generators are pocket pulsers, like the *Phillips NIM Pocket Pulser model 417* (P417). Although this solution is very cheap, it would result in a time-consuming LTC, since only one edge with a few SPs would be usable from each waveform.

The two other methods, FTC and GTC, require periodic signals where the exact f_{TC} must be available with a low time jitter. When digitizing the periodic signal the resulting waveform provides multiple $\Delta t_{a,b}$. Considered should only be a $\Delta t_{a,b}$ measured between linearly behaving oscillating regions like the rising edges which are shown in fig. 2.6. The time between two neighboring edges, e.g. falling edge and rising edge, is not necessarily half the period! This was reproduced by measurements of all function generators in house. Also measured was that the oscillating signals with the lowest time jitter are sine waves. Therefore, only sine waves of f_{TC} in the MHz-regions are generated and digitized for all NEW-TCs of this work. An SCA with a given n_{SCA} running at f_{SCA} has the following f_{TC} -options:

$$f_{TC} \in \left[\frac{2}{n_{SCA}} f_{SCA}, \frac{1}{10} f_{SCA}\right]$$
(2.26)

Based on the results of this work, the f_{TC} -options in (2.26) have been slightly increased compared to the formula in Stricker-Shaver et al[31]. (2.26) provides the f_{TC} according to the sampling speed range of the SCA. For example a DRS4 range from 0.7 GSPS to 5 GSPS results in an f_{TC} of 70 MHz. 70 MHz is the highest possible frequency due to (2.26) for the critical 0.7 GSPS case. If the frequency is higher, the linear interpolation in the LTC algorithm would break down for the 0.7 GSPS case. If the frequency is lower, the duration of the TC would needlessly increase.

2.2.6 Alternative Time Calibrations

All SCAs consist of different sets of Δt_b which have to be calibrated, e.g. with the NEW-TC. The Assumption of Equidistant Sampling Points (NO-TC) assumes equidistant sampling intervals as coming from a real ADC. In this case the $end\Delta t_b$ can be predicted as

$$end\Delta t_b = \left[\frac{1}{f_{SCA}}, \frac{1}{f_{SCA}}, \cdots, \frac{1}{f_{SCA}}\right].$$
 (2.27)

Thus, for the DRS4 case all 1024 Δt_b correspond to 200±0 ps when sampling at an f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS.

The DRS4 Evaluation Board version 3 (V3) utilizes the TC-method provided by the V3 (V3-TC). It uses an 240 MHz clock which is produced internally in the V3. It also measures the periods similar to the GTC. First a simplified version of (2.20) with V_{ref} equal to 0 V is applied. Afterwards the V3-TC corrects all 1024 Δt_b . This procedure is repeated each time a period is measured. The correction procedure continues until the set of Δt_b fulfills the calibration condition. It is fulfilled when measured periods are within a given error value. The algorithm can be found in the provided C-code from PSI.

Starting with the DRS4 Evaluation Board version 5 (V5), the TC-method provided by the V5 (V5-TC) was established. The V5-TC utilizes 1000 digitized sine waves coming from an additionally placed low-jitter 100 MHz clock. The 100 MHz clock is the main hardware change compared to the previous version of the DRS4 Evaluation Board series. The updated hardware and improved calibration software, the V5-TC, is exclusively influenced by this thesis. The V5-TC consists of an combination of the LTC and the GTC. Stefan Ritt from PSI triggered the work on the GTC and afterwards adopted one combination of the NEW-TCs, the here-called V5-TC. First the LTC is applied together with the mentioned 1000 digitized sine waves resulting in $end\Delta t_b$. Afterwards, when applying the GTC together with another 1000 collected sine waves the LTC-result successively improves. His chosen GTC settings use the (2.20) in combination with (2.22). Further, the V_{ref} is set to 0 V and thus only zero-crossings are utilized. The V5-TC is applied to every channel of the V5. More information about the V5-TC can be found in the provided C-code from PSI.

The default settings for the 742-Series Board Based on DRS4-chip from CAEN

(X742) utilize the CAEN calibrations directly, while the signals are digitized. Afterwards, the SPs become equidistant through linear interpolation of the digitized SPs. For this interpolation the time table computed by the *TC-method provided by CAEN* (CAEN-TC) is required. The CAEN-TC table is permanently stored in the flash memory. The same time table is applied to all channels of an individual DRS4chip. Thus, the V1742 has 12 stored time tables (4 DRS4-chips × 3 f_{SCA}). The user manual from CAEN provides no information how the CAEN-TC is performed in the CAEN facility.

2.2.7 Comparison of the Most Relevant TCs and NEW-TCs

The most relevant NEW-TCs for SCAs are utilized exclusively with the DRS4-chip which is an SCA representative. As illustrated in the previous four sub-sections a variety of possible TC-method combinations can be tested. All combinations that are left out, showed worse or equal performance compared to the following that were chosen. All results comparing the most relevant NEW-TCs can be found in section 3.3.1. Compared are dedicated settings for LTCs, GTCs, a combination of both and FTCs. Additionally, the NEW-TC is compared repeatedly to the V3-TC, the V5-TC, the CAEN-TC and the NO-TC in chapter 3.

All utilized signals for the NEW-TCs are sine waves ranging from 30 MHz to 239 MHz with a 1 V peak-to-peak value. For comparison reasons, the condition $N_{\text{wave}}=1000$ is fulfilled for all NEW-TCs. This sums up to around 1 million available SPs to perform a TC-method (1024 SPs ×1000 waveforms).

One possible abbreviation that describes a NEW-TC setting would be "100 MHz LTC". It means that a sine wave with an f_{TC} = 100 MHz is digitized 1000 times to perform the LTC. Since all NEW-TCs utilize multiple SPs along the edge of the zero crossing, one has to regulate the SPs by their quality. This is done by defining a *Symmetric Voltage limit for the TC signal* (V_{max}). Thus, if $|V_{SP}| > V_{max}$, the SP will be ignored for the TC-method. Except for the FTC, linear interpolations are performed for the NEW-TCs. The ideal V_{max} is 100 mV for a linearly interpolated f_{TC} of 100 MHz. This is simulated for the DRS4 with f_{SCA} =5.12 GSPS. The simulation results are illustrated in fig. 2.10. Only for the (100 MHz @ 5.12 GSPS)-case is the ideal V_{max} simulated. For other f_{SCA} and f_{TC} combinations, the ideal V_{max} changes, and is calculated with (2.28) in this work. (2.28) does not provide the optimal value like that from a simulation. However, it is a good starting point and calculates the minimum value of V_{max} as

$$V_{max} > \frac{V_{PtP}}{4} \cdot \sin(2\pi \cdot f_{TC} \cdot \max\Delta t_b), \qquad (2.28)$$

with V_{PtP} being the peak-to-peak voltage of the sine wave and $\max \Delta t_b$ standing for the maximum Δt_b of a given f_{SCA} . Further, the $\max \Delta t_b$ of the DRS4 can be predicted as

$$\max \Delta t_b \approx \frac{2}{f_{SCA}}.$$
(2.29)

The first validation of (2.29) was performed in combination with the FTC and a sophisticated function generator. In particular, the W3251[97] was used to generate frequencies around 200 MHz. Further, starting with the fastest f_{TC} that was used for the FTC, each additional and slower f_{TC} was precisely 10 ps longer than the one before. In other words, the $t_{\rm FTC}$ was 10 ps for this scenario. The DRS4-chip was sampling with around 5 GSPS, when the first successful FTC was performed. Thus, a Δt_b of around 200 ps was expected. Nevertheless, a $t_{\rm max}$ of 290 ps failed and caused the C-code of the FTC to crash. The C-code crashes if a Δt_b cannot be calculated with the FTC-algorithm. This means that an initial $t_{\rm max}$ of 290 ps was too low. Therefore, $n_{\rm FTC}$ was increased until the C-code stopped crashing. After randomly increasing to 43 distinct frequencies with a $t_{\rm FTC}$ of 10 ps, the first FTC was functioning. Summarized, a $t_{\rm max}$ =420 ps and a max Δt_b =378 ps was measured which confirms the formula in (2.29). This first validation of (2.29) was time-consuming because the maximum Δt_b when sampling at 5 GSPS was not around 210 ps as expected but around 400 ps.

One of the most relevant NEW-TCs is exactly this mentioned FTC with the 43 distinct frequencies. The tested FTCs are labeled with the $n_{\rm FTC}$ including the voltage level information. The just mentioned FTC is therefore labeled as "43 frequencies FTC with 1 level". Also tested in this work is an 11 and a 4 frequencies FTC. The 11 frequencies FTC utilizes a $t_{\rm max}$ =400 ps and a $t_{\rm FTC}$ =40 ps. The 4

frequencies FTC utilizes a $t_{\text{max}}=420 \text{ ps}$ and a $t_{\text{FTC}}=140 \text{ ps}$. All FTCs use the same pool of multiple digitized f_{TC} which starts with the slowest f_{TC} of around 217 MHz and decreases in 10 ps-steps to the fastest $f_{TC}\approx239 \text{ MHz}$. Thus, the 43 distinct frequencies are digitized with a random trigger. Each frequency fulfills the condition $N_{\text{wave}}=1000$. The FTC needs at least two FTC frequencies. In practice for this available pool of 43 frequencies the minimum amount is 4 frequencies. To utilize the FTC with only 2 frequencies, the noise of the FTC frequencies must be increased to create overlapping period regions.

The reason that the first FTC (43 frequencies FTC with 1 level) started with only one voltage level is that everything about the DRS4-chip was questioned. Only the fluctuation around the baseline level was trusted because it always resulted in the same outcome. Thus, the mentioned single voltage level lies at 0 mV with $V_{FTC} = \pm 3 \text{ mV}$. V_{FTC} depends on the noise of the digitized signal and the t_{FTC} . Therefore, it is recommended to adjust V_{FTC} to get optimal results. Additionally, the voltage levels are always located symmetrically around the baseline level.

However, a 43 frequencies FTC with 101 voltage levels distributed equidistantly from -55 mV to 55 mV is also analyzed. The same settings with 101 levels (-55 mVto 55 mV) and additional 250 levels ranging from -260 mV to 260 mV were tested for the 11 frequencies FTC. 100 levels ranging from -150 mV to 150 mV were preset for the 4 frequencies FTC. When utilizing more than 1 level for the FTC algorithm, one should limit the SPs to the linearly behaving regions. For example an f_{TC} of 240 MHz where the peak-to-peak frequency deviation is 1000 mV, the maximal voltage levels of ±150 mV ($\delta_{lin} \approx 2 \text{ ps}$) are recommended. The maximal voltage levels can be calculated with (2.25). Finally, for all FTCs in this thesis the analytical path is utilized ^{VII}.

All tested GTCs use the same settings regardless of being utilized as a standalone version or in combination with the LTC. The GTC is only used in combination with $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ as it is explained at the end of section 2.2.4. This restricts the first part of the GTC to the single-sided GTC described by (2.19). Further, all considered $\Delta t_{a,b}$ are

^{VII}Note: All TC-methods that provide in the first part a set of $\Delta t_{a,b}$, like FTC, (2.19) or (2.20) can in a second part utilize either the analytical solution, (2.22) or (2.23).

row	TC-method	${\approx}1{\rm GHz}$	$\approx 2\mathrm{GHz}$	$\approx 5\mathrm{GHz}$	source
1	NO-TC	Х	Х	Х	fig. 3.2
2	V3-TC	Х	Х	Х	fig. 3.3
3	V5-TC	-	-	Х	section $3.5.1$
4	CAEN-TC	Х	Х	Х	fig. 3.20
5	$100\mathrm{MHz}$ (3 to 10000) GTC	-	-	Х	fig. $3.25(a-b)$
6	$30-217 \mathrm{MHz} \mathrm{LTC}$	-	-	Х	fig. $3.26(a-b)$
7	4 to 43 frequencies FTC	-	-	Х	fig. 3.26(c-f)
8	$30-217 \mathrm{MHz} \mathrm{LTC} + 3 \mathrm{GTC}$	Х	Х	Х	mostly

Table 2.1: Illustrated are the investigated TC-methods utilized with the DRS4-chip for three f_{SCA} -cases ($\approx 1 \text{ GSPS}$, $\approx 2 \text{ GSPS}$ and $\approx 5 \text{ GSPS}$).

less than $\frac{3}{4}$ of the T_{SCA} . Thus, for an $f_{TC} = 100$ MHz and $f_{SCA} = 5$ GSPS, the 1st period to the 15th period are accepted. For the second part of the FTC an unlimited number of corrections is theoretically available. For simplicity 10,000 corrections are considered as a single GTC iteration. One correction is a random picked $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ out of all available $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$. Every randomly picked new $\Delta \bar{t}_{x,y}$ must be calculated first before the correction is applied. The corrections are applied according to (2.23) without the equation labeled with a star (*). It should also be noticed that all multiples of periods (e.g. 100 MHz) that fluctuate between two possibilities get either rejected or corrected by a dedicated algorithm. This is particularly the case for noisy cells or for cells with short Δt_b . Most GTC iterations are repeated 3 times (3 iterations = 3×10000 GTC corrections) which is symbolized by "3GTC".

The Reference method for NEW-TCs consisting of a LTC + 3GTCs (LTC+3GTC) is chosen to be the reference method for the NEW-TCs. Thus, if not specifically mentioned the terminology "NEW-TC" refers to " f_{TC} LTC+3GTC" with a typical f_{TC} of 100 MHz. To be accurate the abbreviation LTC+3GTC consists of a combination of the LTC and the 3GTC utilizing the same f_{TC} . Table 2.1 provides a summary of all tested TC-methods. One can see in row #8 that the LTC+3GTC is utilized in most cases and for all f_{SCA} .

2.2.8 Simulated NEW-TC Errors and Settings

In fig. 2.10 one can see the simulated systematical error of δ_{lin} . This error symbolizes the average offset from the true Δt_b when applying a 2-points interpolation which in turn is permanently used for the GTC. For the simulation the DRS4 is running at a sampling speed of 5.12 GSPS in combination with a 100 MHz sine wave. Each computed error is the average error resulting from an individual Δt_b for a given V_{max} . The meaning of V_{max} is explained in section 2.2.7. The set of 1024 Δt_b is taken from a calibrated DRS4. One can see in fig. 2.10(a) that different Δt_b result in different average errors. The average errors are the systematic offsets from the true time that is calculated with the linear interpolation. The greatest interpolation error is 0.5 ps for a Δt_b around 380 ps and a given $V_{max}=130$ mV. In fig. 2.10(b-e) one will find the occurrence of each Δt_b error.

Illustrated in fig. 2.10(d) is the most symmetric error distribution with a V_{max} of 100 mV. The other shown simulation examples (b, c & e) result in a worse balanced error compared to (d). Caused by this simulation result, a $V_{max}=100 \text{ mV}$ is used for the NEW-TC when utilizing a f_{TC} of 100 MHz at 5.12 GSPS. The second best simulation result is (b) with $V_{max}=63 \text{ mV}$. It also symbolizes the smallest possible V_{max} and can be calculated with (2.28).

In fig. 2.11(a) $n_{\rm all}$ versus the TC frequency is plotted for $N_{\rm wave} = 1$ utilizing (2.21). For other $N_{\rm wave}$, $n_{\rm all}$ is plotted for three sine waves frequencies (30 MHz, 100 MHz and 240 MHz) in fig. 2.11(b). In both cases the DRS4 is running at 5.12 GSPS. Fig. 2.11(c & d) shows the waveforms of three f_{TC} that have been utilized for the NEW-TC in this work. Available is the time from 0 ps to 1600 ps (c) and a zoom in from 0 ps to 400 ps (d). Additionally provided in fig. 2.11(e & f) is a simulation utilizing (2.25). It shows the δ_{lin} for the three mentioned f_{TC} versus the Δt_b .





Figure 2.10: Simulated interpolation error for NEW-TC of DRS4 for 5.12 GSPS. (a) illustrates four V_{max} scenarios and (b-e) provide more details of the individual scenarios.







Figure 2.11: Shown in (a & b) are simulations of available $\Delta t_{a,b}$ for the DRS4 (5.12 GSPS). Additionally, one will the find a cutout of three sine wave curves (c & d) and their corresponding linear interpolation errors (e & f).

2.2.9 Cheap Calibration for Old DRS4 Evaluation Boards

The V5 already uses one NEW-TC from this work which increases its performance compared to older versions. If no budget is available to buy a V5, old versions of the DRS4 Evaluation Board can be recycled.

For example, the V3 can be calibrated with the 66 MHz clock signal provided by the board itself. For its realization the input resistors of the V3 have to be increased to $1 k\Omega$ and the to be calibrated channel has to be connected to the 66 MHz clock of the DRS4 Evaluation Board as shown in fig. 2.15(a). After the calibration one should change the resistors back to maintain the dynamic range of the board. Alternatively, one can change the FPGA code and route the 66 MHz clock signal to the calibration channel. In that case only one channel can be calibrated. Thus, this TC outcome must also be applied to the other channels, which will cause a performance degradation of the DRS4-chip. In theory one can calibrate all iterations of the DRS4 Evaluation Board by using its dedicated 66 MHz clock. The results of the low budget solution for the V3 are available in fig. 3.24(c & d).

2.2.10 Calibrating Multiple Channels of an SCA

One has to calibrate all channels individually in order to get the best timing performance results. This sub-section will explain how to apply the NEW-TC to the individual channels. It is not trivial to use the just calibrated time information and apply it to multiple channels because another time-error occurs when an SCA is stopped. Since this is a systematical error, it does not have to be measured and there is an relative easy approach to solve this issue. When looking at fig. 2.12(a) one will find an example of an SCA with two channels each consisting of 4 cells and stopped at cell #1. Additionally a second c_{stop} -scenario is demonstrated for the same SCA in (b). Naively one would expect that both channels will stop at exactly the same time for both scenarios ($c_{stop}=1$ and $c_{stop}=3$). In reality they will be shifted a few pico-seconds in time. For example the voltage information in cell #1 of channel #1 could be stored 3 ps before being stored in cell #1 of channel #2. For cell #2 this permanent delay could be different, and so forth. Thus, every cell in a given



Figure 2.12: Example for two c_{stop} scenarios of the same SCA. Two calibrated channel of an SCA $(n_{SCA}=4)$ are shown. One can see that for channel #1, Δt_1 is 130 ps between cell #4 and cell #1. The $\Delta t_{x^*,x}$ between the same cells (x) of individual channels is unknown.

channel (x) has a measurable delay to its dedicated partner cell (x^*) of the other channels. Since it is a fixed delay one can define a global cell. If cell #4 would be the global cell, a delay of 0 ps is assumed to all other partner cells. In this example two channels are used, therefore there is only one partner cell.

$$\Delta t_{x^*,x} = \Delta t_{4,x} \text{(reference channel)} - \Delta t_{4^*,x^*} \text{(partner channel)}$$
(2.30)

(2.30) reflects the just introduced theory and can be applied to calculate the corrections for the 3 remaining delays. Thus, cell #3 in fig. 2.12(b) would get a correction factor of -6 ps (180+270+130-182-271-133=-6). In other words, if this SCA stops at $c_{stop}=3$, channel #2 is always 6 ps earlier stopped compared to channel #1.

2.3 Voltage Calibration (VC) Methods for SCAs

A VC has to be executed for an SCA before proper usage. The resulting VC correction tables differentiate from chip to chip. The first VC-method which is introduced later (VC1) has the biggest impact for SCAs and should always be applied. Some VC-methods depend on the c_{stop} because an SCA can be triggered to stop any time for the cell readout. Consequently, the c_{stop} has 1024 possibilities for the DRS4 case. In general, five corrections exist for SCAs. These corrections are the result of five VC-methods (VC1, VC2, VC3, VC4 and VC5). When applying all VC-methods, a voltage-corrected waveform results. This means in the DRS4 case that all 1024 cells digitize the correct voltages which fluctuate typically less than 1 mV (σ).

In the following five sub-sections the five VC-methods will be discussed further. Afterwards, one will find four VC realizations that are utilized in this work: The Absence of VC-methods (NO-VC), the VC-method provided by the V3 (V3-VC), the VC-method provided by CAEN (CAEN-VC) and the New VC-method developed in this thesis (NEW-VC)

2.3.1 VC1: Individual Cell Offset Calibration

The digitized voltages of the stored waveform show different offsets for each cell. The main reason is that each sampling capacitor is read out by a separate buffer, which has a typical offset of 10-20 mV. These offsets can be measured by using an *Applied DC-Voltage for VCs of SCAs* (V_{cal}) and then subtracting these offsets in each measurement as an offset correction.

Alternatively one can connect the input to ground, which would be equivalent to $V_{cal} = 0$ V. Since the gain of an SCA is not linear, the first approach is favored. That means V_{cal} should be adjusted for VC1 according to the baseline level (DC-offset) of future measurements. Thus, performing VC1 not at the future baseline level will cause degraded timing results.

2.3.2 VC2: Time-Dependent Readout Offset Calibration

VC2 compensates for small supply voltage variations when a DRS4-chip is switching from sampling-mode to readout-mode. The different power consumptions of a DRS4 chip in these two modes cause a small dip in the power supply voltage, which cannot be recovered completely by the linear regulator or the blocking capacitors. The dip causes the DRS4 output to differ by several mV for a few µs after it has been stopped. For the V3 this is only the case for the first channel, since the channels are read out one after the other. The X742 reads 8 DRS4 channels in parallel, so the VC2 has to be made for every channel.

2.3.3 VC3: Symmetrical Spike Calibration

The VC3 problem is understood and solved since May 2018[98]. The solution increases the readout time and is therefore not always applicable. Additionally, the VC3 is only used in the DRS4 and not necessarily required for other SCAs. If VC3 occurs, exactly four of the 1024 cells simultaneously show spikes in all channels of the DRS4-chip, which means that four sampled voltage values are increased by around 14 mV. The four spikes always appear in two spike-pairs. If one spike-pair is known the other is predictable. The cell-distance of one spike-pair to cell #512 is always the same as the other spike-pair to the same cell #512. If all clocks on the board are synchronized, the spikes will only appear for certain cells. In this case when the f_{SCA} is doubled, the possible regions of the spikes will be reduced by half. In the experiment described by Sitarek et al[73], the DRS4 chip shows a possible spike every 32^{nd} cell when sampling at a speed of 2 GSPS. Further, by stopping the DRS4-chip at 80 given cell positions, it is possible to reduce the spike problem to an acceptable minimum for this experimental setup.

Since the four spikes are located in all channels of the DRS4-chip at the same cell # positions, one free running channel can be used to apply the VC3 efficiently. The VC3 is relativity stable for all boards from PSI but fails for the X742. These VC3 failures are discussed in section 4.1.

2.3.4 VC4: Time Pedestal Calibration with Randomly Arriving Trigger

Some SCA-chips have the problem that residual imprints of the previously stored waveform distort the last sampled signal. This may cause the chip to respond differently to DC signals, AC signals or transient signals. In the case of the DRS3 chip, these so-called ghost pulses can cause a signal error up to 5%, depending on

the sampling speed. This problem has been fixed for the DRS4-chip by issuing a clear cycle before a storage cell is written. Both sides of the storage capacitor are connected to ground by additional analog switches for a few nanoseconds before every write cycle, thus removing relatively efficiently any previous stored charge in the cell.

Still, when reading only a few cells of the DRS4-chip, there is a possibility that the read out cells behave differently compared to the other cells, due to an internal recovery process probably related to some internal heat-up. The recovery process follows an exponential behavior as described in Sitarek et al[73]. The MAGIC telescopes are using DRS chips as readout electronics. But only a few cells are read out. Thus, VC4 is mandatory for this experimental setup. In most cases, when all cells of the DRS4-chip are read in a row, the effect is negligible because cells usually have more than 1 ms to recover. However, the effect may influence single measurements and can cause outliers in a Gaussian distribution. VC4 is not performed for any measurement in this work. However, for a correct TC (section 2.2), it is recommended to discard these events. This can be accomplished by working with mean values and ignoring single events that are not inside a given acceptance region, e.g. 3σ . In section 2.1.5 such a method is described. It is developed and utilized during this work for rejecting outliers while performing the TC-method.

2.3.5 VC5: Individual Cell Gain Calibration

Every cell has a not-linearly behaving gain which differs from cell to cell. The cellto-cell gain spread causes level-dependent offsets up to 0.5 mV (see data sheet [99], Plot 2) and has a considerable effect on the time resolution. Therefore, in addition to VC1, each cell buffer has a slightly different gain, which can be measured by applying an additional DC voltage to the input. For instance one could apply an additional V_{cal} , e.g. 800 mV, to the input and measure the response of the cell. Increasing the number of V_{cal} for the VC5-calibration will improve the resulting correction function. The spectrum of V_{cal} should ideally cover equidistantly the whole dynamic input range.

Assuming a linear response function of each cell and correcting it with multiple

 V_{cal} will result in an error of less than 1% from the true measured voltage. The V3 follows the mentioned linear approach by applying $V_{cal}=0$ mV and also $V_{cal}=800$ mV in order to compute the linear gain for each individual cell.

The cell gain correction function should be evaluated in more detail to obtain the best results. Therefore, a multi V_{cal} -based cell-by-cell calibration of the non-linearity will further improve the DRS4 performance.

2.3.6 V3-VC (VC1, VC2, VC3 and VC5)

The V3-VC is identical to the VC-method provided by the V5 (V5-VC). It can be understood from the provided C-code, which can be downloaded freely on the PSI web-page[100]. The following V3-VC is performed in all DRS4 Evaluation Boards. One can make the different VC effects visible, when running the DRS4 Evaluation Boards with their provided software as illustrated in fig. 2.13. Only VC4 is not performed and usually not necessary because all cells are read out when the DRS4chip gets triggered.



Figure 2.13: DRS4 Evaluation Board software showing three voltage correction options

In the C-code one can see that the calibration for VC1 and VC5 is performed first. For that purpose the four input channels get connected to ground, which means that all input cables have to be removed. The calibration for VC1 and VC5 is performed independently from the c_{stop} . Since VC2 has a strong effect only on the first cells of the first channel, VC2 is not needed necessarily to perform the calibration of VC1 and VC5. Thus, the correlated error, that would be corrected by VC2, is almost canceled out by averaging over many c_{stop} positions. The VC1 information is used afterwards to perform the calibration for VC2. VC3 is performed by looking at a ninth channel of the DRS4 which is running with no input voltage. V3-VC is tested in more detail in section 3.1.

2.3.7 CAEN-VC (VC1, VC2 and VC3)

Identically to the CAEN-TC table, the CAEN-VC table is permanently stored in every X742 board inside the flash memory. That means before shipping the boards, the CAEN-VCs are individually calibrated in the CAEN facility. Considering that the electrical components including the DRS4-chip cannot age over time and the experimental conditions (e.g. temperature and humidity) are always the same, this would be the correct solution. Thus, improved measurement results will become available if the saved CAEN-VC in the flash memory is ignored and the just introduced VCs are performed manually when they are required.

The user manual from CAEN provides no information how the CAEN-VC is performed. In the software that comes with the board (C-code) one can see that VC1, VC2 and VC3 are available. VC3 is performed by checking all nine DRS4 channels for spikes. If all channels show a spike at the same cell position, it will be removed by subtracting the averaged voltage increase. However, the CAEN-VC does not work perfectly. Its test results are available in section 3.2.

2.3.8 NEW-VC (Combining VC1 and VC2)

VC1 and VC2 are correlated. While VC1 is applied to the individual cell, VC2 only depends on the c_{stop} . The effect of VC2 is so small that it is usually ignored or considered to be canceled out when averaging many c_{stop} scenarios. The NEW-VC calibrates VC1 and VC2 simultaneously.

Fundamentally, every sampled voltage V_n of a cell consists of two sets of information. This information depends on the c_{stop} and can be written as:

$$\mathrm{VC1}_a + \mathrm{VC2}_b = V_n,\tag{2.31}$$

where VC1_a is the voltage offset VC1 (described in section 2.3.1) for the physical cell #a and VC2_b is the voltage offset VC2 (described in section 2.3.2) for the sampled cell #b. a and b are restricted by the number of SCA cells. In the DRS4 case both variables are individually labeled from 0 to 1023. The n (in V_n) provides the number of equations and can be predicted. The minimum amount of equations is twice the number of SCA cells and increases linearly with the used c_{stop} positions. Thus, collecting waveforms exclusively from two c_{stop} positions is the minimum re-



Figure 2.14: Example for two SCA scenarios when the input channel is connected to ground. Illustrated are two c_{stop} scenarios of the same channel. The SCA-chip in this scenario consists of 4 cells. Thus, altogether four c_{stop} scenarios are possible: $c_{stop} = \text{cell } \#1$, cell #2, cell #3 or cell #4.

quirement. More c_{stop} positions make the result more accurate, because noisy cell voltage measurements can be determined. In fig. 2.14 an SCA-chip consisting of four cells is given with two c_{stop} positions. By using (2.31) for the given example,

one will receive the following 8 linear equations:

$$VC1_{1} + VC2_{1} = 10 \text{ mV}$$

$$VC1_{2} + VC2_{2} = -20 \text{ mV}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$VC1_{4} + VC2_{3} = -9 \text{ mV}$$

$$VC1_{1} + VC2_{4} = 12 \text{ mV}$$
(2.32)

All systems of linear equations that yield from (2.31), like (2.32), are under-constrained and have therefore an infinite number of solutions. One has to define one of the unknown variables. Recommended is to define one of the VC2_b to be 0 mV. In table 2.2 one will find an unique solution for such a case. Thus, for the DRS4 a system of **Table 2.2:** One possible solution for the example given in fig. 2.14 with VC2₃ = 0 mV.

cell #	scenario a (mV)	scenario b (mV)	VC1 (mV)	VC2 (mV)
1	10	-21	13	-3
2	-20	18	-18	-2
3	20	-9	20	0
4	-10	12	-9	-1

at least 2048 linear equations have to be solved in order to compute VC1 and VC2. The NEW-VC is tested with the X742 (see section 3.4) and the V3 (see section 3.3).

2.4 Used Boards as Readout Electronics

In this section, all boards that are used in this work will be introduced with respect to time resolution (section 1.6). The best achievable time resolutions of these devices are evaluated in this work and summarized in table 3.12.

2.4.1 DRS4 Evaluation Board

In order to get used to the DRS4-chip, the PSI offers a DRS4 Evaluation Board. The software, which is necessary to run the board, is available as Open Source and can be downloaded on the PSI-webpage[100]. The software is written in C++ and runs on Windows, Linux and OSX. With an ordinary PC and an *Universal Serial Bus* (USB) cable it is relatively easy to get started. Thus, for many applications the DRS4 Evaluation Board can be used as a relatively cheap portable oscilloscope replacement. It typically costs around 1000 EUR.



(a) V3 back

(b) V3 front

Figure 2.15: One can see that V3 fits in one hand. In (a) the internal 66 MHz clock is bypassed and connected to channel #3 to perform the NEW-TC.

There have been multiple iterations of the DRS4 Evaluation Board. Each iteration brought better software features and hardware improvements. The V3 is evaluated in detail in this work. The latest board, the V5, was designed because of the results of this doctoral thesis. The shipment started in March 2014. The V5 is highlighted by its convincing results and includes excellent time resolution as the new main feature. Additionally, the V5 is capable of triggering on every channel, which makes it easier for use in PET measurements, where two channels have to
trigger simultaneously. However, the V3 is mainly analyzed in this work and it is pictured in fig. 2.15. The V3 triggered the development of the NEW-TCs which can be found in section 2.2.

The DRS4-chip was designed in 2007 and has a bandwidth of 950 MHz. The sampling frequency ranges from 0.7 GSPS to 5 GSPS. The power consumption for the fastest f_{SCA} is around 40 mW per channel. The DRS4 contains 9 channels (N_{ch}) and the n_{SCA} is 1024 in each channel. Only 4 out of 9 channels are available for all DRS4 Evaluation Boards due to mechanical constraints of the connectors. Since the DRS4 is connected to a single 33 MHz ADC resulting in time steps (t_{clock}) of 30 ns, the dead time (t_{dead}) of the board can be calculated as:

$$t_{dead} = n_{SCA} \times N_{ch} \times t_{clock} = 1024 \times 4 \times 30 \,\mathrm{ns} \approx 0.123 \,\mathrm{ms} \tag{2.33}$$

The V3 channels have a 1V dynamic range with an BW of 700 MHz. The SNR is equivalent to 11.5 bits. The fastest acquisition rate, which is restricted by the readout speed, is around 500 per second. The readout speed is limited by the USB port, which also delivers the voltage supply for the board. From $t_{dead} = 0.123$ ms, one can calculate that the maximal acquisition rate is $1/t_{dead} \approx 8000/\text{s}$ which corresponds to a data rate of around 15.5 Mbytes/s per channel. With an f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS, the digitized time in 1 second is $8000 \times 200 \text{ ps} \times 1024 \approx 1.6 \text{ ms}$. This is an event loss of more than 99.8%. Thus, the low acquisition rate is the main drawback for this very fast and inexpensive ADC replacement.

Only the relevant features for this work have been named. More information about the DRS4 and SCAs in general are given in section 1.9.6. The utilized PSI calibrations for the DRS4-chip are available in section 2.3.6 and section 2.2.6. A complete documentation of V3, V5 or the DRS4 can be found on the web page of PSI[99].

2.4.2 CAEN Readout Electronics

Two broads the V1742 and the DT5742 are investigated. Both boards utilize the DRS4-chip and therefore similar performance is excepted compared to the V3. Both

will be referred to predominantly as the X742 in this work. In contrast to the V3, the X742 has only 3 f_{SCA} available (1, 2.5 and 5 GSPS). The selling price per channel of the X742 is around 2 times lower compared to the V3. The utilized CAEN calibrations for the DRS4-chip are available in section 2.3.7 and section 2.2.6.

2.4.3 Oscilloscope: Wave Runner 6050A and 640Zi

In general, oscilloscopes are capable to observe the change of electrical signals over time among parallel channels. In this work two modern digital oscilloscopes from Teledyne LeCroy are evaluated. Both oscilloscopes utilize fast flash ADCs and are far more expensive compared to the V3. Further, only the relevant parameters for timing will be named.

The *LeCroy WaveRunner 6050A Oscilloscope* (S5) settings for all performance test have been 500 MHz BW, 5 GSPS and 8 bits resolution. The DRS4 is superior compared to the S5 in all aspect of the specification. Thus, the V3 should also be superior in performance tests compared to the S5.

The *Teledyne LeCroy WaveRunner 640Zi Oscilloscope* (S20) was running with a BW of 4 GHz, 20 GSPS and a bit resolution of 8.5 bits artificially enhanced to around 11 bits. The S20 is used to evaluate the best achievable results among the boards. The S20 was additionally running with a BW of 1 GHz and a sampling speed of 5 GSPS which is close to the DRS4-chip parameters. Both manuals with more details are available on the web page of the company[101].

2.4.4 NIM Electronics

Three NIM Electronics boards with regards to time resolution have been tested ^{VIII}:

 1^{st} , the *Tenneelec Time-to-Amplitude Converter TC 861A* (NIM-TAC) will be named. The time resolution is 0.01% of the full-scale plus 5 ps (FWHM). Thus, the best achievable time resolution with NIM-TAC is 10 ps (FWHM). The output voltage is analyzed with a 12 bit and a 14 bit ADC for the time resolution tests.

 $^{^{\}rm VIII}{\rm The}$ NIM Electronics specifications are defined by the norms EUR 4100 and AEC NIM (TIS20893).

Further specifications of NIM-TAC can be found in the manual[102], as well as more details about TAC in general in section 1.9.5.

 2^{nd} , tested is the *LeCroy Leading-Edge Discriminator 623B* (NIM-LED), which is an 8-channel LED. The output rise time of the NIM standard pulse is typically 2.1 ns with with a stability better than $0.1 \%/^{\circ}C[103]$. Only the rise time and the noise is important for time resolution tests. Further details about LED in general can be found in section 1.9.1.

3rd, used is the *SIN Constant Fraction Discriminator 102* (NIM-CFD), which is a 6-channel CFD. A detailed description of CFDs can be found in section 1.9.2.

Additionally, three more modules of the NIM electronics are used to generate a TLL-trigger for coincident PET-events, which are the 3 channels of the NIM-LED, one module that continuously builds a sum of two channels and a NIM-to-TLL trigger converter. This is mandatory to trigger V3 and X742. It is also used to trigger the other boards guaranteeing that the experimental conditions are kept identical for all investigated boards. Fig. 2.16 illustrates its realization. The advantage of



Figure 2.16: Schematic view of a trigger logic produced with the NIM electronics to trigger coincident PET-events. The time window is adjustable by modifying the length of NIM-LED output signal.

using an external trigger is to reduce the number of random events by providing a variable time window. Furthermore, by changing the TH values for the individual input channels of the NIM-LED, one can adjust the energy region of interest. Two channels of the NIM-LED are used for this purpose. When both channels produce an output signal (NIM-signal) inside a given time window, one can consider the two events to originate from the same β^+ decay. The time window is set by varying

the width of the two output signals of the NIM-LED. The two output signals are summed together and fed again to a third channel of the NIM-LED where the TH is set to 1 V. Thus, the third channel is only triggered when the sum of two NIMsignals are overlapping indicating a coincident PET-event. Finally, the NIM signal has to be converted to a *Transistor-Transistor Logic* (TTL) signal to trigger the tested boards, including the V3 and the X742.

2.5 Test Setups for Time Resolution Measurements

In the following 7 sub-sections one will find the test setup description for all performed experiments. They are divided in two categories. The first category uses ideal waveforms coming from a function generator. The first category is divided in the SP-test and the *Period Test* (P-test). Both methods enable the comparison of individual readout electronics.

PET-detector	digitizer (TC)	crystal details	more details	results	
APD+LSO	V3 (V3-TC)	$3 \times 3 \times 20 \mathrm{mm^3}$	section $2.5.4$	section $3.1.5$	
PET-INSERT	V3 (V3-TC)	15×15 crystals	section $2.5.4$	section $3.1.6$	
$\rm SiPM+LSO$	V3 (V3-TC)	$3\times3\times20\mathrm{mm^3}$	section $2.5.5$	section 3.1.4	
SiPM+LSO	X742 (NEW-TC)	$3\times3\times20\mathrm{mm^3}$	section $2.5.5$	section $3.4.2$	
MPPC+PbWO	X742 (NEW-TC)	$1\times1\times5\mathrm{mm}^3$	section $2.5.5$	section 3.4.3	
reference PMT	X742 (NEW-TC)	3×3 crystals	section $2.5.5$	section $3.4.2$	
reference PMT	X742 (NEW-TC)	3×3 crystals	section $2.5.5$	section $3.4.3$	
PMT+LSO	V3 (V3-TC)	$3\times3\times20\mathrm{mm^3}$	section $2.5.6$	section 3.1.3	
PMT+LSO:Ca	X742 (CAEN-TC)	$5 \times 5 \times 5 \mathrm{mm^3}$	section 2.5.6	section 3.2.3	
PMT+LSO:Ca	X742 (NEW-TC)	$5 \times 5 \times 5 \mathrm{mm^3}$	section 2.5.6	section 3.4.1	
PMT+LSO:Ca	S20	$5 \times 5 \times 5 \mathrm{mm^3}$	section $2.5.6$	section 3.5.3	

Table 2.3: Summarized are all CRT-tests of this thesis. One can see that altogetherseven PET-detectors are available and investigated in 11 CRT-tests (11 rows).

The second category provides the *CRT (FWHM)* and $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of a *PET-Detector Test* (CRT-test). For all CRT-tests a Na-22 source is placed between two PET- detectors to capture coincident events. Except for one case (S20), all CRT-tests utilize the DRS4-chip as readout electronics. To guarantee coincident events for the DRS4-based readout electronics (V3 and X742) an external trigger is mandatory. The coincident events are accomplished with an external TTL-trigger of a NIMelectronic setup (see fig. 2.16). The signal width of the TTL-trigger must be longer than 30 ns to trigger the DRS4, because of the ADC readout speed of 33 MHz. Additionally, the PSI-suggested warming-up phase of 20 minutes is applied before measuring with the DRS4.

A CRT-test consists of the coincident (folded) time resolution measured in FWHM (CRT) and the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of both involved PET-channels. To be specific, the CRT-tests are applied to PET-detectors consisting of different photodetectors. The CRT-tests are also evaluating different crystal-types with variating dimensions. It should be mentioned that one crystal-case is tested for all investigated photodetectors (APD, SiPM, PMT) for comparison reasons. For these CRT-tests a $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-crystal is used. The crystal is wrapped in 5 layers of white teflon tape and is coupled with a thin layer of optical grease to the active area of the photodetector surface. A summary of all performed CRT-tests is available in table 2.3. One can see that for most cases (except last row) the DRS4 is used as readout electronics utilizing either the NEW-TC or its dedicated board TC-method.

2.5.1 P-Test: Time Resolution for a Single Readout Channel

The P-test needs a function generator with an accurate adjustable period, ideally with low SNR and little time jitter. In this thesis the W2571[104] and the W3251[97] are used to generate periodic signals. In theory any kind of periodic waveform will work for the P-test like the saw-tooth waveform for example. However, sine waves show best time jitter behavior in general, which is also the case for the above mentioned function generators. Therefore, only sine waves are analyzed in this work. The fastest sine wave that can be produced by the W2571 is 240 MHz. The fastest sine wave of the W3251 is 100 MHz. The P-test originates from the NEW-TCs introduced in section 2.2 and delivers an easy technique to check whether the TC works correctly for an SCA-based board. Additionally one can check the time resolution

of other readout electronics like fast ADC-based boards. The idea behind the P-test is to calculate the time difference of repeating sine wave points resulting ideally in multiples of the period. The time information of a digitized sine wave can be obtained by utilizing (2.19) or (2.20). An example of a digitized sine wave is shown in fig. 2.9. In this work, the straightforward way of calculating the zero crossings using the double-sided correction described by (2.20) is performed for all P-tests. Hereby one has to pay attention in calculating the time between equally behaving edges of the signal. This means between two rising edges for example. This is because the time difference between a falling edge and a rising edge is not necessarily half the period as may be expected.

If a periodic signal is already used for the TC-method of the readout electronics, a different frequency should be used for the P-test. Also the new frequency should not be a multiple of the previous frequency.

One can think of two possibilities to illustrate the results of the P-test. The 1st possibility is to show all measured periods in one Gaussian distribution. Concrete, one would expect for a sine wave with a frequency of 100 MHz a Gaussian with a mean value of 10 ns. This would prove that the board time is calibrated correctly. The standard deviation would be an indication of the time resolution of the board.

The 2nd and more powerful possibility is to produce two plots from all measured Gaussian distributions. These plots summarize the P-test results of all 1st possibilities, thus all Gaussian distributions versus the delay. In practice, the first plot shows the time resolution (σ) vs. multiples of the period (delay). And the second plot would illustrate the offset from the expected delay vs. the delay.

Mainly the 2nd possibility of the P-test is utilized in this thesis. In rare cases the 1st possibility is additionally provided to provide the shape of some distributions. It must be noticed that the offset is calculated by subtracting the measured delay from the expected delay! This information is mandatory to understand the following TC results.

The P-test is the key method for analyzing TC-methods. The P-test is applied to three distinct f_{SCA} (5 GSPS, 2 GSPS and 1 GSPS) in combination with sine waves ranging from 30 MHz to 240 MHz. Additionally, all P-tests are performed with sine waves consisting of a peak-to-peak value of 1 V. Further, the abbreviation "100 MHz P-test" refers to a measurement-performance provided in multiples of 10 ns-steps including the offset from the expected steps. Thus, a P-test frequency of 100 MHz results in approximately 20, 50 and 100 available delays for 5 GSPS, 2 GSPS and 1 GSPS respectively.

2.5.2 SP-Test: Time Resolution for Split Signal



Figure 2.17: Layout of the split signal time measurements for two channels of one digitizer (a) and between two DRS4 Evaluation Boards (V3 or V5) synchronized by a sine wave (b). Figure taken from [31].

The actual time precision for the evaluated boards can be tested with the SP-test. Fig. 2.17(a) shows an illustration of the SP-test and in fig. 2.18 the picture of its realization.

In general, a short pulse is generated by a function generator or a pulser. Afterwards, the signal is split and the time difference between the arrivals of the two input signals is computed. The arrival time of one of the signals can be modified by applying a variable cable delay (fig. 2.18 shows a 10 m delay cable).

The P417 requires a 3 V coin-battery and therefore produces a low noise pulse. The positive pulse is characterized by a rise time around 3 ns and a total width of around 10 ns with a 1 V peak-to-peak value. The split pulse of the P417 is shown in fig. 2.19 and is digitized with a oscilloscope (S5). One can see by the height of the split pulse, that a hybrid power splitter is used (Mini-Circuit ZFSC-2-41) instead of



Figure 2.18: Shows a picture of a test setup for the SP-test. One can see that the pulse from the pulser is split via a power splitter. Additionally one split signal is delayed by around 50 ns before both are digitized in the V3.

a resistive splitter. For some boards an additional external trigger is mandatory and therefore a similar pulse compared to the P417-pulse is produced with a function generator. The W3251 is used for this task and provides an external trigger with an adjustable delay. The settings for W3251 can be found in table 2.4 and result in a pulse that is close to the P417-pulse with respect to peak hight, rise time, SNR and therefore to time resolution behavior.

With the mentioned pulse, the SP-test is performed by measuring multiple time differences between arriving split pulses for each cable delay. In most cases a digital LED (see section 2.1.1) is used to calculate the time resolution of the SP-test. A global TH of 300 mV is used for all SP-tests that perform a digital LED. Fig. 2.19 illustrates the TH value.

If both TH values are modified individually a 2D-matrix will result for the SP-test. The 2D-matrix shows the time resolution vs. all TH combinations. It should always show a coherent area in the middle region which indicate the best TH settings. Four examples of the 2D-matrix are available in fig. 3.47.



Figure 2.19: Split pulse digitized at 5 GSPS for the SP-test with S5 and a full range of around 1.1 V using 8 bits. The left signal height peaks around 720 mV and the delayed signal peaks at around 610 mV due to cable attenuation. The time difference between the signals is approximately 50 ns. The split pulse rise time is around 3 ns or 15 SPs. Figure taken from [31].

Table 2.4: W3251 settings to produce a standard pulse comparable to P417-pulse

option	value		
waveform	pulse		
voltage (peak-to-peak)	1 V		
frequency	$1.3 \mathrm{~MHz}$		
rise time	0.3~%		
high time	0.0~%		
fall time	0.0~%		

The time resolution improves by using more points. Thus, the SP-test is also performed by fitting though 6 points of the rising edge with a digital LED.

Best results for the SP-test are achieved by cross-correlating^{IX} (ICC or PCC) both channels. All non-baseline related SPs of the pulse are used in this case. Afterwards, a cross-correlation is performed. Typically 50 points of the split pulse are used per channel. In this case the first point is 10 SPs to the left of the given TH value of 300 mV. For the ICC 50 linear interpolations are made available for each channel to obtain equidistant SPs for all DRS4 waveforms.

Also tested is the time resolution (σ) between two independently running DRS4-

 $^{^{\}rm IX}$ More details about the ICC and PCC can be found in section 2.1.4.

chips (fig. 2.17(b) shows an illustration). The trigger rate is preset below 1 Hz since the two independent running DRS4-based boards do not have a synchronized global trigger. The low trigger rate guarantees that all digitized waveforms of the first board belong to corresponding waveforms of the second board. The two-DRS4chips experiment uses the digital LED for all time calculations. Also sampled is a split 100 MHz clock with a original peak-to-peak voltage of 3 V in two separate channels. The measured phase shift of the split clock is used to synchronize the two DRS4-chips. The given TH value for the 100 MHz clock is also 300 mV. Additionally, no baseline correction is performed for the 100 MHz clock. Note for all SP-tests in section 3.3.3, including the results of the two-DRS4-chips experiment, a different voltage compared to the provided value in table 2.4 is utilized. The utilized peakto-peak voltage is increased to 1.35 V.

2.5.3 CRT-Test vs. Single Time Resolution (PET-Detector)

The CRT reflects the time resolution of a PET experiment. Thus, it provides the error in time of both involved PET-detectors. Therefore, a straight forward way to measure the time resolution of a single PET-detector is using two identical PET-detectors. The single or unfolded time resolution can be calculated by (1.14) and yields by dividing the CRT-test result by $\sqrt{2}$. This method is not an ideal solution since two PET-detectors cannot be build completely identical. Thus, one PET-detector will be treated better and the other worse than the true time resolution. Additionally one has to invest double to evaluate a single PET-detector.

Other than using two identical PET-detectors is by calibrating a single PETdetector once. This calibrated PET-detector functions as a reference PET-detector for future CRT-tests. The true time resolution of the tested PET-detector can now be computed by (1.14), which means subtracting the time resolution of the reference PET-detector from the CRT-test result and multiplying the outcome with $\sqrt{2}$.

In order to calibrate such a reference PET-detector two additional PET-detectors are required and ultimately one will calibrate three different PET-detectors. Thus three measurements (A, B and C) have to be performed which result in a system of three equations when using (1.14) as

$$\sqrt{\sigma_{det1}^2 + \sigma_{det2}^2} = \sigma_{\rm A}$$

$$\sqrt{\sigma_{det2}^2 + \sigma_{det3}^2} = \sigma_{\rm B}$$

$$\sqrt{\sigma_{det3}^2 + \sigma_{det1}^2} = \sigma_{\rm C}$$
(2.34)

where $\sigma_{det1} \cdots \sigma_{det3}$ is the time resolution of the individual PET-detector and $\sigma_{A} \cdots \sigma_{C}$ the CRT of the three PET-measurements. Since all variables must be positive, there is a unique solution for (2.34) and the single time resolution of the reference PETdetector can be computed.

The first approach (two identical PET-detectors) is mainly utilized in this thesis for the CRT-tests. The alternative approach is applied once when analyzing multiple SiPM and crystal combinations. Further details about the mentioned CRT-test with SiPMs are available in section 2.5.5.

2.5.4 CRT-Test with APDs (PET-Detector)

The CRT-test with APDs is sub-divided in two categories. The first category investigates two facing detector-blocks of the PET-INSERT where a CRT of around 5 ns (FWHM) is expected. The PET-INSERT consists of 3×16 detector-blocks. Each block contains a 15×15 LSO crystal-matrix. The dimensions of a single LSO crystal are $1.5 \times 1.5 \times 10$ mm³. The crystal-matrix is coupled to a Hamamatsu 3×3 channel APD 5054 array. The 9 APD channels are multiplexed to 4 channels. More details are available in the dissertation from Hossain [105].

The CRT-test for the mentioned PET-INSERT is performed with block #7 in coincidence with block #15 using a Na-22 source. The utilized readout electronics is the V3 when running with its dedicated TC-method (V3-TC). 50000 coincident waveforms from the PET-INSERT are digitized with the V3 running at 1 GSPS. 8 input channels are mandatory to perform a crystal-to-crystal CRT-test. Since the V3 offers only 4 input channels, a block-to-block CRT-test is measured with channel #2 and channel #4. The other two channels are not used. The measurement is repeated

inside a 3 T MRI-scanner. Three additional noise sources consisting of a 200 kHz, a 300 kHz and 500 kHz periodic signal are known from the gradient field. Among others, this study also triggered the installation of a filter to reduce the noise of the gradient system of the MRI device. The data are taken before the filter is installed, which has an impact on the CRT results.

For comparison reasons the second category of the CRT-test with APDs investigates a Hamamatsu $5 \times 5mm^2$ -APD. It is a single channel version of the 9 channel array, which is used in the PET-INSERT. Also the corresponding integrated charge sensitive preamplifier from Siemens is used as a single channel version from Texas Instruments. The gain of the amplifier is $0.93 \,\mu\text{V/e}^-$ with an RMS noise of $598 \pm$ $9.2 \,\text{e}^-$ per pF (150 ns shaping time). A picture of the second category can be seen in fig. 2.20 where two identical PET-detector boards are aliened along a Na-22 source. One can see that a PET-detector consists of an APD coupled to a $3 \times 3 \times 20 \,\text{mm}^3$



Figure 2.20: Shows a picture of the CRT-test with APDs coupled to a scintillator-crystal (second category).

LSO-crystal. The CRT-test is performed with the V3 running at 2 GSPS. The bias voltage is experimentally modified from 360 V to 410 V in 10 V steps. All APD voltage steps are globally applied to both APDs of the measurements. For each step the best time resolution is calculated. To calculate the time resolution for the best TH settings a digital LED (2 points) is used.

2.5.5 CRT-Test with SiPMs (PET-Detector)

The first SiPM measurement has been mentioned in section 1.10. In fig. 1.13(a) one will find a picture of this SiPM block. The detector-block (SiPM block) consists of

a 9 channel Hamamatsu MPPC-33-050C array coupled to 144 LSO-crystal-matrix. More information can be found in section 1.10. A detailed hardware-description of the SiPM block is published by Kolb et al[79]. To the mentioned SiPM block the Anger-logic is applied by digitizing all four V3-channels. However, since all 4 channels of the V3 were already occupied, an additional measurement with a single channel version of the mentioned SiPM block was performed. This additional measurement defines the CRT-test with SiPMs and consists of two identical PETdetectors (further referred to as SiPM1 & SiPM2). In particular the $3 \times 3mm^2$ -Hamamatsu S10931 with a 50 μ m pitch coupled to a $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-crystal builds one PET-detector (e.g. SiPM1). In fig. 2.21(a) the experiment is illustrated. The utilized amplifiers are the same as used for the SiPM block[79]. For comparison reasons, this CRT-test with SiPMs is performed with the DRS4 by applying the NEW-TC and the V3-TC.

In total, two CRT-tests with SiPMs have been performed in this work. One uses the abbreviation "SiPM" and the other the abbreviation "MPPC". The two abbreviations enable an easy distinction between both CRT-tests. The CRT-test with MPPCs (MPPC1, MPPC2 and MPPC3) is performed in combination with a reference PET-detector (see section 2.5.3). The reference PET-detector is a Hama-matsu PMT R9800 (reference PMT) coupled via optical grease to a $9 \times 9 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-matrix. The matrix consists of nine $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-crystals wrapped in multiple layers of white teffon. The reference PMT voltage is set to -1200 V for all experiments. SiPM1 & SiPM2 from the first mentioned CRT-test together with the reference PMT result in three combinations, which are required to calibrate the reference PMT.

Unfortunately, when analyzing the data of the CRT-test with MPPCs, the reference PMT shows big variations every time it is moved. Also the calibration measurements, which were performed after all MPPC measurements had been completed, show an unpredictable single time resolutions between 300 ps and 600 ps (FWHM) for the reference PMT. Thus, most measurements cannot be compared with each other or other experiments with respect to time resolution. Yet, one of these 24 failed experiments is picked out because of its interesting results. It con-



Figure 2.21: Both figures show a picture of a CRT-test. In all cases the photodetectors are coupled to a single $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-crystal via optical grease. The crystals are wrapped in white teffon tape. In (a) two Hamamatsu S10931 SiPMs are shown and in (b) one can see two Hamamatsu R10560 PMTs aliened for detecting coincidence events of a Na-22 source.

cerns three CRT-tests with a *Lead Tungsten* (PbWO₄)-crystal in coincidence to the mentioned fluctuating reference PMT. In between these three CRT-tests the reference PMT was not moved. Additionally, one of the seven calibration measurements shows a similar photo-peak behavior for the reference PMT. Thus, the reference PMT can be calibrated roughly for the PbWO₄-scenarios. Further, the utilized PbWO₄-crystal dimensions are $1 \times 1 \times 5 \text{ mm}^3$. Five crystal faces are polished and the exit face is diffuse. The crystal is wrapped in five layers of teflon. The active area of the utilized Hamamatsu MPPC is $1 \times 1 \text{ mm}^2$ and coupled to the crystal through optical grease. The chosen micro cell sizes are $100 \,\mu\text{m}$, $50 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $25 \,\mu\text{m}$. As illustrated in table 1.1, PbWO₄ produces few scintillation-photons for PET events. On the other hand it has a short decay time. Therefore, the relative relation between the number of photons and the time resolution can be illustrated.

2.5.6 CRT-Test with PMTs (PET-Detector)

In total, two CRT-tests with PMTs can be found in this thesis, each with two identical PET-detectors^X. For CRT-tests with PMTs, a digital LED (2 points) is mostly used and includes a walk correction unless otherwise specified.

The first PMT experiment utilizes LSO and the other PMT experiment uses

^XAnother CRT-test with a single PMT (reference PMT) is utilized in combination with SiPMs (details in section 2.5.5).

the faster LSO:Ca. For both PMT experiments no additional amplifier is used. In fig. 2.21(b) a picture of the first PMT experiment is shown. It consists of two Hamamatsu R10560 PMTs, each coupled via optical grease to a $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-crystal.

The second experiment uses two Hamamatsu H6780 PMTs coupled to $5 \times 5 \times 5 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO:Ca crystals. Each PMT provides two output channels, the anode channel and the inverted 9th dynode channel. As explained in section 1.8.1 the dynode channel provides the best timing and is therefore primarily evaluated. The optical connection between crystal and PMT consists of dedicated glue ($n \approx 1.5$) which hardens in ultra-violet light. Therefore, this experimental test setup can be re-used with constant performance results. This is not the case if the optical connection consists of an aging optical grease (first experiment).

Chapter 3

Results

The results of the previous introduced readout electronics (see section 2.4) with respect to time resolution are presented in this chapter and grouped in 5 sections. In the first two sections the results of the DRS4-boards are shown when applying their old TC-methods (CAEN-TC and V3-TC). After that the results of the DRS4boards are shown with all new calibrations. This includes DRS4-chip results for different temperature conditions, sampling frequencies and long run-time. Finally, one will find the results of other readout electronics utilizing the same measurements as performed previously with the DRS4-based boards.

One has to separate all results between artificial signals (P-test and SP-test) and real PET-data (CRT-test). Details concerning the mentioned tests are provided in section 2.5.

3.1 V3 when Utilizing its Dedicated Calibrations

Before the time resolution results are illustrated, some general V3 results are summarized including the baseline noise results.

The maximum acquisition rate of the V3 is reached at around 500/s. The trigger rate has to be greater than 1000 Hz to constantly reach this acquisition rate. The V3 electronics is designed to trigger the DRS4-chip anytime, thus all 1024 c_{stop} are available. The trigger delay is adjustable from 26 ns up to $1.3 \,\mu$ s. The measured probability of a double spike-pair (described in section 2.3.3) is around 20%. The location of the double spike-pair is decoupled from c_{stop} and therefore unpredictable.

If the V3-VC is switched off, the baseline noise across all sampling frequencies is around 8 mV (RMS). The baseline noise always result in a Gaussian distribution when applying the V3-VC. One million digitized baselines resulted in an averaged DC-offset of around 0.41 mV with a fluctuation of around 0.12 mV (σ). When histogramming the 1024 SPs of an individual baseline, its baseline noise is 0.37 mV (σ). A non-linearity around 1 mV over the dynamic range is measured for a rectangular input signal (±200 mV). More precise non-linearity measurements are demonstrated in Yang et al[106].

However, when looking at individual baseline noises of the 1024 cells, one can measure roughly ± 5 cells with increased cell noise, surrounding a center cell, which is cell # 1016 at 5.12 GSPS. 10 k baseline events are measured to investigate the noise



Figure 3.1: Two-state-effect of the V3 for cell # 1016 (channel # 1) when sampling at 5.12 GSPS.

increase of cell # 1016 (center cell). The measurements are taken from channel # 1 of the V3 when sampling at 5.12 GSPS. The measurement results are histogrammed in fig. 3.1. The histogram shows a 50% chance that the cell baseline is shifted 3.4 mV resulting in two distinguishable states. Each state shows a baseline fluctuation of around 0.4 mV which is consistent with the typical DRS4 baseline noise. The surrounding cells show a similar two state behavior, but with less shift. This twostate-effect becomes weaker the further away the individual cell is from the center cell. After ± 3 cells, the two separated Gaussians fuse together to a single Gaussian with increased noise behavior. After ± 6 cells the effect gets negligible. The effect also decreases further away from channel # 1. Thus, channel # 9 has the least noise in this region. The center cell position depends on f_{SCA} . For 2 GSPS the center cell is cell # 1011 and at 1 GSPS the strongest noise behavior comes from cell # 1010. It should be mentioned that the two-state-effect influences the preset sampling speed of the DRS4-chip. The results of this effect are available in table 3.6.

The next 6 sub-sections summarize the results of the test setups (see section 2.5) before the NEW-TC was developed. However, the following results triggered the new development and underline the importance of a reliable time calibration.

3.1.1 P-Test

The 100 MHz P-test results for NO-TC can be found in fig. 3.2. One can see that the V3 is tested for the sampling speeds 5.12 GSPS, 2 GSPS and 1 GSPS. Fig. 3.2(a) shows the time resolution (RMS) vs. the delay. One can see that the worst time resolutions (RMS) are always at $\frac{T_{SCA}}{2}$, which is around 0.7 ns (5.12 GSPS), 1.9 ns (2 GSPS) and 4 ns (1 GSPS). Independent from the sampling speeds the best time resolution (RMS) is around 120 ps which is only measured for very short or very long delays. Fig. 3.2(b) illustrates the corresponding offset vs. the delay. One can see that the 5.12 GSPS case has a maximum offset of 20 ps and the 1 GSPS case varies up to 400 ps from the true delay. Four example distributions of this P-test are provided in fig. 3.2(c-f). (c) shows all the time measurements of the first period and (d) illustrates the time resolution of ten periods when sampling at 5.12 GSPS. (e) shows the time resolution of all 26^{th} period calculations (2GSPS) and (f) presents the time resolution of all 54th period measurements (1 GSPS). The histogram examples cannot be measured with a Gaussian fit as visible in fig. 3.2(d-f). Therefore, it is replaced by the RMS value which is calculated with (1.11). The P-test histogram with the largest RMS value of 4 ns and a maximum spread of around 12 ns is shown in fig. 3.2(d). Additionally, the histogram peaks at both edges which causes the worst case scenario for this RMS calculation. Most 1 GSPS cases have a spread of around 12 ns but the peaks are less spread, which in turn results in improved RMS values.

The previous P-test is repeated with the V3-TC being switched on. The result



Figure 3.2: 100 MHz P-test utilizing the V3 (NO-TC). (a) shows the time resolution (RMS) vs. the delay and in (b) one will find its corresponding offset. Four corresponding distributions of this P-test are illustrated in (c-f). The DRS4 is running at 5.12 GSPS (c & d), 2 GSPS (e) and 1 GSPS (f).



Figure 3.3: P-test with a 100 MHz sine wave for the V3 when utilizing the V3-TC. Both plots (a&b) use a logarithmic scale for the y-axes. (a) shows the time resolution (RMS) vs. the delay and in (b) one will find its corresponding offset. The DRS4 is running at 5.12 GSPS for the histograms in (c&d), at 2 GSPS for (e) and at 1 GSPS for (f).

of this P-test can be found in fig. 3.3. Consequently, fig. 3.3(a) provides the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay and (b) displays the corresponding offset vs. the delay. The time resolution of the 1 GSPS case is between 200 ps and 300 ps (σ) with an offset up to 300 ps. On the other hand the time resolution for the fastest sampling speed (5.12 GSPS) oscillates between \approx 35 ps and \approx 50 ps (σ) with an offset peaking at 20 ps. Additionally, illustrated in fig. 3.3(c-f) are four distributions of this P-test. Some 5.12 GSPS distributions do not show a perfect Gaussian behavior like fig. 3.3(c) which shows time measurements of the eighth period. In contrast fig. 3.3(d) results in a Gaussian distribution for the time resolution of ten periods. Altogether around 30% of all distributions look similar to fig. 3.3(c) or worse when sampling at 5.12 GHz, which means that the Gaussian shape is missing. Fig. 3.3(e) shows the 22nd period histogram (2 GSPS) and the 1 GSPS-example in fig. 3.3(f) presents the timing histogram of the 63rd periods. All 150 histograms of these two sampling speeds look similar coming close to Gaussian distributions.

3.1.2 SP-Test

The precision of the V3-TC applied to the V3 (5.12 GSPS and 2 GSPS) will be shown in this sub-section with the SP-test (see SP-test explanation in section 2.5.2). The utilized algorithms for the SP-test are the digital LED and the PCC. Both methods are applied to the same dataset of waveforms. The results of these methods are presented in fig. 3.4. Both plots (a & b) show the time resolution (σ) vs. the time differences of the cable delay. Fig. 3.4(a) visualizes the results of the digital LED. The digital LED calculates the time at the given TH of 300 mV using only 2 SPs. The time resolution for the 2 GSPS case varies between 43 ps and 78 ps (σ) without any distinct pattern. An improvement was detectable for the 5.12 GSPS case with values between 27 ps and 52 ps (σ).

Fig. 3.4(b) illustrates the results of the PCC with more than 30 SPs. Two different cases for the PCC are investigated when sampling at 5.12 GHz. The first case uses 35 SPs and the other 50 SPs. The start SP of the PCC is 10 SPs and 5 SPs left of the given TH for 5.12 GSPS and 2 GSPS respectively. Four templates have been produced for the PCC, one for each sampling speed and channel. Each template is



computed out of 1 million events. One can see in fig. 3.4(b) that the time resolution

Figure 3.4: SP-test for the V3 when utilizing the V3-TC while sampling at 5.12 GHz and 2 GHz. Both plots (a & b) show the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay, but for two different analyzing techniques.

follows a sine wave pattern when the delay increases. The 2 GSPS PCC improves the time resolution between 20 ps and 40 ps (σ). More SPs cause a better time resolution in the 5.12 GSPS PCC case and results in a standard deviation between 15 ps and 35 ps for delays greater 2 ns. For short delays (smaller 1 ns) the time resolution is dramatically improved to around 5 ps compared to the digital LED with 37 ps for the same delay. Interestingly, all three PCC curves indicate a 60 MHz sine wave.

3.1.3 CRT-Test with PMTs Coupled to LSO

The first CRT-test of this work is summarized in this sub-section. Two identical PET-detectors are investigated consisting of a PMT coupled to LSO. Further experiment details are available in section 2.5.6 (keyword: first experiment).

The CRT-test in fig. 3.5 utilizes the V3 (V3-TC) when running at 2 GSPS. Both channels of a coincident PET-event are displayed in fig. 3.5(a) and each channel illustrates one analog output of a PMT. The rise times of both channels are in the region of 3-4 ns. The amplitudes of the photo-peak are around 190 mV for both channels. The delay between PMT #1 and PMT #2 is 180 cm or around 9 ns. Fig. 3.5(b) illustrates the CRT-test result (2-points LED). The TH values are changed globally, since the photo-peak energies of both channels are equal. The best results are



Figure 3.5: CRT-test with PMTs (b) and a dedicated single event (a) when utilizing the V3 (V3-TC) at 2 GSPS with a delay of 180 cm.

achieved with a global TH to 12 mV which is around 6 % of the photo-peak. With this settings the CRT is 276 ps (FWHM). Further, no walk correction is performed and all coincident events are used with energies inside the photo-peak. Fig. 1.2(b) illustrates the Na-22 spectrum of channel #1. The energies in this spectrum are calculated by integrating over the complete waveforms. The resulting $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of this spectrum is 10.5%. The $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of channel #2 is 10.9%.

The measurement in fig. 3.5 was repeated the following day and resulted in a similar outcome. As expected the CRT slightly degrades which is caused by the drying of the optical grease. Its curve can be found in fig. 3.6(b) labeled with "180 cm". Other cable delays are investigated additionally for this CTR-test. These measurements are triggered because fluctuating CRT results have been measured in the previous section 3.1.2 when changing the cable delay. The label indicates the cable delay between both PMT channels. The input channels of the V3 are interconverted for the labels with the additional naming "(*)". Four different cable delays have been analyzed in all. Three out of four cable delays are interconverted which results in inconsistency in terms of CRT behavior. In fig. 3.6(a) the CRT-test results with a digital LED for two delay cases are found when sampling at 5.12 GSPS. One can see that the CRT varies more than 20 ps. Further, also the best TH positions differ although only the input channels have been swapped around. In fig. 3.6(b) the results for different cable delays are found when running at 2 GSPS. A similar behavior is investigated for the 5.12 GSPS case. Additionally, a short delay results



Figure 3.6: CRT-tests with PMTs (a & b) and their dedicated histograms (c-f) when utilizing the V3 together with the V3-TC. The cable delay between both PMTs is provided in cm. For delays labeled with "(*)", the PMT cables have been switched.



Figure 3.7: Single CRT-test event with PMTs when using the PCC with the V3 (V3-TC).

in a better CRT and the overall fluctuation ranges from 160 ps to 290 ps (FWHM). The histograms in fig. 3.6(c-f) are four examples of best CRTs from the curves in fig. 3.6(a & b). For instance, the CRT result in fig. 3.6(c) represents the lowest point (160 ps) of the curve in fig. 3.6(a) which is labeled with 18 cm. One can see that none of the four histograms results in a Gaussian distribution. This is also the case for 90% of the other histograms which are not illustrated.

Additionally, the PCC (described in section 2.1.4) was performed for three different delays (0 cm, 20 cm and 180 cm). For this reason 1 million events have been collected for each channel to compute a template. Various PCC-setting have been tested additionally to achieve the best CRT. All sampling speeds have been investigated, although the best results are expected for the fasted sampling speed. The whole waveform is cross-correlated in the first computation in order to use all information that is stored in the waveform. Fig. 3.7(a) shows the modified signal of channel #1 and its template with an amplitude of around 145 mV. In fig. 3.7(b) one can see the corresponding cross-correlation of (a). Fig. 3.7(c) shows the modified signal of channel #2 and its template with an amplitude of around 140 mV. Consequently, fig. 3.7(d) illustrates the cross-correlation example of (c). A single time difference is calculated by subtracting the measured times of the high points from (b) and (d), which is symbolized by a black dot in the corresponding curve. By repeating this procedure, 10 k time differences for each PCC-adjustment are computed and the resulting CRT is calculated. After optimizing the parameters, the best results are achieved when sampling at 5.12 GSPS with a modified signal length of 15 ns (65 SPs). The best CRT outcome of the PCC is around 360 ps (FWHM). It is independent of the delay and all results showed a perfect Gaussian distribution. Interestingly the results did not change if only the energies inside the photo-peak are accepted or all energies are allowed for the PCC.

3.1.4 CRT-Test with SiPMs Coupled to LSO

Fig. 1.13(b) shows the first experiences of SiPMs in combination with the V3 in this work. To be specific, a flood histogram of a SiPM block is computed by utilizing the 4 channels of the V3. As a result all 144 LSO-crystal positions are better distinguishable compared to the readout electronics used by Kolb et al[79].

The CRT-test in this sub-section is performed with a one-to-one coupled modification of the mentioned SiPM block. All details about the experiment are provided in section 2.5.5. Fig. 3.8(a) shows both channels of the coincident PET-event digitized with the V3 (V3-TC) running at 2 GSPS. Each channel illustrates the analog output of a SiPM coupled to LSO. The rise time of both SiPM-detectors is around 15 ns. In fig. 3.8(b) one will find the Na-22 spectrum of SiPM1 resulting in $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of around 10.3%. The SiPM output is not energy corrected for non-linearity. Thus, the true $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ will be more in the region of 13%. SiPM2 shows a similar $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$. The amplitudes of the photo-peak are around 185 mV for both SiPM-detectors. Therefore the same TH value is used globally in both channels. The best CRT when performing the digital LED is achieved with a TH value of 4 mV, which is around 2% of the photo-peak. No walk correction is performed. Additionally, all coinci-



(a) Coincident event of SiPM1 and SiPM2

Figure 3.8: Single event of the CRT-test with SiPMs coupled to LSO and a Na-22 spectrum digitized with the V3.

dent events with energies inside the photo-peak have been utilized. The CRT is 572 ps (FWHM) with these settings. Unlike in the previous section 3.1.3 all time measurements showed a Gaussian distribution.



Figure 3.9: Single coincident SiPM event for the PCC with the V3 (V3-TC) running at $2\,\mathrm{GSPS}.$

Similar to section 3.1.3, the PCC (described in section 2.1.4) is additionally applied to the CRT-test with SiPMs. For this reason 1 million events are collected for each channel to compute a template. The DRS4 is running at 2 GSPS to capture the full waveform. The whole waveform is cross-correlated in the first computation to lose no information. However, best results are achieved when $50 \,\mathrm{ns} \,(100 \,\mathrm{SPs})$ are cross-correlated with the template. In fig. 3.9 one will find a PCC event for both SiPM-channels. Shown are the modified signals of SiPM1 and SiPM2 together with their dedicated templates. The amplitudes of the templates lie around 150 mV. The best CRT result of the PCC is 719 ps (FWHM). Identical to the results in section 3.1.3, no timing improvement is observed if only the energies inside the photo-peak are accepted or the Compton continuum is included for the PCC.

3.1.5 CRT-Test with APDs Coupled to LSO

The CRT-test results of the Hamamatsu APD coupled to LSO will be presented in the following pages. More details about the CRT-test with APDs are given in section 2.5.4. Also a picture of the experimental setup is available in fig. 2.20.

First the preamplifier from Texas Instruments was tested. Test pulses with a rise time of 12 ns were amplified to pulses with a rise times of 13.4 ns with this amplifier. Afterwards the CTR-test is performed with the V3 (V3-TC). Fig. 3.10 shows an example of the analog outputs of both APD channels coupled to LSO. One can see



Figure 3.10: Single coincident APD event with the V3 running at 2 GSPS.

that the rise time is around 70 ns and that the waveform is not fully digitized at the given sampling speed of 2 GSPS. However, to achieve best timing performance the fastest sampling speed is chosen, where the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is still acceptable. The $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is calculated by plotting the amplitudes of the analog signals as illustrated in fig. 3.11. The two spectra are produced with a Na-22 source. The spectra shows coincident events with energies inside the photo-peaks, only. The missing Compton continuum was discarded by the NIM electronics for this CRT-test (see fig. 2.16). The spectra bias voltages of channel #1 and channel #2 are set to 400 V.

Table 3.1 lists all other voltage results including the CRTs together with the



Figure 3.11: Coincident spectra of two APDs coupled to LSO with a bias voltage of 400 V.

 Table 3.1: CRT-test results for two APDs coupled to LSO dependent on the bias voltage.

bias voltage	$\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ channel 1	$\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ channel 2	CRT (FWHM)	TH1	TH2
$360\mathrm{V}$	14.3% at $130\mathrm{mV}$	14.3% at $132\mathrm{mV}$	$1.8\mathrm{ns}$	6%	5%
$370\mathrm{V}$	13.5% at $182\mathrm{mV}$	16.6% at $185\mathrm{mV}$	$1.4\mathrm{ns}$	5%	4%
$380\mathrm{V}$	13.3% at $271\mathrm{mV}$	13.5% at $277\mathrm{mV}$	$1.3\mathrm{ns}$	6%	4%
$390\mathrm{V}$	13.4% at $367\mathrm{mV}$	13.7% at $378\mathrm{mV}$	$1.3\mathrm{ns}$	5%	4%
$400\mathrm{V}$	13.9% at $536\mathrm{mV}$	14.0% at $544\mathrm{mV}$	$1.2\mathrm{ns}$	6%	5%
$410\mathrm{V}$	14.6% at $832\mathrm{mV}$	14.7% at $851\mathrm{mV}$	$1.5\mathrm{ns}$	6%	4%

corresponding TH values. 4000 coincident events are digitized and analyzed with a digital LED for each voltage setting. The energy information was not used to improve the CRT (no walk correction). One can see in table 3.1 that the best CRT for this CRT-test with APD lies around 1.2 ns (FWHM). This CRT is measured with a TH of 30 mV which is around 6% of the photo-peak amplitude.

3.1.6 CRT-Test with the PET-INSERT

The same APD technology that was tested in section 3.1.5 is investigated again inside the PET-INSERT. Two facing detector-blocks inside and outside an MRI were especially investigated. More details concerning the corresponding test setup are given in section 2.5.4.



Figure 3.12: Waveforms of block #15 (PET-INSERT) with and without MF digitized with the V3.



Figure 3.13: Energy spectra for the PET-INSERT utilizing the V3.



(a) walk effect, max EW, no MF (row #1)



(c) lin. fit, max EW, no MF (row #4)



(b) walk effect, min EW, no MF (row #3)



(d) lin. fit, narrow EW, no MF (row #5)



Figure 3.14: CRT-test histogram examples from table 3.2 for the PET-INSERT with different digital LED settings.

150

100

50

0 ∟ 0

0.2

0.4

(b) lin. fit, narrow EW, no MF (row #2)

0.6

Fraction

0.8

Delay [ns]



(a) lin. fit, max EW, no MF (row #1)







Figure 3.15: CRT-test histogram examples from table 3.3 for the PET-INSERT with different digital CFD settings.







5 4.5

4

1

row	method	EW $\#15$	$\mathrm{EW}\ \#7$	TH $\#15$	TH $\#7$	CRT	MF	events
1	linear fit	$> 40 \mathrm{mV}$	$> 40 \mathrm{mV}$	$8\mathrm{mV}$	$8\mathrm{mV}$	$9.5\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
2	linear fit	$>\!\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	$32\mathrm{mV}$	$4\mathrm{mV}$	$5.9\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
3	linear fit	$>\!\!300\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$16\mathrm{mV}$	$18\mathrm{mV}$	$2.9\mathrm{ns}$	No	1%
4	linear fit	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	10%	12%	$4.4\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
5	linear fit	$>\!\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	12%	12%	$3.5\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
6	spline10	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	10%	14%	$4.3\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
7	spline10	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	10%	12%	$3.5\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
8	spline50	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	10%	14%	$4.4\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
9	spline50	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	14%	12%	$3.5\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
10	spline90	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	22%	12%	$4.4\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
11	spline90	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	14%	12%	$3.6\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
12	linear fit	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	20%	22%	$4.7\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
13	linear fit	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	20%	20%	$4.6\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%
14	spline10	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	20%	20%	$4.6\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
15	spline10	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	22%	20%	$4.8\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%
16	spline50	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	26%	18%	$4.5\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
17	spline50	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	16%	20%	$4.7\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%
18	spline90	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	26%	30%	$4.6\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
19	spline90	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	18%	24%	$5.0\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%

Table 3.2: CRT-test results for the PET-INSERT utilizing different digital LEDs. The"#" introduces the block number.

The two plots in fig. 3.12 show individual sets of a block-waveform inside and outside a 3 T *Magnetic Field* (MF). Both plots show 100 random waveforms of block #15. A single waveforms consists of the sum of all 4 channels of the block. The rise time is around 80 ns and thus this signal is slightly slower compared to the single crystal measurements with APDs in section 3.1.5. The waveforms for block #7 look identical and are therefore not shown. However, the strong impact of the gradient field on the baseline of the waveform is visible in fig. 3.12(b).

The corresponding energy distributions of the two mentioned blocks are shown in fig. 3.13. Shown are four individual block energy distributions inside and outside a 3 T MF. Each histogram consists of 800 bins (amplitude-axis) where 50000

row	method	$\mathrm{EW}~\#15$	EW $\#7$	fraction	delay	CRT	MF	events
1	linear fit	$> 40 \mathrm{mV}$	$>40\mathrm{mV}$	15%	$135\mathrm{ns}$	$4.7\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
2	linear fit	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	15%	$75\mathrm{ns}$	$4.0\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
3	spline10	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	15%	$83\mathrm{ns}$	$4.5\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
4	spline10	$>\!\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	20%	$75\mathrm{ns}$	$4.0\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
5	spline50	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	15%	$135\mathrm{ns}$	$4.5\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
6	spline50	$>\!\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	20%	$75\mathrm{ns}$	$3.8\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
7	spline90	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	20%	$143\mathrm{ns}$	$4.6\mathrm{ns}$	No	100%
8	spline90	$>\!\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!100\mathrm{mV}$	20%	$83\mathrm{ns}$	$3.9\mathrm{ns}$	No	30%
9	linear fit	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	15%	$113\mathrm{ns}$	$4.7\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
10	linear fit	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!100\mathrm{mV}$	15%	$113\mathrm{ns}$	$4.8\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%
11	spline10	$>\!\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	20%	$135\mathrm{ns}$	$4.6\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
12	spline10	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	15%	$98\mathrm{ns}$	$4.7\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%
13	spline50	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	20%	$105\mathrm{ns}$	$4.6\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
14	spline50	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$> 100 \mathrm{mV}$	20%	$90\mathrm{ns}$	$4.6\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%
15	spline90	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!40\mathrm{mV}$	20%	$93\mathrm{ns}$	$4.8\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	100%
16	spline90	$>\!200\mathrm{mV}$	$>\!100\mathrm{mV}$	20%	$20\mathrm{ns}$	$4.8\mathrm{ns}$	Yes	30%

Table 3.3: CRT-test results for the PET-INSERT utilizing different digital CFD settings. The "#" introduces the block number.

waveforms are analyzed for $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$. The energy distributions originate from coincident events between block #7 and block #15 within a 40 ns time window. The energy of a PET-event is calculated as amplitude and not as the integral over the curve. Each amplitude is computed individually for all waveforms by subtracting the highest point from the lowest point. To be specific, the average of 10 surrounding points of the highest point and the average of 10 surrounding points of the lowest point have been used for the subtraction. The integral of the waveform is usually used to calculate the energy. However, in this special case where the baseline shows such a noisy behavior the prior mentioned method works better. One can see in fig. 3.13(a & b) that the amplitude of the 511 keV photo-peak is around 300 mV for the block #15 and 150 mV for block #7. The influence of the 3 T MF is clearly visible for the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ in fig. 3.13(c & d).

A digital LED and a digital CFD are used for this CRT-test. The energy infor-

mation is used in some cases to correct for the walk effect when a digital LED is utilized. Additionally, an *Energy Window* (EW) is uses to reject Compton scattered events. A 2-points linear fit interpolation (lin. fit) and a spline fit interpolation is utilized for both discriminators to compute the time information. The smoothing factor for the spline fit is set to 10 % (spline10), 50 % (spline50) and 90 % (spline90).

Table 3.2 summarizes the best CRT results for the PET-INSERT when varying the digital LED settings. The illustrated settings in table 3.2 are the 2-points linear fit, different spline fits, a walk correction (symbolized by the TH measured in "%"), the MF measurements and an EW selection. For example row #2 in table 3.2 shows a comparable poor CRT outcome of 5.9 ns (FWHM) which is a result of the walk effect although 70% of the low-energy events have been rejected. Additionally, six selected examples from table 3.2 are available in more detail in fig. 3.14, where the CRT dependent on both TH values are displayed. For example fig. 3.14(a) corresponds to row #1 of table 3.2 as reproducible with the labeling "lin. fit, walk effect, EW: >40 mV, no MF".

Table 3.3 shows the results of all digital CFD settings. One will find similar settings with a slight modification as in the previously mentioned table 3.2. Both TH settings are replaced with two CFD parameters, which are the fraction and the delay. Consequently, six chosen examples from table 3.3 are displayed again as 2D-matrices in fig. 3.15. The 2D-matrices show the CRT dependent on delay and fraction. The white regions within the 2D-matrices stand for combinations of the delay vs. the fraction that are excluded. The digital CFD algorithm starts to loose events in these regions.

3.2 X742 when Utilizing its Dedicated Calibrations

Both versions of the X742 are tested in this section together with their original calibrations provided by CAEN. General test results (e.g. data transmission speed) are first provided as in the previous section 3.1. Afterwards the baseline noise is investigated. Finally, the time resolution is evaluated in the following 3 sub-sections.

The DT5742 can transmit with the fastest PC around 2000 acquisitions/s, when
all calibrations are turned off. When both DRS4-chips are used, the data rate decreases by half. A realistic scenario is 600-800 acquisitions/s when utilizing all 16 channels.

The V1742 is less sensitive to the PC used. Its data rate is around 6000 acquisitions/s with all calibrations turned off. A realistic scenario is around 1000 acquisitions/s when utilizing all 32 channels. The acquisition rates of the X742 can be increased by accessing only one DRS4-chip . Alternatively, one can increase the acquisition rate if not all 1024 SPs of a channel are digitized. The four options are 1024, 520, 256 and 136 SPs.

The dynamic range of the X742 chosen by CAEN is identical to the V3 as 1 V peak-to-peak, but with the advantage that the DC-level of each channel is individually adjustable. The digitized SPs are provided in ADC values from 0 to 4095 corresponding to a dynamic range of 1 V peak-to-peak.

Illustrated in fig. 3.16 is the dynamic range test of channel #18, where a 100 MHz sine wave is digitized with a sampling speed of 5 GSPS. The peak-to-peak value of



Figure 3.16: 100 MHz sine wave digitized at 5 GHz with the V1742.

the sine wave is 1 V, which corresponds to an ADC output of around 3850 (peak-to-peak). The other channels of this board result in similar outcomes. Thus, the dynamic range of this V1742 is around 1.064 V (peak-to-peak).

That the baseline noise of the V1742 varies dependent on the trigger rate is investigated. Its smallest value results from low trigger rates (for example 100 Hz), selecting all four DRS4-chips and digitizing all 1024 SPs. The worst case scenario is displayed in two formats in fig. 3.17. First, a histogram is shown illustrating a



Figure 3.17: Typical baseline noise of the V1742 at 5 GSPS when triggering with 10 kHz.

DC-offset of around 220 mV which resulted from a single waveform in fig. 3.17(a). One can also see a relatively high baseline fluctuation of the 1024 SPs. Second, in fig. 3.17(b) only the first 1020 SPs of the same waveform are plotted over time. The last 4 SPs are outliers and therefore rejected. For this measurement an input trigger rate of 10 kHz results in around 4000 acquisition/s. In addition, only one DRS4-chip is selected and running at 5 GSPS (V1742).

Fig. 3.18 shows the baseline noise behavior when triggering at 66 Hz (all DRS4chips activated) and utilizing four different analyzing methods. In all four cases channel #18 is a copy of channel #17. The 100 MHz sine wave which is illustrated in fig. 3.16 is applied to channel #18 for testing the cross-talk between neighboring channels. All plots (a-d) illustrate the baseline noise of the same dataset of 1000 waveforms dependent on the V1742-channel when utilizing different analyzing techniques. Fig. 3.18(a) shows the baseline noise when histogramming (Gaussian fit) all SPs of all 1000 waveforms at once. In fig. 3.18(c & d) the histogramming is performed waveform by waveform. For fig. 3.18(d) only the first 500 SPs of the 1024 SPs are utilized and for fig. 3.18(b) the RMS values are used instead of a Gaussian fit.

The spike probability is summarized in table 3.4 for various scenarios. It shows that it is dependent on the available c_{stop} positions, the f_{SCA} and the individual DRS4-chip. It should also be mentioned that the same cells will always show the



Figure 3.18: Illustrated is the baselines noise of 1000 baseline measurements for all 32 channels and three f_{SCA} . The V1742 is triggered at a rate of 66 Hz.

spike behavior with a certain probability, which is different from the V3. When looking at table 3.4 row #1, the overall probability to measure a symmetrical spike event is 31%. One can also see that three scenarios can happen at 5 GSPS in row #1. What's not visible in row #1 is that two of these scenarios appear with a probability of roughly 15% and one with a probability smaller than 1%. In fig. 3.19(c) the spike scenarios are visualized for a 1 GSPS case^I. However, in all scenarios the spikes will occur at the same cell position^{II}. Additionally, the spike position shift

^ITable 3.4 predicts 15 scenarios for this sampling speed. However, one can only see 12 of the 15 expected scenarios in fig. 3.19(c). 23 (22 symmetrical) double-spikes are visible and one is hidden at zero in the y-axis. The probability for the missing three scenarios occurring is much smaller than 1% and therefore not visible in this example.

^{II}In some cases (much smaller than 1%) the position is fluctuating one cell position away from the predictable cell position.

DRS	$64 ext{-chip} \#$	c_{stop} positions	f_{SCA}	probability	scenarios	distance
gro	$\exp \# 0$	24 (fast trig.)	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	31%	3	~ 172 samples
gro	$\sup \# \ 0$	48 (fast trig.)	$2.5\mathrm{GSPS}$	35%	6	${\sim}85 \text{ samples}$
gro	$\sup \# \ 0$	120 (fast trig.)	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	28%	15	~ 34 samples
gro	${ m oup}\#2$	6 (glob. trig.)	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	16%	3	${\sim}172 \text{ samples}$
gro	${ m oup}\#2$	12 (glob. trig.)	$2.5\mathrm{GSPS}$	20%	6	${\sim}85 \text{ samples}$
gro	$\sup \# 2$	$30~({\rm glob.\ trig.})$	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	9%	15	${\sim}34~{\rm samples}$

Table 3.4: Summary of the measured spikes behavior when utilizing the V1742 at all
sampling speeds.

between scenarios appears with a predictable pattern (distance) as illustrated in table 3.4. For better understanding all three measured 4-spike events of row #1, the naming of cell positions will be provided as (12,13,1010,1011), (182,183,840,841) and (356,357,666,667). The first cell position always defines the following 3 cell positions. Thus, one can simplify the three scenarios as cell position 12, 182 and 356. With this simplified writing, one can see that scenarios are predictable with multiples of around 172 samples (around 33 ns) from a previous measured spike scenario.

The spike positions did not change by varying the trigger rate. Fig. 3.19 illustrates that the c_{stop} also has no dependency on the spike positions. The positions are individual for every DRS4-chip at a given sampling speed. It should be mentioned that the noise of the first SP is dramatically increased when stopped at one of the spike candidates as illustrated in fig. 3.19(b&d). The spike probability did not change for the two tested c_{stop} . Both c_{stop} are randomly triggered 500 times. Exactly 428 spikes (107 symmetrical double-spike events) are measured for $c_{stop}=249$. For $c_{stop}=603$ a similar amount (99 symmetrical double-spike events) occur when subtracting the 445 wrong spikes (caused by $c_{stop}=603$) from the 841 measured spikes.

The X742 sampling can be stopped either by a fast trigger channel or a global trigger channel. However, the DRS4-chip cannot be stopped at every c_{stop} . As illustrated in table 3.4 the global trigger channel allows only 6 equidistant c_{stop} positions (around 33 ns steps) simultaneously for all DRS4-chips when sampling at



Figure 3.19: Illustrated in (a) and (b)are the baselines of 500 baseline measurements from channel #1 (V1742) sampling at 1 GSPS when stopped at two individual c_{stop} positions. (c) and (d) show the dedicated spike counts and positions.

5 GSPS. Fewer c_{stop} positions makes it easier for CAEN to synchronize all DRS4chips. Synchronizing improves the time resolution according to former measurements from PSI. Therefore, the waveform positions in all channels will fluctuate more than 30 ns if a measurement is repeated with the global trigger. Also it can trigger up to four DRS4-chips simultaneously. The response time to stop a DRS4-chip after the global trigger was measured to be around 260 ns.

In contrast, the fast channel can trigger up to two DRS4-chips simultaneously. However, the absolute number of allowed c_{stop} is four times higher compared to the global trigger channel. Additionally, the fast trigger channel is digitized in the ninth channel of each DRS4-chip. Finally, the faster response time should be mentioned which is approximately 30 ns and thus similar to the V3.

3.2.1 P-Test



Figure 3.20: The P-test in (a) shows the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay (100 MHz) for the V1742 (CAEN-TC) and (b) illustrates its corresponding offset vs. the delay. (c) and (d) illustrate two individual time resolution histograms from (a).

In this sub-section the P-test for all three sampling speeds (5 GSPS, 2.5 GSPS and 1 GSPS) of the V1742 can be found in fig. 3.20, when applying its default settings (CAEN-VC & CAEN-TC). One can see in fig. 3.20(a) that the standard deviation is around 25 ps for 5 GSPS, around 50 ps for 2.5 GSPS and around 160 ps for 1 GSPS. All three sampling speeds show a time resolution inconsistency depending on the delay. The offset in fig. 3.20(b) shows the maximum error from the true delay which is around 5 ps for 5 GSPS, around 16 ps for 2.5 GSPS and less than 25 ps for 1 GSPS. Two histogram examples of the multiples of the 100 MHz sine wave are additionally

given in fig. 3.20. One can see that all histograms show a Gaussian like distribution. This is why the RMS values and σ in fig. 3.20(c & d) are similar. Thus, also the mean value and the fitted peak show a similar outcome. An example can be found in fig. 3.20(d). All other distributions which are not illustrated show similar behavior.

3.2.2 SP-Test

The SP-test is applied to the V1742 when running at 5 GSPS in this sub-section. 10k events are collected for each cable delay. As an exception, all time resolution results are given in FWHM for this SP-test. Using FWHM instead of σ is convenient for predicting the effect of this readout electronics on PET measurements which is also measured in FWHM. More details about the SP-test are available in section 2.5.2.

Two SP-test results are shown in fig. 3.21. Both plots (a & b) show the time resolution (FWHM) vs. the time differences of the cable delay. A digital LED and



Figure 3.21: SP-test (digital LED and PCC) for the V1742 (CAEN-TC) when running at 5 GSPS.

the PCC are visualized in both plots for two neighboring channels of individual DRS4-chips. The digital LED calculates the time at the given TH of 300 mV by using only 2 SPs. One can see that all time resolutions of both digital LEDs rapidly increase up to a delay of around 3 ns and later vary between 45 ps and 70 ps (FWHM).

The first SP is 10 SPs left of the given TH for the PCC and four templates have been produced, one for each channel. Each template is computed out of 1 million events. In (a) two different cases for the PCC are investigated using 35 SPs and 50 SPs. The PCC shows no major differences if 35 SPs or 50 SPs are used. However, all PCCs clearly improve the time resolution compared to the results of the digital LED. The improved time resolution oscillates between 10 ps and 30 ps (FWHM). All three PCC curves indicate a sine wave which is similar to the V3 results in section 3.1.2. This time 50 MHz can be approximated.

3.2.3 CRT-Test with PMTs Coupled to LSO:Ca

The CRT-test results of two fast PMTs coupled to LSO:Ca-crystals are found in this sub-section. The DT5742 (CAEN-TC) is utilized as readout electronics when running at 5 GSPS. Only the dynode outputs have been analyzed. 100k coincident events have been collected individually for both delay scenarios. More information about the experiment can be found in section 2.5 and particularly in section 2.5.6.

Fig. 3.22(a) shows the digitized coincident waveforms of channel #1 and channel #2. One can see that the rise time is around 2 ns. Fig. 3.22(b & c) illustrate the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of both channels when only the amplitudes are measured. In this case the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is around 11% for channel #1 and 13% for channel #2. Further in fig. 3.22(d & e) the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ is shown when the integrals under the individual waveforms are calculated. The $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ improves to around 8% for channel #1 and 9% for channel #2 with this method.

The CRT-test results for two scenarios are shown in fig. 3.23. Both input signals arrive exactly at the same time (almost 0 cm delay) in the first scenario. A digital LED is utilized with walk correction for this CRT-test. The walk correction is achieved by normalizing the waveform with the averaged photo-peak. Therefore, all TH settings for the first scenario use the unit "%". In the second scenario the cable delay has been changed between both PMT channels to a delay of around 50 cm. For this CRT-test a digital LED (no walk correction) is utilized and thus all TH setting use the unit "mV".

The time resolution (FWHM) vs. THs of the CRT-test is shown in form of a 2D-matrix in fig. 3.23(a&b). The dedicated measured delays of (a&b) are found in fig. 3.23(c&d). Both 2D-matrices (a&b) show unexpected patterns which correlate to the measured delay pattern in (c&d). The dedicated best timing histograms



(a) Digitized coincident event with 50 cm delay





(e) Energy distribution for channel #2

Figure 3.22: Waveform example and $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of two fast PMTs coupled to LSO:Ca and digitized with the X742 (CAEN-TC) at 5 GSPS.

FWHM [ps]

320

300

280

260

240

220

200

180

50

Delay [ns]

1.8

-2

-2.2

-2.4

-2.6

-2.8

-3

-1.8

50

70.7 ps

-2





(f) Best timing histogram at 50 cm delay

Figure 3.23: CRT-test with two fast PMTs coupled to LSO:Ca for a CAEN-calibrated DRS4 running at 5 GSPS.

of (a & b) are illustrated in fig. 3.23(e & f) and show non-Gaussian distributions. However, the best timing resolution for the 50 cm delay is 166 ps (FWHM) with TH settings of 28 mV (TH1) and 31 mV (TH2). A slightly improved timing resolution for the 0 cm delay results in 157 ps (FWHM) with TH settings around 8% (TH1) and 12.5% (TH2).

This experiment is repeated with an ideal TC (see section 3.4.1) and a fast readout electronics (see section 3.5.3).

3.3 V3 when Utilizing new Calibrations

The V3 results of the new developed SCA techniques^{III} are found in this section. Also included is the temperature dependency of the DRS4. A minimum warm-up time of 30 minutes with an environmental temperature of 20 °C can be assumed for all results unless otherwise specified.

The impact of the environmental temperature on the V3 performance is investigated in a temperature chamber. Table 3.5 summarizes the tested V3 temperatures measured with its internal sensor (inside) vs. the environmental temperature (outside). Each of these experiments started one hour after both temperatures were

Table 3.5: Listed are both the environmental temperature outside the V3 and itscorresponding temperature inside the V3 provided by the V3-board.

outside (°C)	5.1	10.0	15.1	20.0	25.0	30.0	35.0	40.0
inside (°C)	18.4	23.4	28.3	32.8	36.9	40.8	45.4	50.1
ΔT (°C)	13.3	13.4	13.2	12.8	11.9	10.8	10.4	10.1

constant. The V3 aluminum case was not used. At room temperature the V3 increased to $45 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ after 30 minutes and stabilized to $47 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ after one hour. Thus, under realistic conditions (aluminum case & $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$), the V3 temperature is around $15 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ higher compared to table 3.5.

^{III}Details about the NEW-TCs are available in section 2.2 and further information about the NEW-VC in section 2.3.8.

The NEW-VC technique showed no measurable improvement versus the V3-VC when comparing both resulting baselines. The results are listed in table 3.13. A comparison between the most relevant NEW-TCs is available in the following subsection 3.3.1.

3.3.1 P-Test for Comparison of all TC-Methods at 5GSPS

The most relevant NEW-TCs^{IV} are tested in this sub-section. For the following tests the V3 is preset to 5.12 GSPS. The V3 results, unless otherwise specified, are shown for the left state^V which means that channel #1 is always occupied and guarantees the two-state-effect identification. The NEW-TCs are tested by utilizing the P-test. The P-test is usually performed with a test frequency of 100 MHz which is equivalent to the labeling "100 MHz P-test". The LTC+3GTC is chosen to be the reference method of the NEW-TCs for the following P-tests.

Fig. 3.24 shows three typical performance examples (P-tests) for the LTC+3GTC. All plots on the left show the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay while the other side shows their corresponding offsets. Fig. 3.24(a & b) illustrates the P-test results between 30 MHz and 100 MHz sine waves of which four combinations are shown for the f_{TC} and the test frequency (see legend). One can see that the time resolution degrades when a test frequency of 30 MHz is used for the P-test. This also explains why f_{TC} =100 MHz performs better compared to f_{TC} =30 MHz. The results of the self calibration of the V3 with its internal 66 MHz clock are further demonstrated in fig. 3.24(c & d). The offset result shows that the provided f_{TC} information of 66 MHz is wrong. Fig. 3.24(d) shows that the P-test offset is around 6 ps faster for a T_{SCA} of 200 ns and thus the true f_{TC} lies around 66.002 MHz^{VI}. The P-test of the 66.002 MHz clock compared to the 100 MHz sine wave shows a better time resolution because of the fast clock edges. One can see the channel dependency of the DRS4 investigated with the 100 MHz P-test at the bottom of fig. 3.24(e & f). The NEW-TC of channel #2 (ch2) and of channel #4 (ch4) is applied to individual

^{IV}A detailed introduction to the most relevant NEW-TCs is available in section 2.2.7.

^VMore details of the two-state-effect can be found in section 3.1.

^{VI}A single 66 MHz period $(15.\overline{15} \text{ ns})$ fits around 13 times in 200 ns. Thus, the true period is approximately 0.5 ps shorter and results roughly in 66.002 MHz.



Figure 3.24: Three P-test scenarios when utilizing the NEW-TC. In each, four combinations are shown (see legend). The plots on the left show the σ values. Their dedicated offsets can be found on the right. V3 is preset to 5.12 GSPS.

channels of the V3. A performance loss of around 13 ps (σ) becomes visible if the NEW-TC is applied to the wrong channel. That the 13 ps loss remains the same for

all other wrong-channel combinations is not shown for simplicity reasons.

For better understanding the two individual parts of the LTC+3GTC are split and investigated with a 100 MHz P-test. First, the original LTC+3GTC is compared with the GTC as standalone TC-method but with varying iterations and correction ranges. The results of this P-test are provided in fig. 3.25. All standalone GTCs use an $f_{TC}=100$ MHz. The P-test in fig. 3.25(a) shows the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay when utilizing different GTCs and (b) illustrates its corresponding offsets. A maximum delay of two periods $(1^{st} \& 2^{nd} \text{ period})$ is only used in one case to perform the GTC corrections. The default settings (multiples of the period time $<\frac{3}{4} \cdot T_{SCA}$) are used in all other cases. Since the P-test histograms for 10000 iterations (10000GTC) did not match a Gaussian fit, the RMS values were calculated instead. The wrong TC outcome of the 10000GTC is shown in (c). The correct TC computed by the 300GTC can be found in (d) illustrating all 1024 Δt_b . It should be noticed that a unique Δt_b is negative which is Δt_{499} . $\Delta t_{499} = -7$ ps means that the signal that is stored in cell #498 arrived 7 ps later compared to the signal arrival in cell #499. In general only cell #498 shows this behavior for all tested DRS4s and only at fast sampling speeds.

The GTC does not require the f_{SCA} information of the DRS4 but rather delivers the f_{SCA} . Table 3.6 shows the f_{SCA} for the V3 that is measured with the GTC. The GTC measures the f_{SCA} with a certain error which is shown in fig. 3.27(f) and

f_{SCA}	true f_{SCA}	true f_{SCA}	expected T_{SCA}	T_{SCA} offset
preset	left state	right state	preset	left/right state
$5.12000\mathrm{GHz}$	$5.12065\mathrm{GHz}$	$5.12051\mathrm{GHz}$	$200{,}000\mathrm{ps}$	$-25\mathrm{ps}/\text{-}20\mathrm{ps}$
$1.98200\mathrm{GHz}$	$1.98220\mathrm{GHz}$	$1.98211\mathrm{GHz}$	$516{,}650\mathrm{ps}$	$-52\mathrm{ps}/\text{-}29\mathrm{ps}$
$1.00760\mathrm{GHz}$	$1.00736\mathrm{GHz}$	$1.00730\mathrm{GHz}$	$1{,}016{,}276\mathrm{ps}$	$242\mathrm{ps}/303\mathrm{ps}$

Table 3.6: Listed are the preset f_{SCA} and the true f_{SCA} of the V3. The two-state-effect divides the true f_{SCA} in two cases. Naturally, this is also the case for the preset T_{SCA} which is provided as T_{SCA} offset (left/right state).

predicts an $f_{SCA}=5.12065$ GSPS.





(c) All 1024 Δt_b from the GTC with 10000 iterations utilizing an f_{TC} =100 MHz



(d) All 1024 Δt_b from the GTC with 300 iterations (300GTC) utilizing an f_{TC} =100 MHz

Figure 3.25: P-test when utilizing five cases of the standalone GTC (a & b). The f_{TC} and the test frequencies are 100 MHz. The curves in (a) show the σ values and their dedicated offsets can be found in (b). Additionally two GTC results demonstrate the set of 1024 Δt_b (e & f). The V3 is preset to 5.12 GSPS.

As illustrated in table 3.6, the wrong f_{SCA} is provided by the V3. The correct f_{SCA} is mandatory for the LTC which will be tested in the second part of



LTC+3GTC investigation. Its results are available in fig. 3.26(a & b) where P-tests are applied to the standalone LTCs. The P-tests also shows the results for the LTC

Figure 3.26: Three P-tests are shown analyzing the LTCs, FTCs and LTC+3GTCs. In each, five combinations are shown (see legend). In (a-d) the test frequency is 100MHz and in (e & f) more than 200 MHz. The plots on the left show the σ values. Their dedicated offsets can be found on the right. V3 is preset to 5.12 GSPS.

utilizing the corrected f_{SCA} vs. the wrong f_{SCA} . Again one will find the LTC+3GTC as the reference example. Further, the P-test includes a fast and a slow f_{TC} for the LTC. Additionally, four example histograms of the mentioned P-test can be found in fig. 3.27(a-d). One can see that the peak fit in (b) is shifted 13 ps compared to expected peak location in (a) caused by the wrong f_{SCA} information.

The P-test for different FTC settings^{VII} is compared with the NEW-TC in the middle of fig. 3.26(c & d). The illustrated FTC settings are 43, 11 and 4 frequencies as visible in the legend of fig. 3.26(c & d). The FTC settings are also changed with respect to voltage levels. Another P-test compares three TC-methods in 5 combinations as shown at the bottom of fig. 3.26(e & f). The tested TC-methods are the FTC and two LTC+3GTCs with an f_{TC} of 217 MHz and 100 MHz. The applied P-test frequencies are 217 MHz and 239 MHz. One example histogram of the mentioned P-test is additionally illustrated in fig. 3.27(e).

The comparison results of the most relevant NEW-TCs have been completed. Its

Table 3.7: Listed is the computing time of different NEW-TCs with a preset f_{SCA} =5.12 GSPS for the V3. Each digitized TC frequency consists of N_{wave} =1000. The FTC utilizes 43 frequencies. All other methods use a single TC frequency. The f_{TC} is 100 MHz for all GTCs including the LTC+3GTC. The performance of the P-test represents the time resolution of all first periods.

NEW-TC	computing time	100MHz P-test	details
43 frequencies FTC	47 seconds	$\approx 3\mathrm{ps}$	fig. 3.26(c)
$30\mathrm{MHz}\mathrm{LTC}$	$3.7\mathrm{seconds}$	$\approx 5\mathrm{ps}$	fig. $3.26(a)$
3GTC	$1.2\mathrm{seconds}$	$\approx 30 \mathrm{ps}$	fig. $3.25(a)$
10GTC	$4.0\mathrm{seconds}$	$\approx 30 \mathrm{ps}$	fig. $3.25(a)$
$300 \mathrm{GTC}$	$2.0\mathrm{minutes}$	$\approx 3\mathrm{ps}$	fig. $3.25(a)$
$10000 \mathrm{GTC}$	$66\mathrm{minutes}$	$\approx 70 \mathrm{ps}$	fig. $3.25(a)$
LTC+3GTC	4.9 seconds	$\approx 3\mathrm{ps}$	fig. $3.24(a)$

processing times are summarized in table 3.7 including its general TC performance.

^{VII}The 43 frequencies FTC with 1 level is the first successful working NEW-TCs of this thesis. The theory is described in section 2.2.2 and the labeling is explained in section 2.2.7











(e) 217MHz LTC+3GTC @ 37th period (239MHz)



(b) 100MHz LTC with 5.12000GHz @ 10th period (100MHz)



(d) 217MHz LTC with 5.12065GHz @ 37th period (239MHz)



(f) Period time distribution for $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$





(a) NEW-TC outcome (INL and DNL) when the DRS4 is running at 5.12 GSPS



(b) V3-TC outcome (INL and DNL) when the DRS4 is running at 5.12 GSPS

Figure 3.28: Illustrated are the INL and DNL of the sampling intervals resulting from the NEW-TC (a) and the V3-TC (b). The V3 is preset to 5.12 GSPS.

The TC outcome of the NEW-TC for the V3 follows in fig. 3.28. It shows the INL and DNL behavior of the NEW-TC in comparison to the V3-TC. The DNL in fig. 3.28(a) is equivalent to the set of 1024 Δt_b in fig. 3.25(d) with the difference that the DNL illustrates the subtraction from the expected sampling intervals. Thus, the DNL only results in a horizontal zero curve like in fig. 3.28(b) if all 1024 Δt_b have the same value. The corresponding INL will result in the zero curve if the sum of Δt_b creates a time line as 0 ps, 200 ps, 400 ps, and so forth ($f_{SCA}=5$ GSPS). One can see that both behaviors of the associated curves in fig. 3.28 look similar for both TC-methods with the difference that the alternating character which results in two distinguishable curves is missing for the V3-TC. The alternating behavior results in an increased standard deviation when averaging the set of Δt_b (Δt_b) as shown in table 3.8.



Figure 3.29: Three P-tests analyzing the two-state-effect, the temperature influence and the combination of both when utilizing the NEW-TC. The plots on the left show the σ values. Two dedicated offsets can be found on the right (b&f). The two-state-effect scenario is labeled with "right" or "left". The test frequency is 100MHz for all P-tests. (d) shows the temperature dependency of the V3 for five cases. V3 is preset to 5.12 GSPS for all measurements.

Table 3.8: Listed from the 2nd to the 5th column is the mean sampling interval $(\Delta \bar{t}_b)$ and its fluctuation (\pm RMS). The $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ is provided for three f_{SCA} when utilizing two different TC-methods. Column #2 lists the $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ resulting from the V3-TC. In contrast one will find the correct $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ from the NEW-TC in column #3. Further, in column #4 & 5 the correct $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ is separated in odd and even cells. In the last column its extrema are available which provide the shortest and the longest measured Δt_b as experienced from 30 calibrated DRS4-chips.

preset f_{SCA}	V3-TC	NEW-TC	even $\Delta \bar{t}_b$	odd $\Delta \bar{t}_b$	extrema
$5.1200\mathrm{GHz}$	$195 \pm 3\mathrm{ps}$	$195 \pm 72 \mathrm{ps}$	$264\pm22\mathrm{ps}$	$127\pm21\mathrm{ps}$	-20-390ps
$1.9820\mathrm{GHz}$	$505\pm8\mathrm{ps}$	$504\pm122\mathrm{ps}$	$612\pm54\mathrm{ps}$	$397{\pm}59\mathrm{ps}$	$0.2{-}0.8\mathrm{ns}$
$1.0076\mathrm{GHz}$	$993 \pm 30 \text{ps}$	$993{\pm}228\mathrm{ps}$	$1034{\pm}217 \mathrm{ps}$	$952{\pm}234 ps$	$0.2{-}1.8\mathrm{ns}$

The last three P-tests of this sub-section are illustrated in fig. 3.29. All these P-tests use the TC outcome resulting from the LTC+3GTC with f_{TC} =100 MHz which is labeled as NEW-TC. The test frequency is also 100 MHz for all P-tests. Fig. 3.29(a & b) shows the P-test of all two-state-effect combinations. (c) shows the temperature dependency of the DRS4 and (e & f) the combination of both, twostate-effect and temperature. The $\Delta t_{a,b}$ change over temperature for five chosen cases are additionally visualized in (d). Five $\Delta t_{a,b}$ drifts were measured at 8 different temperature levels (see table 3.5). The 5 drifts were calculated by subtracting the $\Delta t_{a,b}$ from its corresponding 18 °C case.

3.3.2 P-Test at 1GSPS and 2GSPS

A channel dependent TC for 2 GSPS and 1 GSPS is shown in fig. 3.30. Both plots show the time resolution (σ) up-to a delay of \approx 500 ns. The four combinations of channel #2 and channel #4 are shown in each plot.



Figure 3.30: Two P-tests of the V3 testing the channel dependency when utilizing the NEW-TC. The plots show the time resolution for two f_{SCA} (1 GSPS and 2 GSPS). In each, four channel combinations are shown (see legend).

The temperature and other setting changes have been additionally investigated for 1 GSPS and 2 GSPS. The results of the P-test for the 2 GSPS measurement can be found in fig. 3.31(a & b). The plot on the left shows the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay. On the other side one will find their corresponding offsets. One can see that the applied NEW-TC belongs to the right state with an environmental temperature of 40°C. Further, two temperatures, both states and two test frequencies have been applied for this P-test. Fig. 3.31(c) illustrates the INL and DNL of the NEW-TC outcome and fig. 3.31(d) the dedicated V3-TC outcome when sampling at 2 GSPS. The correct sampling frequency can be found in table 3.6.

The results of the P-test for 1 GSPS is given in fig. 3.32(a & b). The NEW-TC utilizes an f_{TC} of 100 MHz collected at 5°C for the right state. The applied P-test investigates two temperatures, both states and two test frequencies. Fig. 3.32(c) illustrates the INL and DNL of the NEW-TC outcome and fig. 3.31(d) the dedicated V3-TC outcome when sampling at 1 GSPS. The correct sampling frequency can be found in table 3.6.



(a) σ values of P-test

(b) Offset of P-test



(c) NEW-TC outcome (INL and DNL) when the DRS4 is running at 2 GSPS



(d) V3-TC outcome (INL and DNL) when the DRS4 is running at 2 GSPS

Figure 3.31: P-test analyzing the two-state-effect and the temperature influence with the NEW-TC. The two-state-effect scenario is labeled with "right" or "left". Four combinations are shown (see legend). (a) shows the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay. (b) illustrates its corresponding offsets. In (c) one will find the outcome of the NEW-TC and in (d) the outcome of the V3-TC. The V3 is preset to 2 GSPS for all measurements.



(c) NEW-TC outcome (INL and DNL) when the DRS4 is running at 1 GSPS



(d) V3-TC outcome (INL and DNL) when the DRS4 is running at 1 GSPS

Figure 3.32: P-test analyzing the two-state-effect and the temperature influence with the NEW-TC. The two-state-effect scenario is labeled with "right" or "left". Four combinations are shown (see legend). (a) shows the time resolution (σ) vs. the delay. (b) illustrates its corresponding offsets. In (c) one will find the outcome of the NEW-TC and in (d) the outcome of the V3-TC. The V3 is preset to 1 GSPS for all measurements.

3.3.3 SP-Test

This SP-test is separated into two cases. The first case tests a single DRS4-chip and the second case two independent running DRS4-based boards. The boards are preset to f_{SCA} =5.12 GSPS for all SP-tests. More experimental details are available in section 2.5.2.



Figure 3.33: Illustrated in (a) and (b) is an example event of an SP-test between V3 and V5. For each board two channels are displayed. In channel # 2 (ch2) one can see the digitized split sine wave and in channel # 4 (ch4) the split pulse. In the given example the waveform is stooped at $c_{stop} = 24$ for V3 and triggered at $c_{stop} = 874$ for V5. Both boards are preset to 5.12 GSPS.

An event of the single-DRS4-chip case looks identical to the two-DRS4-chips case with the difference that no reference clock is needed. The single-DRS4-chip SPtest utilizes channels #2 and channels #4 of the V3 (NEW-TC). A single event of the two-DRS4-chips case is available in fig. 3.33. The split pulse is shown by both channels #4 (ch4) and the split reference clock is digitized by both channels #2 (ch2). The trigger rate is preset below 1 Hz, since the two independent running DRS4-based boards do not have a global trigger. This guarantees that all digitized waveforms of the first board belong to corresponding waveforms of the second board. The V5 is used as the second DRS4-based board because only one V3 is available. Although the V5 already utilizes an improved TC, which is strongly influenced by this thesis, the V5 is calibrated identically to the V3 to guarantee equal board conditions. The results of the NEW-TC applied to the V5 can be found in section 3.5.1.

Fig. 3.34(a) shows the SP-test results for both, the single-DRS4-chip case and



Figure 3.34: In (a) the SP-test measurements with the V3 and the V5 when applying the NEW-TC are shown. The triangles show the SP-test results of two independently running boards, where a 6-points LED is used. For the other 3 curves, the SP-test is performed with the V3, where the same dataset is analyzed three times using different analyzing techniques. In (b - e) one will find four histogram examples of the $1 \times DRS4$ SP-tests.







(c) 2 points for all LEDs











(d) 6 points for split pulse, other LEDs 2 points



(f) Jitter between V3 and V5

Figure 3.35: Six SP-test histograms are shown from the two-DRS4-chips case $(2 \times DRS4)$. Histogram (a) presents the second data point of fig. 3.34(a). The dedicated curves of the three histograms (b – d) are not shown in fig. 3.34 but illustrate the time resolution change for (a) when modifying the LED settings. (e) shows the worst case scenario of the SP-test with a 6-points LED where the trigger delay of the second board is intentionally set to 160 ns. (f) illustrates the time jitter between the two free running boards.

the two-DRS4-chips case. The LED (2SPs and 6SPs) and the ICC (50SPs) are the two analyzing techniques used for the SP-tests. The following figures 3.34(b-e)are four example histograms extracted from the single-DRS4-chip case (1 × DRS4). The histogram in fig. 3.34(e) shows no perfect Gaussian distribution which starts getting visible at around 30 ns delay.

All six example histograms in fig. 3.35 refer to the two-DRS4-chips case. The histogram outcome in fig. 3.35(a) stands for the second data point in fig. 3.34 (2 × DRS4). The other histograms in fig. 3.35(b - d) show the performance change of the same data point if the LED settings are modified. Further, the histogram in fig. 3.35(e) illustrates the time resolution for a delay of 160 ns and histogram (f) gives an idea of the global trigger jitter of two independently running DRS4-chips.



3.4 X742 when Utilizing new Calibrations

Figure 3.36: All figures show the baseline noise of all 1024 SPs for channel #4 when sampling at 5 GSPS. In (a) and (b) all 1024 SP are plotted over time for two c_{stop} scenarios with and without VC. The histograms in (c) and (d) illustrate both c_{stop} scenarios with the NEW-VC.

The results of the DT5742 when applying the new calibration techniques can be found in this section. Only the results for f_{SCA} equal to 5 GSPS will be shown. Other f_{SCA} results for the DRS4-chip are available in section 3.3.2.

The first baseline measurements with an input trigger rate of 1 kHz were performed to investigate the NEW-VC. In total 1000 waveforms were digitized for this VC. Although, two c_{stop} are theoretically enough for the NEW-VC, all 24 c_{stop} were fed to the NEW-VC algorithm. Only the first 800 SPs were found stable when sampling with the X742. Thus, at least 3 c_{stop} scenarios are mandatory for a success-



(b) CAEN-TC

Figure 3.37: In (a) one will find the INL and the DNL for an ideal-calibrated X742 and in (b) the corresponding CAEN-TC when running at 5 GSPS.

ful NEW-VC. Two NEW-VC examples when sampling at 5 GSPS are available in fig. 3.36. One can see if the NEW-VC is executed successfully, the resulting baseline noise will be around $0.35 \text{ mV} (\sigma)$.

Afterwards, the NEW-TC was utilized. The corresponding results between the original sampling intervals (CAEN -TC) and the NEW-TC are available in fig. 3.37 for 5 GSPS. The other sampling speeds are summarized in table 3.9.

The P-test and SP-test results are not shown because they are identically to the V3-results of section 3.3.1. The time jitter when triggering two DRS4-chips of the same X742 was measured to be around 30 ps (σ).

The PET-results for PMTs and SiPMs coupled to various scintillator crystals are found in the following three sub-sections. All SiPM measurements utilize a digital

Table 3.9: Listed from the 2nd to the 5th column is the mean sampling interval $(\Delta \bar{t}_b)$ and its fluctuation (\pm RMS). The $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ is provided for three f_{SCA} when utilizing two different TC-methods. Column #2 lists the $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ resulting from the CAEN-TC. In contrast one will find the correct $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ from the NEW-TC in column #3. Further, in column #4 & 5 the correct $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ is separated in odd and even cells. In the last column its extrema are available which provide the shortest and the longest measured Δt_b as experienced from 30 calibrated DRS4-chips.

preset f_{SCA}	CAEN-TC	NEW-TC	even $\Delta \bar{t}_b$	odd $\Delta \bar{t}_b$	extrema
$5.0000\mathrm{GHz}$	$200\pm3\mathrm{ps}$	$200\pm74\mathrm{ps}$	$270\pm23\mathrm{ps}$	$130\pm23\mathrm{ps}$	-15-400ps
$2.5000\mathrm{GHz}$	$400\pm7\mathrm{ps}$	$400{\pm}102\mathrm{ps}$	$493{\pm}43\mathrm{ps}$	$307\pm42\mathrm{ps}$	$0.1{-}0.7\mathrm{ns}$
$1.0000\mathrm{GHz}$	$1000 \pm 31 \text{ps}$	$1000{\pm}230\mathrm{ps}$	$1036{\pm}225 \mathrm{ps}$	$965{\pm}227 \mathrm{ps}$	$0.2{-}1.8\mathrm{ns}$

LED (2-points interpolation) with no additional corrections. The PMT measurements have been analyzed equally but with a walk correction.

3.4.1 CRT-Test with PMTs Coupled to LSO:Ca

A similar measurement as illustrated in section 3.2.3 is demonstrated in this subsection. This CRT-test provides a delay case of 50 cm and again only energies inside the photo-peak are used. Additionally both, anode and dynode signals are analyzed utilizing the new calibration methods (CAEN-VC and CAEN-TC). The amplitude of the anode is approximately double the height of the dynode output as illustrated in fig. 3.38(a & b) . Although the NEW-VC is applied, the $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ of the dynode is identical to fig. 3.22 in section 3.2.3 and therefore not illustrated again. The time resolution results for a digital LED (2-points lin. fit) are found in fig. 3.38 and the outcome of the walk corrected LED (2-points lin. fit) are available in fig. 3.39. The anode signal exceeds the dynamic range of the X742 which is around 1.06 V. Therefore, the walk correction for the anode signal is made, by using the energy information of the dynode signal.











(e) Best THs for dynode

(f) Best THs for anode

Figure 3.38: Shown are two CRT-tests with PMTs when utilizing the DT5742 at 5 GSPS (no walk correction). The left side shows the dynode results and the right side the anode outcome. (a & b) show a single digitized coincident PET-event example. The CRT-test in (c) and (d) show the time resolution (FWHM) vs. THs when utilizing the NEW-TC. (e) and (f) illustrates the measured histogram of the points with the best timing resolution, which is 65 mV (TH1), 70 mV (TH2), 140 mV (TH3) and 210 mV (TH4).





(a) Normalized dynode event





(e) Best THs for dynode

(f) Best THs for anode

Figure 3.39: Shown are two CRT-tests with PMTs when utilizing the DT5742 at 5 GSPS (with walk correction). The left side shows the dynode results and the right side the anode outcome. (a & b) show a single digitized coincident PET-event example. The CRT-test in (c) and (d) show the time resolution (FWHM) vs. both normalized THs when utilizing the NEW-TC. (e) and (f) illustrate the measured histogram of the point with the best timing resolution, which is 9% (TH1), 10.5% (TH2), 10% (TH3) and 15% (TH4).

3.4.2 CRT-Tests for Calibrating the Reference PMT

The reference PMT for the following MPPC measurements in section 3.4.3 will be calibrated in this sub-section. To calibrate the reference PMT three CRT-tests are performed. The reference PMT and two identical SiPMs (SiPM1 & SiPM2) coupled to LSO are utilized with the DT5742 (NEW-TC) for this purpose. Details concerning the reference PMT and the SiPM-detectors are available in section 2.5.5.

SiPM1, SiPM2, and reference PMT refer to TH-setting TH1, TH2, and TH3 respectively. A digital LED is used (2-points linear interpolation) for the CRT-test. A walk correction is only applied for the reference PMT by normalizing the waveform with the averaged photo-peak information. Energies inside the Compton continuum are not considered for the CRT. The results of the CRT-test between SiPM1 and SiPM2 can be found in fig. 3.40. The CRT-test between SiPM1 and the reference PMT are illustrated in fig. 3.41 and between SiPM2 and the reference PMT in fig. 3.42. The outcome of the three CRT-tests when applying (2.34) result in

$$\sqrt{\sigma_{SiPM1}^2 + \sigma_{SiPM2}^2} = 560 \text{ ps (FWHM)}$$
$$\sqrt{\sigma_{PMT3}^2 + \sigma_{SiPM1}^2} = 607 \text{ ps (FWHM)}$$
$$\sqrt{\sigma_{SiPM2}^2 + \sigma_{PMT3}^2} = 551 \text{ ps (FWHM)}$$
(3.1)

The single time resolution of the individual detectors can be calculated by solving (3.1) and results in (3.2).

$$\sigma_{SiPM1} = 435 \text{ ps (FWHM)}$$

$$\sigma_{SiPM2} = 353 \text{ ps (FWHM)}$$

$$\sigma_{PMT3} = 423 \text{ ps (FWHM)}$$
(3.2)

Thus, the single time resolution of the reference PMT is 423 ps (FWHM) and will be used for the all following MPPC measurements.



Figure 3.40: CRT-test is shown between SiPM1 and SiPM2. Illustrated in (a) is a coincident PET-event when digitizing at 5 GSPS. (e) and (f) show its dedicated (uncorrected) $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$. (c) and (d) show the CRT-test results for a 2D and a 1D illustration. The histogram in (b) illustrates the best time resolution of 560 ps (FWHM) with TH settings of TH1 = 5 mV and TH2 = 5 mV.



Figure 3.41: CRT-test is shown between SiPM1 and the reference PMT. Illustrated in (a) is a coincident PET-event when digitizing at 5 GSPS. (c),(e) and (f) show its dedicated $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$. (d) shows the time resolution results for different THs. The histogram in (b) illustrates the best time resolution of around 607 ps (FWHM) with TH settings of TH1 = 5 mV and TH3 = 2.5 %.


Figure 3.42: CRT-test is shown between SiPM2 and the reference PMT. Illustrated in (a) is a coincident PET-event when digitizing at 5 GSPS. (c),(e) and (f) show its dedicated $\frac{\Delta E}{E}$. (d) shows the time resolution results for different THs. The histogram in (b) illustrates the best time resolution of around 551 ps (FWHM) with TH settings of TH2 = 5 mV and TH3 = 2.5 %.

3.4.3 CRT-Tests with MPPCs Coupled to PbWO

The CRT-test between the reference PMT and three MPPCs coupled to $PbWO_4$ is shown in this sub-section. More details are available in section 2.5.5. The reference PMT is preset to TH=2.5% for all three CRT-tests as defined in the previous section 3.4.2. The pitch of the MPPCs, the single photon amplitude and other specifications of the experiment are listed in table 3.10. The utilized amplifier for

detector	pitch	V_{break}	$V_{\rm bias}$	PDE	micro cells	single photon
MPPC1	$100\mu{ m m}$	$70.68\mathrm{V}$	$71.5\mathrm{V}$	$\approx 65\%$	100	$\approx 10 \mathrm{mV}$
MPPC2	$50\mu{ m m}$	$71.21\mathrm{V}$	$71.8\mathrm{V}$	$\approx 50 \%$	400	$\approx 8 \mathrm{mV}$
MPPC3	$25\mu{ m m}$	$71.19\mathrm{V}$	$72.0\mathrm{V}$	$\approx 25 \%$	1600	$\approx 37 \mathrm{mV}$

Table 3.10: Listed are the MPPC settings that are used for the $PbWO_4$ experiment.The experiment is held at room temperature using a temperature chamber.

the MPPC is the A1423 Wideband Amplifier from CAEN[107]. It is mandatory to use a trigger logic as described in fig. 2.16 for this experiment. A time window of around 5 ns is used and the trigger TH of the reference PMT is set to 200 mV. The analog trigger TH to capture coincident events is set to approximately 20 mV for MPPC1 and MPPC2. Unfortunately, the analog trigger TH for MPPC3 is set to around 200 mV. The digital LED (2-points interpolation) is chosen for all time measurements . A summary concerning the time resolution of the three CRT-tests is found in table 3.11.

Table 3.11: Listed are the CRT-test results for a PbWO-crystal couped to different MPPCs with a pitch of $100 \,\mu\text{m}$ (MPPC1), $50 \,\mu\text{m}$ (MPPC2) and $25 \,\mu\text{m}$ (MPPC3).

detector	best CRT	best digital LED TH with * condition	details
MPPC1	$956 \mathrm{ps} \mathrm{(FWHM)}$	$3.5 \mathrm{mV} \ (1^{\mathrm{st}} \mathrm{\ photon}) \mathrm{\ with} > 5 \mathrm{photons}$	fig. 3.43
MPPC2 MPPC3	$668 \mathrm{ps} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$ 1162 ps (FWHM)	$3.0 \mathrm{mV} (1^{\mathrm{st}} \mathrm{photon}) \mathrm{with} > 9 \mathrm{photons}$ $77 \mathrm{mV} (3^{\mathrm{rd}} \mathrm{photon}) \mathrm{with} = 7 \mathrm{photons}$	fig. 3.44 fig. 3.45



(e) 1D CRT-test



Figure 3.43: Illustrated in (a) is a coincident PET-event when digitizing at 5 GSPS. (b) illustrates some MPPC1 events $(100 \,\mu\text{m})$. (c & d) show both amplitude distributions. (e) shows the time resolution results for different THs. The histogram in (f) illustrates the best time resolution of around 798 ps (FWHM) with TH settings of TH1 = 3.5 mV and amplitudes greater than 50 mV.



(e) 1D CRT-test



Figure 3.44: Illustrated in (a) is a coincident PET-event when digitizing at 5 GSPS. (b) illustrates some MPPC2 events $(50 \,\mu\text{m})$. (c & d) show both amplitude distributions. (e) shows the time resolution results for different THs. The histogram in (f) illustrates the best time resolution of around 634 ps (FWHM) with TH settings of TH2 = 3 mV and amplitudes greater than 70 mV.



(e) 1D CRT-test



Figure 3.45: Illustrated in (a) is a coincident PET-event when digitizing at 5 GSPS. (b) illustrates some MPPC3 events $(25 \,\mu\text{m})$. (c & d) show both amplitude distributions. (e) shows the time resolution results for different THs. The histogram in (f) illustrates the best time resolution of around 925 ps (FWHM) with TH settings of TH3 = 77 mV and amplitudes smaller than 240 mV.

3.5 Other Readout Electronics

Other readout electronics are compared with respect to time resolution in this section and the following 4 sub-sections. The V3 (NEW-TC) results are provided as a reference for most cases. In table 3.12 one will find a summary of all SP-tests for the same cable delay. The cable has approximately a length 10 m resulting in a time delay around 50 ns . If no measurement with a delay of 50 ns is performed for the readout electronics, an approximated time resolution is calculated. Additionally, if no SP-test is performed the result from the P-test is used instead. This rule is applied only if the electronics noise of the P-test is dominant, resulting in an accepted time resolution > 10 ps (σ). This is the case for row 1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 11 and 12. Finally, only measurements are taken into account where a TH of 300 mV is accessible and thus a 2-points digital LED is performed. Additional information which indicate the origin of the listed SP-test values can be found in the entry of column "source" in table 3.12.

3.5.1 V5 from PSI

The V5 was only developed by PSI because of the results of this work. It is therefore also tested with respect to time resolution and sampling frequency^{VIII}. Fig. 3.46 shows the NEW-TC outcome of the V5, which means that an external 100 MHz sine wave is applied for the TC-method. The NEW-TC is explained in section 2.2.7. The corresponding V5-TC outcome, where the internal V5 clock is used, looks almost identical and is therefore not shown again.

The V5-TC is only tested for 5.12 GSPS. The SP-test result is shown in row #14 of table 3.12. The P-test is summarized in table 3.13 (row #17 and row #18). The V5-TC also calibrates other sampling speeds^{IX} but the performance is not tested. The software update of the V5-board enables the tests directly with histogramming capabilities. Unfortunately, this update is inspired by this thesis and therefore not

 $^{^{\}rm VIII} \rm In$ section 3.3.3 one can find the SP-test results between the two independently running V3 and V5.

 $^{^{\}rm IX}{\rm The}$ V5-TC does not calibrate the sampling speed of 0.7 GSPS. It fails when activated in the V5 software.

Table 3.12:	Listed are the SP-tests for all introduced readout electronics with a delay of
	$50 \mathrm{ns.}$ All DRS4-based boards utilize the original VC provided by their
	vendors.

row	readout electronics	settings	source	FWHM	σ
1	V3 (NO-TC)	$5.12\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. 3.2(a)	$\approx 1.2\mathrm{ns}$	$\approx 0.5 \mathrm{ns}$
2	V3 (NO-TC)	$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.2(a)$	$\approx \! 1.4 \mathrm{ns}$	$\approx \! 0.6 \mathrm{ns}$
3	V3 (NO-TC)	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.2(a)$	$\approx \! 1.7 \mathrm{ns}$	$pprox\!0.7\mathrm{ns}$
4	V3 (V3-TC)	$5.12\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.4(a)$	${\approx}105\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 45 \mathrm{ps}$
5	V3 (V3-TC)	$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.4(a)$	$\approx \! 140 \mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 60 \mathrm{ps}$
6	V3 (V3-TC)	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.3(a)$	$\approx \! 400 \mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 170 \mathrm{ps}$
7	X742 (CAEN-TC)	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. 3.21	$\approx 60\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 25 \mathrm{ps}$
8	X742 (CAEN-TC)	$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.20(a)$	${\approx}105\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 45 \mathrm{ps}$
9	X742 (CAEN-TC)	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.20(a)$	$\approx \! 340 \mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 144 \mathrm{ps}$
10	V3 (NEW-TC)	$5.12\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.34(a)$	$\approx 7\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 3\mathrm{ps}$
11	V3 (NEW-TC)	$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.31(a)$	$\approx \! 24 \mathrm{ps}$	${\approx}10\mathrm{ps}$
12	V3 (NEW-TC)	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. 3.32(a)	$\approx \! 71 \mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 30\mathrm{ps}$
13	X742 (NEW-TC)	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.47(d)$	$\approx \! 12 \mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 5\mathrm{ps}$
14	V5 (V5-TC)	$5.12\mathrm{GSPS}$	section $3.5.1$	$\approx 7\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 3\mathrm{ps}$
15	V5 (NEW-TC)	$5.12\mathrm{GSPS}$	section $3.5.1$	$\approx 7\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 3\mathrm{ps}$
16	V3 & V5 (NEW-TC)	$5.12\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.35(c)$	${\approx}10\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 4\mathrm{ps}$
17	S20 (800 mV range)	$20\mathrm{GSPS}$	table 3.14	$\approx 30\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 13 \mathrm{ps}$
18	S5 (1000 mV range)	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	fig. $3.47(a)$	$\approx \! 65 \mathrm{ps}$	$\approx \! 28 \mathrm{ps}$
19	NIM-TAC $(14bit)$	$50\mathrm{ns}=5\mathrm{V}$	table 3.15	$\approx \! 26 \mathrm{ps}$	${\approx}11\mathrm{ps}$
20	NIM-TAC $(12bit)$	$50\mathrm{ns}=5\mathrm{V}$	table 3.15	$\approx 52\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 22\mathrm{ps}$
21	NIM-LED	$\mathrm{TH}=300\mathrm{mV}$	table 3.15	$\approx 9\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 4\mathrm{ps}$
22	NIM-CFD	$8\mathrm{cm}$ delay	table 3.15	$\approx \! 14 \mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 6\mathrm{ps}$

available while working with the V3. However, the update is a key function for quick performance tests or live analyses of experiments.

The baseline noise of the V5-VC shows similar performance compared to the V3-VC. Additionally, the two-state-effect from the V3 illustrated in fig. 3.1 is not measurable anymore. The sampling speed of 5.12 GSPS is tested to be exactly



(b) Channel #4

Figure 3.46: In (a) and (b) one will find the INL and the DNL for an ideal-calibrated V5 when running at 5.12 GSPS. Illustrated are two of the four channels.

 $5.12 \text{ GSPS} \pm 0.000002 \text{ GSPS}$. Thus, the fluctuation of the V5 is similar to fig. 3.27(a) and no timing improvement compared to the V3 is noted if the correct f_{SCA} is known.

3.5.2 Oscilloscope 6050A (S5)

The reference time resolution tests of the S5 are shown for variating amplification settings of two S5 channels in this sub-section. The digitizers are running at around 5 GSPS for all tests. A more detailed description about the S5 can be found in section 2.4.3.

The 100 MHz P-test (1st period) of the S5 in comparison to the DRS4-chip is illustrated in table 3.13. One can see that different TC-methods (3rd column) are tested





(a) S5 with $\approx 1000 \,\mathrm{mV}$ input range





(c) S5 with $\approx 113 \,\mathrm{mV}$ input range



Figure 3.47: All matrices show the time resolution results for the SP-test (2-points interpolation) using a 50 ns delay and a digitization of 5 GSPS. For (a), (b) and (c) the S5 is utilized with different amplification settings resulting in 27.7 ps, 7.4 ps and 6.4 ps (σ) for ideal TH settings. In (d) one will find the SP-test result for the X742 utilizing the NEW-TC in combination with the CAEN-VC. With optimal TH settings a result of 4.4 ps (σ) is achieved.

for the DRS4-chip. The mean value (6th column) of the period times and its resulting time resolution (7th column) are calculated by a Gaussian fit. Each histogram used for the fit consists of >100k measured periods. The baseline noise (5th column) is measured by applying a DC offset produced by the function generator. Afterwards the function generator settings are switched to compute the periods of the 100 MHz sine wave (1V peak-to-peak). The theoretical time resolution (8th column) is calculated with (1.17). The variables in (1.17) are $A_p \approx 63$ mV and $t_r = 200$ ps

σ [ps]

Table 3.13: Summarized are the P-tests for the S5 (5 GSPS) and DRS4-based boards (5.12 GSPS) when measuring the first period of a 100 MHz sine wave. All DRS4-based boards utilize the original VC provided by their vendors, except rows labeled with stars. The (*) means that the NEW-VC, the VC3 and the VC5 is utilized. The (**) means that the NO-VC is utilized

row	digitizer	method	range	noise	offset	σ	$\sigma_t \cdot \sqrt{2}$
1	S5 (ch1)	-	$\approx 1000 \mathrm{mV}$	$5.21\mathrm{mV}$	$-0.01\mathrm{ps}$	$20.88\mathrm{ps}$	$23.39\mathrm{ps}$
2	S5 (ch2)	-	${\approx}1000\mathrm{mV}$	$4.42\mathrm{mV}$	$-0.05\mathrm{ps}$	$16.72\mathrm{ps}$	$19.84\mathrm{ps}$
3	S5 (ch1)	-	$\approx \! 225 \mathrm{mV}$	$1.03\mathrm{mV}$	$0.08\mathrm{ps}$	$5.17\mathrm{ps}$	$4.62\mathrm{ps}$
4	S5 (ch2)	-	$\approx \! 225 \mathrm{mV}$	$0.87\mathrm{mV}$	$0.01\mathrm{ps}$	$4.64\mathrm{ps}$	$3.91\mathrm{ps}$
5	S5 (ch1)	-	$\approx \! 113 \mathrm{mV}$	$0.57\mathrm{mV}$	$0.05\mathrm{ps}$	$3.92\mathrm{ps}$	$2.56\mathrm{ps}$
6	S5 (ch2)	-	$\approx \! 113 \mathrm{mV}$	$0.48\mathrm{mV}$	$0.02\mathrm{ps}$	$3.62\mathrm{ps}$	$2.15\mathrm{ps}$
7	S5 (ch1)	-	$\approx 56\mathrm{mV}$	$0.39\mathrm{mV}$	$0.03\mathrm{ps}$	$3.54\mathrm{ps}$	$1.75\mathrm{ps}$
8	S5 (ch2)	-	$\approx 56\mathrm{mV}$	$0.33\mathrm{mV}$	$0.01\mathrm{ps}$	$3.36\mathrm{ps}$	$1.48\mathrm{ps}$
9	V3 (ch2)	NO-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.41\mathrm{mV}$	$1.06\mathrm{ps}$	${\approx}120\mathrm{ps}$	$1.84\mathrm{ps}$
10	V3 (ch4)	NO-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.43\mathrm{mV}$	$1.49\mathrm{ps}$	${\approx}120\mathrm{ps}$	$1.93\mathrm{ps}$
11	V3 (ch2)	V3-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.41\mathrm{mV}$	$4.50\mathrm{ps}$	$48.05\mathrm{ps}$	$1.84\mathrm{ps}$
12	V3 (ch4)	V3-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.43\mathrm{mV}$	$3.21\mathrm{ps}$	$52.11\mathrm{ps}$	$1.93\mathrm{ps}$
13	V3 (ch2)	NEW-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.41\mathrm{mV}$	$0.00\mathrm{ps}$	$3.11\mathrm{ps}$	$1.84\mathrm{ps}$
14	V3 (ch4)	NEW-TC(*)	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.43\mathrm{mV}$	$0.00\mathrm{ps}$	$3.23\mathrm{ps}$	$1.93\mathrm{ps}$
15	V3 (ch2)	ch4 NEW-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.41\mathrm{mV}$	$-0.06\mathrm{ps}$	$13.07\mathrm{ps}$	$1.84\mathrm{ps}$
16	V3 (ch4)	ch2 NEW-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.43\mathrm{mV}$	$0.05\mathrm{ps}$	$13.21\mathrm{ps}$	$1.93\mathrm{ps}$
17	V5 $(ch1)$	V5-TC	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.40\mathrm{mV}$	$0.00\mathrm{ps}$	$3.05\mathrm{ps}$	$1.80\mathrm{ps}$
18	V5 $(ch1)$	NEW-TC(*)	${\approx}1000{\rm mV}$	$0.39\mathrm{mV}$	$0.00\mathrm{ps}$	$2.99\mathrm{ps}$	$1.80\mathrm{ps}$
19	X742	CAEN-TC	${\approx}1060\mathrm{mV}$	$0.45\mathrm{mV}$	$0.46\mathrm{ps}$	$23.71\mathrm{ps}$	$2.02\mathrm{ps}$
20	X742	NEW-TC(*)	${\approx}1060\mathrm{mV}$	$0.38\mathrm{mV}$	$0.00\mathrm{ps}$	$2.87\mathrm{ps}$	$1.71\mathrm{ps}$
21	X742	NEW-TC(**)	${\approx}1060\mathrm{mV}$	$8.56\mathrm{mV}$	$0.00\mathrm{ps}$	$51.25\mathrm{ps}$	$38.43\mathrm{ps}$

and result from fig. 2.11(d). The theoretical time resolution is calculated with the provided variables A_p , t_r and the individual noise levels multiplied by $\sqrt{2}$. The $\sqrt{2}$ is mandatory because two linear interpolations have been performed to compute the 1st period times of the 100 MHz sine wave.

The SP-tests of a 50 ns delay for the S5 and the $V3^{X}$ are found in fig. 3.47.

The time resolution is 28 ps (σ) when the amplification of the S5 is set to a range where the analog signal is completely visible on the oscilloscope screen (50 mV/division), as illustrated in fig. 3.47(a).

3.5.3 Oscilloscope 640Zi (S20)

The CRT-test with two PMTs (anode) coupled to LSO:Ca (more details in section 2.5.6) is repeated with the S20 in this sub-section. Additionally, an SP-test is utilized to measure the electronics noise of the S20.

The S20 is the best available readout electronics with the fastest sampling speed in this work. A more detailed description of the S20 can be found in section 2.4.3. The S20 results are found in fig. 3.48 and a summary of these results including the S20 settings in table 3.14. One can see that three measurement results are shown, one SP-test and two CRT-tests. The SP-test is performed with the highest BW of 4 GHz and the fastest sampling speed of 20 GSPS. In both CRT-tests the BW is kept at 1 GHz but the sampling speed is changed from 20 GSPS to 5 GSPS.

Table 3.14: Summarized are the CRT-test and SP-test results and settings of S20. Each row refers to a specific picture of fig. 3.48.

fig.	speed	BW	range	noise ch1	noise ch2	bits ch1	bits ch2
(a)	$20\mathrm{GSPS}$	$4\mathrm{GHz}$	${\approx}800\mathrm{mV}$	$2.81\mathrm{mV}$	$2.05\mathrm{mV}$	$\approx 7.9 {\rm bits}$	$\approx 8.3 {\rm bits}$
(c)	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	$1\mathrm{GHz}$	${\approx}1600\mathrm{mV}$	$6.51\mathrm{mV}$	$4.34\mathrm{mV}$	$\approx 7.9 {\rm bits}$	$\approx 8.5 {\rm bits}$
(e)	$20\mathrm{GSPS}$	$1\mathrm{GHz}$	${\approx}1600\mathrm{mV}$	$3.97\mathrm{mV}$	$2.82\mathrm{mV}$	$\approx 8.7 \mathrm{bits}$	$\approx 9.1 {\rm bits}$
fig.	$\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ ch1	$\frac{\Delta E}{E}$ ch2	best TH1	best TH2	delay	FWHM	σ
(b)	-	-	$300\mathrm{mV}$	$200\mathrm{mV}$	$\approx 5.4\mathrm{ns}$	$29.2\mathrm{ps}$	$12.4\mathrm{ps}$
(d)	8.5%	8.1%	14%	16%	$\approx 2.2\mathrm{ns}$	$186.4\mathrm{ps}$	$79.2\mathrm{ps}$
(f)	8.5%	8.0%	15%	16~%	$\approx 2.2\mathrm{ns}$	$180.7\mathrm{ps}$	$76.7\mathrm{ps}$

^XA summary of all SP-test with a delay of 50 ns can be found in table 3.12.













(f) 2D CRT-test result (20 GSPS)

Figure 3.48: Illustrated in (a) is an SP-test event. (c) and (e) illustrate example coincident events of a CRT-test. (b),(d), and (f) present the dedicated 2D time resolution results for variating TH settings. The best time resolution settings for the S20 are listed in table 3.14.

3.5.4 NIM Electronics

The SP-test results when utilizing the NIM Electronics are shown in comparison to the V3 (NEW-TC) in this sub-section. More details about the tested components are provided in section 2.4.4. The experimental test setup of the NIM-TAC module is identical as sketched in fig. 1.8, but with the difference that the two PMT channels have been replaced with a split pulse. The NIM-TAC is preset to a time range of 50 ns resulting in 5 V for 50 ns and 0 V for 0 ns measured delays. The voltages from 0 V to 5 V have been measured with two ADC solutions, 12 bit and 14 bit. The two delay cables utilized for the NIM-TAC are measured to be exactly 4 m. The cable for the V3 (NEW-TC) measurements is approximately 10 m long. The THs for the two utilized NIM-LED, NIM-CFD and V3 channels have been set to 300 mV, consistent with the other SP-tests. The results of the tested NIM modules are listed in table 3.15.

 Table 3.15:
 Summarized are the SP-tests of all introduced NIM modules in comparison with the V3.

row	NIM electronics test combination	delay 1	delay 2	σ (delay 1)	σ (delay 2)
1	NIM_LED \pm NIM_TAC \pm 12 bit ADC	$\sim 20 \mathrm{ns}$	~10 ns	91.7 ps	21.8 ps
1	$\mathbf{M} = \mathbf{M} = $	~ 20 HS	~40 115	21.7 ps	21.0 ps
2	NIM-LED + NIM-TAC + 14 bit ADC	$\approx 20 \mathrm{ns}$	$\approx 40 \mathrm{ns}$	$10.3\mathrm{ps}$	$10.9\mathrm{ps}$
3	NIM-CFD + NIM-TAC + 14 bit ADC	$\approx 20 \mathrm{ns}$	$\approx \! 40 \mathrm{ns}$	$10.4\mathrm{ps}$	$11.1\mathrm{ps}$
4	$ ext{NIM-LED} + ext{V3} (ext{NEW-TC})$	$\approx 50 \mathrm{ns}$	-	$5.1\mathrm{ps}$	-
5	$ ext{NIM-CFD} + ext{V3} (ext{NEW-TC})$	$\approx 50 \mathrm{ns}$	-	$6.8\mathrm{ps}$	-
6	V3 (NEW-TC)	$\approx 50 \mathrm{ns}$	-	$3.2\mathrm{ps}$	-

Chapter 4

Discussion

The fastest sampling technology, the flash ADC, has reached a point where cost per channel, power consumption and timing performance are limited. Therefore, several SCA-chips have been developed by individual vendors like the SAM-chip[69], the LABRADOR-chip[70], the PSEC4-chip[71], the DRS4-chip[68], etc. The DRS4chip¹ which is exclusively investigated in this work, is implemented in several research fields like particle physics (e.g. the MEG experiment [72]), neutrino physics (e.g. the ANTARES experiment [75]) or astronomy (e.g. the MAGIC telescope [73]) to name a few. Even if the same SCA-chip is utilized each research group develops its own dedicated SCA-calibrations and specialized timing algorithms. Thus, the measured timing of an SCA-chip depends on the applied calibrations and the timing algorithms as visible in table 4.1. One can see in row #1 of table 4.1 that the DRS4 time resolution of the original calibration from PSI (V3-TC^{II}) was expected to be around 25 ps (σ) due to Adam et al[72]. Row #3 confirms this assumption for the V3-TC but only if multiple points of the waveform are utilized for the timing calculation. If on the other hand only 2 points of the rising edge are used (row #2), the time resolution of the DRS4-chip lies around 27-52 ps. Utilizing the same algorithm, the CAEN-TC provides improved results for the DRS4-chip with a time resolution between 19-30 ps (row #5). The publication from Wang et al[96] where the DRS4-chip is differently

^IThe DRS4-chip was designed in the year 2007. Its oldest parent, the *Domino Sampling Chip* (DSC), was designed in 1998[108].

^{II}The original time calibration method for the Domino Ring Sampler series (DRS2, DRS3 & DRS4) is referred to as "V3-TC" in this work because this TC is provided together with the V3. Starting with the V5 the NEW-TC is utilized.

Table 4.1: Listed are the best timing results of 3 SCA-chips when utilizing different calibration methods and timing algorithms. The numbers are taken from SP-test-figures or publications and are listed in the column "source". The rows labeled with * utilize TC-methods which are not introduced nor tested in this work. More details about these TC-methods are written in this chapter and origin from the provided references.

row	SCA	TC-method	timing	algorithm	dependence	source
1		V2 TC	25 ng	2	2	Adam[72]
T	DIG4	V 3-1 U	ca. 25 ps	÷	÷	Auam[72]
2	DRS4	V3-TC	$27\text{-}52\mathrm{ps}$	2-SPs LED	random	fig. $3.4(a)$
3	DRS4	V3-TC	$15{-}35\mathrm{ps}$	$50\text{-}\mathrm{SPs}\ \mathrm{PCC}$	periodic	fig. $3.4(b)$
4	DRS4	V3-TC	ca. $5\mathrm{ps}$	50-SPs PCC	$0{-}1\mathrm{ns}$	fig. $3.4(b)$
5	DRS4	CAEN-TC	$19{-}30\mathrm{ps}$	2-SPs LED	random	fig. 3.21
6	DRS4	CAEN-TC	ca. $8\mathrm{ps}$	2-SPs LED	$0{-}1\mathrm{ns}$	fig. 3.21
7	DRS4	CAEN-TC	$8{-}18\mathrm{ps}$	$50\text{-}\mathrm{SPs}\ \mathrm{PCC}$	periodic	fig. 3.21
8	DRS4	CAEN-TC	ca. $4 \mathrm{ps}$	50-SPs PCC	$0{-}1\mathrm{ns}$	fig. 3.21
9	DRS4	LTC*[96]	ca. $9\mathrm{ps}$	10-SPs CFD	$4 \mathrm{ns}$ delay	Wang[96]
10	DRS4	NEW-TC	$2.3 - 3.3\mathrm{ps}$	2-SPs LED	$0-60\mathrm{ns}$	fig. $3.34(a)$
11	DRS4	NEW-TC	$0.8 - 2\mathrm{ps}$	$50\text{-}\mathrm{SPs}\ \mathrm{ICC}$	$0-60\mathrm{ns}$	fig. $3.34(a)$
12	PSEC4	$\operatorname{zeros}^*[71]$	$4{-}9\mathrm{ps}$	20-SPs fit	$0{-}20\mathrm{ns}$	Oberla[71]
13	SAMPIC	LTC*[74]	$4{-}6\mathrm{ps}$	2-SPs CFD	random	Breton[109]
14	SAMPIC	LTC*[74]	ca. $3\mathrm{ps}$	2-SPs CFD	$0{-}1\mathrm{ns}$	Breton[109]
15	SAMPIC	LTC*[74]	$3{-}5\mathrm{ps}$	20-SPs CC	random	Breton[109]
16	SAMPIC	LTC*[74]	ca. $2 \mathrm{ps}$	20-SPs CC	$0{-}1\mathrm{ns}$	Breton[109]

calibrated with a costly LTC method, shows performance results around 9 ps (RMS) for optimized analog signal conditions and a multi-points timing algorithm (row #9). This DRS4-result is an improvement compared to V3-TC but equivalent to the CAEN-TC when utilizing multiple points of an ideal signal with a delay of 4 ns (row #9 vs. row #7). To date, the second best reported time resolution among SCA-chips under optimized conditions lies around 4 ps (row #12 and row #15). The PSEC4-chip is calibrated by counting zero-crossings of a periodic signal[71]. Its time resolution when utilizing more than 20 points for the timing algorithm, lies between 4-9 ps linear increasing with the delay (row #12). The extravagant LTC-

solution[74] of the SAMPIC-chip achieves around 5 ps for a 2-points method and only around 4 ps for a CC-solution although using 10 times more points (row #13 vs. row #15). Like the V3-TC and the CAEN-TC, also the SAMPIC-chip shows disproportionately good results for delays smaller 1 ns which indicates a non-ideal calibration (row #4, row #6, row #8, row #14 and row #16). Additionally, for all three calibrations the time resolution vs. the delay randomly/periodically fluctuates and thus underlines that an inferior TC-method is used. The publication in the year 2014[31] where a fraction of this work has already been published, introduces the best ever measured time resolution for an SCA-chip. A time resolution below one picosecond was accomplished if the correct TC-method is applied. Demonstrated in this thesis is the associated histogram of this publication which shows a time resolution of 820 *Femtoseconds* (fs) for the DRS4 when utilizing an easily applicable crosscorrelation method (row #11 and fig. 1.4 showing the 50-points ICC histogram). Moreover, when using two points instead of 50 points already results in a time resolution below 3 ps for the DRS4-chip with the correct calibration (row #10).

In the next lines the discussion chapter continuous regarding other DRS4-results in which the following 11 sections continuously will be referred to for deeper discussions. As stated before, the key to enable the full potential of the SCA-technology is accurate calibrations (VC and TC). Improving these calibrations is a major topic of this work and is investigated for two realizations of DRS4-based boards, from PSI and from CAEN (detailed hardware comparison in section 4.1). The VC is well understood by PSI but there is still potential for the DRS4-based boards from CAEN (more details in section 4.2). The investigated CAEN-TC is approximately twice as effective as the V3-TC from PSI. CAEN partially adopted and improved the V3-TC around 2011, when CAEN announced their first DRS4-based board with 32 channels. "Adopted" because the Δt_b behavior looks identical to the V3-TC with $\Delta \bar{t}_b = 200 \pm 3 \,\mathrm{ps}$ for an f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS. And "Improved" because the time resolution looks better compared to the V3-TC as summarized in table 3.12 (row #4 vs. row #7). The improvement is caused by the better TC-signal which is used for the CAEN-TC (more details in section 4.3). Still, the CAEN-TC and the V3-TC are approximately one order of magnitude away from the achievable time resolution as it is demonstrated in this thesis.

At the very beginning of the work with the DRS4, pre-clinical PET-measurements (CRT-test) were performed satisfactorily with SiPMs (see section 4.9) and APDs (see section 4.8), because its results showed the expected time resolutions and Gaussian distributions for CRTs greater than 500 ps (FWHM). In contrast, a better CRT than theoretically expected was discovered for CRT-tests crossing the 300 ps border (details in section 4.10). Problems were also discovered for artificial signals (P-test and SP-test) as they are described in the first two sections of chapter 3 in which the DRS4-chip is tested with the original TCs from PSI and CAEN. Summarized, the four first discovered problems are the unpredictable time resolution function vs. the cable delay, a non-Gaussian distribution behavior, worse time resolution than expected (details in section 4.3) and simultaneously better time resolution than expected for some CRT-tests. In June 2012 the NEW-TC development started investigating these problems.

The first successfully working TC for the DRS4-chip is developed in this thesis. It utilizes more than 40 frequencies and is called the FTC. The FTC is a reliable TC-method of the NEW-TCs, because it uses the most uncorrelated statistics (more details in section 4.3). The FTC solved all problems that resulted from the usage of previous TC-methods for the DRS4-chip.

By applying the FTC to different DRS4-chips it was identified that the sampling intervals (Δt_b) alternate between two sets of Δt_b as 270 ps, 130 ps, 270 ps, \cdots , with a fluctuation of around 20 ps at 5 GSPS (see table 3.9). Note, that the previous TCs predicted an equidistant set of Δt_b as 200±3 ps. This means that the expected f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS is in reality continuously changing between ≈4 GSPS and ≈8 GSPS. The reason for this alternating behavior results from the layout of the DRS4-chip. The 1024 sampling cells of an individual channel are not linearly arranged. Instead they are folded due to the limited size of the die. The folding causes a different environment for odd and even cells. A reduced alternating behavior of the DRS4chip is found at lower sampling speeds. One will also measure a degradation of the time resolution as summarized in table 3.12 (see section 4.4 for more details).

The FTC is approximately 3 times better than the original TC from PSI, when

applied globally to all channels. Also demonstrated in this thesis is an additional timing improvement by a factor of 5 if each channel is calibrated individually. Overall the FTC enabled an timing improvement by a factor of around 15 compared to the V3-TC from PSI as illustrated in fig. 4.1. Additionally, the theoretical time



Figure 4.1: The SP-test for the NEW-TC improves approximately by a factor of 15 compared to the original calibration (V3-TC). The DRS4 was sampling with 5.12 GHz and a simple 2-points digital LED is applied in all cases. This figure is created by combining the two curves, fig. 3.34(a) and fig. 3.4(a)

resolution region for given pulses is finally reproduced (see discussion in section 4.6). Although the FTC provides the correct TC, it is too complicated and expensive for a reliable application. Therefore, an easier method was needed to perform a satisfactory TC. This led to the fully evaluated theory for an easier TC-method using only a single waveform. A C-code has been developed which was able to perform this TC-method for any common SCA-chip from individual vendors, including DRS4based boards. It consists of two parts. The first part (LTC) roughly computes time distances between two neighboring cells. The second part (GTC) corrects afterwards the resulting dataset for time differences between cells that are far apart. These NEW-TCs including the other tested TC-methods from PSI and CAEN are discussed in the following section 4.3

The original TC-method from CAEN (CAEN-TC) provides wrong time resolution results. This would not be so much of a problem if the time resolution performance is simply inferior. Instead some measurements will result in overestimating the time resolution (see section 4.10 for detailed discussion). PSI on the other hand, directly adopted one of the NEW-TCs and designed a new DRS4-based board, the V5 (more details in section 4.1). The V5 offers almost the full performance of the DRS4. Its performance lies in the sub-picosecond region with regards to time resolution (see discussion in section 4.7).

More details about the DRS4 performance (section 4.1 - section 4.4), its comparison to other readout electronics (section 4.5) and the outcome of the three performance tests, the P-test (section 4.6) the SP-test (section 4.7) and the PET related CRT-test (section 4.8 - section 4.11) is available in the following sections.

4.1 DRS4-Based Boards Hardware Comparison

The results of all investigated DRS4-based boards, comprising the boards from PSI (V3 & V5) and the X742 series from CAEN (DT5742 & V1742), will be discussed in this section.

The X742 enables all channel offsets to be set individually within a range of $\pm 1 \text{ V}$ in mV increments. This is an advantage compared to the V3 or the V5 where the offsets of all channels are adjustable globally between two possibilities (-0.5 V &0 V). However, all boards show the same crosstalk behavior for the utilized DRS4chip. A signal applied to channel n results in the highest crosstalk value in channel n+1 and remains measurable in the following channels $(n+2, n+3, \cdots)$. The lower channel numbers like channel n-1 result in a suppressed crosstalk statistics which decreases if located further away from channel n. Thus, if not all DRS4 channels are needed one should not place them next to each other. A low DRS4 channel number is especially recommended for a good time resolution. Thus, for PET applications one should ideally separate timing channels as far left as possible from the energy channels to prevent crosstalk. A crosstalk example is given in fig. 3.18(c & d) where an oscillating signal is applied to the 4^{th} (channel #18) of the nine available DRS4 channels. One can see that in the surrounding channels of channel #18 the baseline noise increases. This is especially the case for the channel #19. Channel #16 has the lowest crosstalk behavior because it is the first channel in this utilized DRS4-chip. Thus, if a channel is chosen for the spike correction (VC3) it should ideally be the first channel of the DRS4-chip. Unfortunately, this is not the case for the boards from PSI (e.g. the V3 board) where the ninth channel is chosen instead for the VC3. This explains the occasional VC3-failures when a signal is applied to channel #4 of V3 which in fact is the eighth channel of the DRS4-chip. In contrast, VC3-failures in the X742 are much greater. VC3 is included in the CAEN-VC and fails with a relativity high probability as shown in fig. 3.18(b). The high amount of VC3-failures is represented by the increased RMS-noise^{III} of all involved DRS4-channels. This is caused by the fact that the CAEN-VC only applies the VC3 if a spike is globally detected in all channels of the DRS4. Since spikes are not detectable anymore if located inside steep edges, the oscillating signal in fig. 3.18(b) will cause a high VC3-failure rate.

Fast oscillating signals with steep edges can also be applied to synchronize multiple DRS4-chips as shown in fig. 3.33. One should consequently share all ninth channels of the DRS4-chips for the synchronization to minimize the before mentioned crosstalk as it is provided in the X742. This so-called "fast trigger" of the X742 is also the only triggerable channel. Additionally, all DRS4-based boards are equipped with a global trigger. The maximum acquisition rate of the PSI boards (V3 & V5) lies around 500/s when all 4 channels are acquired. This acquisition rate is comparable to standard oscilloscopes with 4 channels, like the investigated S5 or the S20 (discussed in section 4.5). The maximum acquisition rate for the X742 increases compared to the V3 by a factor of three combined with a doubling of the digitized channels (8 channels). This is caused by two factors. First, a 50% faster running multichannel ADC from CAEN where each DRS4-channel gets an exclusive ADC-channel. Second, the USB2.0 cable is only used for the data transfer in the X742 case, whereas in the V3 case the power must be provided additionally. If the USB2.0 cable is replaced with the Optical Fiber cable one can further increase the maximum acquisition rate to around 6000/s (8 channels). However, the global trigger of the X742 has a delay of 260 ns, which makes it useless for an f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS

^{III}The RMS value is used instead of the typical Gaussian fit in fig. 3.18(b) to identify the VC3failures. Therefore, one is more sensitive to outliers and thus one can see that the CAEN spike correction fails permanently. The symmetrical spike problem (VC3) is described in section 2.3.3 and the VC3 algorithm from CAEN is described in section 2.3.7.

 $(T_{SCA}=200 \text{ ns})$. Thus, only the fast trigger (delay around 30 ns) can be used for the X742 which limits the amount of usable channels to 16 for the highest sampling speed of 5 GSPS. For the other two sampling speeds of the X742 (1 GSPS & 2 GSPS) all 32 channels can be used in parallel.

The V3 can trigger on a single channel of the four channels (only channel #1) or on the before mentioned global trigger. The V5, which is an improved version of the V3, offers an adjustable trigger logic that includes all four channels. Also the time resolution improves from around $45 \,\mathrm{ps}$ for the V3 to $3 \,\mathrm{ps}$ for the V5 (row #4vs. row #14 in table 3.12). This improvement resulted by replacing the previous TC-method and its dedicated TC-signal. Thus, a time resolution of 3 ps can be achieved with the V3 if the correct TC tables are applied (row #10 in table 3.12). This is also the case for the X742 where the original time resolution is around 25 ps (row #7 vs. row #13 in table 3.12). Further, the measured T_{SCA} of the V3 differs from the expected value by more than $20 \,\mathrm{ps} \,(>0.01\,\%)$ as illustrated in table 3.6. Although, this V3 error does not sound large, correct delays cannot be measured because it is a systematic error. Thus, the measured delay with the V3 (V3-TC) will be longer than expected. One example is demonstrated in fig. 3.27(a&b) where this delay error is reproduced. This is especially problematic for accurate frequency measurements or physics experiments where high precision is required. The X742 does not show the mentioned delay error and runs at the expected f_{SCA} . This is accomplished by a more expensive clock which is also temperature stabilized.

Based on the V3-results in this work, the original clock which regulates the f_{SCA} was replaced for the V5 to guarantee the expected f_{SCA} . The V5-board finally runs at the correct f_{SCA} which is compared to the measured f_{SCA} of the V3 an offset of 0.013%. This replacement was not necessary, because the true f_{SCA} becomes available with the NEW-TC. It was found for the V3, apart from the f_{SCA} offset of 0.013%, that the measured f_{SCA} remains constant over a wide temperature range as shown in fig. 3.29. Thus, the V3 provides the same performance as the V5 if the two-state-effect is controlled. The drawback in this case is that one channel is needed as a reference channel and effectively only three channels are left for measurements. If a time resolution of around 5 ps is acceptable (see fig. 3.29(a & b) for details) all four

channels can be used for the V3 under the condition that the NEW-TC is applied together with an external TC-signal. Thus, all older versions of the DRS4 Evaluation Board (e.g. V3) can be upgraded when following the description in section 2.2.9. The results in fig. 3.24(c & d) prove that its internal 66 MHz clock^{IV} can be utilized as an external TC-signal.

Compared to the just mentioned upgrade, a more expensive upgrade was made on the V5. In the V5 a third clock consisting of a 100 MHz sine wave with a low time jitter has been integrated. The clock provides the TC-signal which is required for the V5-TC. The V5-TC is a modification of one possible NEW-TC combination extracted from this thesis. The mentioned 100 MHz of the V5 is not the optimal f_{TC} for all sampling speeds but it results in a decent TC-outcome for an f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS. The V5-TC results in a similar SP-test outcome compared to the NEW-TC as shown in table 3.12 (row #14 vs. row #10). The optimal f_{TC} is available when utilizing (2.26). In contrast, the provided f_{TC} of 240 MHz from the V3, which was originally utilized for the V3-TC, has a time jitter greater than 100 ps. This is the main reason why the CAEN-TC looks superior compared to the V3-TC although a similar principle is used to calibrate the boards from PSI or CAEN. Notice that the old principle (V3-TC or CAEN-TC) is inferior to the full performance of the DRS4 which becomes available by a correctly applied NEW-TC.

When taking a closer look at the provided VC-methods, the V3 and therefore the V5 work satisfactorily. In contrast, the X742 offers a lot of potential for improvement in this respect (e.g. the previously mentioned VC3-problem). Fig. 3.18(a) proves that the baseline offset has little fluctuation when histogramming all SPs of 1000 waveforms together, because the resulting baseline offset is around 0.5 mV (σ), regardless of the VC-method. The baseline offset also has a maximum spread of 10 mV as shown in fig. 3.19(a). If the correct VC-methods combined with the NEW-TC are applied to the X742, a superior performance is achieved compared to the V5 as shown in table 3.13 (row #18 vs. row #20). A deeper VC-discussion concerning all DRS4-based boards is provided in section 4.2.

 $^{^{\}rm IV}{\rm It}$ is found in this work that the clock frequency is in fact 66.002 MHz for the V3. However, one will find the true clock frequency when calibrating as shown in fig. 3.24(d)

To date all physics experiments that utilize multiple DRS4-chips including the X742 invested a lot of effort in synchronizing the DRS4-chips. The three main hardware simplification achievements of this work are: First, that DRS4-chips do not have to be synchronized to each other. Second, they do not need a global f_{SCA} as long as a reference clock is digitized in one of the nine channels (see section 4.7). The reference clock can also be used as the TC-signal. And third, the clock-temperature that drives the DRS4 is less important compared to the DRS4-temperature. If the DRS4-temperature does not differ more than $\pm 5 \,^{\circ}$ C from the calibration temperature and a 5 ps time resolution is sufficient, the NEW-TC must be applied only a single time and stays valid for more than 3 years as tested in this thesis. A deeper discussion that addresses all investigated and developed TC-methods is provided in section 4.3. All provided numbers in this section relate to an f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS. The other sampling speeds are discussed in section 4.4.

4.2 DRS4 Comparison of all VC-Methods

The NEW-VC which is developed in this thesis provides the VC1 and the VC2 in one step. The NEW-VC shows no measurable improvement compared to the V3-VC from PSI when utilized to the V3 as illustrated in table 3.13(row #12 vs. row #14). This is because both methods are applied to channel #4. A degradation is expected for channel #1, because the VC2 is only needed for channel #1. Since channel #1 is used for the two-state-effect information, no analog signal can be applied and is therefore unavailable for measurements when utilizing the V3. Because of this work PSI was able to solve the two-state-effect challenge, which is realized in the V5 board. Therefore, channel #1 of the V5 is available for a comparison between the NEW-VC and the V3-VC (the V3-VC is identical to the V5-VC). The NEW-VC shows a slightly (0.01 mV) better performance as illustrated in row #17 and row #18 of table 3.13. Summarized, the V3-VC, the V5-VC and the NEW-VC result in a reliable VC1 and VC2 with a typical baseline noise of around 0.37 mV (σ). The mentioned 0.37 mV (σ) are only achievable if no external cables are connected to the PSI boards. In contrast, the CAEN-VC applied to the V1742 results in a baseline noise greater than 1 mV (RMS) as shown in fig. 3.17(a). Additionally, one can also estimate with fig. 3.17(b) that the baseline noise of 500 SPs (first 100 ns) is roughly 0.7 mV (RMS). Fig. 3.18(c&d) proves what is indicated in the example from fig. 3.17(b), which is that the first 500 SPs have a lower baseline noise compared to all 1024 SPs. The relative high V1742 baseline noise of 1 mV (RMS) is partly caused by the VC-method (CAEN-VC), but mainly depends on the V1742 trigger rate and f_{SCA} . Lowering both factors results in baseline noises of around 0.4 mV (σ) as shown fig. 3.18(c). Lowering only the trigger rate but running the V1742 at the highest f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS, results in around 0.45 mV (σ). Thus, the main noise source is a high trigger rate for the V1742. The DT5742 measurement is less sensitive to the trigger rate which is related to the reduced data transfer speed, caused by the utilized USB2.0 connection. All measurements with the V1742 have been performed with the (faster) optical fiber connection. Summarized, the DT5742 & V1742 baselines look identical when running the V1742 at low trigger rates.

When applying the NEW-VC instead of the CAEN-VC to the X742, the baseline noise improves and is comparable to the baseline noise of the V3. The VC5 algorithm is missing in the CAEN-VC and thus for all X742 boards. The time resolution limit, that can be achieved when combining the CAEN-VC with the NEW-TC, is around 5 ps (σ) as summarized in row #13 of table 3.12. If NO-VC is applied to the X742, the time resolution is larger than 50 ps (σ) independent of the applied TC-method as listed in row #21 of table 3.13. Thus, VC1 which is the only reliable correction of the CAEN-VC is mandatory for all DRS4-chips. The best possible time resolution for the V1742 lies below 3 ps (σ), which is also the best DRS4-result among all DRS4based boards. In this case the utilized calibration methods are the NEW-TC and the NEW-VC combined with the VC5 as summarized in row #20 of table 3.13. The investigated and re-calibrated V1742 exhibits a SCA-based board with 32 channels and a time resolution across all channels better than 3 ps (σ), independent of the measured signal delays. Other readout electronics with comparable performance are based on flash ADCs and therefore several orders of magnitude higher with respect to costs and power consumption. For comparison reasons a 2-points linear interpolation is used to achieve the mentioned time resolution of 3 ps. Time resolutions below 1 ps (σ) become available with the DRS4 when more sophisticated analyzing techniques are applied, like the cross-correlation method. Details are found in section 4.7.

4.3 DRS4 Comparison of all TC-Methods

The comparison of the TC-methods was made with an f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS which corresponds to sampling intervals of 200 ps ($\Delta \bar{t}_b = 200 \text{ ps}$). This comparison discusses exclusively the results of the P-tests. The P-test measures the fluctuation of an applied sine wave period for the individual TC-methods (details in section 2.5.1). Other sampling speeds are discussed in section 4.4.

When considering equidistant sampling intervals (NO-TC $\Rightarrow \Delta \bar{t}_b = 200 \pm 0 \,\mathrm{ps}$), time resolutions between 100-700 ps are measured as shown in fig. 3.2. The worst results are achieved for delays around 100 ns. This result is explained by the fact that $100 \,\mathrm{ns}$ is half of the T_{SCA} which predicts the highest variety of measured delays for a true delay of 100 ns. Although the huge timing error of NO-TC was understood, the V3-TC results in almost equidistant sampling intervals $(\Delta \bar{t}_b = 200 \pm 3 \,\mathrm{ps})$. Nevertheless, the small modification of σ from 0 ps to 3 ps already improves the DRS4 in the V3 board to a randomly fluctuating time resolution between $35-50 \,\mathrm{ps}$ as illustrated in fig. 3.3. Instead of this fluctuating time resolution, a constant time resolution is expected when variating the delay. Also, most timing histograms do not correspond to a Gaussian distribution like in fig. 3.3(c). The CAEN-TC provides improved timing histograms and also results in a better time resolution between 21-32 ps. However, similar to the V3-TC, the resolution results of the CAEN-TC are randomly fluctuating depending on the delay and both methods provide the same TC table consisting of $\Delta \bar{t}_b = 200 \pm 3 \, \text{ps.}$ Consequently, this indicates that both methods utilize a similar algorithm. The SP-test in fig. 3.4(b) and fig. 3.21 returns the initial frequencies of the f_{TC} for both methods, which is 50 MHz for CAEN-TC and 60 MHz for the V3-TC. This is another indication that a similar algorithm is used for both methods and additionally that both TC outcomes are over-trained. Since the CAEN-TC performs better compared to the V3-TC, although both applied algorithms seem to be identical, the reason must be hardware related. The three hardware differences will be addressed in decreasing significance. First, the internal FPGA-based 240 MHz clock which was originally utilized for the V3-TC has a time jitter around 120 ps. Also, its corresponding P-test distribution (1st period or delay $\approx 4.17 \text{ ns}$) is not Gaussian. The shape is quasi Gaussian with a 20-30 ps shifted peak and a spread of more than 200 ps. Second, as already mentioned in section 4.1 the true f_{SCA} differs from the expected f_{SCA} of around 0.01%. And third, the twostate-effect which is shown in fig. 3.1. It is caused by a 2.5 MHz digital signal on the *Printed Circuit Board* (PCB) trace close to the DRS4 chip. It induces a PLL instability inside the DRS4 which leads to two distinguishable alternating sampling speeds. A redesign of the PCB by PSI fixed the three mentioned problems and resulted in the V5.

Following are the two software reasons why the old algorithms (CAEN-TC & V3-TC) result in inferior time resolution compared to the NEW-TCs. First, in reality the $\Delta \bar{t}_b$ follows 200±74 ps and not ±3 ps as predicted by CAEN-TC & V3-TC. The huge standard deviation value of 74 ps is caused by an alternating behavior of the Δt_b (see table 3.9). One can visualize the alternating behavior with a digitized sine wave applied to X742 (CAEN-TC) where equidistant 200 ps sampling points are computed. Although the x-axis is kept equidistant, the SPs in fig. 3.16 do not show an equidistant behavior. Instead an alternating behavior is indicated which proves that the cell positions are not corrected in time due to the wrong TC algorithm. Summarized, both the CAEN-TC and the V3-TC correct the Integral Nonlinearity (INL) relatively well but completely fail for the DNL as illustrated in fig. 3.28. Second, all nine DRS4-channels have to be calibrated individually in time. A single channel calibration applied to the other channels limits the time resolution to around 13 ps. Proof is available in fig. 3.24(e) or table 3.13(row #13) $- \operatorname{row} \# 16$). Both mentioned software reasons applied improve the time solution to around 3 ps (σ). This is a factor of 15 compared to the V3-TC.

All developed NEW-TCs (LTC, GTC or FTC) or dedicated combinations of the NEW-TCs will result in a time resolution around the mentioned region of 3 ps as summarized in table 3.7. However, there are minor differences which will be discussed further in this section. The LTC+3GTC is chosen as a reference TC-method. The LTC+3GTC is an algorithm that calibrates the DRS4 very robust and fast if the right parameters are chosen. The theoretical background of the LTC+3GTC is provided in section 2.2.7 and its convincing performance is demonstrated in fig. 3.24, fig. 3.25(a), fig. 3.26 and fig. 3.29. A time resolution of around 3 ps was achieved in all examples for the 100 MHz P-test.

However, the most reliable and best applicable NEW-TC is the FTC. It also provides the best performance in terms of time resolution as a result of the higher amount of statistics compared to the other NEW-TCs. In contrast, the FTC requires expensive hardware to produce the different TC frequencies and the C-code is tedious to reproduce. All utilized FTCs in this work always result in the same TC outcome because the system of linear equations is solved analytically. It should be noticed that more than three years passed between the day that the FTC frequencies are digitized and the day that the control frequency (100 MHz) is digitized for the P-test. One should also notice that all waveforms are accepted for the FTC algorithm because the two-state-effect separation is not available. The 100 MHz LTC+3GTC works best for the 100 MHz P-test as shown in fig. 3.26(c). This outcome is predictable since the same waveforms are used for the P-test and the TC-method. Thus, it is possible that the LTC+3GTC outcome is over-trained for multiples of 10 ns. Other explanations are given further down where a similar case is discussed (217 MHz LTC+3GTC @ 100 MHz P-test). One can further see in fig. 3.26(c) that fewer FTC frequencies result in a worse performance for the P-test. The performance drop from 11 to 4 frequencies is disproportional compared to the drop from 43 to 11 frequencies. The drop difference is predictable because the DNL of the digitization produces more corrupt measurements that cannot be compensated with statistics. However, the best FTC performances are achieved with 43 frequencies. The performance with more voltage levels is slightly better. This can be explained because more statistic is available for the 101-levels-case compared to the one-level-case. When looking at the 11 frequencies FTC, more voltage levels will result in disproportionately better TC performance. The explanation cannot be found in fig. 3.26(c), but is indicated in fig. 3.26(d). The 11 frequencies FTC with

101 levels shows a falling offset curve. This behavior is identical to fig. 3.29(b) where the two-state-effect causes a different sampling speed. Thus, the system of linear equations (11 frequencies FTC with 101 levels) is solved for the sampling speed of the right state. In other words, depending on the starting conditions of the FTC, the same (correct) sampling speed will always result, which are two candidates in case of the V3. For the given FTC examples in fig. 3.26(c & d), the right state TC is computed only once and in the other cases the left state TC. Thus, a superposition of both states was never computed. This is even more impressive considering the fact that the two-state-effect was not actively rejected for the FTC. One should also mention that the f_{SCA} of the DRS4 stays constant over time as illustrated in the three years younger 100 MHz P-test (left state). When applying the LTC+3GTC to the old dataset of two FTC frequencies (217 MHz & 239 MHz), the FTC performs slightly better in all cases. Interestingly, the time resolution in fig. 3.26(e) results in two distinguishable oscillating curves which depend on the P-test frequency. The oscillating curves are caused by the imperfection of the signal generator which utilizes an internal clock with a given time jitter to generate the TC sine wave signals. When taking a closer look at identical looking oscillating curve shapes in fig. 3.26(e), for example the 239 MHz P-test, the 43 frequencies FTC results in a slightly better time resolution compared to the 217 MHz LTC+3GTC. The 100 MHz LTC+3GTC also provides the mentioned curve shapes but results in inferior performance with regards to offset and timing compared to all other methods. Its performance degradation can be addressed by four reasons. First, a 100 MHz sine provides less statistics for the TC compared to the 217 MHz sine. This argument becomes clearer when looking at the simulation in fig. 2.11(a). One can see that a single waveform has around five times more GTC corrections (217 MHz vs. 100 MHz) because of the increased amount of available $\Delta t_{a,b}$ $(n_{\rm all})$. Second, when analyzing (1.17) one can predict that the time resolution for a single linear interpolation is better for a faster TC frequency. In this particular 5.12 GSPS case, one can predict based on fig. 2.11(d)that the expected time resolution improvement for the 217 MHz interpolation is approximately double compared to the 100 MHz interpolation. Four measurements are

necessary to achieve a 2 times better SNR^V. Thus, the theoretical available $\Delta t_{a,b}$ increases when including the first reason to a factor of 20 for an f_{TC} -change from 100 MHz to 217 MHz. Third, the DRS4 temperature was not recorded three years ago so the board temperatures could have shifted. The effect of the DRS4 temperature is discussed in section 4.4. Fourth, the two-state-effect is not correctable for the 3 years old dataset. The above mentioned reason (100 MHz LTC+3GTC @ 100 MHz P-test), where an over-training is named as a possible explanation for the superior performance of the LTC+3GTC compared to the FTC is invalidated with the results in fig. 3.26(e). This is because both TC frequencies (217 MHz & 239 MHz) result in reduced performance compared to the FTC is the best TC-method among all NEW-TCs.

The LTC+3GTC combines two NEW-TCs, the LTC and the GTC. Both can also be applied successfully as standalone methods if the correct modifications are used. Two requirements are mandatory for a reliable standalone LTC which are a low f_{TC} and the correct f_{SCA} information. If the wrong f_{SCA} is used, as it was the case for the V3, a systematic delay error results as illustrated in fig. 3.26(b). The other requirement of a low f_{TC} is demonstrated by increasing the f_{TC} in fig. 3.26(a). One can see that the lowest f_{TC} (30 MHz) results in the best TC outcome among the standalone LTCs. This is caused by two factors. First, the individual DRS4 cells have different bandwidths. One can extract two bandwidth regions which are distributed along the 1024 DRS4 cells as visualized in fig. 3.27(a). Second, the linear interpolation fails for sine waves with a high f_{TC} . It results in systematic errors as simulated in fig. 2.11(f) and demonstrated for an $f_{TC}=239$ MHz in fig. 3.27(c & d). Summarized, a standalone LTC can reach comparable results to that of the LTC+3GTC. The performance will be sightly reduced but the computing time is faster (see table 3.7).

The standalone GTC needs around 2 minutes (see table 3.7) to perform an accurate TC. Both algorithms (GTC and V3-TC) function similarly when looking at the C-code of the V3-TC from PSI. One could argue that the V3-TC which is

^VIdentical to the illustrated fraction in (1.17), the SNR in this work is calculated by dividing the absolute amplitude by the σ of the baseline noise.

applied for a few seconds performs equally if the computing time is also increased to 2 minutes. But this is not the case. What clearly separates the developed GTC from the V3-TC is that the GTC only corrects the Δt_b inside the measured period, whereas the V3-TC corrects all Δt_b each time a period is measured. Thus, it does not allow the f_{SCA} to be changed during the calibration process, which is mandatory for a successful TC. Even if the true f_{SCA} is known, the f_{SCA} must fluctuate continuously hundreds of ps during the calibration process making corrections and finally arriving at the expected f_{SCA} . If the expected f_{SCA} is not recovered, the GTC fails. In the V3 case the GTC only seemed to fail but instead the true f_{SCA} became available because of the GTC (see table 3.6). However, it is tedious to apply the standalone GTC for three reasons. First, a successful standalone GTC outcome requires the longest computing time. Second, if a too long a computing time is chosen and no abort-routine is implemented the TC outcome will be overtrained as illustrated in fig. 3.25. Particularly fig. 3.25(c) shows the TC frequency of 100 MHz as a systematical error inside the TC outcome. Third, a negative Δt_b can only be measured if error-prone GTC settings are chosen as shown in fig. 3.25(d). The three mentioned reasons can be ignored if the GTC is combined with the LTC (e.g. LTC+3GTC, details in section 2.2.7). What cannot be ignored is the f_{SCA} fluctuation when applying the GTC multiple times as visualized in fig. 3.27(f). The mentioned fluctuation of the DRS4 causes a linearly increasing error which is dependent on the measured delay. This behavior is clearly visible in all P-tests. For example in fig. 3.24(a) the time resolution for almost no delays is 3 ps but increases to around 5 ps for the maximum delay. Thus, the DRS4 fluctuation is 4 ps $(\sqrt{5^2 - 3^2})$ for an $f_{SCA} = 5$ GSPS. An explanation for the DRS4 fluctuation is given by Stricker-Shaver et al [31]. The DRS4 fluctuation for other sampling speeds is covered in section 4.4.

Summarized, the LTC+3GTC provides the best compromise with respect to required TC hardware, TC performance, computing time and reproducibility. PSI adopted one combination of the NEW-TCs, the V5-TC, which performs equally compared to the NEW-TCs for the tested f_{SCA} of 5.12 GSPS (see section 4.5). The theoretical DRS4 performance is accomplished at last with all NEW-TCs and enables a time resolution below 1 ps. A deeper discussion concerning the 1 ps measurement is provided in section 4.7.

4.4 DRS4 Performance for Different Parameters

Discussed in this section are five DRS4 parameters separated by paragraphs. The following five parameters are the DRS4 fluctuation, the alternating Δt_b behavior, the channel dependent TC, the two-state-effect and the DRS4 temperature behavior of the V3 for different sampling frequencies. The three addressed sampling frequencies are 5 GSPS, 2 GSPS and 1 GSPS.

First, as mentioned in the previous section 4.3 the time resolution decreases linearly to around $2 \text{ ps}/100 \text{ ns} (\sigma)$ at 5 GSPS due to the f_{SCA} fluctuation of the DRS4. The same effect is illustrated for other sampling speeds in table 4.2. One can see that the time resolution degradation versus a fix delay worsens proportionally with the inverse of the f_{SCA} .

Table 4.2: Listed is the measured linearly decreasing time resolution (σ loss) of three f_{SCA} for the DRS4-chip. Used are two delay points from the 100 MHz P-test, the shortest (best σ) and the longest delay (worst σ).

f_{SCA}	best σ	worst σ	σ loss	source
$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 3\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 5\mathrm{ps}$	$\frac{\approx 2\mathrm{ps}}{100\mathrm{ns}}$	fig. 3.24(a)
$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 5\mathrm{ps}$	$\approx 30\mathrm{ps}$	$\frac{\approx 6 \mathrm{ps}}{100 \mathrm{ns}}$	fig. 3.31(a)
$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx \! 20 \mathrm{ps}$	${\approx}130\mathrm{ps}$	$\frac{\approx 13\mathrm{ps}}{100\mathrm{ns}}$	fig. $3.32(a)$

Second, the DRS4 shows an alternating behavior as presented in table 3.8. One can predict for a high f_{SCA} of 5 GSPS the behavior as 270 ps for even Δt_b and 130 ps for odd Δt_b with a σ around 23 ps. When taking a closer look at the Δt_b distribution in fig. 3.25(d), the Δt_b behavior is further separable in a first and a second half, whereas the second half shows a stronger separation and alternates between 280 ps and 120 ps. The first half alternates between 260 ps and 140 ps. With the separation in four alternating regions, the σ decreases to around 17 ps for a region. Also visible in table 3.9 is that σ increases when increasing the f_{SCA} . Additionally, at 1 GSPS the alternating behavior is almost equidistant due to is relativity high σ of around 230 ps. Summarized, the developers of the DRS4 expected a one order of magnitude lower Δt_b behavior compared to the true Δt_b behavior (see table 3.9). Also mentionable are the extrema of the Δt_b which spread from a negative value up to a doubling of the expected sampling interval. A negative Δt_b means that a signal will arrive earlier in the following SP compared to the momentary SP. Only Δt_{499} can be negative and ranges between -20 ps and 50 ps at 5.12 GSPS. This number results from the experience of around 30 calibrated DRS4-chips. The other extrema are summarized in table 3.8 and table 3.9.

Third, the time resolution degrades in all f_{SCA} cases if a channel-dependent TC is not performed. Examples are shown in fig. 3.30 and fig. 3.24(e). When comparing fig. 3.30(b) with fig. 3.24(e), a slow f_{SCA} seems to have less degradation compared to a fast f_{SCA} . In fact, when applying (1.14) one will calculate consistently a 13 ps (σ) degradation for all three f_{SCA} cases independent of the delay.

Fourth, the two-state-effect results in two distinguishable sampling speeds for all three preset f_{SCA} . The examples in fig. 3.29(b & f), fig. 3.31(b) and fig. 3.32(b) confirm the offset results in table 3.6 (column "State Offset"). In particular, the TC of the right state causes a negative offset trend when applied to waveforms that origin from the left state. The offset behaviors in fig. 3.29(b) indicate that waveforms from the left state are digitized with a faster sampling speed compared to waveforms from the right state. The time resolution also degrades if the wrong state is used for the TC for all three f_{SCA} . It degrades especially for delays around $\frac{T_{SCA}}{2}$ when compared to the expected time resolution as illustrated in fig. 3.29(a & e), fig. 3.31(a) and fig. 3.32(a).

Fifth, DRS4-temperature changes can have a big impact on the time resolution behavior as shown in fig. 3.29(e), fig. 3.31(a) and fig. 3.32(a). Shown is a time resolution spread from 4 ps to 20 ps at 5 GSPS for extreme temperature jumps. The biggest impact on the degradation for all f_{SCA} happens for delays around $\frac{T_{SCA}}{2}$ which is similar to the before mentioned two-state-effect. Therefore, the two-state-effect combined with a huge temperature jump further degrades the time resolution as illustrated in fig. 3.29(e). The impact on the time resolution is negligible if the temperature fluctuates 1-2 °C as demonstrated in fig. 3.29(c). Temperature jumps have no measurable effect on the f_{SCA} . The influence of temperature changes for certain $\Delta t_{a,b}$ are illustrated fig. 3.29(d). One can see that some $\Delta t_{a,b}$, like $\Delta t_{1,100}$, drift dramatically in time when the DRS4-temperature is changing. However, when adding individual $\Delta t_{a,b}$ together to receive a full DRS4 rotation ($\Delta t_{700,200} + \Delta t_{200,700}$), no time drift is measurable which proves that the preset f_{SCA} is stable over a wide temperature range.

4.5 DRS4 vs. Other Readout Electronics

This section mainly discusses table 3.12 where the results of the same SP-test applied to all introduced readout electronics are summarized. A two-point LED is used for digital devices which provides an easy comparison to an analog LED. Further, a similar dynamic range of around 1 V peak-to-peak is utilized across all devices.

Naturally, at the beginning of this work, the DRS4 (V3 or X742) was compared with an available oscilloscope which was the S5. Both DRS4-based boards provide a higher acquisition rate than the S5 because the S5 requires a long preprocessing time and thus the ADC-based S5 shows no speed advantage. Advantageous for the S5 is the build-in amplifier which enables the user to operate in a chosen dynamic range. On the other hand the V3 is one order of magnitude less expensive compared to the oscilloscope, less bulky and easily fits inside a pocket. However, both oscilloscopes (S5 or S20) showed higher baseline noises independent of the amplifier settings compared to the DRS4 noise which is less than $0.4 \,\mathrm{mV}$. Since the DRS4 offers 12 bits and the S5 only 8 bits, only signals greater than 1 V can take advantage of the buildin amplifier. The V3 cannot be utilized when working with slow signals because it only ranges from 0.7 GSPS to 5 GSPS. A comparison between the X742 and the S5 when running both at the fastest sampling speed of 5 GSPS results in an equal time resolution as shown in row #7 vs. row #18. This is a surprising outcome since the bit-resolution is far worse for the S5 (8 bit vs. 12 bit). Twice as surprising is the comparison between the V3 and the S5 which degrades the DRS4-results further to a factor of 2 (row #4 vs. row #18). When looking in table 3.13 where the measured time resolution (7th column) is compared to the theoretical time resolution (8th column), the expected DRS4-performance is achieved once the correct DRS4-calibrations (NEW-TC) are applied ^{VI}.

The DRS4 in combination with the NEW-TC will be used exclusively as reference in the remaining section. The V5-TC which is an extraction of the NEW-TC performs similarly for the V5 according to table 3.12. A better comparison in table 3.13(row #17 vs. row #18) reveals the best time resolution accomplished with the NEW-TC. The improvements are minor and thus the V5 performance is also very satisfactory for fast sampling speeds. The chosen f_{TC} of 100 MHz in the V5 cannot calibrate accurately all sampling speeds (0.7 GSPS to 5 GSPS) as reproducible with (2.26). Considering this, an f_{TC} of around 70 MHz would have been the most flexible. In general an f_{TC} of $\frac{1}{20} \cdot f_{SCA}$ is the easiest to implement when utilizing the NEW-TC. Thus, an f_{TC} of around 35 MHz for 0.7 GSPS.

Last, the DRS4 is compared to analog readout electronics. The results are available in table 3.15. In some of these measurements the DRS4 is utilized together with the investigated analog devices and therefore the DRS4 error is subtracted afterwards. The resulting performance table 3.12(row #19 - row #22) shows that the DRS4 (3 ps) is superior compared to the NIM-LED (4 ps) and the NIM-CFD (6 ps). However, these devices are usually used in combination with a secondary timing device, like a TDCs or the NIM-TAC. The best achievable NIM-TAC performance is around 11 ps when using a 14 bit ADC. This result shows that a digital solution, like the DRS4, provides a lot of opportunities for improving signal processing and performs even better than the well-established analog solutions.

4.6 Time Resolution Prediction for the P-Test

The P-test is the key method for evaluating the SCA technology. The three possibilities to apply the P-test are described in section 2.5.1.

The 1st possibility can only test one specific delay very accurately and should

 $^{$^{\}rm VI}A$$ detailed discussion of precisely predicting the DRS4 time resolution can be found in section 4.6

always result in a Gaussian histogram. Its results are included in the 2nd possibility of the P-test which is discussed later. The 1st possibility is rarely used in this work and then mostly if the measured distribution is not Gaussian in nature. This is generally the case when measuring with wrongly calibrated DRS4 like in fig. 3.3.

The 2nd possibility has 5 features which have been applied continuously in this work. First, this P-test provides fast and easy feedback of how efficient a TC-method works. Second, it offers comparison capabilities between individual TC-methods. Third, one can directly measure a frequency offset and thus it provides the true frequency, e.g. the f_{SCA} or the f_{TC} . Fourth, one can evaluate the time resolution of individual readout electronics. Fifth, one can roughly predict the time resolution of any analog signal (at a given delay) in combination with any readout electronics, for example the DRS4. A simplified approach is already published by Stricker-Shaver et al[31] speculating that the DRS4 time resolution is degrading inversely with the sampling frequency. However, the results of the different P-test scenarios led to a better prediction. It has already been partially summarized in table 4.2 and will be further demonstrated in the following lines.

The time resolution of the P-test is dependent on six error sources which can be unfolded with (1.14). The 1st error refers to the quality of the TC-method. All NEW-TCs, especially the FTC, provide errors close to 0 ps (σ) if applied correctly. An example is available in fig. 3.24(c), where a better TC outcome is provided by the f_{TC} =100 MHz compared to the f_{TC} =66 MHz. This is caused by the statistical limitations of the 66 MHz clock which is synchronized to the DRS4-chip and therefore results in a decreased NEW-TC outcome. The 2nd error arises from the f_{SCA} inconstancy as described in table 4.2. One can see that the DRS4 fluctuates around ± 2 ps for an f_{SCA} of 5.12 GHz. When analyzing fig. 3.24(c) one can also calculate this 2nd error independently from the 4 illustrated curves. The 2nd error is a linear function of the delay and always results in an error increase of around 2 ps/100 ns. The first two described errors are only of relevance for an SCA whereas the 3rd and all following errors also cover digital readout electronics. The 3rd error is caused by the time jitter of two adjacent cells of an SCA. For ADCs, the 3rd error is the time jitter of a single cell which samples continuously. Specifically, the opening time and
the closing time of a cell that in turn will collect charge must happen exactly at the same time points compared to previous charge collections. The design of the DRS4-chip is optimized for a fast f_{SCA} , therefore the last two decribed errors grow when lowering the sampling speed. In table 4.3 one can find both errors which have been calculated with the results in section 3.3.1 and section 3.3.2. The 4th error

Table 4.3: Listed is the linearly decreasing time resolution (2^{nd} error) of three f_{SCA} for the DRS4-chip. Additionally listed is the 3^{rd} error which represents a permanent error for the time resolution.

f_{SCA}	2 nd error	3 rd error	source
$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	$pprox 2\mathrm{ps}/100\mathrm{ns}$	$\approx 1\mathrm{ps}$	fig. 3.24(a)
$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\thickapprox 6\mathrm{ps}/100\mathrm{ns}$	$\approx 4\mathrm{ps}$	fig. 3.31(a)
$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 13\mathrm{ps}/100\mathrm{ns}$	${\approx}15\mathrm{ps}$	fig. 3.32(a)

describes the combination of all voltage fluctuations. It is typically given as baseline noise of the system and 0.37 mV for the DRS4-chip. Note that a baseline noise will increase the moment an input signal is connected. The 5th error is dependent on the analyzing method (e.g digital LED or cross-correlation) utilized. For example a basic 2-points digital LED can be described by (1.17). Not considered in (1.17) is the δ_{lin} caused by sine waves without perfect linear behaving edges. δ_{lin} increases with longer sampling intervals and is simulated in fig. 2.11(e & f). Note that the δ_{lin} represents a maximum error. The five previously introduced errors are standard deviations (σ). The 6th error which is also described by σ is correlated to the mentioned δ_{lin} . A significant 6th error is expected for a 100 MHz P-test with an f_{SCA} of $1 \text{ GSPS} (\Delta t_b \in [0.2 \text{ ns}, 1.8 \text{ ns}])$ because the plotted rise times fluctuate around 20% as shown in fig. 2.11(c). For this reason the 6th error is experimentally measured for an f_{SCA} of 1 GSPS in fig. 3.32(a) where the 30 MHz P-test provides an approximately 13 ps better time resolution compared to the 100 MHz P-test (explanation follows). Without the 6th error one would expect the opposite outcome similar to fig. 3.31(a) where the 100 MHz P-test performs better than the 30 MHz P-test. After this introduction an example to predict the P-test outcome is given in the following lines.

The 1st error can be excluded because the error caused by the NEW-TC is negligible. The 6th error can be excluded if a slow P-test frequency like 30 MHz is considered. A 30 MHz sine wave is linearly rising around $9.4 \,\mathrm{mV}/100 \,\mathrm{ps}$ as shown in fig. 2.11(d). The remaining four errors are linked together and can be separated in two error pairs. First, when considering a 2-points LED the problem becomes describable with (1.17). In this case the σ_u in (1.17) is the 4th error representing the baseline noise. The σ_u of the DRS4-chip is expected to be around 0.37 mV. From the measurements a σ_u of 0.5 mV is more realistic which includes the noise of the signal. The error from the 2-points LED must be doubled for the P-test because a delay between two edges is calculated. With the just introduced numbers and (1.17) one can predict the 5th error which includes the 4th error. The resulting LED outcome is around 7.5 ps (= $\frac{0.5 \text{ mV}}{9.4 \text{ mV}} \cdot 100 \text{ ps} \cdot \sqrt{2}$). Second, this LED prediction is further processed to predict the time resolution of the P-test by adding both DRS4 errors from table 4.3. Thus a delay of $170 \,\mathrm{ns}$ at $5 \,\mathrm{GSPS}$ results in $\sqrt{(1 \text{ ps} + 170 \text{ ns} \cdot 2 \text{ ps}/100 \text{ ns})^2 + (7.5 \text{ ps})^2} \approx 9 \text{ ps}$ which is exactly the measurement outcome in fig. 3.24(a). More P-test predictions are compared to its P-test results in table 4.4. One can see that most predictions do not differ more than 1 ps from the

Table 4.4: Listed are two P-tests (30 MHz & 100 MHz) of three f_{SCA} for the DRS4-chip.The theoretical standard deviation is additionally illustrated in brackets.

P-test frequency	f_{SCA}	delay $\approx 30 \mathrm{ns}$	delay $\approx 170 \mathrm{ns}$	source
$30\mathrm{MHz}$	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 8 \mathrm{ps}[8]$	$\approx 9 \mathrm{ps}[9]$	fig. 3.24(a)
$30\mathrm{MHz}$	$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 10 \mathrm{ps}[10]$	$\approx 17 \mathrm{ps}[16]$	fig. 3.31(a)
$30\mathrm{MHz}$	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 21 \mathrm{ps}[20]$	$\approx 37 \mathrm{ps}[38]$	fig. 3.32(a)
$100\mathrm{MHz}$	$5\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 3 \mathrm{ps}[3]$	$\approx 5 \mathrm{ps}[5]$	fig. 3.24(a)
$100\mathrm{MHz}$	$2\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 7 \mathrm{ps}[6]$	$\approx 14 \mathrm{ps}[14]$	fig. 3.31(a)
$100\mathrm{MHz}$	$1\mathrm{GSPS}$	$\approx 23 \mathrm{ps}[19]$	$\approx 40 \mathrm{ps}[37]$	fig. 3.32(a)

measured time resolutions. The exception is the 1 GSPS case applied to the 100 MHz P-test where the theory is 4 ps lower than the measurement. This exception is caused

by the 6th error which was not considered at the beginning of the paragraph. Also the 6th error is not 4 ps (=23 ps-19 ps) lower, but 13 ps ($\approx \sqrt{23^2 - 19^2}$) due to (1.14). This matches well to the experimentally measured 6th error of 13 ps^{VII}.

Summarized, the P-test is an essential tool for the SCA technology and for testing individual readout electronics. However, the P-test is restricted only to one channel. Since at least two channels are needed in most applications to perform a time resolution measurement a more advanced performance test is required, the SP-test.

4.7 Best DRS4 Time Resolution for the SP-Test

The SP-test was originally utilized in this work to understand the influence of readout electronics for PET-measurements. It was discovered that the DRS4 performs adequately ($\approx 100 \text{ ps}$ FWHM) for preclinical PET-applications where the common CRT lies around 1 ns (FWHM). However, the poor DRS4 time resolution and its fluctuation with the delay gave birth to the NEW-TC which solved these time resolution problems (summarized in fig. 4.1).

Finally, the NEW-TC established the full performance of the DRS4^{VIII} which lies below 2 ps (FWHM) or 0.8 ps (σ) as shown in fig. 1.4.

One can predict the outcome of the SP-test identically to the P-test in section 4.6. This is especially useful for synchronizing multiple DRS4-chips. Before discussing multiple DRS4-chips, the SP-test for a single DRS4 will be predicted. The utilized SP-test in section 3.3.3 consists of a split signal with the same rise time (60 mV/200 ps) compared to the 100 MHz P-test which is simulated in fig. 2.11(d). Thus, the same time resolution is expected for a 2-points LED (for equal delays). According to section 4.6, the theoretical 2-points LED for no delay results in $\sqrt{(1 \text{ ps} + 0 \text{ ns} \cdot 2 \text{ ps}/100 \text{ ns})^2 + (2.3 \text{ ps})^2} \approx 2.5 \text{ ps} (\sigma)$. This is roughly the same time resolution as measured in fig. 3.34(a) for the 2-points LED. Thus, the theoretical

^{VII}For the 13 ps calculation a linear fit is applied to both bottom P-tests in fig. 3.32(a) resulting in 20 ps (100 MHz) and 17.5 ps (30 MHz) for no delay. Additionally, the 5th error (2-points LED) 2.3 ps (100 MHz) and 7.5 ps (30 MHz) is subtracted. Finally, the 6th error is calculated as 13 ps $\approx \sqrt{(20^2 - 2.3^2) - (17.5^2 - 7.5^2)} \, ps.$

 $V^{(20)}_{\rm VIII}$ The SP-test was the key method to evaluate the theory of the channel-dependent TC which is described in section 2.2.10.

approach from the P-test (section 4.6) also works to predict the SP-test results.

When comparing the 50 ns delay of the 2-points LED with the 6-points LED as illustrated in fig. 3.34(c vs. d) one can calculate that 4 additional SPs improve the time resolution around 2 ps ($\approx \sqrt{3.2^2 - 2.5^2}$). An improvement was expected since more SPs have been utilized. To predict the time resolution of this SP-test, the equation that describes the 5th error must be modified. Also the 3rd error in table 4.3 must be calculated more accurately. This is especially the case when the predicted time resolution improves below 1 ps (σ).

One of the best time resolutions of this work with 0.9 ps (σ) is illustrated in fig. 3.34(b). It is also mentioned by Stricker-Shaver et al[31] but not shown. It is still the best time resolution that was ever published for an SCA. The ICC which uses 50 points of the split signal was utilized to accomplish the 0.9 ps. When repeating this SP-test for a delay of 50 ns, the time resolution degrades to 1.8 ps which supports the investigated error of 2 ps/100 ns discussed in section 4.6. The dedicated distribution is shown in fig. 3.34(e) where an extension of the Gaussian distribution can be seen. Temperature fluctuation is the explanation for this extension. The SP-test measurements and the NEW-TC were performed on different days. The DRS4 must be temperature stabilized for time resolution measurements below 1 ps (σ). The same temperature phenomena is already discussed in section 4.4 where a temperature jump will result in a degradation of the time resolution as a function of the delay.

A split oscillating signal is mandatory for synchronizing two DRS4-chips. A 100 MHz sine wave is used for this purpose (see fig. 3.33). One can understand from fig. 3.35(f) that without the oscillating signal the time resolution between two PSI boards is around 1.2 ns. The resulting time resolution of the 4 involved signals is predicable by the two experiments that have already been discussed before. First, the 100 MHz P-test which is discussed in section 4.6 resulted in around 3 ps (σ). Second, the 2-points LED from the beginning of this section resulted in around 2.5 ps (σ). Thus, a time resolution of around 3.9 ps ($\approx \sqrt{3^2 + 2.5^2}$) is expected if two 2-points LEDs are applied to the 4 digitized signals. With the measured 4.1 ps (σ), the theory is close to the result in fig. 3.35(c). Fig. 3.35(a - d) also shows that

the oscillating signal has a higher time error compared to the split pulse as expected. A 6-points LED can synchronize two DRS4-chips below 2.9 ps (σ), which is a single time resolution of around 2.0 ps. This is impressively shown in fig. 3.35(e) where the other DSR4-chip was stopped 160 ns later with no significant time resolution degradation. The same result is also visible for other delays in fig. 3.34(a) when looking at the curve consisting of triangles. The other SP-test in fig. 3.34(a) show a linearly decreasing time resolution as predicted in the previous section 4.6. Thus, the oscillating signal compensates additionally the fluctuation of the preset f_{SCA} (2nd error).

The remaining SP-test results are discussed in the previous section 4.5 where the DRS4 is compared to other readout electronics. A superficial overview of all applied SP-tests is provided in table 3.12.

4.8 CRT-Test with the APD-Based PET-INSERT

The old time calibration (V3-TC) that came with the V3 board was used for the CRT-test with the PET-INSERT (see results in section 3.1.6). The Quicksilver electronics from Siemens predetermines the CRT to more than 4 ns (FWHM), which is far more than the expected error resulting from the V3-TC of around 400 ps (see row #6 & 12 in table 3.12). The degradation caused by the V3-TC is less than 20 ps (4 ns vs. $\sqrt{4000^2 - 400^2 + 71^2}$ ps) for this experiment due to (1.14). Thus, the V3-TC has an insignificant effect on the following CRT-test discussion.

When analyzing table 3.2, one can see that an LED with no walk correction results in the worst CRT of 9.4 ns (FWHM). The 9.4 ns required additionally the lowest available TH of 8 mV as shown in fig. 3.14(a). The low TH was predictable since the absence of a walk correction can only be compensated by measuring the arrival time at a low TH. This is especially the case for a maximum EW which includes the Compton continuum and the complete photo-peak. Therefore, higher PET energies (EW > photo-peak) result in an improved CRT of 2.9 ns (FWHM). The effect is highlighted between row #1 (9.5 ns) and row #3 (2.9 ns). The CRT improvement in row #3 is achieved by rejecting 99% of the PET-events. The same effect but with an improved CRT is visible if a walk correction is additionally applied. One can observe the strength of the walk correction in table 3.2, where the CRT improves from 9.5 ns (row #1) to 4.4 ns (row #4). The corresponding 2D-matrices for both mentioned rows are available in fig. 3.14(a&c). This walk correction also works inside the MF, but the MF degrades the CRT to around 4.7 ns (FWHM) (row #4 vs. row #12). Two 2D-matrix examples for the MF measurements are given in fig. 3.14(e&f) which correspond to row #14 and row #15. The two 2D-matrices emphasize that higher PET energies cause less improvement with respect to CRT compared to the measurements outside the MF. Table 3.2 also demonstrates that a spline fit shows almost no CRT improvement compared to a 2-points linear fit interpolation.

The digital CFD results in table 3.3 show again that higher PET energies result in improved CRT. Again the spline fit shows no big improvements when looking at the CRT in comparison with the 2-points linear fit interpolation. Interestingly, the CRT stays at 4.7 ns (FWHM), if all energies are allowed, for measurements inside and outside the MF (row #1 vs. row #9). Outside the MF the CRT demonstrates an improvement when narrow EWs are used (row #2). On the other hand inside the MF, the CRT is independent from the EW (row #9 vs. row #10). The best CRT is achieved for an averaged fraction of 17% when looking at the CFD settings in table 3.3. The ideal delay is shorter (around 80 ns) for a narrow EW and longer (> 100 ns) for the maximum EW. This is not the case inside the MF where a longer delay (> 100 ns) works best for all measurements.

In practice the CRT of the PET-INSERT is measured with the Quicksilver electronics and results is 4.4 ns (FWHM) outside the MF and 4.7 ns (FWHM) inside. The Quicksilver electronics consists of CFDs coupled to fast 3 GHz TDCs. It uses the crystal-map additionally to compute a crystal-to-crystal CRT, which is an advantage compared to the block-to-block CRT of the DRS4 measurement.

Summarized, a digital CFD is more stable (always around 4.7 ns) and easier to apply compared to the digital LED with walk correction for the PET-INSERT. The reason is that the fluctuating baseline caused by the MF (see fig. 3.12) is compensated by the CFD algorithm. However, the LED performs better compared to the CFD outside the MF (4.4 ns vs. 4.7 ns) and thus is equal to the Quicksilver electronics. Consequently, one can expect from the DRS4 a further improved CRT for a crystal-to-crystal correction.

4.9 All CRT-Tests with a $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-Crystal

All photodetector results with $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-crystals are listed in table 4.5. The APD was the slowest photodetector that was investigated in this comparison. Thus, the worst CRT was expected and also measured with around 1.2 ns (FWHM). The V3-TC causes a CRT degradation of less than 10 ps (1.2 ns vs. $\sqrt{1200^2 - 140^2 + 24^2}$ ps, see row #6 & 12 in table 3.12) and is therefore negligible.

Table 4.5: Listed are the results of three CRT-tests (APD, SiPM and PMT) coupled to a $3 \times 3 \times 20 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO-crystal when utilizing the DRS4-chip. The DRS4-chip was running at a sampling speed of 2 GSPS (APD) and 5 GSPS (other). The applied analyzing technique was a digital LED (2 points) with no walk correction. Additional information is provided in the 5th column.

PET-detector	digitizer	best CRT	method	source
APD+LSO	V3 (V3-TC)	$\approx 1.2 \mathrm{ns} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED	table 3.1
SiPM+LSO	V3 (V3-TC)	$\approx 572 \mathrm{ps} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED	section $3.1.4$
SiPM+LSO	X742 (NEW-TC)	$\approx 560 \mathrm{ps} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED	fig. 3.40
PMT+LSO	V3 (V3-TC)	${\approx}160\text{-}290\mathrm{ps}$ (FWHM)	LED	fig. 3.6

As expected both SiPM measurements in table 4.5 result in a better CRT compared to the APD. The same CRT-test in section 3.4.2 utilizing the DT5742 (NEW-TC) has also been evaluated in section 3.1.4 with the V3 (V3-TC). Both measurements were performed with the same bias voltage, scintillation-crystal settings and f_{SCA} but with different TC-methods. Therefore, the CRT-test outcome should be comparable except for the CRT degradation caused by the V3-TC. And indeed when utilizing (1.14) one can reproduce the V3-TC degradation which is predicted in table 3.12(row #4) as $\sqrt{572^2 - 560^2}$ ps ≈ 100 ps (FWHM). Note that this is not the best CRT that can be achieved with this PET-detector. The photo-peak is around 200 mV for the CRT-test with SiPMs in this example. An improved CRT is possible with a better amplifier enabling the arrival time of the first photoelectrons to be computed very accurately.

Although the photo-peak of the PMTs and previous discussed SiPMs lies around 200 mV, the best CRT is expected with PMTs because of its faster rise time. The CRT has more than doubled in improvement but is dependent on the delay. A CRT of around 160 ps was measured for almost no delay and as much as 290 ps for other cases. A similar effect can also be seen for the SP-test in fig. 3.4(b) where short delays result in improved time resolution compared to long delays. Therefore the CRT degradation should not be much greater than 100 ps (FWHM) as shown in table 3.12(row #4). In this PMT scenario the CRT degradation is around 240 ps ($\sqrt{290^2 - 160^2}$ ps). Thus, an additional error must cause these multiple CRT fluctuations. A possible explanation is that the PMT measurements were not repeated exactly under the same conditions, like temperature changes, drying of the optical grease, touching or wetting the teflon tape and so forth. For this reason a constant behaving PET-detector with a similar CRT is investigated and discussed in the following section 4.10.

Summarized, the DRS4 performance is predictable with its old calibration (V3-TC) for CRTs of 500 ps (FWHM) or higher. The tested APD had the worst time resolution followed by the SiPM and PMT. Today, it is known that PMTs and SiPMs will result in equal CRT performance as described in various publications [29, 30]. This was not achieved in these CRT-tests because of the before mentioned reasons.

4.10 CRT-Test Problem with PMTs and the DRS4

The CRT for PET-measurements is greater than 100 ps (FWHM) when utilizing LSO-crystals that are longer than 5 mm as described by Vinke et al[30]. This is also the case in this CRT-test with PMTs coupled to $5 \times 5 \times 5 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO:Ca-crystals where a CRT of around 170 ps is expected. The coupling remains constant over time (see section 2.5.6) and therefore this reproducibly behaving PET-detector can

be utilized for comparison measurements.

Table 4.6: Eight CRT-tests utilizing the same PET-detector with different readout electronics. The PET-detectors consist of two fast PMTs each coupled to $5 \times 5 \times 5 \text{ mm}^3$ LSO:Ca. The DRS4-chip was running at a sampling speed of 5 GSPS. The applied analyzing technique was a digital LED (2 points). Labeled with "(*)" are the cases where a walk correction was additionally performed. More information is provided in the 6th column.

row	PMT-out	digitizer (info)	best CRT	method	source
1	dynode	X742 (CAEN-TC)	$\approx 157 \mathrm{ps} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED(*)	fig. $3.23(e)$
2	dynode	X742 (CAEN-TC)	${\approx}166\mathrm{ps}$ (FWHM)	LED	fig. $3.23(f)$
3	dynode	X742 (NEW-TC)	$\approx 173 \mathrm{ps} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$	$\operatorname{LED}(*)$	fig. $3.39(e)$
4	dynode	X742 (NEW-TC)	$\approx\!\!176\mathrm{ps}\ (\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED	fig. 3.38(e)
5	anode	X742 (NEW-TC)	$\approx\!\!181\mathrm{ps}$ (FWHM)	$\operatorname{LED}(*)$	fig. 3.39(f)
6	anode	X742 (NEW-TC)	$\approx 184 \mathrm{ps} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED	fig. 3.38(f)
7	anode	S20 (5 GSPS)	$\approx 186 \mathrm{ps} \;(\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED(*)	table $3.14(d)$
8	anode	S20 (20 GSPS)	$\approx 181 \mathrm{ps} \ (\mathrm{FWHM})$	LED(*)	table $3.14(f)$

The results of these comparisons are listed in table 4.6. When applying the walk correction additionally to the LED, the CRT improves slightly (row #3 vs. row #4 or row #5 vs. row #6). The first row of table 4.6 demonstrates a 16 ps better CRT than actually even possible when applying the CAEN-TC to the DRS4 (row #1 vs. row #3). All previous measurements showed exactly the opposite behavior which is that the NEW-TC results in a better time resolution compared to the CAEN-TC. An indication that the DRS4 (NEW-TC) provides the best possible and correct CRT is shown by reproduction of the same results with the S20 in table 4.6. The S20 settings of the 5 GSPS case mimic the CRT-test of the DRS4 and result in a reduced CRT due the smaller bit-resolution (row #7). When digitizing 4 times faster, the S20 (20 GSPS) achieves the same CRT as the DRS4 (NEW-TC) with 181 ps (row #8). Additionally, when looking at the CAEN-TC measurements in fig. 3.23(a) one will find five minima instead of one (expected) minimum. Also the other delay case in fig. 3.23(b) results in a pattern (three minima) when the CRT is plotted in a 2D-matrix. The reason for this wrong result is explained in the following lines. The

sampling intervals of the CAEN-TC provides almost equidistant 200 ps sampling intervals. The true Δt_b alternates between 130 ps and 270 ps as mentioned at the beginning of chapter 4. Different delays between the two PET signals are measured when changing the TH settings (walk effect) as shown in fig. 3.23(c). The five minima also represent regions of similar delays as shown in fig. 3.23(a vs. c). When this delay is always calculated by interpolation between two neighboring cells that are 270 ps apart but wrongly considered to be 200 ps, the resulting standard deviation will be smaller than that in reality. Therefore it results in a better CRT than actually even possible. For the sampling intervals of 130 ps one can consequently find regions with a bigger CRT than possible ($\approx 230 \text{ ps}$) as shown in fig. 3.23(a). This also explains the other PMT result with the huge CRT fluctuation in the previous section 4.9.

Thus, X742 publications that predict revolutionary time resolutions have to be questioned and ideally repeated with comparable readout electronics. Due to the outcome of this thesis, this issue has been resolved starting with the fifth version of DRS4 Evaluation Board from PSI. However, the same mistake can still happen with older versions which should be replaced or upgraded according to section 2.2.9. This mistake probably also happened in the 2016 publication from Du et al[110] where a simple linear interpolation showed better time resolution compared to all presumably better timing methods.

4.11 CRT-Test of Reference PMT and MPPCs

Around 100 scintillation-photons with a decay time of 15 ns are expected from the PbWO₄-crystal (see table 1.1) which was utilized in this CRT-test (More experimental details are given in section 2.5.5). The PbWO₄-crystal was coupled to three different MPPCs. The best CRT for the MPPC2 (50 μ m pitch) was around 670 ps (FWHM) as seen in table 3.11. This was achieved by triggering on the first photoelectron under the condition that more than 8 photons were detected in the rising edge of the signal. In rare cases 16 photoelectrons ($\approx \frac{130 \text{ mV}}{8 \text{ mV}}$) are measured for the MPPC2 as shown in fig. 3.44(d). Although the PDE of the MPPC3 is half that of MPPC2, also around 16 photoelectrons are collected as the maximum value (see fig. 3.45). Thus, the faster recovery time causes the MPPC3 to collect the same amount as the MPPC2. MPPC1 shows a worse CRT compared to MPPC2 because around half the photoelectrons are collected as the maximum value (see fig. 3.43). The reduced number of photoelectrons stands in conflict with the highest available PDE in this CRT-test. The explanation is that the longest dead time in combination with the fewest micro pixels result in the lowest number of maximum photoelectrons.

The CRT of the MPPC3 cannot be compared to the other two measurements (MPPC1 & MPPC2) because the TH was accidentally set to around 200 mV. The high TH of 200 mV in combination with the narrow time window of 5 ns triggered events where the eighth photoelectron falls inside the provided time window. Therefore only selected PET-events were collected. This explains why the best CRT is measured for events where exactly 8 photoelectrons are collected. As listed in table 3.11, the best CRT for MPPC3 is calculated with a TH greater than 3 photoelectrons. The other two cases where the correct trigger settings were applied result in the best CRT when the arriving time is calculated for the first photoelectron.

Summarized, PbWO₄ results in a worse CRT compared to LSO. A good CRT depends on a fast rise time in combination with a high light yield. Thus, this outcome was predictable when looking at table 1.1 where LSO provides 380 ph/ns versus 7 ph/ns for PbWO₄.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

During the evaluation period several calibrations were developed which significantly improved the performance of the DRS4-chip. The DRS4 potential was wasted with regards to time resolution until the development of the new calibration (NEW-TC) which is highlighted in this thesis. The developer (PSI) of the DRS4 achieved with its original TC and a simple 2-points interpolation, a time resolution around $45 \operatorname{ps}(\sigma)$ fluctuating between 27-52 ps. The fluctuation depends on the applied delays and additionally results in a non-Gaussian timing distribution. Instead the NEW-TC results in constant 3 ps (σ) when applying the same 2-points interpolation. Thus, one can say the NEW-TC enabled an error reduction by a factor of 15 for the DRS4. To be exact the error was reduced by more than 99.7 % (45 ps vs. $\sqrt{45^2 - 3^2}$ ps) since errors are expressed by the standard deviation. Further is evaluated in this work that the full performance of the DRS4 lies below 1 ps for more advanced interpolation techniques. Realized in this thesis is a single or unfolded time resolution below 580 fs $\left(\frac{0.82 \,\mathrm{ns}}{\sqrt{2}}\right)$ for the DRS4. This outcome inspired the group from Gary Varner, to discover the performance limits of the SCA technology. Their target is the 100 fs border[111].

Because of the demonstrated time resolution below 3 ps (σ), even between two individual running DRS4-chips, new opportunities have become available. PSI improved the multi-channel timing of the MEG experiment [87, 112]. Also PSI introduced a new evaluation board (V5) enabling precise time resolution measurements. An ideal field of application for the V5 are PET experiments. The older evaluation boards can lead to wrong time resolution results especially for the interesting PET-timings below 200 ps (FWHM). This is also the case for the X742 from CAEN, which is the other DRS4-based board that was investigated. CAEN is aware of this issue and capable to recalibrate the X742. Summing up, old evaluation boards from PSI (before V5) and X742 boards can lead to better time resolution than actually even possible. This is the case for measurements in the time resolution region of 100-200 ps (FWHM), which is the region of the best reported time resolutions for PET.

Therefore, the results of this work are already of great benefit for the DRS4-based Whole-Body TOF PET at the University of Pennsylvania [113]. This DRS4-based PET proves that although this technology has a relatively high dead time, a fast PET picture can be generated with a smart trigger logic combined with an advanced PET design.

The investigated and improved readout electronics, the DRS4, gives the opportunity to measure accurately the individual errors of a PET-detector and to compare alternative readout electronics with each other. As a result the necessity of improvement for scintillator and photodetector is enabled by the fast readout electronics like the re-calibrated DRS4. Additionally, the NEW-TC can be applied to other SCAchips, e.g. the PSEC4-chip[71] or the SAMPIC-chip[109], and thus offering the chance to improve their performance.

Appendix A

Scientific Publication and Patent

On the 8th of October 2013 an international patent application[95] "Verfahren zur Kalibrierung eines analogen Speicherarrays" was filed by the University of Tübingen. It contains the demonstrated new TC-methods for SCAs described in section 2.2. Since the 16th of April 2015 the patent application became available to the public under the international publication number WO 2015/051824. Additionally, a scientific publication from 2014 consisting of a simplified fraction of this work can be found in the following 11 pages. Chapter I – III of the following publication were written by Dr. Stefan Ritt. Figure 5 & 17 including its descriptions and discussions origin from Dr. Ritt. Figure 3 & 6 have been replaced by Dr. Ritt during the review process. The remaining content of chapter IV – VII and the abstract arose from the work of this thesis. In particular this includes all time calibration algorithms as well as the time resolution verification tests.

Novel Calibration Method for Switched Capacitor Arrays Enables Time Measurements with Sub-Picosecond Resolution

D. A. Stricker-Shaver, S. Ritt and B. J. Pichler

Abstract-Switched capacitor arrays (SCA) ASICs are becoming more and more popular for the readout of detector signals, since the sampling frequency of typically several gigasamples per second allows excellent pile-up rejection and time measurements. They suffer however from the fact that their sampling bins are not equidistant in time, given by limitations of the chip process. In the past, this limited time measurements of optimal signals to standard deviations (o) of about 4-25 ps in accuracy for the split pulse test, depending on the specific chip. This paper introduces a novel time calibration, which determines the true sampling speed of an SCA. Additionally, for two independently running SCA chips, the achieved time resolution improved to less than 3 ps (σ) independently from the delay for the split pulse test, when simply applying a linear interpolation. When using a more advanced analyzing technique for the split pulse test with a single SCA, this limit is pushed below 1 ps (σ) for delays up to 8 ns. Various test measurements with different boards based on the DRS4 ASIC indicate that the new calibration is stable over time but not over larger temperature variations.

Index Terms—Time Calibration, DRS4, Switched Capacitor Array, Analog memory

I. INTRODUCTION

S WICHED CAPACITOR ARRAYS (SCA) are application specific integrated circuits (ASIC) which allow transient analog signal recording at high sampling speeds. They have been first used for particle detector readout back in the 1980's as shown by Kleinfelder [1]. The principle is to use an array of capacitors in sample-and-hold mode. A fast sequence of write pulses allows the recording of analog waveforms in these capacitors, which can later be read out and digitized at a much lower speed. While early chips used shift registers to generate the write pulses, it was soon realized that using inverter chains as delay lines boost the sampling speed into the gigasamples per second (GSPS) region as demonstrated in [2]. Following the advances in CMOS technology, SCAs have become faster over the years, and current chip versions from different groups allow sampling speeds in the rage of 2-15 GSPS [3][4][5][6].

This work was supported in part by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) Grant PI771/3-1, the Schweizer Nationalfonds (SNF) Grant 200021_137738 and the Swiss Werner Siemens Foundation.

D. A. Stricker-Shaver and B. J. Pichler are with Werner Siemens Imaging Center, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany.

S. Ritt is with Paul Scherrer Institute (PSI), Villigen, Switzerland (e-mail: stefan.ritt@psi.ch).

They have signal-to-noise ratios (SNR) of 10-13 bits equivalent and sampling depths of 256 to 64k cells. Paired with typical power consumptions of 10 mW per channel, these chips are excellent alternatives for commercial flash-ADCs. They all share however the disadvantage that the time required to read out the capacitor cells causes dead time. Depending on the number of channels and cells to read out, this dead time is in the typical rage of 1-100 micro seconds, which limits the application to cases where one can use a trigger to limit the number of events to typically 100-1000 events/s. The field of application for SCAs therefore lies in areas where one has a low trigger rate, but requires excellent time resolution and pile-up rejection. This includes for example particle physics at the intensity frontier[7], Cherenkov telescopes in gamma-ray astronomy[8], time-of-flight (TOF) applications [9] and neutrino physics[10]. Also, in medical imaging, specifically in positron emission tomography (PET), where TOF plays an important role[11], SCAs are a candidate for future applications. In [12] a coincident resolving time (CRT) of 100 ps (FWHM) was demonstrated for PET signals using LaBr₃ as a scintillator. This represents a single time resolution of ~30 ps (σ) and requires precise electronics to measure this time.

Several TOF measurements were made recently with various SCA chips. In the readout of micro channel plates, a single detector resolution of ~15 ps (σ) was achieved, which is comparable with the best commercial combination of constant-fraction-discriminators with time-to-amplitude converters, but at a much lower cost per channel [13]. The readout of straw tubes [14] via a time measurement gave good results, although the accuracy was limited by the imperfect time calibration (TC) method used for the SCA chip.

Over many years, the general opinion was that time measurements with SCA chips are limited to about 4-25 ps (σ) [6], caused by the time jitter inside the chips. The authors have found however that SCA chips can perform much better if the correct TC is applied. This allows pushing the achievable time resolution by about one order of magnitude to below one picosecond.

II. THEORY OF OPERATION

Most modern SCAs use a kind of inverter chain to generate the write pulses which open analog switches to sample the input signal. Fig. 1 shows a simplified schematics of the DRS4 chip, which is the fourth generation in a family of SCAs developed at PSI [5]. The advantage of this technique is that a simple inverter chain used as a tapped delay line can run much faster than any shift register, easily reaching 10-20 GSPS with modern chip technologies. The disadvantage however is that the transition time of an inverter depends on parameters like temperature and supply voltage. To address this problem, most SCAs use a delay-locked loop (DLL) or a phase locked loop (PLL) to stabilize the sampling frequency to an external constant reference clock.



Fig. 1: Simplified schematics of the DRS4 chip.

Furthermore, mismatch between transistors in the CMOS process causes each inverter to have different but fixed transition times even if the other parameters are kept constant. Since this effect comes from the actual geometrical size of a transistor and its doping properties, it is stable over time and can be corrected for by measuring the transition time of each inverter and correcting for it. This measurement and its correction is the main topic of this paper and will be detailed in chapter IV.B.

III. LIMITATIONS OF TIME MEASUREMENTS

After a proper TC, the accuracy of a time measurement with an SCA chip is limited by the residual random jitter of the transition time of the inverter chain. Each inverter has a voltage threshold at the input. Crossing this threshold turns the inverter high or low. While this threshold is very stable, any noise on the input signal will cause a time jitter of the inverter. Careful chip design allows minimizing this noise, causing modern SCA chips to have typical inverter chain time jitters below 1 ps.

To measure the arrival time of a certain electrical pulse e.g. in particle physics, the pulse time is typically extracted from the first rising or falling edge of the waveform, depending on the pulse polarity. The simplest case is to use a single threshold discriminator. In the case of waveform digitizing, the equivalent can be achieved in the digital domain by comparing the digitized voltage of the sampling points with a fixed value. To achieve a time resolution exceeding the sampling interval, adjacent samples can be interpolated linearly or with cubic functions. In Fig. 2a an interpolated line from an ideal signal intersects a given threshold at time t_1

depicted by an open square. Any voltage noise on the measured signal causes time jitter as shown in Fig. 2b. If some voltage noise "raises" the signal by an amount Δu , the linearly interpolated line intersects the same threshold at a time t_1 ' different from t_1 , as depicted by the grey square. From Fig. 2b one can easily derive the formula for the time accuracy Δt as

$$\frac{\Delta u}{\Delta t} = \frac{U}{t_r},\tag{1}$$

where U is the signal height, t_r the rise time and Δu the voltage noise as shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2: Time estimations for a leading edge in the ideal case (a), in the presence of noise (b) and for several sampling points lying on the edge (c).

The time resolution can be improved by sampling the signal at a higher frequency. Fig. 2c shows the same signal sampled with four times higher sampling rate. The sampled points scatter around the signal indicated by the dashed line. Now several points lie on the signal edge, shown as grey circles. If the voltage noise of these points is statistically independent (as it is the case e.g. for ADC quantization noise), each point allows a separate measurement of the edge time, and thus reduces the time uncertainty of the edge by \sqrt{n} where *n* is the number of points lying on the edge. The value of *n* is also determined by the product of sampling frequency f_s and the signal rise time t_r . This gives the theoretical time accuracy in dependence of the SNR which can be expressed as $U/\Delta u$,

the sampling frequency f_s and the signal rise time t_r . Adopting this to (1) and solving for Δt gives

$$\Delta t = \frac{\Delta u}{U} \cdot t_r \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} = \frac{\Delta u}{U} \frac{t_r}{\sqrt{t_r \cdot f_s}} = \frac{\Delta u}{U} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{t_r}}{\sqrt{f_s}} .$$
⁽²⁾

From (2) it becomes clear that not only a high sampling frequency is important for a precise time measurement, but also the SNR and the signal bandwidth. It should be noted that (2) is only a simplified formula, since the actual resolution depends on the exact waveform shape and the noise spectrum. It is however a good estimator which has been verified by the authors and other groups[15].

For very fast detector signals, such as pulses from microchannel plates (MCP) which can have t_r below 70 ps, the sampling gets limited by the bandwidth of the signal chain. The limiting factor can be a pre-amplifier, a long cable or the SCA chip itself, which is further detailed in [4]. The -3dB bandwidth f_{3dB} determines the signal rise time seen by the SCA as

$$t_r \cong \frac{1}{{}_{3f_{3dB}}}.$$
(3)

Putting this into (2) results in the time accuracy in dependence of the bandwidth f_{3dB} as

$$\Delta t = \frac{\Delta u}{U} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{t_r}}{\sqrt{f_s}} = \frac{\Delta u}{U} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{3f_s \cdot f_{3dB}}} \,. \tag{4}$$

Case	U (mV)	Δu (mV)	t _r (ns)	f _{3dB} (MHz)	f _s (GSPS)	Δt (ps)
a)	10	1	1	333	5	45
b)	450	1	1	333	5	1
c)	100	1	0.35	950	5	2.6
d)	500	0.35	1.6	-	5	0.5
e)	63	0.35	0.2	-	5	1.1

Table 1: Theoretical limit of the achievable time resolution Δt for certain signal and sampling parameters.

Table 1 lists various scenarios, which are relevant for this paper. Cases a) - c) assume a typical environmental or preamplifier noise Δu of 1 mV. The SCA internal noise in case of the DRS4 is 0.35 mV (case d) and e)). In all five cases the SCA is running at a sampling speed of 5 GSPS. Assuming a rise time of 1 ns, which is typical for many photomultipliers, it becomes clear that small signals in the 10 mV range will never give a time accuracy better than a few ten ps. Only a significantly higher signal - for example by means of a lownoise, fast preamplifier - can bring the resolution into the picosecond range. If one uses even faster pulses, the bandwidth gets limited by the SCA itself at some point. In the case of the DRS4 chip this bandwidth is 950 MHz, which limits the time resolution for a SNR of 100:1 to 2.6 ps (case c). Case d) and e) are relevant for the TC in chapter IV.B., which is performed with a 100 MHz sine wave with an amplitude of about 1V.

IV. MATERIALS AND METHODS

The TC methods were evaluated with the DRS4 Evaluation Board version 3 (board A) with 12 bits, 5 GS/s and 4 channels provided by PSI[16] and the DRS4-chip based V1742 (board B) with 12 bits, 5 GS/s and 32 channels, provided by CAEN, Italy[17].

We further compared the performance results of board A & B with a LeCroy Wave Runner 6050A Oscilloscope (board C) with 8 bits, 5 GS/s and 4 channels and with the V1751 (board D) with 2 GS/s, 10 bits and 4 channels provided by CAEN. In this paper the presented measurements of board A, B and C were taken at a sampling speed of 5 GSPS, while board D used a sampling speed of 2 GSPS.

A. Voltage Calibration

Since voltage errors and time errors on an SCA chip are correlated, it is important to correct for any voltage error before a TC can be done. It consists of three corrections.

Firstly, the voltages of the stored waveform show slightly different offsets and gains for each sampling cell. In the DRS4 chip, this comes mainly from the fact that each sampling capacitor is read out by a separate buffer, which has a typical random offset of 10-20 mV. These offsets can be measured by connecting the input to a DC voltage, e.g. 0 V, and then subtracting these offsets in each measurement as an offset correction.

Secondly, a time-dependent readout offset correction is performed. This compensates for small supply voltage variations when the DRS4 chip is switched from sampling to readout mode. The different power consumptions of the DRS4 chip in these two modes causes a small dip in the power supply voltage, which cannot be recovered completely by the linear regulator or the blocking capacitors. The dip causes the DRS4 output to shift by about 2 mV for about 10 µs after it has been stopped.

Thirdly, the gain correction for each cell is done by applying a DC voltage of 800 mV to the input and measuring the response of the cell. The third correction is performed for board A but not for board B.

It is important to do the offset correction at the same voltage level as used later for time measurements, because the gain does not show an absolutely linear behavior. An example is given in Fig. 14, where for board B an external bias offset gets applied to shift the input range of the DRS4 chip after the voltage calibration.

Some SCA chips have the problem that some residual imprint of the previously stored signal distorts the last sampled waveform. This can cause the chip to respond differently to DC signals and to AC or transient signals. In the case of the DRS3 chip, this so-called "ghost pulses" could amount to 2-5 percent distortion of a waveform, depending on the sampling speed. This problem has been fixed for the DRS4 chip by issuing a clear cycle before a storage cell is written. Both sides of the storage capacitor are connected to ground by additional analog switches for a few nano seconds before every write cycle, thus removing efficiently any previously stored charge in the cell.

B. Time Calibration (TC)

The sampling intervals of the DRS4 chip are not equidistant, but constant over time. This means the DRS4 has to be calibrated before a precise time measurement can be made. One can find such TC methods, e.g. in [6],[9],[18] and [16]. In this paper the new TC will be referred to as TC N. The time calibration from board A will be named TC A [16].

Consistently, the TC from board B will be called TC B. The TC B is unknown, since CAEN ships its boards already calibrated and nothing is mentioned in the manual.

In the following we will use Δt_i as the effective sampling interval between cell# *i* and cell# *i*+1. We define Δt_i as the time difference between the opening of the analogue switches $S_{0,i}$ and time point $S_{0,i+1}$ as illustrated in Fig. 1. From this follows that the integrated or "global" time difference between cell# *k* and cell# *q* is given by:

$$\Delta t_{k,q} = \sum_{i=k}^{(q-1)} \Delta t_i .$$
⁽⁵⁾

We digitized a known sine wave to perform TC N. The frequency of this sine wave $f_{\text{TC N}}$ should be adjusted accordingly to the sampling speed range of the SCA. For the DRS4 sampling speed range of 0.7 - 5 GSPS, we recommend the frequency of 35 MHz in order to achieve best results. 35 MHz is the highest possible frequency due to (6) for the critical 0.7 GSPS case. If the sine frequency is much higher, the linear interpolation method would break down, if the frequency is lower, the duration of the TC would increase. Thus, TC N works in the frequency ranges

$$f_{\text{TC N}} \in \left[\frac{2}{n} \cdot f_{SCA} , \frac{1}{20} \cdot f_{SCA}\right],$$
 (6)

where f_{SCA} is the nominal sampling frequency of the SCA and *n* stands for the number of it cells.

In the following sections we always run the DRS4 at a sampling speed of 5 GSPS. For TC N we used the highest frequency we had available to reduce calibration time. We therefore used a sine wave of 100 MHz with an 1 V peak-to-peak amplitude, which is the middle range of (6).

TC N consists of two parts. The first part estimates the effective sampling intervals Δt_i by measuring voltage differences between two neighboring cells and is called "local" TC. The second part refines the sampling intervals by measuring time differences between cells that are far apart and is therefore called "global" TC. While the local TC effectively corrects the differential time non-linearity, the global TC reduces the integral time non-linearity as will be shown later in Fig. 5.

1) Local TC

Two publications ([9],[19]) have already introduced the basic idea that we call the local TC. We devolved this idea independently and combining it with our global TC described later, which would improve the current results significantly as in Fig. 5.



Fig. 3: The correlation between voltage differences Δu_i and time differences Δt_i of a rising edge can be used for the local TC of an SCA chip.

The approach is that Δt_i is proportional to the measured voltage difference between neighboring cells when applying a linear increasing or decreasing signal, such as a saw-tooth waveform for example. The intercept theorem results in (7) and is illustrated in Fig. 3:

$$\frac{\Delta t_i}{\Delta U_i} = \frac{\sum \Delta t_i}{\sum \Delta U_i},\tag{7}$$

where ΔU_i is the voltage difference between cells *i* and *i*+1. For an SCA with *n* cells we know

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \Delta t_i = \frac{n}{f_{SCA}}$$
 (8)

When combining (7) and (8), we can calculate all *n* time intervals Δt_i as:

$$\Delta t_i = \frac{\Delta U_i \cdot \frac{n}{f_{SCA}}}{\sum \Delta U_i}.$$
(9)

The exact sampling speed of the SCA that might deviate from f_{SCA} is not required since it will be determined in the global TC afterwards.

Using rising and falling edges of the TC signal will result in two calibrations. Averaging over these two calibrations will cancel any residual voltage offset:

$$\Delta t_i = \left(\Delta t_{i,falling} + \Delta t_{i,rising}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{2},\tag{10}$$

where $\Delta t_{i,falling}$ and $\Delta t_{i,rising}$ stand for the time differences calculated by the falling and rising edges, respectively. Tests have indicated that using the rising and falling edges of a sine wave like the one in Fig. 4 are good enough to obtain an acceptable local TC. In a digitized waveform only the Δt_i for cells on the slopes of the sine wave can be determined. The procedure therefore has to be repeated for several sine waves with a random phase relative to the SCA clock. 1000 digitized sine waves give a decent result for the local TC when simply using the arithmetic mean values.



Fig. 4: First 77 cells of the 1024 cell array of a DRS4 sampling a 100 MHz sine wave at a sampling speed of 2.5 GSPS. This signal is used for the local TC and the global TC.

For the 5GSPS case, the local TC is using sampling points in the range of ± 100 mV.

2) Global TC

The global TC measures one or more periods of the 100 MHz sine wave. The period is determined by linearly interpolating sampling points below and above zero volts and measuring the time between the intersections of the interpolated lines with the zero line as shown in Fig. 4. In this example the zero crossing is between cells #25 and #26 and between cells #48 and #49, leading to two corrections

$$t_{cor} = \frac{U_k}{\Delta U_{k-1}} \Delta t_{k-1} - \frac{U_q}{\Delta U_q} \Delta t_q , \qquad (11)$$

which constrain the time between the cell# k = 26 and cell# q = 48 using the known period time of $f_{\text{TC N}}$ as in

$$m \cdot \frac{1}{f_{\text{TC N}}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} t_{k,q} + t_{cor} \quad , \tag{12}$$

where *m* stands for the factor describing the multiples of the measured periods. U_i is the voltage measured at cell# *i*.

In Fig. 4 the global time difference $\Delta t_{a,b}$ has to be $1 \cdot 10$ ns. The two points *a* and *b* are artificial points and stand for the zero crossings of two rising edges of the digitized sine wave.

Finally the global TC is computed iteratively by correcting the local TC each time we measure a multiple of the period time $m \cdot 1/f_{\text{TC N}}$.

$$\Delta t_{k,\text{new}} = \Delta t_k \cdot u_{cor}$$

$$\Delta t_{k+1,\text{new}} = \Delta t_{k+1} \cdot u_{cor}$$

$$\vdots \qquad \qquad \text{with} \quad u_{cor} = \frac{m}{f_{\text{TC N}} \cdot (t_{k,q} + t_{cor})},$$

$$\Delta t_{q-1,new} = \Delta t_{q-1} \cdot u_{cor}$$
(13)

where $\Delta t_{k,new} \dots \Delta t_{q-1,new}$ stand for the corrected effective sampling interval. $\Delta t_k \dots \Delta t_{q-1}$ stand for the old data set of effective sampling intervals that are going to be corrected. The first iteration will start with the data set provided by the local TC (9). In the following iterations the $\Delta t_{i,new}$ provided by (13) will be retitled in Δt_i in order to apply (13) again every time a new $t_{k,q}$ is measured. Iterating over typically 1000 digitized sine waves is usually enough to obtain a precise global TC. Ideally one should treat falling and rising edges separately and determine the global TC after applying (10). For practical reasons, the measured sine waves in the local TC can be "recycled" for the global TC. In Table 1 case e) one can see that the expected time resolution is about 1.1 ps for a single interpolation. In this case the voltage difference between sampling points of a rising edge is in average about 63 mV with an average sampling interval of 0.2 ns.

The error arising from the linear interpolation of the sine wave is predictable and can be estimated. Simulations for an expected sampling interval of 0.2 ns show that the global TC error is less than 0.08 ps, and less than 0.7 ps in the worst case scenario, where some sampling intervals could vary up to 0.4 ns. Increasing the TC frequency will increase the maximum error of the global TC.

The global TC improves the local TC for two reasons. First, the local TC is never perfect. Any measurement has a statistical error, which accumulates if one integrates over many measurements. Second, the SCA cells have different effective analog bandwidths along the chip. The cells close to the input pin see a smaller resistance of the signal bus inside the chip than the cells far away from the input pin. This causes slightly different rise times for the calibration sine wave in different cells, and causes a systematic error for the local TC, which is then removed efficiently by the global TC.

C. Board Time Resolution Tests

To examine the time resolution of the four boards and the quality of TC N, 4 different performance tests were applied. The time resolutions for all performance tests are given as standard deviation (σ) and refer to resolution on time difference. All these σ values were extracted from a Gaussian fit applied to their distributions. The σ coming from the fit is insensitive to appearing outliers, which are typically less than 0.1 % of all measurements. The value of a calculated standard deviation (often the terminology root-mean-square (RMS) is used) compared to σ received from the fit was never more than 0.2 ps increased. An example is given in the section Results in Fig. 13.

1) The Period Time Test (PT-test)

The 100 MHz sine wave used for the TC N is also used for the PT-test. Fig. 5 shows the measured period time between two zero crossings of the rising edges, which should be equal to 10 ns. The period time is plotted over the cell number that is left of the first zero crossing. Thus, $\Delta t_{a,b}$ from Fig. 4 would be represented by cell# 25 in Fig. 5. The top plot shows the time for an uncalibrated DRS4 chip, the middle after the local TC and the bottom after the global TC. While the local TC effectively corrects variations between neighboring cells, a residual inaccuracy with more global structures is left over, which can be seen in the middle plot. The global TC then corrects these global structures, which leads to a flat distribution shown in the bottom plot. This method is therefore very powerful to determine the accuracy of a TC.

In Table 2 we compare the distribution of the period time (i.e. the projection of the distribution in Fig. 5 bottom onto the Y-axis) for different hardware. For each measurement, 10000 events were digitized and averaged. When digitizing the 100 MHz sine wave with 5 GSPS, we measured average voltage

difference between two consecutive samples of $\Delta U_i = 63 \text{ mV}$ around the zero crossings. This effective signal height was used to predict the result of the SP-test by using (1).



Fig. 5: Effect of the local TC and the global TC when used to determine the period of a 100 MHz sine wave (PT-test).

2) The Split Pulse Test (SP-test)

We evaluated the actual time precision for the tested boards as shown in Fig. 6a with the SP-test. A short pulse is generated by a function generator. The signal is split and the time difference between the arrivals of the two signals is measured. We changed the arrival time of one of the signals by applying a variable cable delay (Fig. 6a and Fig. 7).

In most cases we used a simple Digital Leading Edge (DLE)-discriminator to evaluate the time resolution. This means, we interpolated between two points of the rising edge to obtain the time information at a given threshold. A global threshold (TH) of 300 mV was used for all SP-tests (Fig. 7). In Fig. 10 and Fig. 14 the THs were changed individually for a single SP-test measurement (50 ns cable delay) resulting in a time resolution matrix. One can see that the global TH of 300 mV is a good compromise for all SP-test that use a DLE-discriminator.

The time resolution improves by using more points. Thus, we also performed the SP-test with a DLE-discriminator by fitting though 6 points of the rising edge.



Fig. 6: Layout of the split signal time measurements for two channels of one chip (a) and between two chips synchronized by a sine wave (b).

Best results for the SP-test were achieved by crosscorrelating both channels. In this case all non-baseline related sampling points of the pulse were used. Thus, we used 50 points of the split signals. Before, 50 linear interpolations were made for each channel in order to result in equidistant sampling points.



Fig. 7: Split pulse digitized at 5 GSPS for the SP-test with board C and a full range of \sim 1.1V. The left signal height peaks around 720 mV and the delayed signal peaks at around 610 mV due to cable attenuation. The time difference between the signals is approximately 50 ns. The split pulse rise time is around 3 ns or 15 sampling points.

Also the time resolution (σ) between two independently running DRS4 chips was tested (Fig. 6b). In this case a 100 MHz clock was split and additionally sampled in a separate channel in each of the chips. The measured phase shift of the split clock was used to synchronize the two DRS4 chips.

3) The Coincident Resolving Time Test (CRT-test)

Fig. 8 shows the setup of a PET time resolution measurement (CRT) when using the DRS4 chip with and without applying TC N instead of TC B. We used two 5mm \cdot 5mm LSO:Ca crystals as scintillators glued to two fast PMTs (Hamamatsu R10560). The Results are displayed in a matrix form, where the time resolution (σ) is given as a function of the thresholds for both PMT channels. The thresholds are measured in % of the averaged 511keV photopeak height of the individual channel.



Fig. 8: Layout for the PET time measurement.

4) The Temperature Time Dependence Test (TTD-test)

For the TTD-test board A was used. When performing the TC N, 10 global time differences $\Delta t_{1,100}$ to $\Delta t_{900,1000}$ were measured at 8 different temperature levels in 5 °C steps from 5 °C to 40 °C. Aftereach temperature change, board A had to run 12 hours in a temperature controlled box before the TTD-test was performed. The temperature was measured with two sensors, one located in the box and the one included in board A. The temperature on the board was larger in average by 12°C compared to the box temperature due to the self-heating of the board.

V. RESULTS



Fig. 9: Integrated nonlinearity (INL) and differential nonlinearity (DNL) of all sampling intervals measured by TC N for channel# 4 of board A running at 5 GSPS.

An alternating sampling behavior was expected when looking at the slopes of the waveform in Fig. 4. The sampling intervals of adjacent cells differ alternating by about 70 ps for the DRS4 from the nominal width of 200 ps at 5 GSPS, which can be seen in Fig. 9. The integrated nonlinearity (INL) varies in this case from -680 ps to 486 ps. The differential nonlinearity (DNL) is alternating stronger and has extremes at interval# 497 = 170 ps and interval# 498 = -203 ps. The DNL smaller than -200 ps means that the signal reaches cell# 499 always 3 ps before it gets sampled in cell# 498 which can be explained by the layout of the chip. The input bus is routed due to some constraints such that the signal reaches cell #499 before it reaches cell #498. From 20 tested DRS4 chips, cell# 498 was the only cell showing this behavior and is typically in the DNL range of -205 ps and -150 ps when sampling at 5 GSPS.

By using the TC N we also verified that board B is running at the nominal 5 GSPS. We evaluated that all previous versions of the DRS4 evaluation boards version 5, such as board A, were running at 5.1206 GSPS instead of the expected 5.1200 GSPS.

1) The Period Time Test (PT-test)

Table 2 shows among others the results for the oscilloscope (board C). The resolution can be improved by increasing the gain, but with the drawback of a clipped signal. The full 100 MHz 1 V signal was only visible in the first case on the oscilloscope screen and results for channel# 2 in a time resolution of 16.7 ps (σ). By increasing the gain the information of the full waveform got lost but increased the

SNR and therefore increased the time resolution. The best gain uses the 8 bits for a full range of 112.5 mV and achieved a time resolution of 3.6 ps (σ). Increasing the gain further would cause some loss of information at the zero crossings and degrade the resolution again.

Table 2 shows that board A gives a better time resolution for the PT-test than board C. Both boards show the expected period time of about 10 ns.

One can also see that TC N is about 15 times better than TC A and also provides the correct period time of 10 ns, even when TC N for channel# 1 is applied to channel# 2.

Additionally, it demonstrates that every channel has to be calibrated individually to obtain a time resolution below 10 ps.

2) The Split Pulse Test (SP-test)



Fig. 10: SP-test (2 points) obtained with board C with 50 ns delay. The optimal TH settings of TH1 = 350 mV and TH2 = 200 mV give a time resolution of 28 ps (σ).

The results for the SP-test of a 50 ns delay are shown in Fig. 10 and Fig. 14. Fig. 10 shows the time resolution result of the SP-test for board C in dependence on the first threshold TH1 (first signal) and the second threshold TH2 (second signal) of the used digital leading edge (DLE) discriminator. The optimum time resolution is 28 ps (σ) with the signal shown in Fig. 7, which was digitized with 8 bit resolution and a full range of ~ 1.1V.

Fig. 11 illustrates results of a SP-test, where the time resolution in dependency of the delay is shown. Board D (large crosses) was running at 2 GSPS with a resolution of 10 bits. The two other boards were running at 5 GSPS using the DRS4 chip. The x-symbols mark the results of Board A using TC A and indicate a time resolution variation from 25 ps to 55 ps (σ). The same board achieves a time resolution of about 3 ps (σ) for all delays when TC N was applied (circles). The dots stand for the measurement points of board B using TC B. The 2-point-DLE-discriminator was used in all four cases.

Fig. 12 shows a zoom-in of the board A (TC N) curve from Fig. 11. For the same dataset two additional analysis methods are also shown. The circles and the dots were calculated with a DLE-discriminator. For the 50-point measurement (crosses) the cross-correlation method was used. One can see that the time resolution progresses when using more points. The time resolution curve shows approximately a linear rising behavior for this three cases.

used	used	1 Δu	((2V)			
board	time	$\frac{1}{SNR} = \frac{1}{U^*} (*\approx 63 mV)$		Mean Value (ps) $\pm \sigma$ (ps) [expected σ with (1)] (ps)		
	calibration	ch1	ch2	ch1	ch2	
С	-	0.0827	0.0702	10000.9 ±20.80[23]	10000.0 ±16.70 [20]	
С	-	0.0163	0.0138	$10000.1 \pm 5.20[4.6]$	$10000.0 \pm 4.60 [4.0]$	
С	-	0.0090	0.0076	$10000.1 \pm 3.90[2.5]$	$10000.0 \pm 3.60 [2.1]$	
А	TC N for each ch#	0.0068	0.0071	$10000.0 \pm 3.11[1.9]$	$10000.0 \pm 3.23 [2.0]$	
А	TC N (always ch1)	0.0068	0.0071	$10000.0 \pm 3.11[1.9]$	10000.0 ±13.20 [2.0]	
А	TC A	0.0068	0.0071	10004.5 ±48.05[1.9]	10003.2 ±52.11 [2.0]	

Table 2: PT-test results for board A with 3 different TC & board C with 3 different gains. The theoretical best time resolution according to formula (1) is shown in brackets.



Fig. 11: SP-test measurements (2 points) obtained for 3 different boards.



Fig. 12: SP-test measurements with board A after applying the TC N method. The triangles show the SP-test results of two independently running boards A, where a 2-point-DLE-discriminator was used. For the other 3 curves, where the SP-test was performed only with one board A, the same dataset was analyzed three times using different analyzing techniques.

The triangles in Fig. 12 demonstrate the time resolution results of the SP-test for two independently running boards A, synchronized by a dedicated split clock as described previously (Fig. 6b). The DLE-discriminator using only 2 points results in a time resolution better than 2.8 ps (σ) for all delays. The best achieved time resolution between two independently running DRS4 chips when using cross-correlation was better than 1.65 ps (σ) for any delay.



Fig. 13: SP-test distribution for the 2-point-DLE-discriminator (second to last triangle from Fig. 12).

Fig. 13 demonstrates a single time resolution result of the SPtest from Fig. 12. A delay of about 50 ns was used and all measured 2000 events were plotted. One can see two outliers appearing at the right side.

The effect of using the wrong offset correction level with the DRS4 is illustrated in Fig. 14. The same experimental setup as shown in Fig. 7 is now digitized with 12 bit resolution. Additionally, we shifted intentionally the baseline by applying a 400 mV DC offset. The time resolution of board B as shown in Fig. 14 for a given TH of 300mV is 4.6 ps (σ) when using TC N. As expected the best TH2 level is lower than the optimal TH1 level, since the split signal is 15 % smaller in the second channel. When running the DRS4 of board B at the optimal DC offset level and applying the gain correction for board B one will result in 3ps (σ) as shown for board A in the 50 ns delay case of Fig. 11.



Fig. 14: SP-test (2 points) with the same delay as in Fig. 10 for board B. The optimal TH settings TH1 =275mV and TH2=250mV give a result of 4.4ps (σ).

3) The Coincident Resolving Time Test (CRT-test)

Fig. 15 shows two time resolution results of the CRT-test as a function of the thresholds TH1 (PMT# 1) and TH2 (PMT# 2) of the used 2-point-DLE discriminator. TH1 and TH2 are given in percentage of the average photo peak height of the particular channel. 65 ps CRT (σ) with TC B for best THs was measured and 74 ps CRT (σ) with the TC N. See Discussion for more details.



Fig. 15: Results for the CRT-test measured with board B. Two measurements with changing from TC B (top) to TC N (bottom) were performed.

4) The Temperature Time Dependence Test (TTD-test)

In Fig. 16 the temperature dependency of the time resolution of the DRS4 chip is plotted. One can see that half of the $\Delta t_{a,b}$ are varying less than 2 ps. However $\Delta t_{1,100}$ shows a maximum change of -12 ps compared to the 5°C case. The ten regions summed together result in no time change, indicating that the sampling speed remained stable. The reason for the temperature dependence is not completely clear, but can to some part be contributed to gradients of transistor parameters along the chip wafer.



Fig. 16: TTD-test of board A. For each of the 8 measurements 1000 digitized waveforms were analyzed. Ten global time difference $\Delta t_{a,b}$ are showed in 20 ns steps. All $\Delta t_{a,b}$ values are around 20 ns and were subtracted from its corresponding 5°C case to illustrate the influence of temperature change for the DRS4.

VI. DISCUSSION

Previous TCs, like TC A and TC B, predicted notalternating Δt_i of 200 ps with an σ of 4 ps. By using TC N for the DRS4 chip we discovered that the true value of the sampling intervals Δt_i alternate between 130 ps and 270 ps with a σ of ~23 ps at 5 GSPS (Fig. 9). The reason for these alternations lies in the layout of the DRS4 chip. The 1024 sampling cells of one channel are not linearly arranged, but folded due to the limited size of the die. This causes odd and even cells to see a different environment on the chip and to be differently connected to the power rails. At lower sampling speeds one will find a similar alternating behavior of the DRS4 chip. Since the signal edges between the inverters have longer rise times at lower sampling speed, internal noise plays a bigger effect and the timing performance degrades about inversely with the sampling frequency $\Delta t \sim 1/f_s$.

1) The Period Time Test (PT-test)

The PT-Test in Table 2 shows that TC N for board A yields in the expected period time of 10 ns and a time resolution of 3.1 ps. With the best gain, board C only reaches 3.6 ps. Since the time resolution is proportional to the rise time of the signal at a given signal-to-noise, a higher gain setting for board C results in a better time resolution, although the peaks of the test-signal will then be clipped.

The channel-by-channel TC (illustrated in Table 2) can be

understood by looking at Fig. 1. Every analog switch connected to the sampling capacitors has a separate buffer. The transition times of these buffers are different due to the above-mentioned variations in chip process parameters.

Board A had issues before with measuring long time differences ([20] and Fig. 11). This problem is now understood and has several reasons. The reasons will be addressed in decreasing significance. First, the TC frequency that was used for TC A had a 120 ps time jitter with a non-Gaussian distribution. Second, the true sampling intervals alternate and do not show a 200 ps \pm 4ps behavior as predicted by TC A & B, but a 200 ps ± 74 ps behavior. Third, for every channel of an SCA chip an individually TC is mandatory. Fourthly, the true sampling speed differed from the expected sampling speed by about 0.01 %. The measurement of the true sampling speed with TC N and the usage of a more precise oscillator with less jitter on version 5 of board A solved this problem. Fifthly, a 2.5 MHz digital signal on board A on a PCB trace close to the DRS4 chip induced some instability of the PLL inside the DRS4 which lead to two distinguished alternating sampling speeds. A redesign of the PCB with better shielding of this signal fixed that problem.

2) The Split Pulse Test (SP-test)

Looking at the 50 ns delay result from Fig. 12 compared to Fig. 14 shows a time resolution degradation from 2.9 ps to 4.6 ps for the same measurement when using a different offset level and no gain correction. We used a DLE-discriminator where the stability of the baseline is mandatory. This underscores that the cell-to-cell gain spread leading to level-dependent offsets up to 0.5 mV (see data sheet [21], Plot 2) has a considerable effect on the time resolution. A cell-by-cell calibration of the non-linearity could therefore improve the time resolution even further.

Under similar conditions (Fig. 7) board C achieved 28 ps(Fig. 10). This was predictable since it only uses 8 bits for a full range of ~1.1V. The best time resolution for board C performing the SP-test was around 8 ps, when the gain was increased by a factor of 10 to a full range of 0.1125V, but with the penalty of above-mentioned clipping.

Fig. 11 shows the SP-test for different boards and TCs. In comparison to TC B the TC A on board A is about two times worse. This is mainly caused by the TC-signal that was used for the TC A, which has a jitter greater than 100 ps. Also, the time resolution should remain constant when increasing the delay, which is not the case for TC A or TC B. Instead, the DRS4 digitizers show a strong correlation between the delay and its corresponding time resolution behavior when using TC A or TC B.

The large DRS4 time resolution improvement when comparing TC N with the other TCs can be explained with the following: when looking at the time axes of an uncalibrated channel running at 5 GSPS, the maximal error is around 800 ps. When comparing TC N with TC A or TC B, the maximum error is still around 150 ps. This is because the other TCs provide almost equidistant sampling intervals of 200 ps with a σ of 4 ps and not the alternating behavior mention at the

beginning of section VI. However, one can also see in Fig. 11 that after using TC N, the curve for board A lies below the curve of board D as expected, because the DRS4 was running at 5 GSPS using 12 bits and board D at 2 GSPGS using 10 bits.



Fig. 17: PLL phase jitter in an SCA chip. REFCLK is the external (exact) reference clock, CLK the frequency of the inverter chain, PLLOUT is the control voltage from the PLL and Time Error the deviation of the sampling time from the exact time.

In Fig. 12 one can see that the time resolution is improved by using more sampling points of the signal, as expected. We observe however even for short delays an improvement by less than $1/\sqrt{n}$, which has three reasons. Firstly, the 2-point measurement used the samples with the best SNR (the highest slope of the signal), so the other sampling points will contribute less to the improvement of the measurement. Secondly, the measured samples are not statistically independent as required by the $1/\sqrt{n}$ law. This comes from the fact that the noise spectrum of the measured signal has slower components, which can affect adjacent samples in a coherent way. Thirdly, the linear interpolation is not the optimal fitting method.

The increase of the time resolution with the cable delay comes from the fact that the sampling speed varies around its nominal value due to the residual phase jitter of the PLL in the DRS4 chip. This can be seen in Fig. 16 which shows the deviation of the sampling time from the exact time due to the PLL time jitter. If two signals are sampled at times t_1 and t_2 on separate channels driven by the same inverter chain, their deviation from the perfect time is Δt_1 and Δt_2 , respectively. The relative time error between the two signals is Δt , which is proportional to the time distance $t_2 - t_1$ as long as the time difference is smaller than the clock period. Since the inverter chain in case of the DRS4 is 1024 cells long, the time resolution in Fig. 13 increases from 0.8 ps at 0 ns delay (which is close to the theoretical optimum) to 4.8 ps at 200 ns delay (extrapolated), reflecting the PLL jitter of about 4 ps.

Fig. 12 also shows that this increase of the time resolution with the cable delay can be compensated by the additional sampled 100 MHz clock information that was used to

synchronize two DRS4 chips. As expected the time resolution of the SP-test is worse compared to the single DRS4 case for short delays. On the other hand, cable delays above 25 ns already result in better time resolution and were measured for cable delays up to 150 ns to be less than 2.8 ps (σ).

3) The Coincident Resolving Time Test (CRT-test)

In Fig. 15 the importance of applying TC N is shown with an example of a real PET measurement (Fig. 8). Looking at measurements of board B using TC B one will get a wrong result. This is illustrated in the top figure of Fig. 15, which shows 3 minima instead of just one expected and is 7 ps better CRT (σ) than possible. We know that the time resolution result of board B (TC B) is wrong because we double checked the experiment with an oscilloscope with 20 GSPS and an adjusted gain for a comparable 12 bit resolution. Although we digitized 4 times faster, we only archived a CRT (σ) of 72 ps for best threshold (TH) settings.

The reason for the wrong result is the following:

We know that the effective sampling interval Δt_i of TC B provides almost equidistant 200 ps sampling intervals. As mentioned above the true Δt_i alternates between 130 ps and 270 ps. When changing the TH settings as shown Fig. 15 one will also measure different time differences between the two PET signals (walk effect). The three minima also represent regions of similar time differences. When this time difference is calculated by interpolating between two neighboring cells that are mainly 270 ps apart but wrongly considered to be 200 ps, the calculated σ will be smaller than in reality and will therefore result in a wrongly considered as better time resolution result. Considering sampling intervals of around 130 ps one will also find regions with bigger time resolution than possible as shown in Fig. 15.

4) The Temperature Time Dependence Test (TTD-test)

The temperature stability test of board A in Fig. 16 shows that the variation of $\Delta t_{a,b}$ with the temperature is less than 1-2 ps in a temperature range from 5°C to 10°C. However, the variation of $\Delta t_{a,b}$ cannot be ignored for bigger temperature variations. $\Delta t_{200,700}$ can be predicted by summing the corresponding $\Delta t_{a,b}$ from Fig. 16 and results in an expected change of 23 ps for $\Delta t_{200,700}$ when increasing the temperature by 35° C. For temperature changes around 1-2 °C the $\Delta t_{a,b}$ variation is below the extrapolated PLL jitter of around 2 ps for this delay. Thus, a temperature adjusted TC is mandatory if an excellent time resolution is needed and if the temperature varies more than 2°C. However, the TC was tested to be valid over several months. Also the sampling frequency stays the same for the tested temperatures as shown in Fig. 16 when adding all 10 temperature points together.

VII. CONCLUSION

The novel TC N gives excellent results for DRS4-based time measurements. Since the limitations of time measurements are very similar in most SCA chips, such as unequal propagation times of inverter chains and buffers, it is very likely that this calibration is well applicable also for other SCA chips.

In the DRS4 case a time resolution improvement by a factor of 8 to 15 has been achieved (Fig. 11). The performance is now much better compared to an oscilloscope, while the costs of an SCA-based system are one order of magnitude lower. For a single DRS4, up to 30 ns delay (Fig. 12), the SP-test using cross-correlation is below 1.4 ps (σ), giving a single time resolution better than $1.38 \text{ ps}/\sqrt{2} = 0.98 \text{ ps}(\sigma)$. However, when performing the SP-test on two independently running DRS4 chips and using a simple 2-point-DLEdiscriminator, a single time resolution better than $2.80 \text{ ps}/\sqrt{2} = 1.98 \text{ ps}(\sigma)$ was achieved for any cable delay.

Thus, the DRS4 provides an excellent measurement platform for applications in particle physics or in PET medical imaging.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The authors would like to thank the colleagues from Siemens Medical Imaging, especially Matthias Schmand, Nan Zhang, Robert Mintzer, Sanghee Cho, Peter Cohen and Larry Byars for supporting the work with the DRS4.

We are also grateful to Ueli Hartmann, Christoph Parl, Chih-Chieh Liu, Frederic Mantlik, Armin Kolb, Mathew Divine and Jeanine Adam for helpful conversations and/or support.

We would like to thank the University Hospital Tübingen for making it possible to file in an international patent application (No. PCT/EP2013/070892) containing several TCs including the demonstrated new TC method.

REFERENCES

- [1] S. A. Kleinfelder, W. C. Carithers, R. P. Ely, C. Haber, F. Kirsten, and H. G. Spieler, "A flexible 128 channel silicon strip detector instrumentation integrated circuit with sparse data readout," *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 171–175, Feb. 1988.
- [2] G. M. Haller and B. A. Wooley, "An analog memory integrated circuit for waveform sampling up to 900 MHz," *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 1203–1207, 1994.
- [3] E. Delagnes, Y. Degerli, P. Goret, P. Nayman, F. Toussenel, and P. Vincent, "SAM: A new GHz sampling ASIC for the H.E.S.S.-II front-end electronics," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 567, no. 1, pp. 21–26, Nov. 2006.
- [4] G. S. Varner, L. L. Ruckman, J. W. Nam, R. J. Nichol, J. Cao, P. W. Gorham, and M. Wilcox, "The large analog bandwidth recorder and digitizer with ordered readout (LABRADOR) ASIC," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 583, no. 2–3, pp. 447–460, Dec. 2007.
- [5] S. Ritt, R. Dinapoli, and U. Hartmann, "Application of the DRS chip for fast waveform digitizing," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 623, no. 1, pp. 486–488, Nov. 2010.
- [6] E. Oberla, J.-F. Genat, H. Grabas, H. Frisch, K. Nishimura, and G. Varner, "A 15GSa/s, 1.5GHz bandwidth waveform digitizing ASIC," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 735, pp. 452–461, Jan. 2014.
- [7] J. Adam, et al., *The MEG detector for* $\mu + \rightarrow e + \gamma$ *decay search*, vol. 73, no. 4, 2013, p. 2365.

- [8] J. Sitarek, M. Gaug, D. Mazin, R. Paoletti, and D. Tescaro, "Analysis techniques and performance of the Domino Ring Sampler version 4 based readout for the MAGIC telescopes," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 723, pp. 109–120, Sep. 2013.
- [9] D. Breton, E. Delagnes, J. Maalmi, K. Nishimura, L. L. Ruckman, G. Varner, and J. Va'vra, "High resolution photon timing with MCP-PMTs: A comparison of a commercial constant fraction discriminator (CFD) with the ASIC-based waveform digitizers TARGET and WaveCatcher," in *IEEE Nuclear Science Symposuim & Medical Imaging Conference*, 2010, pp. 856–864.
- [10] J. A. Aguilar, et al., "Performance of the front-end electronics of the ANTARES neutrino telescope," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 622, no. 1, pp. 59–73, Oct. 2010.
- [11] B. W. Jakoby, Y. Bercier, M. Conti, M. E. Casey, B. Bendriem, and D. W. Townsend, "Physical and clinical performance of the mCT time-of-flight PET/CT scanner.," *Phys. Med. Biol.*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 2375–89, Apr. 2011.
- D. R. Schaart, S. Seifert, R. Vinke, H. T. van Dam, P. Dendooven, H. Löhner, and F. J. Beekman, "LaBr(3):Ce and SiPMs for time-offlight PET: achieving 100 ps coincidence resolving time.," *Phys. Med. Biol.*, vol. 55, no. 7, pp. N179–89, Apr. 2010.
- [13] D. Breton, E. Delagnes, J. Maalmi, K. Nishimura, L. L. Ruckman, G. Varner, and J. Va'vra, "High resolution photon timing with MCP-PMTs: A comparison of a commercial constant fraction discriminator (CFD) with the ASIC-based waveform digitizers

TARGET and WaveCatcher," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res.* Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip., vol. 629, no. 1, pp. 123–132, Feb. 2011.

- [14] A. M. Makankin, V. V. Myalkovskiy, V. D. Peshekhonov, S. Ritt, and S. E. Vasilyev, "A direct time measurement technique for the two-dimensional precision coordinate detectors based on thinwalled drift tubes," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 735, pp. 649–654, Jan. 2014.
- [15] J.-F. Genat, private communication. .
- [16] PSI, DRS4 Evaluation Board User's Manual Rev 2, Rev 3 (board A), Rev 4 or Rev 5. http://www.psi.ch.
- [17] CAEN, V1742 Technical Information Manual Rev 6. http://www.caen.it.
- [18] K. Nishimura and A. Romero-Wolf, "A Correlation-based Timing Calibration and Diagnostic Technique for Fast Digitizing ASICs," *Phys. Proceedia*, vol. 37, pp. 1707–1714, 2012.
- [19] J. Wang, L. Zhao, C. Feng, S. Liu, and Q. An, "Evaluation of a Fast Pulse Sampling Module With Switched-Capacitor Arrays," *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.*, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 2435–2443, Oct. 2012.
- [20] A. Ronzhin, et al., "Waveform digitization for high resolution timing detectors with silicon photomultipliers," *Nucl. Instruments Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers, Detect. Assoc. Equip.*, vol. 668, pp. 94–97, Mar. 2012.
- [21] PSI, DRS4 data sheet. http://www.psi.ch.

Bibliography

- STRICKER-SHAVER, D.: Inklusive SUSY-Suche mit statistischen Methoden, Uni Karlsruhe (KIT), Diss., 2008. http://ekp-invenio.physik. uni-karlsruhe.de/record/45088. - 134 S.
- [2] PICHLER, B. J.: Entwicklung eines Detektors fuer die hochaufloesende Positronen-Emissions-Tomographie basierend auf Lutetium-Oxyorthosilikat-Szintillatoren, Lawinen-Photodioden-Matrizen, integrierter Elektronik und Doppellagenauslese. thesis, TU Munich, 2001
- [3] KNOLL, G. F.: Radiation Detection and Measurement. 4. 2013. 830 S.
- [4] PICHLER, B. J.; WEHRL, H. F.; JUDENHOFER, M. S.: Latest advances in molecular imaging instrumentation. Journal of nuclear medicine : official publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine 49 Suppl 2 (2008), Nr. Suppl_2, 5S-23S
- [5] HEVESY, G.: The Absorption and Translocation of Lead by Plants: A Contribution to the Application of the Method of Radioactive Indicators in the Investigation of the Change of Substance in Plants. *The Biochemical journal* 17 (1923), Nr. 4-5, 439–45
- [6] MCCOMMIS, K. S.; ZHANG, H.; HERRERO, P.; GROPLER, R. J. ; ZHENG, J.: Feasibility study of myocardial perfusion and oxygenation by noncontrast MRI: comparison with PET study in a canine model. *Magnetic resonance imaging* 26 (2008), Nr. 1, 11–9
- [7] FRÖHLICH, A.; DIEDERICHS, C. G.; STAIB, L.; VOGEL, J.; BEGER, H. G.; et. al: Detection of liver metastases from pancreatic cancer using FDG PET.

Journal of nuclear medicine : official publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine 40 (1999), Nr. 2, 250–5

- [8] WRENN, F. R.; GOOD, M. L. ; HANDLER, P.: The Use of Positron-emitting Radioisotopes for the Localization of Brain Tumors. *Science* 113 (1951), Nr. 2940, 525–527
- [9] TER-POGOSSIAN, M. M.; PHELPS, M. E.; HOFFMAN, E. J.; MULLANI, N. A.: A positron-emission transaxial tomograph for nuclear imaging (PETT). *Ra-diology* 114 (1975), Nr. 1, 89–98
- [10] WAGNER, H. N.: A brief history of positron emission tomography (PET).
 Seminars in Nuclear Medicine 28 (1998), Nr. 3, 213–220
- [11] WEHRL, H. F.; HOSSAIN, M.; LANKES, K.; LIU, C.-C.; BEZRUKOV, I. ; et. al: Simultaneous PET-MRI reveals brain function in activated and resting state on metabolic, hemodynamic and multiple temporal scales. *Nature medicine* 19 (2013), Nr. 9, 1184–9
- [12] DISSELHORST, J. A.; BEZRUKOV, I.; KOLB, A.; PARL, C.; PICHLER, B. J.: Principles of PET/MR Imaging. Journal of nuclear medicine : official publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine 55 (2014), Nr. Supplement 2, 2S–10S
- [13] KOLB, A.; PARL, C.; MANTLIK, F.; LIU, C. C.; LORENZ, E. ; et. al: Development of a novel depth of interaction PET detector using highly multiplexed G-APD cross-strip encoding. *Medical physics* 41 (2014), Nr. 8, 081916
- [14] WEHRL, H. F.; MARTIROSIAN, P.; SCHICK, F.; REISCHL, G. ; PICHLER,
 B. J.: Assessment of rodent brain activity using combined [(15)O]H2O-PET and BOLD-fMRI. *NeuroImage* 89 (2014), 271–9
- [15] MENSCHEDE, D.: Gerthsen Physik 23. Auflage. Springer Verlag, 2006
- [16] EINSTEIN, A.: Does the inertia of a body depend upon its energy-content? Annalen der Physik (1905), 1–3

- BLASER, J.; BOEHM, F.; MARMIER, P.: The Positron Decay of F 18. *Physical Review* 75 (1949), 1953
- [18] LEVIN, C. S.; HOFFMAN, E. J.: Calculation of positron range and its effect on the fundamental limit of positron emission tomography system spatial resolution. *Physics in medicine and biology* 44 (1999), S. 781–799
- [19] FOWLER, J.; WOLF, A.: The synthesis of carbon-11, fluorine-18, and nitrogen-13 labeled radiotracers for biomedical applications. Nucl. Sci. Ser. Natl Acad. Sci. Natl Res. Council Monogr., 1982
- [20] CAL-GONZALEZ, J.; HERRAIZ, J.; ESPANA, S.; DESCO, M.; VAQUERO, J.
 ; et. al: Positron range effects in high resolution 3D PET imaging. *IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record (NSS/MIC)* Oktober (2009), 2788–2791
- [21] GRIFFITHS, D. J.: Introduction to Electrodynamics. 2013. 604 S
- [22] ORE, A.; POWELL, J.: Three-Photon Annihilation of an Electron-Positron Pair. *Physical Review* 75 (1949), S. 1696–1699
- [23] ACHE, H.: Chemie des positrons und positroniums. Angewandte Chemie 84 (1972), Nr. 6, 234–255
- [24] DEBENEDETTI, S.; CORBEN, H. C.: Positronium. Annual Review of Nuclear Science 4 (1954), Nr. 1, S. 191–218
- [25] BURGER, C.; GOERRES, G.; SCHOENES, S.; BUCK, A.; LONN, A. H. R.; et. al: PET attenuation coefficients from CT images: experimental evaluation of the transformation of CT into PET 511-keV attenuation coefficients. *European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging* 29 (2002), Nr. 7, 922–7
- [26] JORDAN, W.: Ueber die Bestimmung der Genauigkeit mehrfach wiederholter Beobachtungen einer Unbekannten. Astronomische Nachrichten 74 (1869), Nr. 14-15, 209–226

- [27] PREKEGES, J.: Nuclear Medicine Instrumentation. Jones & Bartlett Publishers, 2010. – 314 S
- [28] JAKOBY, B. W.; BERCIER, Y.; CONTI, M.; CASEY, M. E.; BENDRIEM, B. ; et. al: Physical and clinical performance of the mCT time-of-flight PET/CT scanner. *Physics in medicine and biology* 56 (2011), Nr. 8, 2375–89
- [29] SCHAART, D. R.; SEIFERT, S.; VINKE, R.; DAM, H. T.; DENDOOVEN, P. ; et. al: LaBr(3):Ce and SiPMs for time-of-flight PET: achieving 100 ps coincidence resolving time. *Physics in medicine and biology* 55 (2010), Nr. 7, N179–89
- [30] VINKE, R.: Time-of-Flight PET with SiPM sensors on monolithic scintillation crystals. Thesis, University of Groningen, 2011
- [31] STRICKER-SHAVER, D.; RITT, S.; PICHLER, B. J.: Novel Calibration Method for Switched Capacitor Arrays Enables Time Measurements With Sub-Picosecond Resolution. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 61 (2014), Nr. 6, 3607–3617
- [32] ORWILER, B.: Vertical Amplifier Circuits. 1969
- [33] YEOM, J. Y.; YAMAMOTO, S.; DERENZO, S. E.; SPANOUDAKI, V. C.; KA-MADA, K.; et. al: First Performance Results of Ce:GAGG Scintillation Crystals With Silicon Photomultipliers. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 60 (2013), Nr. 2, 988–992
- [34] AUFFRAY, E.: Status of the PWO crystal production from Russia for CMS-ECAL. In: 2001 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record (Cat. No.01CH37310) Bd. 2, IEEE, 2001, 961–965
- [35] LECOMTE, R.: Novel detector technology for clinical PET. European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging 36 Suppl 1 (2009), S69–85
- [36] HUMM, J. L.; ROSENFELD, A. ; DEL GUERRA, A.: From PET detectors to PET scanners. European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging 30 (2003), Nr. 11, 1574–97

- [37] KANAI, T.; SATOH, M.; MIURA, I.: Characteristics of a Nonstoichiometric (Gd3+delta)((Al,Ga)5-delta)(O12):Ce Garnet Scintillator. Journal of the American Ceramic Society 91 (2008), Nr. 2, 456–462
- [38] KAMADA, K.; ENDO, T.; TSUTUMI, K.; YANAGIDA, T.; FUJIMOTO, Y.; et. al: Composition Engineering in Cerium-Doped ((Lu,Gd)3)((Ga,Al)5)(O12) Single-Crystal Scintillators. Crystal Growth & Design 11 (2011), Nr. 10, 4484–4490
- [39] KAMADA, K.; YANAGIDA, T.; ENDO, T.; TSUTUMI, K.; USUKI, Y.; et. al: 2 inch diameter single crystal growth and scintillation properties of Ce:(Gd3)(Al2)(Ga3)(O12). Journal of Crystal Growth 352 (2012), Nr. 1, 88–90
- [40] SPURRIER, M. A.; SZUPRYCZYNSKI, P.; YANG, K.; CAREY, A. A.; MELCHER,
 C. L.: Effects of Ca(2+) Co-Doping on the Scintillation Properties of LSO:Ce. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 55 (2008), Nr. 3, 1178–1182
- [41] SHAO, Y.: A new timing model for calculating the intrinsic timing resolution of a scintillator detector. *Physics in medicine and biology* 52 (2007), Nr. 4, 1103–17
- [42] EIJK, C. W. E.: Inorganic scintillators in medical imaging. Physics in Medicine and Biology 47 (2002), Nr. 8, R85–R106
- [43] RENKER, D.: Properties of avalanche photodiodes for applications in high energy physics, astrophysics and medical imaging. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 486 (2002), Nr. 1-2, 164–169
- [44] RENKER, D.: Photosensors. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 527 (2004), Nr. 1-2, 15–20
- [45] RENKER, D.: Geiger-mode avalanche photodiodes, history, properties and problems. *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A:*

Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 567 (2006), Nr. 1, 48–56

- [46] RENKER, D.; LORENZ, E.: Advances in solid state photon detectors. Journal of Instrumentation 4 (2009), Nr. 04, P04004–P04004
- [47] LECOMTE, R.; CADORETTE, J.; RICHARD, P.; RODRIGUE, S. ; ROULEAU,
 D.: Design and engineering aspects of a high resolution positron tomograph for small animal imaging. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 41 (1994),
 Nr. 4, 1446–1452
- [48] ISHII, K.; KIKUCHI, Y.; MATSUYAMA, S.; KANAI, Y.; KOTANI, K. ; et. al: First achievement of less than 1mm FWHM resolution in practical semiconductor animal PET scanner. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 576 (2007), Nr. 2-3, 435–440
- [49] YANAGITA, N.; MORIMOTO, Y.; ISHITSU, T.; SUZUKI, A.; TAKEUCHI, W.
 ; et. al: Physical performance of a prototype 3D PET scanner using CdTe detectors. In: 2007 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record Bd. 4, IEEE, 2007, 2665–2668
- [50] SHIGA, T.; MORIMOTO, Y.; KUBO, N.; KATOH, N.; KATOH, C. ; et. al: A new PET scanner with semiconductor detectors enables better identification of intratumoral inhomogeneity. *Journal of nuclear medicine : official publication*, *Society of Nuclear Medicine* 50 (2009), Nr. 1, 148–55
- [51] BLANCO, A.; CAROLINO, N.; CORREIA, C.; FAZENDEIRO, L.; FERREIRA, N.
 ; et. al: RPC-PET: A New Very High Resolution PET Technology. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 53 (2006), Nr. 5, 2489–2494
- [52] JEAVONS, A.; CHANDLER, R. ; DETTMAR, C.: A 3D HIDAC-PET camera with sub-millimetre resolution for imaging small animals. *IEEE Transactions* on Nuclear Science 46 (1999), Nr. 3, 468–473

- [53] MISSIMER, J.; MADI, Z.; HONER, M.; KELLER, C.; SCHUBIGER, A. ; et. al: Performance evaluation of the 16-module quad-HIDAC small animal PET camera. *Physics in medicine and biology* 49 (2004), Nr. 10, 2069–81
- [54] OTT, R. J.; WHITE, L.; EVANS, N. ; JEAVONS, A.: A Study of the Application of MWPC-Based Positron Cameras for Breast Imaging. In: 2006 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record Bd. 5, IEEE, 2006, 2944–2947
- [55] BLANCO, A.; CHEPEL, V.; FERREIRA-MARQUES, R.; FONTE, P.; LOPES,
 M. I.; et. al: Perspectives for positron emission tomography with RPCs.
 (2003)
- [56] IAMS, H.; SALZBERG, B.: The Secondary Emission Phototube. Proceedings of the IRE 23 (1935), Nr. 1, 55–64
- [57] PANSART, J.: Avalanche photodiodes for particle detection. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 387 (1997), Nr. 1-2, 186–193
- [58] PICHLER, B.; BONING, C.; LORENZ, E.; MIRZOYAN, R.; PIMPL, W.; et. al: Studies with a prototype high resolution PET scanner based on LSO-APD modules. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 45 (1998), Nr. 3, 1298–1302
- [59] KARAR, A.; MUSIENKO, Y.; VANEL, J.: Characterization of avalanche photodiodes for calorimetry applications. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 428 (1999), Nr. 2-3, 413–431
- [60] DEGE, C.; PRESCHER, G.; FRACH, T.; THON, A.; GRUYTER, R. de; et. al: The digital Silicon Photomultiplier - A novel sensor for the detection of scintillation light. In: 2009 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record (NSS/MIC), IEEE, oct 2009, 2383–2386
- [61] GUPTA, S.; HAYASHI, Y. ; JAIN, A.: A high-performance, low-cost, leading edge discriminator. *Pramana* 65 (2005), Nr. 2, 273–283

- [62] GEDCKE, D.; MCDONALD, W.: Design of the constant fraction of pulse height trigger for optimum time resolution. Nuclear Instruments and Methods 58 (1968), Nr. 2, 253–260
- [63] GEDCKE, D.; MCDONALD, W.: A constant fraction of pulse height trigger for optimum time resolution. Nuclear Instruments and Methods 55 (1967), 377–380
- [64] ORTEC: Fast-timing Discriminator Indroduction. 801 South Illinois Ave., Oak Ridge, TN, U.S.A., 1996 (1973). - 1-9 S.
- [65] KALISZ, J.; PAWLOWSKI, M.; PELKA, R.: Error analysis and design of the Nutt time-interval digitiser with picosecond resolution. *Journal of Physics E: Scientific Instruments* 20 (1987), Nr. 11, 1330–1341
- [66] KLEINFELDER, S.; CARITHERS, W.; ELY, R.; HABER, C.; KIRSTEN, F. ; et. al: A flexible 128 channel silicon strip detector instrumentation integrated circuit with sparse data readout. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 35 (1988), Nr. 1, 171–175
- [67] HALLER, G.; WOOLEY, B.: An analog memory integrated circuit for waveform sampling up to 900 MHz. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 41 (1994), Nr. 4, 1203–1207
- [68] RITT, S.; DINAPOLI, R.; HARTMANN, U.: Application of the DRS chip for fast waveform digitizing. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 623 (2010), Nr. 1, 486–488
- [69] DELAGNES, E.; DEGERLI, Y.; GORET, P.; NAYMAN, P.; TOUSSENEL, F. ; et. al: SAM: A new GHz sampling ASIC for the H.E.S.S.-II front-end electronics. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 567 (2006), Nr. 1, 21–26
- [70] VARNER, G.; RUCKMAN, L.; NAM, J.; NICHOL, R.; CAO, J.; et. al: The large analog bandwidth recorder and digitizer with ordered readout (LABRADOR)
ASIC. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 583 (2007), Nr. 2-3, 447–460

- [71] OBERLA, E.; GENAT, J.-F.; GRABAS, H.; FRISCH, H.; NISHIMURA, K. ; et. al: A 15GSa/s, 1.5GHz bandwidth waveform digitizing ASIC. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 735 (2014), 452–461
- [72] ADAM, J.; BAI, X.; BALDINI, A. M.; BARACCHINI, E.; BEMPORAD, C. ; et. al: The MEG detector for mu+ to e+ gamma decay search. (2013)
- [73] SITAREK, J.; GAUG, M.; MAZIN, D.; PAOLETTI, R.; TESCARO, D.: Analysis techniques and performance of the Domino Ring Sampler version 4 based readout for the MAGIC telescopes. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 723 (2013), 109–120
- [74] BRETON, D.; DELAGNES, E.; MAALMI, J.; NISHIMURA, K.; RUCKMAN, L. L. ; et. al: High resolution photon timing with MCP-PMTs: A comparison of a commercial constant fraction discriminator (CFD) with the ASIC-based waveform digitizers TARGET and WaveCatcher. In: *IEEE Nuclear Science Symposuim & Medical Imaging Conference*, IEEE, oct 2010, 856–864
- [75] AGUILAR, J.; AL SAMARAI, I.; ALBERT, A.; ANGHINOLFI, M.; ANTON, G.
 ; et. al: Performance of the front-end electronics of the ANTARES neutrino telescope. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 622 (2010), Nr. 1, 59–73
- [76] BRETON, D.; DELAGNES, E.; MAALMI, J.; NISHIMURA, K.; RUCKMAN, L. ; et. al: High resolution photon timing with MCP-PMTs: A comparison of a commercial constant fraction discriminator (CFD) with the ASIC-based waveform digitizers TARGET and WaveCatcher. Nuclear Instruments and

Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 629 (2011), Nr. 1, 123–132

- [77] MAKANKIN, A.; MYALKOVSKIY, V.; PESHEKHONOV, V.; RITT, S. ; VASI-LYEV, S.: A direct time measurement technique for the two-dimensional precision coordinate detectors based on thin-walled drift tubes. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 735 (2014), 649–654
- [78] JANECEK, M.: Reflectivity Spectra for Commonly Used Reflectors. IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science 59 (2012), Nr. 3, 490–497
- [79] KOLB, A.; LORENZ, E.; JUDENHOFER, M. S.; RENKER, D.; LANKES, K. ; et. al: Evaluation of Geiger-mode APDs for PET block detector designs. *Physics* in medicine and biology 55 (2010), Nr. 7, 1815–32
- [80] BROWNELL, G.; SWEET, W.: Localization of brain tumors with positron emitters. *Nucleonics* (1953), S. 40–45
- [81] ANGER, H. O.: Scintillation Camera. Review of Scientific Instruments 29 (1958), Nr. 1, 27
- [82] ANGER, H. O.: Gamma-ray and positron scintillation camera. Nucleonics 21 (1963), Nr. 10, S. 56
- [83] PUILL, V.; BAZIN, C.; BRETON, D.; BURMISTROV, L.; CHAUMAT, V. ; et. al: Single photoelectron timing resolution of SiPM as a function of the bias voltage, the wavelength and the temperature. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 695 (2012), 354–358
- [84] LEO, W. R.: Techniques for Nuclear and Particle Physics Experiments -A How-to Approach. http://www.springer.com/us/book/9783540572800. Version: 1987

- [85] BROWN, R. S.; LENNON, J. J.: Mass Resolution Improvement by Incorporation of Pulsed Ion Extraction in a Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Linear Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometer. *Analytical Chemistry* 67 (1995), Nr. 13, 1998–2003
- [86] PERENZONI, M.; PERENZONI, D. ; STOPPA, D.: A 64 x 64-Pixels Digital Silicon Photomultiplier Direct TOF Sensor With 100-MPhotons/s/pixel Background Rejection and Imaging/Altimeter Mode With 0.14% Precision Up To 6 km for Spacecraft Navigation and Landing. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 52 (2017), Nr. 1, 151–160
- [87] CATTANEO, P.; BERG, F.; BIASOTTI, M.; BOCA, G.; DE GERONE, M.; et. al: Development and commissioning of the 30 ps time resolution MEGÂ II pixelated Timing Detector. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 936 (2019), 660–662
- [88] HASELMAN, M.; HAUCK, S.; LEWELLEN, T. K.; MIYAOKA, R. S.: FPGA-Based Pulse Parameter Discovery for Positron Emission Tomography. *IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium conference record. Nuclear Science Symposium* 2009 (2009), 2956–2961
- [89] ATKINS, B. E.; PRESSLEY, D. R.; LENOX, M. W.; SWANN, B. K.; NEWPORT, D. F. ; et. al: A Data Acquisition, Event Processing and Coincidence Determination Module for a Distributed Parallel Processing Architecture for PET and SPECT Imaging. In: 2006 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium Conference Record Bd. 4, IEEE, 2006, 2439–2442
- [90] DAIGNEAULT, M.-A.; DAVID, J. P.: Towards 5ps resolution TDC on a dynamically reconfigurable FPGA. In: Proceedings of the 18th annual ACM/SIGDA international symposium on Field programmable gate arrays - FPGA '10. New York, New York, USA : ACM Press, feb 2010, 283
- [91] TORRES, J.; AGUILAR, A.; GARCIA-OLCINA, R.; MARTOS, J.; SORET, J.; et. al: High-resolution multichannel Time-to-Digital Converter core implemented

in FPGA for ToF measurements in SiPM-PET. In: 2013 IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference (2013 NSS/MIC), IEEE, oct 2013, 1–5

- [92] SCHRUEFER, E.: Signalverarbeitung Numerische Verarbeitung digitaler Signale. 1992
- [93] NISHIMURA, K.; ROMERO-WOLF, A.: A Correlation-based Timing Calibration and Diagnostic Technique for Fast Digitizing ASICs. *Physics Procedia* 37 (2012), 1707–1714
- [94] PSI: DRS4 Evaluation Board User Manual Rev 2, Rev 3 (V3), Rev 4 or Rev 5 (V5). PSI, http://www.psi.ch
- [95] International Patent (PCT/EP2013/070892). University of Tuebingen, filed 8th October 2013
- [96] WANG, J.; ZHAO, L.; FENG, C.; LIU, S.; AN, Q.: Evaluation of a Fast Pulse Sampling Module With Switched-Capacitor Arrays. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 59 (2012), Nr. 5, 2435–2443
- [97] TEKTRONIX: AFG3251 Arbitrary/Function Generator 240 MHz 1 Channel Data Sheet. 2008
- [98] PSI: DRS4 Discussion Forum. https://www.psi.ch/drs/discussion-forum
- [99] PSI: DRS4 Data Sheet. http://www.psi.ch/drs/
- [100] PSI: DRS4 Software Download. http://www.psi.ch/drs/software-download
- [101] LeCroy Teledyne. headquater located in Chestnut Ridge (NY) USA, http://teledynelecroy.com,
- [102] Instruction Manuel Tennelec TC 861A TAC. Oxford Instruments Inc, Nuclear Measurements Group, 601 Oak Ridge Turnpike, TN
- [103] LeCroy 623B specifications from the Fermilab Hompage. http://www-esd.fnal.gov/esd/catalog/main/lcrynim/623b-spec.htm, accessed Oct-2-2014

- [104] Tabor Electronics Ltd. 250MS/s Single-Channel Arbitrary Waveform Generator Model WW2571A. http://www.taborelec.com
- [105] HOSSAIN, M. M.: Development and Evaluation of a Second Generation MR Compatible Large Field of View PET Insert for Simultaneous Small Animal PET/MR Studies. Thesis, University of Tuebingen, 2015
- [106] YANG, H.-B.; SU, H.; KONG, J.; CHENG, K.; CHEN, J.-D.; et. al: Application of the DRS4 chip for GHz waveform digitizing circuits. *Chinese Physics C* 39 (2015), Nr. 5, 056101
- [107] CAEN: Technical Information and Manuals. http://www.caen.it
- [108] BRÖNNIMANN, C.; HORISBERGER, R.; SCHNYDER, R.: The domino sampling chip: a 1.2GHz waveform sampling CMOS chip. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 420 (1999), Nr. 1-2, 264–269
- [109] BRETON, D.; DE CACQUERAY, V.; DELAGNES, E.; GRABAS, H.; MAALMI, J.; et. al: Measurements of timing resolution of ultra-fast silicon detectors with the SAMPIC waveform digitizer. Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section A: Accelerators, Spectrometers, Detectors and Associated Equipment 835 (2016), S. 51–60
- [110] DU, C.-M.; CHEN, J.-D.; ZHANG, X.-L.; YANG, H.-B.; CHENG, K. ; et. al: Study of time resolution by digital methods with a DRS4 module. *Chinese Physics C* 40 (2016), Nr. 4, 046101
- [111] OREL, P.; VARNER, G. S.: Femtosecond Resolution Timing in Multi-GS/s Waveform Digitizing ASICs. *IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science* 64 (2017), Nr. 7, 1950–1962
- [112] NAKAO, M.; DE BARI, A.; BIASOTTI, M.; BOCA, G.; CATTANEO, P. W.; et. al: Results from pilot run for MEG II positron timing counter. In: Springer Proceedings in Physics Bd. 213, Springer Science and Business Media, LLC, 2018, S. 237–241

[113] ASHMANSKAS, W. J.; LEGEYT, B. C.; NEWCOMER, F. M.; PANETTA, J. V.; RYAN, W. A.; et. al: Waveform-Sampling Electronics for a Whole-Body Timeof-Flight PET Scanner. *IEEE transactions on nuclear science* 61 (2014), Nr. 3, 1174–1181

Acknowledgement

Helping people is a major force that drives my life. All the more it is of importance to thank those who supported me, so they get encouraged to continue following their path of helpfulness.

Thus, I want to use this opportunity to thank all my office members for their help, the great moments we shared and the uncountable discussions during this PhD thesis. First, my supervisor professor Bernd Pichler, because of all the time and effort he invested in me. Further, I wish to name Frederic Mantlik and Chih-Chieh Liu for solving some C-coding problems. Then, Christoph Parl for his help with PET measurements, Mathew Divine for his advice with Matlab and Hans Wehrl for providing me a mouse-brain PET image. Also I thank Mosaddek Hossain for his support with APDs, Armin Kolb for letting me use his hardware and Florian Frank for many little PET-measurement-modifications.

I own the people from Siemens Medical Solutions in Rockford a lot because of their backup they gave my during my stay in their facility. In particular Matthias Schmand who provided me with free time to invest on this PhD thesis. Additionally, I give thanks to Nan Zhang, Larry Byars, Peter Cohen, Robert Mintzer, Sanghee Cho, Joannnes Breuer and Joe Camp for their advice and assistance. Stefan Ritt, Jeanine Adam and Eckart Lorenz must be mentioned for their generous guidance and support with the DRS4-chip.

Reading this thesis in regards to evaluate or improve its quality, I owe the following people a debt of gratitude: Katja Gerhard, my wife Nathalie Stricker-Shaver, my parents Stephanie & August Stricker-Shaver, my supervisor again and my second reader professor Josef Jochum. Finally, I want to thank my family and friends for their support. Without them I would have never finished this thesis.